

THE MIDDLE-LENGTH DISCOURSES (MAJJHIMA-NIKĀYA)

*

VOLUME I

THE ROOT FIFTY DISCOURSES

Mūlapaṇṇāsapāli

TRANSLATED FROM PĀLI BY

BHIKKHU NĀNAMOLI



Path Press Publications

SHAH JAHAN
MUMTAZ MAHAL





revised copy Aug 1953 -
completed Oct 1956

THE
MIDDLE-LENGTH
DISCOURSES

(MAJJHIMA-NIKĀYA)

- - - - -

TRANSLATED FROM PĀLI
BY
BHIKKHU NĀNAMOLI

1. ~~1945~~
2. ~~1946~~

1. 1945年
2. 1946年

CONTENTS

I. Mūlapannāsa

- Vagga 1. Mūlapariyāvagga
- ✓ 1. Mūlapariyāvagga sutta
 - ✓ 2. Sabbasava sutta
 - ✓ 3. Dhammada'yada Sutta
 - ✓ 4. Bhaya & herava sutta
 - ✓ 5. Ananigama sutta
 - ✓ 6. Akaṇṭheyya sutta
 - ✓ 7. Vatthupama sutta
 - ✓ 8. Saṇekha sutta
 - ✓ 9. Sammāditthi sutta
 - ✓ 10. Satipatthāna sutta

Vaggata. Schanāda vagga

- ✓ 1. Cūla schanāda sutta
- ✓ 2. Mahā schanāda sutta
- ✓ 3. Mahā dukkha lekhavibhasa sutta
- ✓ 4. Cāladukkha kkhanda hasa sutta
- ✓ 5. Ānuruddha sutta
- ✓ 6. Ceto kñila sutta
- ✓ 7. Vanapatta sutta
- ✓ 8. Madupindaka sutta
- ✓ 9. Dvedha vata sutta
- ✓ 10. Vitakka santiya sutta

Vagga 3.

- ✓ 1. Kākacūpama sutta
- ✓ 2. Alagaddūpama sutta
- ✓ 3. Vanavīka sutta
- ✓ 4. Rattacūma sutta
- ✓ 5. Nītāpa sutta
- ✓ 6. Ariya pariyosana sutta
- ✓ 7. Cūlāhatthipadopama sutta
- ✓ 8. Mahāhatthipadopama sutta
- ✓ 9. Makaśoropama sutta
- ✓ 10. Cūlaśoropama sutta

Restraint of all

Root of All Ideas, etc

1. The Root of All Things Ideas
2. Cankers
3. Heirs of the Dhamma True Idea
4. Fear and Dread
5. Without Blame
6. If a Blikkhu should wish
7. The Cloth
8. Efface antipathies
9. Right View
10. The Foundations of right views

Lion's Roar, etc

11. The lion's Roar 1
12. The lion's Roar 2
13. The Mass of Suffering 1
14. The Mass of Suffering 2
15. Inference
16. The ~~Wanderer~~ Wilderness in the mind
17. Jungle Thickets
18. The Sweet Moral
19. Two Kinds of Thinking
20. The Generation of Thoughts of steady thinking
21. The Snare
22. The Snicket
23. The Ant Hill
24. The Relay Coach
25. The Decoy
26. The Noble Search
27. The Elephant's Foot print 1
28. The Elephant's Foot print 2
29. Heart wood 1
30. Heart wood 2

Vagga 4. Mihāyamaka vagga

1. Cūla gosīṅga sutta
2. Maha gosīṅga sutta
3. Maha gopālaka sutta
4. Cūla gopālaka sutta
5. Cūla Saccaka sutta
6. Maha Saccaka sutta
7. Cūla Taṇhā-saṅkheya sutta
8. Maha Taṇhā-saṅkheya sutta
9. Maha Assapura sutta
10. Cūla Assapura sutta

Vagga 5. Cūlāyamaka vagga

1. Sāleyyaka sutta
2. Verāvijalca sutta
3. Maha vedaṭṭha sutta
4. Cūla vedaṭṭha sutta
5. Cūla dharmasamādāna sutta
6. Maha dharmasamādāna sutta
7. Vimarisalca sutta
8. Kosambiyce sutta
9. Brahma nimantana sutta
10. Maya taṇhāniya sutta

Vagga 1. Gahaṇatirivaggī

1. Kandaraka sutta
2. Attaka nāgara sutta
3. Selke sutta
4. Potaliya sutta
5. Jivaka sutta
6. Upali sutta
7. Kukkuvatikā sutta
8. Pālavedaṭṭha sutta
9. Aññabaya rājakumāra sutta
10. Babu vedaṭṭha sutta
11. Apānaka sutta

Major Paṭis

31. Gosīṅga Wood 1
32. Gosīṅga Woods 2
33. The cow herd 1
34. The Cow herd 2
35. Saceaka 1
36. Saceaka 2
37. The Exhaustion of Craving 1
38. The Exhaustion of Craving 2
39. Acopura 1
40. Arajuva 2

Minor Paṭis

41. The ~~Parinirvanas~~^{Dipuṇi} of Sata Devius
42. The ~~Parinirvanas~~^{of} Vorāñj
43. Questions and Answers 1
44. Questions and Answers 2
45. Giving effect to the True Idea 1
46. " " " " 2
47. The Inquirer
48. The Kosambians
49. The Divinity's invitation
50. The Rebuke to Māra

Householders

51. Kandaraka
52. Attaka nāgara
53. The Trainer Initiate
54. Potaliya
55. Jivaka
56. Upali the Householder
57. The Dog ~~Attendant~~
58. Prince Attaya
59. The Many kinds of Feelings
60. The Inconveniences

Vagga 2. Bhikkhu vagga

- 1. Ambalatthica Rāhulovāda sutta
- * 2. Mahā - Rāhulovāda sutta
- 3. Cūla Mālunkya sutta
- * 4. Mihā - Mālunkya sutta
- * 5. Bhaddāli sutta
- 6. Ātukikopama sutta
- * 7. Cātummā sutta
- * 8. Nālakapāna sutta
- * 9. Guṇissāni sutta
- * 10. Kātagiri sutta

Vagga 3. Paribbājaka vagga

- 1. Tevijja Vacchagotta sutta
- 2. Aggi Vacchagotta sutta
- 3. Mahā Vacchagotta sutta
- * 4. Dīgha Nakha sutta
- 5. Māgandīja sutta
- * 6. Sandaka sutta
- 7. Mahā Sakuludāyī sutta
- * 8. Samaya mayūdīka sutta
- 9. Cūla sakuludāyī sutta
- * 10. Vekha nasa sutta

Vagga 4. Rāja vagga

- * 1. Gheto Scaria sutta
- 2. Rattha pāla sutta
- * 3. Matchā Deva sutta
- * 4. Mañjuśrī sutta
- 5. Bodhi rājakuṁbara sutta
- * 6. Angulimāla sutta
- * 7. Piya jātīka sutta
- * 8. Bāhūtīka sutta
- * 9. Dharmma cetiya sutta
- * 10. Kānya kathala

Bhikkhuni

- 61. Rahula at Ambatallikā
- 62. Advice to Rahula
- 63. Mālunkya-putta
- 64. Mālunkya-putta 2
- 65. Bhaddāli
- 66. The Quail
- 67. At Cātummā
- 68. At Nalakapāna
- 69. Guṇissāni
- 70. At Kitāgin

Kan doers

- 71. Vacchagotta & the 3 Elephants
- 72. Vacchagotta and Fox
- 73. Vacchagotta
- 74. Dīgha Nakha
- 75. Māgandīja
- 76. Sandaka
- 77. Sakuludāyī 1
- 78. Samaya mayūdīka-putta
- 79. Sakuludāyī 2
- 80. Vekha nassa

Kings

- 81. Gheto Scaria the Potter
- 82. Rattha pāla
- 83. King Matchā Deva
- 84. King Matchā Deva Avantipūra
- 85. Prince Bodhi
- 86. Angulimāla
- 87. Deer over
- 88. The Cloak
- 89. Monuments to the Buddha
- 90. Kānya kathala

Vagga 5. Brāhmaṇa Vagga

- * 1. Brāhmaṇa sutta
- 2. Sela sutta
- * 3. Assalāyana sutta
- 4. Ghōṭa mulha sutta
- 5. Cankī sutta
- 6. Eukāri sutta
- 7. Dhārañjāni sutta
- 8. Subha sutta
- 9. Vāsettha sutta
- 10. Dangārava sutta

Th' Upasī Parvāsa

Vagga 1. Devadaha Vagga

- 1. Devadaha sutta
- 2. Pañca thaya sutta
- * 3. Kinti sutta
- * 4. Sāma gāma sutta
- 5. Sunakkhatta sutta
- 6. Añciya sapaya sutta
- 7. Janaka Mogallāna sutta
- 8. Gopaka Mogallāna sutta
- 9. Maha puṇya māra sutta
- * 10. Cūla puṇya māra sutta

Vagga 2. Anupāda vagga

- * 1. Anupāda sutta
- * 2. Chabbisodhana sutta
- * 3. Sappurisa sutta
- * 4. Sevitabba Sovitabba sutta
- 5. Bahudhi ēka sutta
- * 6. Sri gili sutta
- 7. Ma ḥe cattāri saka sutta
- * 8. Rūpapāṇi sati sutta
- 9. Kāya gata sati sutta
- * 10. Saṅkhārapatti sutta.

Dhārañjāni

- 91. Brāhmaṇa
- 92. Sela
- 93. Assalāyana
- 94. Ghōṭa mulha
- 95. Cankī
- 96. Eukāri
- 97. Dhārañjāni
- 98. Subha
- 99. Vāsettha
- 100. Dangārava

Devadaha etc.

- 101. At Devadaha
- 102. Five and Three
- 103. What do you think about me?
- 104. At Sāma gāma
- 105. Sunakkhatta
- 106. The Way to the Imperturbable
- 107. Mogallāna the Accountant
- 108. Mogallāna the Custodian
- 109. The Full Moon 1
- 110. The Full Moon 2

Insight etc

- 111. Insight
- 112. The Sixfold Purity
- 113. The True Man
- 114. To be Cultivated and Not to be Cultivated
- 115. Many sorts of Elements
- 116. Isigili, ~~the~~ Gullat of the Anubhūti, the 40 parts
- 117. Mindfulness of Breathing occupied with
- 118. Mindfulness of the Body
- 119. Mindfulness with Right Effort and Right Attention

Vagga 3 Suñnatavagga

- * 1. Cūla suññata sutta
- * 2. Mahā suññata sutta
- * 3. Acchariya bhūta sutta
- * 4. Bakkula sutta
- 5. Danta bhūmi sutta
- * 6. Pskūmija sutta
- 7. Anuruddha sutta
- 8. Upakkilesa sutta
- * 9. Bälapaccheda sutta
- * 10. Devaduta sutta

Vagga 4 Vibhanga vagga

- * 1. Bhaddekaratta sutta
- * 2. Ananda-Bhaddekarattabhatta -
Lomasakangiga-Bhaddeka-
ratta sutta
- * 3. Mahā kaccāna bhaddeka -
ratta sutta
- * 4. Lomasakangiga-Bhadd-
ekaratta sutta
- * 5. Cūla kamma vibhanga sutta
- * 6. Mahā kamma vibhanga sutta
- * 7. Salayatana vibhanga sutta
- * 8. Uddesa vibhanga sutta
- * 9. Arama vibhanga sutta
- * 10. Dhātu vibhanga sutta
- * 11. Saccā vibhanga sutta
- * 12. Drakkhing vibhanga sutta

Vagga 5 Sañcaya vagga

- * 1. Anātha pīti kovāda sutta
- * 2. Channorāda sutta
- * 3. Puruvorāda sutta
- * 4. Nandakorāda sutta
- * 5. Cūla Rāhulovorāda sutta
- * 6. Chachalika sutta
- * 7. Mahā salāyatana sutta
- * 8. Nagara vindeyya sutta
- * 9. Pindapāta pāri sudhi sutta
- * 10. Indrija bhāvana sutta

Voidness etc

- 121. Voidness 1
- 122. Voidness 2
- 123. ~~Wonderful~~ and ~~Marvellous~~
- 124. Bakkala
- 125. The Grade of the Tamed
- 126. Bhāgavija
- 127. Anuruddha
- 128. Superperfections
- 129. Fools and Wise Men
- 130. The Divine Messengers

Expositions

- 131. One Fortunate Attachment
- 132. Ananda and One Fortunate Attachment
- 133. Mahā kaccāna and One Fortunate Attachment
- 134. Lomasakangiga and One Fortunate Attachment
- 135. The Exposition of Kamma 1
- 136. The Exposition of Kamma 2
- 137. The Exposition of the Six-fold
- 138. The Exposition of a Summary
- 139. The Exposition of Ten Classes
- 140. The Exposition of the Elements
- 141. The Exposition of the Truths
- 142. The Exposition of Offerings

The Six-fold Base

- 143. Advice to Anātha pīti
- 144. Advice to Channa
- 145. Advice to Puruna
- 146. Advice from Nandaka
- 147. Advice to Rāhula 2
- 148. Six Sines
- 149. The Six-fold Base
- 150. The Nagara vindeyya
- 151. The Purification of Illustrious
- 152. The Development of the Faculties

Words not in PīS Dictionary

abhinippahana - activated, produced	ii, 225
abhinipphejjati - comes to like situation	i, 86
apaloketja - to look away	i, 120
adhisayeyya - to lie down upon	i, 173
atipāteti - to shoot across	i, 82
arugati - form of belief, tenet	i, 16
abhihaṭṭhumi - to take	i, 222
ahoratta - day and night	i, 98; iii 294
acchida - terminus ad	ii, 35
ahu-d-eva, ahu - was	ii, 51, i, 487, 403 276
avakāri - alien	ii, 100
adduwa (adduwa?) - knee	ii, 137
avalokento - turns to look	ii, 137
atināmati - to upset the proportion	ii, 138
accoṭṭhathā - (=ati+akkathā) too tight	ii, 139
apalakkha - too loose	ii, 139
arisāñ - musical (not discordant)	ii, 140
arakati - to be befitting proper	ii, 165
apalakkha - interest passion, concern	ii, 223
avadhāna - (sotāvā°) giving (ear)	ii, 175
asita - (byōtāngē) reaping	ii, 180
attita vāteri (?) -	ii, 212
abbeyāyeyya (abbheyya? abba- yeyya?) -	ii, 216
appatiibhattabhojī - one who shares unreservedly	ii, 251
aphassita - uncollected	i, 475

	with the exacting	
adhi-sallakha -	too much of an effacer.	i, 449
adipati-malaka -	the stuff the P 44	ii, 245
ajjhājīva -	about to elicit	ii, 245
arava -	discharging supporting	ii, 257
anavacarati -	overlaps - triple signo	ii, 257 180
accādhāya -	overlapping	i, 355, iii, 3
atamayatā -	eluctuous (a + tām + maya + tā) ex Tamaya (i, 319)	iii, 42; iii 220
ati-nijjhāy itatta -	excessive meditation	iii, 160
anapāya -	not desiring - unregarded	iii, 25; iii, 30
anupāya -	not liking - unattached	iii, 25; iii, 30
avāgameti -	to follow after	iii, 187
apadāna (bāl°) -	attribute	iii, 163
ābhāsa -	apparance	iii, 215
abhinivisanti -	They live, settle down	ii, 148
akkhāyati -	also it is evident (obvious)	i, 66
appabaddha -	unhesitant / coherent	i, 213
acchādeti -	to gesticulate (of hand) - suchādeti	i, 275, 316
āvāya (or vāya) -	without loss, indemnity	i, 275
ātidevi - (kāla) open to crows		i, 450
atula -	inestimable / beyond estimation	i, 386 <u>āmaṇa - unperformed</u> <u>āhāra -</u>
ācariyaka -	teachers' doctrine	i, 171 <u>āhāra -</u>
āhātar -	one who brings	ii, 123
āyatika -	having as a base	ii, 115
āpāditā -	nurse	iii, 248; iii, 253
āmāndo -	gallnut	iii, 101
āpadetar -	nurse	iii, 248
ākakkaka jāta	without the flower-like one	i, 233

icchati - to stir (see attichati)

189

12

meaning/approach	
upasankarītar - visitor	i, 72
upadhā - cushion (= upadhāna)	i, 79
upakāri - bastion	i, 86
uttarārani - upper fire-stick	i, 240; ii, 152 iii, 195;
upadurati - to begrudge	i, 135; ii, 135 iii, 204
ubbhāttaka - continuous standing	i, 92
upavadati - to assume	sutta 102 ii,
ukkura (ukkara?)	ii, 186
upapajjati - to be tenable (in an argument)	iii, 282
upavicarati - to approach	iii, 26
urata - eminent (not in PED.)	ii, 65

Urunda - large enough

iii, 238

extra -

~~etapa~~ etaparana - at most

iii, 262; i, 246

1180

* adusta - laid out ready, placed ready

i, 124; iii, 92

akappaniya- *beloved*

i, 249

& operaumba - censurable

iii, 119, 113

opakawa - due to string

11, 218

kasiṇāna - emaciatedness	i, 80, 152
* karuta -	i, 516
* kārita - built	ii, 91
kisora - foal	ii, 153
ko - where	ii, 153
kalabhaṇa - fracture	ii, 52; ii, 155
* kārikā (dulikāra°) - performance	iii, 166
kākātidāga - open to crows	i, 81 i, 450

14

khanti - like, prepared ^{also} acceptance	i, 185
khariṇata - solidified	
* khulu khulu-kāraka - making a splashing sound	ii, 138
khūṇa - sharp hoof-nip ^{etc.}	iii, 230
khurappa - ^{hoof} - tick, disease, ^{etc.} when	i, 429
khuratāṇa - prancing	i, 446
kuṭṭaka - plantain flower	i, 233
gām andala nṛpa - like a village bout	ii, 155
gopa - guardian	ii, 180

* capalla - personal vanity	ii, 167
* capala - personally vain	i, 32; iii, 6
cangavara - sieve	
cilēna (= vili mānasa) - ^{London} skin muscle	i, 142 iii, 275
cerasa - prowling	i, 449
chādeti - torment like (of food)	i, 275, 316

	fine	
jāpetumi - (caus. of jahati) to conflicate	ii, 122	
jaññā - (gen. jaññati)	iii, 187, 230	
jāti-bhūmi - birth-place	i, 145	<small>underlined</small>
natta (*ajjhāpanna) - (radid) scown <small>(cf. Dh. 72)</small>	i, 388	
-ttaka - fasting	i, 185	

tacchati - to pare, to plane (<u>see tacchati</u>)	i, 31; iii, 183 ii, 124	
tūlinī - <small>slaty</small>	i, 128	
telamāsikata - ; dirty (oily)	i, 509	
dubbaca - unmeasurable condition	i, 95	<small>difficult to correct</small>
duttthulla - inertia (= alasya)	i, 435; iii, 151;	
dajja - would give	<u>iii, 159</u>	
dukkhosalcarikā - performance of difficult facts	ii, 261 i, 61	<small>underlined</small>
dhutta (Sundita) - (brevis) music	i, 228, 375	
nikanini (aor.) - custodied	ii, 82	
nimmatita - produced	ii, 130	<small>kindled</small>
narassika - <small>mainly</small> generally gender	ii, 143	
niccakappani - constantly	iii, 266	
niheta - functionless	iii, 243	
nisevita - scraping	i, 178	

pātavyatā - gulping	i, 305
pattiita - gone out	i, 79
parikkhopetvā - having uttered the command	i, 233
pandumutika (oputika?) - stored in a ^{sheaf}	ii, 50
pabbivatta (pratibhasta?) - selected	ii, 57
piyappabhavíta -	ii, 106
pabhavíta - arise from	ii, 106
pāsādaniya - confidence-inspiring, pleasing	
pārijuñña - loss	ii, 118
parutta -	ii, 66
pāyamāna - getting back	ii, 204
padumaka - kind of wood	ii, 148
piyata - dieuk?	ii, 152
paya - fruit nuk	ii, 186
pratisaṅkhārāpeti ^{to bear forth} _{personal}	iii, 7
prati puggalika - for a particular individual person	iii, 254
paccapādi - (aor. patipajjati) sub 160?	
patikaroti - to obey, to make amends	iii, 133
paradavutta (para+dā+vutta) - living on what is given by others	iii, 167
paraddhika (paratthikā?) chun	iii, 283
panopana -	i, 77
parikkamana - avoidance, by-passing	i, 43
parana - wild (of forest)	i, 174, ii, 117

x <i>parava</i> (°-°) -	i, 76
x <i>paharavim</i> -	? i, 124
✓ <i>pañupata</i> - for let	i, 24
✓ <i>pativana-rūpa</i> - disappointed	ii, 244
✓ <i>papatati</i> - tryo, to keep going ^{to flee}	i, 79
✓ <i>pañopana-vittha</i> (or °vijita) - bargaining ^{haggling}	i, 480
purindada - first of all gives	i, 386
x <i>paccāmbloti</i> - disappears	i, 295
✓ <i>pativati</i> - to vanish, to disappear	iii, 25

x *phāsu* - comfort i, 10

<i>bandhana</i> - imprisonment (cf ii, 166)	i, 275
<i>baddha</i> - imprisoned	i, 275
✓ <i>bandha</i> - imprisonment.	i, 115
x <i>bandhati fissari</i> b°) - to produce ^{eggs}	iii, 204
<i>bhūmidīpa</i> - ^{bhūmi = earth} ^{dīpa = fire}	i, 171
<i>bhāga</i> <i>baṇḍī</i> pingo	ii, 180
x <i>bhūdati</i> (vācam bh°) - touches	i, 301
x <i>bhanti</i> (3° pers. pl. of <i>bhāti</i>) - they ^{shie} <i>shie</i>	i, 328
<i>bhavyatā</i> (sañcchhi °) - ability	iii, 96

<i>nānava - miscreant (= cosa cog.)</i>	<i>i, 448</i>
<i>matta-thalca - lasting for a moment</i>	<i>i, 185</i>
<i>mattha - churning - stick</i>	<i>iii, 141</i>
<i>mannusara - current of conceit</i>	<i>iii, 246</i>
<i>mati - enhancement</i>	<i>i, 236</i>
<i>malacca - pump</i>	<i>ii, 65</i>
<i>mettha - churning - stick</i>	<i>iii, 141</i>
<i>× gānor - one who gains his keep</i>	<i>" " 123</i>
<i>× yavatādhi - as far as that</i>	<i>" " 47</i>
<i>kāla - strainer</i>	<i>i, 229, 375</i>
<i>× viti-mainsa - skin muscle</i>	<i>iii, 274</i>
<i>vyāpappat - one who undertaken (work)</i>	<i>iii, 127</i>
<i>Vattana -</i>	<i>sutta 102</i>
<i>vipakkhati - looking about</i>	<i>ii, 137</i>
<i>vuddha-cita - future virtue</i>	<i>ii, 165</i>
<i>rekurājāya (?) -</i>	<i>- ii, 153</i>
<i>rāditar - Telling, one who tells</i>	<i>iii, 29</i>
<i>vipakkamati - suspect</i>	<i>iii, 148</i>
<i>viprayoga - (mental) development</i>	<i>iii, 268</i>
<i>vitabhi - canopy</i>	<i>i, 306</i>
<i>vyapīta -</i>	<i>iii, 26</i>
<i>resistant -</i>	<i>i, 306</i>
<i>Samanvāneti - to bind (see samanvāni)</i>	<i>iii, 188</i>
<i>× samacintesuni (aor. sāñcinteti)</i>	<i>i, 151</i>
<i>suraca - meat, earthy, spidery</i>	<i>i, 96</i>
<i>Sampadāya (°-) -</i>	<i>i, 520</i>
<i>sata (du °) - remembered (see sarati ²)</i>	<i>i, 520</i>
<i>suvihata - well stretched out</i>	<i>iii, 105</i>
<i>Susamāniṭṭha (pp. of Su + samanvāti) well sought</i>	<i>i, 320</i>
<i>samūḍha - malleable</i>	<i>i, 386</i>
<i>harraka - connect (pp. of samudratabhi)</i>	<i>ii, 43, 201</i>

Susamāniṭṭha

Words with no Tripitaka
Ref. in P.T.S. Dict

✓ patisandhi - link	iii, 230
✓ upādīna - clung-to	i, 185
✓ appanā - fixing	iii, 173
✓ appanā - procedures	ii, 93
✓ āvati (āsati-virati) - virati -	ii, 174 iii, 74
✓ ayoni - no reason	iii, 141
vikārti - bent	iii, 274
mūla - money	i, 178 275, ii, 178
pandurogin - gaundian	i, 316
✓ kasiṇa - white (adj.)	i, 328
nāma & keyya - name, naming	i, 337
✓ abhito - near	i, 338
✓ ceyati - to accumulate, keep up	i, 338
✓ cheka - genuine	i, 309
<u>✓ apasat</u> <u>unsatiated</u>	i, 275
parikatta - cut open	i, 499
āvuta	ii, 203

1

21

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 1. Milaparivaya Sutta (1, 11)

1. Thus I heard

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Ukkattha at the root of a king Sīla tree in the Subhaga grove. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus! — a Venerable Sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkus, I shall expound to you a discourse on the root of all ideas, ~~and~~, listen and, attend closely what I shall say! — « Yes, venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

THE ORDINARY MAN

3. ~~22~~ ~~44~~ ~~46~~ ~~64~~ ~~109~~ ~~131~~ a Here, bhikkus, an untaught ordinary man ^{also} has no regard for Noble Ones ^{and} is unconversant with their true Idea and undisciplined in it, who has no regard for the mean ^{and} another is unconversant with their true Idea and un-disciplined in it:

4. ~~4~~ ~~49~~ From earth he has a percept of earth; having had from earth a percept of earth, he conceives [that to be] earth, he conceives [that to be] in earth, he conceives [that to be apart] from earth, he conceives earth ~~to be~~ 'mine', he delights ^{religiously} in earth. Why is that? He has not fully - ~~perceived~~ ^{I say}.

5. From water he has a percept of water; having had from water a percept of water, he conceives [that to be] water, he conceives [that to be] in water, he conceives [that to be apart] from water, he conceives water to be 'mine', he ^{religiously} delighted ~~it~~ discerned it

creater. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

6. From fire he has a percept of fire; having had from fire a percept of fire, he conceives [that to be] fire, he conceives [that to be] in fire, he conceives [that to be apart] from fire, he conceives fire to be 'mine', he ~~relishes~~^{delights in} fire. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

7. From air he has a percept of air; having had from air a percept of air, he conceives [that to be] air, he conceives [that to be] in air, he conceives [that to be apart] from air, he conceives air to be 'mine', he ~~relishes~~^{delights in} air, why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

8. From beings he has a percept of beings; having had from beings a percept of beings, he conceives [that to be] beings, he conceives [that to be] in beings, he conceives [that to be apart] from beings, he conceives beings to be 'mine', he ~~relishes~~^{delights in} beings. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

9. From gods he has a percept of gods; having had from gods a percept of gods, he conceives [that to be] gods, he conceives [that to be] in gods, he conceives [that to be] apart from gods, he conceives gods to be 'mine', he ~~relishes~~^{delights in} gods. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

10. From the Lord of the Race (Lajapati) he has a percept of the Lord of the Race; having had from the Lord of the Race a percept of the Lord of the Race, he conceives [that to be] the Lord of the Race, he conceives [that to be] in the Lord of the Race, he conceives [that to be apart from] the Lord of the Race, he conceives the Lord of the Race to be 'Mine', ~~he delegates in the Lord of the Race~~. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

11. From the Divinity (Brahma) he has a percept of the Divinity; having had from the Divinity a percept of the Divinity, he conceives [that to be] the Divinity, he conceives [that to be] in the Divinity, he conceives [that to be apart from the Divinity], ~~he conceives the Divinity to be~~ 'Mine', ~~he delegates in the Divinity~~. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

12. From those of Streaming Radiance (Abhyantra) he has a percept of those of Streaming Radiance; having had from those of Streaming Radiance a percept of those of Streaming Radiance, he conceives [that to be] those of Streaming Radiance, he conceives [that to be] in those of Streaming Radiance, he conceives [that to be apart from those of Streaming Radiance], he conceives those of Streaming Radiance to be 'Mine', ~~he delegates in those of Streaming Radiance~~. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

13. From those of Repugnant Glory (Bubhatikta) he has a percept of those of Repugnant Glory.

26

having had from those of Repulsive Glory a percept of those of Repulsive Glory, he conceives [that to be] those of Repulsive Glory, he conceives [that to be] in those of Repulsive Glory, he conceives [that to be apart] from those of Repulsive Glory, he conceives those of Repulsive Glory to be 'Mine', he ~~delights in~~^{relishes} those of Repulsive Glory. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

14. From those of Great Fruit (Vishappala) he has a percept of those of Great Fruit; having had from those of Great Fruit a percept of those of Great Fruit, he conceives [that to be] those of Great Fruit, he conceives [that to be] in those of Great Fruit, he conceives [that to be] apart from those of Great Fruit, he conceives those of Great Fruit to be 'Mine', he ~~delights in~~^{relishes} in those of Great Fruit. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

15. From the Transcendent Being (Abhisekha) he has a percept of the Transcendent Being; having had from the Transcendent Being a percept of the Transcendent Being, he conceives [that to be] the Transcendent Being, he conceives [that to be] in the Transcendent Being, he conceives [that to be apart] from the Transcendent Being, he conceives the Transcendent Being to be 'Mine', he ~~delights in~~^{relishes}

in the Transcendent Being, why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

16. From the base consisting of boundless space he has a percept of the base consisting of boundless space; having had from the base consisting of boundless space a percept consisting of boundless space, he conceives [that to be] the base consisting of boundless space, he conceives [that to be] in the base consisting of boundless space, he conceives [that to be] apart from the base consisting of boundless space, he conceives the base consisting of boundless space to be 'Mine', he ~~delights~~^{conceives} in the base consisting of boundless space. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

17. From the base consisting of boundless consciousness he has a percept of the base consisting of boundless ~~space~~^{consciousness}; having had a percept of the base consisting of boundless consciousness, he conceives [that to be] the base consisting of boundless consciousness, he conceives [that to be] in the base consisting of boundless consciousness, he conceives [that to be] apart from the base consisting of boundless consciousness, he conceives the base consisting of boundless consciousness to be 'Mine', he ~~delights~~^{conceives} in the base consisting of boundless consciousness. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

18. From the base consisting of nothingness he has a percept of the base consisting of no-

28

things; having had from the base consisting of nothingness a percept of the base consisting of nothingness, he conceives [that to be] the base consisting of nothingness, he conceives [that to be] in the base consisting of nothingness, he conceives [that to be apart] from the base consisting of nothingness, he conceives the base consisting of nothingness to be 'Mine', ~~he delights~~^{rejoices} in the base consisting of nothingness. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

19. From the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception he has a percept of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception; having had from the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception a percept of the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, he conceives [that to be] the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, he conceives [that to be] in the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, he conceives (that to be apart) from the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception, he conceives the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception to be 'Mine', ~~he delights~~^{rejoices} in the base consisting in 'Mine', he delights in the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

20. From the seen he has a percept of the seen; having had from the seen a percept of the seen, he conceives [that to be] the seen, he conceives [that to be] in the seen, he conceives [that to be apart] from the seen, he conceives the seen as 'Mine', he delights in the seen. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

21. From the heard he has a percept of the heard; having had from the heard a percept of the heard, he conceives [that to be] the heard, he conceives [that to be] in the heard, he conceives [that to be apart] from the heard, he conceives the heard to be 'Mine', he delights in the heard. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

22. From the sensed he has a percept of the sensed; having had from the sensed a percept of the sensed, he conceives [that to be] the sensed, he conceives [that to be] in the sensed, he conceives [that to be apart] from the sensed, he conceives the sensed to be 'Mine', he delights in the sensed. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

23. From the cognized he has a percept of the cognized; having had from the cognized a percept of the cognized, he conceives [that to be] the cognized, he conceives [that to be] in the cognized, he conceives [that to be apart] from the cognized, he conceives the cognized to be 'Mine', he delights in the cognized. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say!

24. From unity he has a percept of unity; having had from unity a percept of unity, he conceives [that to be] unity, he conceives [that to be] in unity, he conceives [that to be apart] from unity, he conceives unity to be 'Mine', he delights in unity. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

25. From difference he has a percept of difference; having had from difference a percept of difference, he conceives [that to be] difference, he conceives [that to be] in difference, he conceives [that to be apart] from difference, he conceives difference to be 'Mine', he delights in difference. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

26. From all he has a percept of all; having had from all a percept of all, he conceives [that to be] all, he conceives [that to be] in all, he conceives [that to be apart] from all, he conceives all to be mine, he delights in all. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

27. From extinction he has a percept of extinction; having had from extinction a percept of extinction, he conceives [that to be] extinction, he conceives [that to be] in extinction, he conceives [that to be apart] from extinction, he conceives extinction to be 'Mine', he delights in extinction. Why is that? He has not fully known, I say.

THE INITIATE

28.

Bhikkhu, a bhikkhu who is an initiate whose mind has not yet reached [deliverance] and who is still aspiring to the supreme success of bondage:

29 From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having had from earth direct knowledge of earth, he ought to conceive [that to be] earth, he ought to conceive [that to be] in earth, he ought to conceive [that to be apart] from earth, he ought to conceive earth to be 'Mine', he ought not to delight in earth. Why is that? He ought not fully to know, I say.

30. -51 From Water... From all...

52. From extinction he has direct knowledge of extinction; having had from extinction direct knowledge of extinction, he ought to conceive [that to be] extinction, he ought to conceive [that to be] in extinction, he ought not to conceive [that to be apart] from extinction, he ought to conceive a extinction to be 'Mine', he ought not to delight in extinction, Why is that? He can fully know, I say.

THE ARAHANT — I

63.

Bhikkhu, a bhikkhu who is ~~an initiate~~^{accomplished} with caskets destroyed, who has lived ~~out~~^{out} life, done what was to be done, laid down the burden, reached the highest goal, destroyed the fetters of being, and is rightly liberated to digress it

1, 2

32, 34

35, 36

70

73

76, 80

107, 116

has diagnosed

through final knowledge:

54. From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having had from earth direct knowledge of earth, he does not conceive [that to be] earth, he does not conceive [that to be] in earth, he does not conceive [that to be apart] from earth, he does not conceive earth to be 'mine', he does not delight in earth. Why is that? He has fully known, I say.

55.-56. From water... From all...

57. From extinction he has direct knowledge of extinction; having from extinction had direct knowledge of extinction, he does not conceive [that to be] extinction, he does not conceive [that to be] in extinction, he does not conceive [that to be apart] from extinction, he does not conceive extinction to be 'mine', he does not delight in extinction. Why is that? He has fully understood, I say.

II

78. Bhikkhu, a bhikkhu who is an Arahant
~~... rightly~~ liberated through final knowledge:

79. ⁵From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having had from earth direct knowledge of earth, he does not conceive [that to be] in earth, he does not conceive [that to be apart] from earth, he does not conceive [that to be apart]

from earth, he does not conceive earth to be 'mine', he does not ~~delight~~^{rejoice} in earth. Why is that? Because of haterlessness with the exhaustion of lust.

80.-102. From water... From all... from extinction... Why is that? Because of haterlessness with the exhaustion of lust.

III

103. Bhikkhus, a bhikkhu who is an Arahat... rightly liberated through final knowledge:

104. From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having had from earth direct knowledge of earth, he does not conceive [that^{to be}] earth, he does not conceive [that^{to be}] in earth, he does not conceive [that to be apart] from earth, he does not conceive earth to be 'mine'; he does not ~~delight~~^{rejoice} in earth. Why is that? Because of haterlessness with the exhaustion of hate.

105.-127. From water... From all... from extinction... Why is that? Because of haterlessness with the exhaustion of hate.

IV

128. Bhikkhus, a bhikkhu who is an Arahat... rightly liberated through final knowledge:

129. From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having had from earth direct knowledge of earth, he does not conceive [that^{to be}] earth, he does not conceive [that^{to be}] in earth, he

does not conceive [that to be apart] from earth, he does not conceive earth to be 'Mine', he does not delight in earth. Why is that? Because of delusionlessness with the exhaustion of delusion.

130.-152 From water... From all... From extinction... Why is that? Because of delusionlessness with the exhaustion of delusion.

A Perfect One I

153. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One, accomplished and fully enlightened:

154. From earth he has direct knowledge of earth; having from earth had direct knowledge of earth, he does not conceive [that to be] earth, he does not conceive [that to be] in earth, he does not conceive [that to be] apart [from earth], he does not conceive earth to be 'Mine', he does not delight in ⁶ earth, why is that? A Perfect One has fully known to the end, I say.

155.-177. From water... From all... From extinction... Why is that? A Perfect One has fully known to the end, I say.

II

178. Bhikkhus, a Perfect One, accomplished and fully enlightened:
fully diagnosed to the end

179 From earth he has direct knowledge
of earth; having had from earth direct know-
ledge of earth, he does not conceive [that
to be] earth, he does not conceive [that
to be] in earth, he does not conceive [that
to be apart] from earth, he does not con-
ceive earth to be 'mine', he does not ~~not~~
^{refuse} delight in earth. Why is ~~that~~? A perfect
One ~~knows~~ knows that ~~delight~~ is the root
of suffering and that with being there is
birth, and ^{the} ageing and death of whatever
is; ~~and therefore it is~~ ^{and therefore it is} with craving's exhaustion,
tiring out, cessation, being given up and
relinquished in all ways ~~that~~ ^{he} discovered
the supreme full enlightenment, I say.

180.-202 From ~~water~~ ... From all ... From
extinction.... why is that? A perfect One
knows... the supreme full enlightenment,
I say ??

203 That is what the Blessed One said.
The thickibus did not delight in his
words.

Notes

§ 2 According to the Conj the rendering should be 'a discourse on the root of all ideas', and no connexion is made between the word Sabba [^{call} in] Sabba Dhamma and Sabba in § 26, which has a special emphasis in Sutta 49. Cf. syntax of Sutta 2, § 2.

For Dhamma as 'idea' see introduction.

§ 3f. The following scheme shows the differences between the four kinds of Person.

The ordinary man (<u>puthujjana</u>)	has a percept (<u>Saṃjanati</u>)	conceives [that] to be (<u>mānatati</u>)	has not fully known (<u>aparīṇātati</u>)
The Initiate (<u>Arhata</u>)	has direct knowledge (<u>abhijanāti</u>)	ought to conceive (<u>mānatati</u>)	ought fully known (<u>parīṇātati</u>)
The Ardent (<u>Arahant</u>)	"	does not conceive (<u>na mānatati</u>)	has fully known (<u>parīṇātati</u>)
The Perfect One (<u>Patissagata</u>)	"	"	has fully known better end (<u>parīṇātataṭṭi</u>)

§ 4 Pathavī patiṣṭha saṃjanati - from earth he has a percept of earth: this presents the first of the many problems, most of which seem to be ontological. This ablative construction would normally be pretty renderable by 'he perceives earth as earth' (i.e. perceives it 'for what it is'); but that makes the ablative in a different sense to the one that follows (pathavī patiṣṭha mānatati - he conceives [that to be apart] from earth), which seems hard to

genuity, and perhaps not necessary. The strongest argument against this is that 'perceiver' (sāñjānati) is used only of the ordinary man. Consequently it must be taken that in the act of perceiving a basic slight distortion takes place (cf. definition of sāñcāra = perception in Vī. Ch XIV or abhinivesa = interpretation), which is absent in abhinā = direct knowledge. The perceiving has already made an interpretation from the ~~object~~ that bare object of vijñāna (bhūtadhyāgatana). Perceiving has the ultrapistic sense of the act of perceiving and the percept, and that is deliberately implied here, apparently.

'mānati - conceiver': whatever the etymology, mānati is semantically inseparable from māna (conceit) as well as manati (to measure). ~~For other contexts see~~ gena gena hi mānati tato tari hti anuttarā' (M. Sutta Sn 757), mānūsava (M. Sutta 40, § 25-6), Yena tho āmro lokasāmī loka-gāmī hti loka mānī again vacati anyosa viññā loko. kna c'āmro lokasāmī loka sādī hti loka-mānī? cakkhuṇa ... (S. vols. IV, 95=xxxv, 116 - this closely concerns the present sutta), and 'cakkhu na mānayya, cakkhusaṁna na mānayya, cakkhu, na mānayya, cakkhu 'me 'ti na mānayya; ripe na mānayya... (etc., with the 4 modes up to vedanā)... sattam na mānayya, sabbasam na mānayya, sabbato na mānayya, sattam 'me' ti na mānayya. So even avāmanasāmo na kincī loka upādijati... (S. vols. IV, 65=xxxvi, 90) See Vbh 353-6 and S. III 130

The prohibitive na mānati can only signify that, in the initiate's case, he can, but ought not to, indulge in conceiving: he can still do so because he still has asmī-vijñāna, which is only eliminated by arhatship. This should show that, in spite of what the commentary says, the 4-fold sabbaya little of sutta 44 is yet directly可証itable; for a sabha does not have sabha a little at all.

In rendering the manātā phrases, the first difficulty is the use of the transitive manāti with no object except in the first phrase (patherū); manāti (The same difficulty arises in Sutta 49 where nāgahosū is substituted for na manāti). The Commentary suggests a reading such 'he conceives [self as] earth, he conceives [self ~~as~~ ^{that} as] in earth, he conceives [self as] apart from earth, he conceives self as 'Mine', ... , and it attempts an equation with the 4 modes of the saddayādatti given for each of the 5 appetites in Sutta 44, §7). But this is perhaps rather procrustean. In Sutta 44 the modes in which ideas of self (atta) already clearly found are treatable is handled; but in the present Sutta (and in Sutta 49) the treatment is more general (and) there is no specific mention of atta—The conceiving is simply done on the basis of the percept, ~~but there are various types of objects~~ ~~on~~ ~~the~~ ~~basis~~ ~~of~~ ~~the~~ ~~percept~~ ~~it~~ ~~is~~ ~~no~~ ~~doubt~~ implied, but not yet explicitly stated. Since, however, a subject is necessary in the rendering the only safe one seems to be one drawn from the Sutta itself without introducing ^{outside} ideas, namely, the percept (also it makes sense not only here but thought).

The conceiving can also be taken as showing the grammatical behavior of the mind towards what it has (mis-)perceived: it conceives its earth-percept in the accusative, locative, or ablative relation, or as a possession (or as an object to atigacchati to take interest, positive or negative in).

But the most important aspect of this structure is the ontological one. The general question of

ontology as derivable from the Sutta to be dealt with in the introduction. How it is relevant in this Sutta appears more clearly from the use of प्रविपद्यते in Sutta 49 instead of प्रमाणयते; for it indicates that one of the functions of मामानी is to endow percept with being.

Afterwards when comprehended, the Companions' explanation is: the ordinary man perceives with some degree of cover by taking 'Earth' according to common usage. On the basis of that he then ^{first of all} conceives of ~~it~~ ^{earth} by ~~direct~~ ^{intuit} of the habitual diversification (papucca) effected by leaving, concert and view, taking it as respectively, 'I am earth' or 'my earth' or 'another in earth' or 'another's earth'; or else he respectively likes the object, ~~that~~ ^{that} has the conceit that it is better or worse than another, and equates it with of differentiates it from, the soul. Next he 'conceives', ~~I am in earth~~, ~~that~~ ^{that} there or there is the impediment of owing in earth', or else he conceives that his self is in the earth'. Next he 'conceives' that his or another's self is ~~other~~ ^{the} different 'from earth'. Lastly he 'conceives earth' as "mine", ^{supp} ~~out~~ of craving. [They have all no self-given, ^{they have all no self-given,} little but still have as in māmāna]

§ 28 for Satika 'Sekha - initiate' see Sutta 53.

The term (lit. one still with training to do) applies

§ 26 to the first seven of the 'Eight Persons'.

§ 27 for Sutta - all see Sutta 49.

§ 29 N.B. प्रभिजनाति - her direct knowledge of instead of सामजनाति - her perception of ~~that~~

~~that~~ मामानी - cannot conceive: the form

is the normal negative प्रपञ्च creative or prohibitive.

Ch. another unusual use of the मानी construction at Sutta 65, § 27.

§ 154 reading परिमितात्मा (fully known to the end) with conq., etc.

§ 155 emphasises the ontological aspect.

§ 203 so all editions, apparently except
the P.T.S. ed.

§ 8. bhūtate sañjānati ... bhūtate
mānati: The use of the ablative suffix
-to with the plural in a plural sense is un-
usual, but it cannot be taken in any other
way. Such a rendering as 'recognizes the
beings from nature (i.e. from the fact of being
nature)' (P.T.S. Dict. under bhūta) is quite un-
tenable. This emphasizes the use of the
ablative in -to rather than the odd more
usual ~~as~~ ~~a~~ ~~at~~ ~~it~~ -ā, -amā-astā
(pl.-ativ), and seems a further indication
^{in favour of the view} that the two occurrences in each clause - here
bhūtate sañjānati ... bhūtate mānati -

have the same significance (i.e. 'from'?)
rather than 'as' in the first case and 'apart
from' in the second.

for abhimanyata + paribhūmyata
see Vol. 426 and Vol A. 522

for asmi see 2. iii, 46 and 128-30
(the latter confirms the differences between the
pathyāna, ekkha + arakkha, into alla and asmiṇā)

for concavity + being see 1st Etym. le Nicent
p. 122.

Bṛhadāraṇyaka Upaniṣad (Compare II.1, and 5xxx, 50,

III. 7. 3A.

3. Yāt pṛthivīyām tisthami pṛthivīyā autarāḥ,
yām pṛthivī na ved, yasya pṛthivī jātrām
yāt pṛthivīm autarā yamayati, esa ta ātmā
taryām yamātah (He who inhabits the earth, ^{within} the earth, whom the earth does not know, whose body is the earth, and who controls the earth from within, this is the Internal Ruler, your own immortal self.).

4.... ēpo, 5. agni, 6. autarikṣa. 7. vāyo.
8. dyaus. 9. ādito. 10. diso. 11. candra-tāraka.
12. ākāśa. 13. tejas. 14. tejas.

* This much with reference to the gods.
Now with reference to beings (ity ādhi dāivataḥ, ath ādhi bhūtāḥ):

15. Sarvesu bhātesu tisthen

now with reference to oneself:

16. prāna. 17. Vāc. 18. cakṣur. 19. ṣrotum. 20.
mano. 21. trāc. 22. vijñānam. 23. roṭas

IV. 3. 7

Katama ātme'sti? Yo'yām vijñānamayaḥ
prāneṣu hṛdyantar-jyotiḥ puruseḥ.

(Śāṅkara's Commentary) (The locative case in the term 'in the midst of the organs (prāneṣu)' indicates that the self is different from the organs, as 'a rock in the midst of trees' indicates only

47

nearness; for there is a doubt about
the identity or difference of the self from
the organs. "In the midst of the organs"
means "different from the organs": for that
which is in the midst of certain other things,
is of course different from them, as a tree
in the midst of rocks. "Within the heart
(= intellect)" indicates that the self is dif-
ferent from the modifications of the in-
tellect." (cf MA. 'Nātha vī ... āyato ...
tejato ... rāyato māyātā vadeanteva
nūpati annām attāti siddhātā ...
Rūparūpātām vā attānām, attānī vā
nūpanī samanupravānti-ti vittām lōti')

IV. 45

॥ ४५ ॥
Sa vā ayam ātmā Brahma vijñāna-
mayo manomayah pñānamayai caksur-
mayah oṣṭamayah pñihitā maya ēpo-
maya rāyu maya ākāśamaya tejo maya
atijo maya kāmamaya'kāmamaya ...
darvamayas ...

Majjhima Nikaya 2 - Saṭṭasava Sutta (1,1,2)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindikā's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus » — a venerable sir? they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, I shall expound to you a discourse on the restraint of all ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~; listen and heed well what I shall say. — aces, venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

SUMMARY

3. « Bhikkhus, I say that there is exhaustion of ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~ in one who knows and sees, not in one who does not know and see. Who knows and sees what? ^{of present mif.} Reasoned ~~the~~ work and ^{an coherent mind-pot.} attention and ^{works his mind by appropriate} ~~unreasoned attention~~.

When a man ~~knows and sees~~ ^{Taints} arise, and arisen ^{Taints} increase. When the ^{works his mind by appropriate} arises, both arisen ^{Taints} do not arise and arisen ^{Taints} are abandoned

4. ~~These are~~ ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~ to be abandoned in sowing. ~~These are~~ ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~ to be abandoned in restraining. ~~These are~~ ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~ to be abandoned in using.

~~These are~~ ^{Taints} ~~caukors~~ to be abandoned in enduring.

~~These~~ ^{Tanks} ~~are~~ ^{are} considered to be abandoned in
time.

~~there are~~ ^{Traits can} ~~Cancers~~ [to be abandoned in
removing. ~~there are~~ ^{Traits can} ~~Cancers~~ [to be abandoned in
developing, maintaining [ideas] in being.

CANKERS ABANDONED IN SERTAO

5. What ~~causes~~^{taught} can be abandoned in
Seeing?

Here, thinkless, an untaught ordinary man, who has no regard for Noble Ideas and is unconversant with their True Idea and undisciplined in it, who has no regard for the men & and is unconversant with their True Idea and undisciplined in it, does not understand ^{what} ideas ~~that should be given effect~~
~~any right for giving under effect-~~
~~ideas that should not be given effect~~
Since ^{it} that is so, he does not give ~~attention~~ ^{to} ~~the~~ ideas ~~that~~ ^{he} ~~should~~ ^{not} ~~give~~ ^{take on}
~~attention~~ ^{to} ~~the~~ ideas ~~that~~ ^{he} ~~should~~ ^{not} ~~give~~ ^{take on}
~~attention~~ ^{and the grace of attention to the}
~~wrong mind applies to give attention to~~
~~wrong mind~~ ^{to take on mind work?}
~~What ideas does he give attention?~~
~~that should not be given attention?~~
They are ideas such that when he gives ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes}
~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~
arisen ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes}
arisen ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes}
arisen ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes} ~~attention~~ ^{causes}

Lamp.

of being increases in him or the unrisen ~~center~~^{part} of ignorance arises in him or the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of ignorance increases in him ^{unit or mind work} taken for his mind. These are the ideas that he gives attention to that should not be given attention. ^{taken for mind work}

And what are the ideas does he not give attention to that should be given attention? They are ideas such that when he gives attention to them the unrisen ~~center~~^{part} of sensual desire does not arise in him and the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of sensual desire is abandoned in him and the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of being does not arise in him and the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of being is abandoned in him and the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of ignorance does not arise in him and the arisen ~~center~~^{part} of ignorance is abandoned in him.

~~for his mind are the ideas that help to attain~~
~~to that should be given attention.~~

~~8 With his good~~ ^{unit for mind work} ideas ~~unit for mind work~~ ^{taking} both unrisen ~~center~~^{parts} arise and arisen ~~center~~^{parts} increase

6. This is how he works in mind incoherently.
 'Was I in the past extent? Was I not in the past extent? What was I in the past extent? How was I in the past extent? Having been what, what was I in the past extent? Shall I be in the future extent? Shall I not be

in the future extent? What shall I be in the future extent? How shall I be in the future extent? Having been what, what shall I be in the future extent?" Or else he is doubtful in himself about the presently arisen extent thus "Am I? Am I not? What am I? How am I? whence will this creature have come? Whether will it be bound?"

When he ~~gives unaccorded attention in~~^{wakes his mind incoherently}, this way, one of six kinds of view arises in him: The view '^{of self entity for me}I have a self' arises in him as true and established, or the view '^{that}I have no self' arises in him as true and established, or the view 'I perceive self with self' arises in him as true and established, or the view 'I perceive not-self with self' arises as true and established, or the view 'I perceive self with not-self' arises as true and established; or else he has some such view as 'It is this very self that speaks and fails, and that experiences here or there the ripening of good and bad actions; but this myself is impermanent, everlasting, eternal, ~~and~~ ^{as regards} not impermanent from the idea of change, and it will endure as long as eternity'.

The wilderness ^{this} ~~field~~ of views is called theicket of views, ^{the} ~~concrete~~ ^{No} ~~field~~ of views, the ~~leavening~~ ^{leavening} of views, the gathering of views, the ~~leavening~~ ^{leavening} ordinary man who is bound by the ~~leaven~~ ^{leaven} of views in ~~the~~ ^{the} grand ~~grand~~ birth.

ageing and death, ^{by} from sorrows and lamentations, from pains, griefs and despairs; he is not freed from suffering, ^{I say,} _{heart of noble ones.}

8. The well-taught noble disciple who has regard for Noble Ones and is conversant with their True Idea and ~~is~~^{is realized} in it, who has regard for True Men and is conversant with their True Idea and disciplined in it, always understands that ideas ~~are fit for mind work~~^{any fit for mind} given attention and that ideas ~~should be given~~^{are worth for mind work} given attention and that ideas ~~should be given~~^{are worth for mind work} given attention and he ~~takes~~^{takes} ~~to his mind work~~^{mind work}. Since ~~that is so~~^{it} he does not give attention to ideas ~~until it may properly be given~~^{taken for his mind work} attention and he ~~takes~~^{takes} ~~to his mind work~~^{mind work}. So that he should be given attention fit for mind work.

What ideas ~~worth for mind work~~^{are fit for mind work} does he not give attention ~~so that~~^{to the} ~~he~~^{taught} ~~arisen center~~^{center} of sensual desire arises in him or the arisen ~~center~~^{taught} of being arises in him or the arisen ~~center~~^{taught} of being increases in him or the arisen ~~center~~^{taught} of ignorance arises in him or the arisen ~~center~~^{taught} of ~~ignorance~~^{base} increases in him.

him. These are the ideas that he does not take for his ^{initial} work that should not be given attention. If for mind work later on his mind finds what ideas does he give attention to this should be given attention?

48

Then for him wind ~~and~~^{take} ~~arise~~^{arises} the ~~unseen~~^{unseen} ~~desires~~^{desire} of sensual desire does not arise in him and the arisen ~~desire~~^{desire} of sensual desire is abandoned in him and the unarisen ~~desire~~^{desire} of being does not arise in him and the arisen ~~desire~~^{desire} of being is abandoned in him and the unarisen ~~desire~~^{desire} of ignorance does not arise in him and the arisen ~~desire~~^{desire} of ignorance is abandoned in him.

There are the ideas ~~that~~^{fit for mind only} he gives that his mind up to ~~should be given~~^{attention}.

With his not taking fit for his mind up to ideas that up to ~~the~~^{his} mind worth attention and his giving ~~to his mind worth~~^{fit for mind only} attention and his giving attention ideas that should be given attention both ~~arisen~~^{arisen} ~~desires~~^{desires} and ~~do not arise~~^{do not arise} and arisen ~~desires~~^{desires} cease are abandoned.

9. He gives ~~several~~^{three} ~~attention~~^{works in mind correctly}: This is he gives ~~several~~^{attention}: 'This is suffering', and 'This is the origin of suffering' and 'This is the cessation of suffering' and 'This is the way leading to the cessation of suffering'.

10. When he ~~gives~~^{writes in mind correctly} ~~several~~^{attention} in this way, three falters are abandoned in him: The embodiment view, uncertainty, and his apprehension of virtue and duty.

49
These are called the ~~saints~~^{Taints} that can be abandoned in seeing.

CANCKERS ABANDONED IN RESTRAINING

11. What ~~saints~~^{Taints} can be abandoned in restraining?

Here a ~~chicken~~^{reflecting shaggy person} abides with the eye faculty restrained. While ~~saints~~^{Taints} and fear of displacement might arise in a ~~chicken~~^{abode} who abode with the eye faculty unrestrained, there are no ~~saints~~^{Taints} or fear of displacement in him when he abides with the eye faculty restrained.

~~Reflecting shaggy person~~ he abides with the ear faculty restrained...

... nose faculty...

... tongue faculty...

... body faculty...

~~Reflecting shaggy person~~ he abides with the mind faculty unrestrained... when he abides with the mind faculty restrained.

While ~~saints~~^{Taints} and fear of displacement might arise in one who abode unrestrained, ~~no~~¹⁰ there are no ~~saints~~^{Taints} or fear of displacement in one who abides restrained.

These are called the ~~saints~~^{Taints} that can be abandoned in restraining.

CANCKERS ABANDONED IN USING

12. What ~~saints~~^{Taints} can be abandoned in using?

50

Here a ~~blanket~~ ^{reflecting coherently deliberation} with ~~reasoned reflexion~~
 uses ~~it~~ ^a robe only for protection from cold,
 for protection from heat for protection from con-
 tact with gadflies, flies, wind, ^{buzzing}, sun, and
 creeping things, and only for the purpose of con-
 cealing what disturbs conscience.

13. ^{Reflecting coherently deliberation} he uses clear
 food neither for amusement nor for intox-
 ication (variety) nor for smartening nor for
 embellishing heart, but only for the endurance
 and continuance of this body, for ending dis-
 comfort, and for assisting the ~~life~~ ^{Divine} [considering] ^c others I shall terminate old feel-
 ings without arousing new feelings and shall
 live in comfort healthy and blameless.

14. ^{Reflecting coherently deliberation} he uses a rest-
 ing place only for protection from cold, for pro-
 tection from heat, for protection from gadflies,
 flies, wind, ^{such} buzzings, and creeping things, and
 only for ~~the~~ ^{such} purpose ^{ward} off the perils
 of climate, ^{and} ~~enjoying~~ ^{meditation} ^{rest do with}

15. ^{Reflecting coherently deliberation} with ~~reasoned reflexion~~ he uses the
 requisite of medicine as cure for the sick
 only for protection from arisen ^{afflicting} ~~harmful~~
 feelings and for ^{causing the disappearance of} ~~introducing~~ ^{the} ~~natural~~
 affliction.

16. ^{Taught} White cloths and fever of delirium
 might arise in one who did not use ^{the} the
 requisites thus), there are no ^{causes} ~~causes~~ or for-

ver of depilement in one who uses [there thus]
These are called ~~cautels~~^{Taints} that can be aban-
doned in using.

CANKERS ABANDONED IN ENDURING

17. What ^{Taints} can be abandoned in enduring?
Here a thickchee ~~reflecting coherently~~
bears cold and heat and hunger and thirst
and contact with gadflies, flies, mud, burning,
and creeping things, he endures ill-spoken
unwelcome words and arisen bodily feelings
that are painful, racking, harsh, piercing,
disagreeable, distressing, and breath-taking.

With ^{Taints} and fever of depilement
might arise in one who did not endure, there
are no ^{Taints} and fever of depilement in one
who endures.

These are called ^{Taints} cankers that can be aban-
doned through enduring.

CANKERS ABANDONED IN AVOIDING

18. What ^{Taints} can be abandoned in avoiding?
Here a thickchee ~~reflecting coherently~~
avoids a savage elephant, a savage horse, a
savage bull, a savage dog, a snake, a ^{II}
stump, a bramble, a chasm, a cliff, a cesspit,
a sewer; ~~reflecting coherently~~ ^{with a sound reflexion} he avoids
sitting on unsuitable seats, wandering in
unsuitable resorts, frequenting bad friends,
such that wise companions in the ^(Title Daras)
might believe to be ^{indicative of} evil-doing.

While ~~taunts~~^{taints} and fever of delirium might arise in one who did not avoid, there are no ~~taunts~~^{taints} and fever of delirium in one who avoids.

These are called ~~causes~~^{taunts} that can be abandoned in avoiding.

CANKERS ABANDONED IN REMOVING

19. What ~~causes~~^{taunts} can be abandoned in removing?

Here a thinking ^{reflecting} ~~with~~ ^{coherently} ~~seasoned~~ reflexion, does not endure ~~any~~^{arisen} thought affected by sexual desire, he abandons it, removes it, ~~leaves~~^{leaves} it, annihilates it. He does not endure ~~any~~^{arisen} thought affected by ill will, he abandons it, removes it, ~~leaves~~^{leaves} it, annihilates it, he does not endure ~~any~~^{arisen} thought affected by cruelty, he abandons it, removes it, ~~leaves~~^{leaves} it, annihilates it. He does not endure ~~any~~^{arisen} evil unprofitable ideas, he abandons them, removes them, ~~leaves~~^{leaves} them, annihilates them.

While ~~causes~~^{taunts} and fever of delirium might arise in one who did not remove [these thoughts], there are no ~~causes~~^{taunts} or fever of delirium in one who removes [them].

CANKERS ABANDONED IN MAINTAINING IN BEING

20. What ~~causes~~^{taunts} can be abandoned in ~~maintaining in being~~^{bringing into being}? [ideas] in being?

Here a thinking ^{reflecting} ~~with~~ ^{coherently} ~~seasoned~~ reflexion

~~maintaining in being~~
~~developing~~ of the mindfulness enlightenment factor
 which has for its support exclusion, fading out,
 and cessation, and results in relinquishment
 for its support and changes to relinquish-
 ment.

~~maintaining in being~~
~~developing~~ the investigation - of - the - True-
 Idea enlightenment factor ...

... the energy enlightenment factor ...

... the happiness enlightenment factor ...

... the tranquillity enlightenment factor ...

... the concentration enlightenment factor ...

~~bring into being~~
~~developing~~ the outlook (equanimity) en-
 lightenment factor, which has exclusion, fading
 out and cessation for its support and changes
 to relinquishment.

While ~~causes~~ and ~~fever of delusion~~
 might arise in one who did ~~not develop~~, there
 are no ~~causes~~ and ~~fever of delusion~~ in one
 who ~~maintains~~ [them] in being.

These are called ~~causes~~ that can be
 abandoned in ~~developing~~, maintaining (ideas) in being.

CONCLUSION

21. As soon as a ~~blocker~~ ~~causes~~ that can
 be abandoned in seeing are abandoned in seeing,
 as his ~~causes~~ that can be abandoned in rest-
 raining are abandoned in restraining, as his ~~causes~~
 that can be abandoned in using are aban-
 doned in using, as his ~~causes~~ that can be aban-

54

abandoned in enduring are abandoned in enduring, as his ~~taught~~^{taught} that can be abandoned in avoiding are abandoned in avoiding, as his ~~taught~~^{taught} that can be abandoned in removing are abandoned in removing, or his ~~taught~~^{taught} that can be abandoned in ~~removing~~^{maintaining} [them] in being are abandoned in ~~developing~~^{developing}, — then he is called a bhikkhu who dwells restrained with the restraint of all ~~taught~~^{taught}: he has severed greed, flung off the fetters and has ~~fully~~^{fully} completed ^{? made} an end of suffering with the penetration of conceit.

22 That is what the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

Notes

§ 3 'yoni - reasoned' and 'ayoni - unreasoned': for use of the words yoni and ayoni for respectively 'reason' and 'no reason' (i.e. cause or basis) see Sutta 126 and also Comy to Sutta 124

§ 18. Cf same idiom at Ps. II, 19

§ 'Abhyābhijñaparamataya - for ensuring the minimum of affliction': lit for the maximum non-affliction

§ 21 of A. i, 134 addroki Taibam etc

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 3 - Dhamma Sutta
(1; 1; 3)

55

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetavane, Anathapindika's Park. Then ~~the Blessed One addressed~~ the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus? — « Venerable Sir? » they Bhikkhus replied. The Blessed One said this :

2. « Bhikkus, be my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things. Out of ~~pity~~ ^{for you} I have thought 'How shall ~~the~~ ^{my} ~~desperately~~ ^{desire} be my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things?'

If you are my heirs in material things, not my heirs in the True Idea, it will be a reproach to you 'the Master's ~~desperately~~ ^{desire} live as his heirs in material things, not as his heirs in the True Idea', and it will be a reproach to me that 'the Master's ~~desperately~~ ^{desire} after live as his heirs in material things' not as his heirs in the True Idea'.

If you are my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things, it will be no reproach to you that 'the Master's ~~desperately~~ ^{desire} live as his heirs in the True Idea, not as his heirs in material things', and it will be no reproach to me that 'the Master's ~~desperately~~ ^{desire} live as his heirs in the True Idea, not as his heirs in material things'.

Therefore Bhikkhu, be my heirs in the

True Idea, not my heirs in material things.
Out of pity for you I have thought 'How shall
~~I pass~~
~~the~~
~~desires~~
be my heirs in the True Idea,
not in material things?'

Now, blinkies, [supposing that] I had eaten, repused more, had my fill, finished, had enough, had what I needed, and some alms food ~~was left~~ ^{remaining} over to be thrown away. Then the blinkies arrived ¹⁸ hungry and weak, and I told them 'Blinkies, I have eaten, repused more, had my fill, finished, had enough, had what I needed, but there is this alms food of mine ~~left~~ ^{remaining} over to be thrown away; eat if you like; if you do not, then I shall now throw it where there is no green or drop it into water where there is no life; Then one blinkie thought 'The Blind One has eaten, repused more, had his fill, finished, had enough, had what he needed, but there is this alms food of the Blind One's ~~left~~ ^{remaining} over to be thrown away; if we do not eat it, the Blind One will throw it where there is no green or drop it into water where there is no life, but this has been said by the Blind One ~~to me~~ ^{about him, to} my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things; Now this alms food is one of the material things; suppose that instead of eating this alms food I pass ~~it~~ This night hungry and weak?', and instead of eating that alms food he passed that night hungry and weak; then the second blinkie thought 'The Blind One has eaten, repused more, had his fill, finished, had enough, had what he needed, but there is this

alms food of the Blessed One's left over to be thrown away; if we do not eat it, the Blessed One will throw it where there is no green or drop it into water where there is no life. Suppose that I eat this alms food and pass this night and day not hungry and weak ?? And see ~~passed~~ that night after eating that alms food he passed that night and day not hungry and weak. Now although that bhikkhu by eating that alms food passed that night and day not hungry and weak, yet the first bhikkhu is more to be respected and commended by me. Why is that? Because that will for long conduct to his fewness of wishes, ^{instigation of envy} contentment, effacement, easy support and ~~eugetickness~~. Therefore, bhikkhus, ~~be theirs to~~ be my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things. Out of pity for you I have thought "How shall ~~the~~ ^{1st} ~~disciples~~ be my heirs in the True Idea, not my heirs in material things?"

4. That is what the Blessed One said. Having said that, ~~he~~ he rose from his seat and went into his dwelling.

Soon after he had gone, the venerable Sāriputta addressed the bhikkhus thus "Friends, bhikkhus". — "Friends" ~~they~~ They replied. The venerable Sāriputta said this:

5. Friends, in what way do ~~teachers~~
of a ~~teacher~~ teacher who lives excluded not train in

in seclusion? And in what way do ^{heavers} ~~disciples~~ of a ^{Master} teacher who lives secluded train in seclusion?" — «Indeed, friend, we would come from afar to learn the meaning of this pronouncement from the venerable Sāriputta. It is good that the meaning of this pronouncement occurs to the venerable Sāriputta. Having heard it from him, the bhikkhus will remember it», — «Then, friends, listen and heed well what I shall say». — «Yes, friend» they replied. The venerable Sāriputta said this:

5. ^{heavers} «Friends, in what way do ~~disciples~~ of a ^{Master} teacher who lives secluded not train in seclusion?

Here, friends, ^{heavers} ~~disciples~~ of a ^{Master} teacher who lives secluded do not train in seclusion; they do not abandon what the ^{Master} teacher tells them to abandon; they are busy and careless forward in erring and neglectful of seclusion.

In this ^{the} ~~the~~ older bhikkhus are to be blamed for ^{these} ~~these~~ reasons. As ^{heavers} ~~disciples~~ of a ^{Master} teacher who lives secluded they do not train in seclusion: they are to be blamed for this first reason. They do not abandon what the ^{Master} teacher tells them to abandon: they are to be blamed for this second reason. They are busy, careless, forward in erring and neglectful of seclusion: they are to be blamed for this third reason. The older bhikkhus are to be blamed

for these three reasons

59

In this the middle blackbirds are to be blamed for three reasons ... [repeat last para] ...

In this the new blackbirds are to be blamed for three reasons ... [repeat last para] ... for these three reasons.

It is in this way that ^{hearers} ~~disciples~~ ^{Martyr} of a teacher who lives secluded do not train in seclusion.

7. In what way do ^{hearers} ~~disciples~~ ^{Martyr} of a teacher who lives secluded ¹⁵ train in seclusion?

Here ^{hearers} ~~disciples~~ of a ^{Martyr} teacher who lives secluded train in seclusion; they abandon what the ~~teacher~~ tells them to abandon; they are not busy and not careless, they are neglectful of caring and forward in seclusion.

In this the elder blackbirds are to be commended for three reasons. As ^{hearers} ~~disciple~~ of a ^{Martyr} teacher who lives secluded they train in seclusion; they are to be commended for this first reason. They abandon what the ~~teacher~~ tells them to abandon; they are to be commended for this second reason. They are not busy and not careless, and they are neglectful of caring and forward in seclusion: they are to be commended for this third reason. The elder blackbirds are to be commended for these three reasons.

In this the middle blackbirds are to be commended for three reasons ... [repeat last para] ...

In this the new children are to be commanded for three seasons ... [repeat last para] ... for these three seasons

It is in this way that the ^{disciples}
of a ~~Master~~ teacher who lives secluded train in seclusion.

60

8. Friends, the evil herein is greed and it is hate. There is a middle way for the abandoning of greed and hate giving eyesight, giving knowledge, that leads to peace, to direct ^{acquaintance with} ~~knowledge~~, to enlightenment, to extinction.

9. And what is that middle way? It is just this noble Eightfold Path, that is to say, right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindfulness, right concentration. This is the middle way giving eyesight, giving knowledge, that leads to peace, to direct ^{acquaintance with} ~~knowledge~~, to enlightenment, to extinction.

10.-11. Friends, the evil herein is anger and it is ^{vengeance} ~~envy~~ ...

12.-13. Friends, the evil herein is contempt and it is domineering ...

14.-15. Friends, the evil herein is envy and it is avarice ...

16.-17. Friends, the evil herein is deceit and it is fraud ...

- 18.-19. Friends, the evil herein is obstinacy and
it is presumption ...
- 20.-21. ~~17~~ Friends, the evil herein is conceit and
it is pride (haughtiness) ...
22. Friends, the evil herein, is vanity and
it is negligence ... to extinction
23. And what is that middle way? ...
to extinction >>
24. That is what the reverable Sāriputta
said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they
delighted in his words.
-

Notes

§2. 'ādina (adj.) - reproach (lit. 'pointed out'): not in this sense in P.T.S. Dict., but given there under ādisati.

§6. The opening sentence is missing in the
P.T.S. Text

§18

is considered to be
the species of which is
considered to be

the species of which is
considered to be

the species of which is
considered to be

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 4 - Bhagavattherava Sutta (1, 1, 4)

63

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetavana, Anathapindika's Park.

2. Then Jāmisoni of the divine caste went to the Blessed One and exchanged greetings with him, and when the ~~hostile formal~~ talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said:

"Master Gotama, when clansmen have gone forth from the home life into homelessness out of faith in Master Gotama, do they have Master Gotama for their leader, their helper and their guide? And ~~do~~ ^{do} these people ~~hold~~ ^{hold} ~~the consequences of~~ ^{the consequences of} Master Gotama's view?"

4 That is so, Divine, that is so. When clansmen have gone forth from the home life into homelessness out of faith in me, they have me for their leader, their helper and their guide. And these people ~~hold~~ ^{hold} ~~not~~ ^{not} ~~the consequences of~~ ^{the consequences of} my view".

[But]

"Master Gotama, remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest are hard to endure; seclusion is hard to achieve, and it is hard to enjoy isolation. One would think the jungle ~~is thick~~ must rob a bhikkhu of his mind, if he has no concentration".

17 Is that so, Divine, that is so. Remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest

May

69

are hard to endure, seclusion is hard to achieve, and it is hard to enjoy isolation. One would think the jinnger must rot a blightler of his mind, if he has no concentration.

3. Before my enlightenment, while I was still only an unenlightened creature pledged to Enlightenment (Bodhisatta), I, [considered] thus 'Remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest are hard to endure, seclusion is hard to achieve, and it is hard to enjoy isolation. One would think the jinnger must rot a blightler of his mind if he has no concentration'.

4. I [considered] thus 'Whenever monks or divines resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest unpurified in bodily conduct, then owing to the ~~fault~~ ^{detest} of their unpurified bodily conduct these worthy monks and divines evoke unprofitable fear and dread. But I do not resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest unpurified in bodily conduct. I am purified in bodily conduct. I resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places, as one of the Noble Ones, whose ^{with} bodily conduct is purified. Seeing in myself this purity of bodily conduct, I found great solace in dwelling in the forest.'

5. I [considered] thus 'Whenever monks or divines --- unpurified in verbal conduct ...

unprofitable fear and dread. But I... am purified in verbal conduct... solace in dwelling in the forest.

6. I [considered] thus... unpurified in verbal conduct... I am purified in mental conduct... in the forest.

7. ... unpurified in livelihood... ^{I am} unpurified in livelihood...

8. ... covetous and keenly affected by lust... ^{fascination}_{desires} I am uncovetous...

9. ... with cognizance of ill will... I have cognizance of lovingkindness...

10. ... obsessed by lethargy and drowsiness... I am without lethargy and drowsiness...

11. ... with agitated ^{worried}_{agitated} cognition... my cognition is stilled...

12. ... doubting and uncertain... ¹² I have gone beyond uncertainty...

13. ... given to self-praise and disparagement of others... I am not given to self-praise and disparagement of others...

14. ... subject to ~~fright and~~ alarm and terror... I am not subject to alarm and terror...

15. ... desirous of gain, honour and renown... I have few wishes...

16. ... idle and wanting in energy... I am energetic...

17. ... ^{unaware}_{forgetful and not fully aware}... I have established mindfulness...

18. ... unconcentrated with straying cog-nition ... I am perfect in concentration ...
19. I [considered] thus 'Whence monks and divines resort to remotest jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest devoid of understanding and dwelling, then owing to the ~~fault~~^{defect} of their being devoid of understanding and dwelling these worthy monks and divines evoke unprofitable fear and dread. But I do not resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest devoid of understanding and dwelling. I am perfect in understanding. I resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest, as, ^{it were} one of the Noble Ones perfect in understanding'. Seeing in myself this perfection of understanding, I found great solace in dwelling in the forest.

20. I [considered] thus 'there are the specially holy nights of the ~~Fourteenth~~^{my} Fourteenth, and the Eight of the Half-moon. [Half-moon of the] Fourteenth, the Half-moon of the Fifteenth, and the Quarter-moon of the Eighth. Now what if I dwelt on such nights as these in such woods as orchard shrines, woodland shrines, and tree shrines; ~~which~~ incense and make the hair stand up? Perhaps I too might encounter that fear and dread.'

And later, on such specially holy nights as the [half-moon of the] Fourteenth,

the half-moon) of the Fifteenth, and the inspiring horrifying
 Quarter-moon of the Eighth, I dwelt in such a
 abode as orchard shrines, woodland shrines,
 and tree shrines, ~~which in spite~~ and ~~and~~
~~make the hair stand up.~~ And while I
 dwelt there, a wild animal would come
 up to me, or a peacock would knock off ~~2~~ a
 branch, or the wind would move the leaves.
 I [thought] 'What now if this is the fear and
 dread coming?' I [thought] 'Why do I dwell
 always expecting fear and dread? What
 if I ~~set myself~~ of that subdue that fear
 and dread while keeping to the posture that
 I am in when it finds me?"

While I walked, the fear and dread
 came upon me. I neither stood nor sat nor
 lay down till I had ~~rid~~ ^{rid} ~~of~~ of that fear
 and dread. While I stood, the fear and
 dread came upon me. I neither walked nor
 sat nor lay down till I had subdued that
 fear and dread. While I sat, the fear and
 dread came upon me. I neither walked nor
 stood nor lay down till I had subdued that
 fear and dread. While I lay down, the fear
 and dread came upon me. I neither walked
 nor stood nor sat till I had subdued that
 fear and dread.

21. ^{are} ~~such~~ mortals and divines who per-
 ceive day when it is night and perceive night
 when it is day. I say that ^{is} that is a de-
 cluded man's a riding ~~on their part.~~ ^{part.} ~~No~~
- 36 |

perceive night when it is night ~~and it is~~
night and I perceive day when it is day.
 Was it rightly speaking to be said of some-
 one: 'A creature not inseparable from the
 idea of delusion has appeared in the world
 for the welfare and happiness of many, out
 of pity for the world, for the benefit, wel-
 fare and happiness of gods and men', it is
 of me indeed that rightly speaking it should
 be said & thus.

12, 196
11, 127

12, 31

22. The less energy was ~~arisen~~ in me 19, 36
 and unforgiving mindfulness established,
 my body was tranquil and untroubled, the
 cognizance was concentrated and unified.

43-4

23. Quite secluded from sensual desires,
 secluded from unprofitable ideas, I entered upon
 and abode in the first ~~meditation~~ illumination,
 which is accompanied by thinking and ~~pass-~~
~~exploring~~, with happiness and bodily] plus-
 are born of exclusion.

8, 13, 19

25, 7, 30, 31

36, 28-7, 14

44, 46, 57

57,

59-6, 7, 7

79, 100-1,

102-8, 11

119, 122-1

138, 7, 143

24. With the ~~stilling~~ ^{quieting} of thinking and ~~pas-~~
~~exploring~~, I entered upon and abode in the se-
 cond ~~meditation~~ illumination, which has self-confidence
 and singleness of cognizance ~~without~~ without think-
 ing and ~~with~~ exploring, with happiness and plus-
 are born of concentration.

a 5 a.m.

6 a.m.

8, 7, 43

25. With the fading as well of happiness I
 abode in overlooking (equanimity), and mind-
 ful and fully aware, still feeling pleasure
 with the body, I entered upon and abode in

A 5, 23

6 a.m.

8, 7, 28

~~the third meditation, on which~~ One announce 'He has a pleasant abiding who is an outlooker (with equanimity) and is mind-ful'.

26. With the abandoning of [bodily] pleasure and pain, and with the previous disappearance of [mental] joy and grief. Deceived upon and abode in the fourth ~~meditation~~, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure, and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to outlooking (equanimity).

27. When concentrated cognizance was thus quite purified, and bright, unblemished, rid of ~~the~~ ^{imperturbation} blemish and became malleable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperturbability, I directed, I inclined, cognizance to knowledge of recollection of past life.

I recollect my manifold past life, that is to say, one birth, two births, three births, four births, five births, ten births, twenty births, thirty births, forty births, fifty births, a hundred births, a thousand births, a hundred thousand births, many aeons of [world]-contraction, many aeons of [world]-expansion, many aeons of [world]-contraction and expansion : There I was so named, of such a race, with such [quality of] appearance, such was my nutriment, such my experience of pleasure and pain, such ~~the end of my~~ ~~life~~ open-life-term; and passing

as § 23
but for
Aug 78

away from there, I ~~had~~ appeared elsewhere; and there too I was so named, of such a race, with such [quality of] appearance, such was my nutrient, such my experience of pleasure and pain, such my life-term; and passing away from there I appeared here. Thus with ^{the} ~~such~~ mood of ^{such} ~~its~~ aspects and indications ^{of} ~~past~~ ^{present} ~~past~~ life, I recollect my manifold past life.

28 This was the first true ^{science} knowledge attained by me in the first watch of the night. ~~No~~ ^{Wise} science was banished and true ~~knowledge~~ ^{knowledge} arose; darkness was banished and light arose: as (happens) in one who abides diligent, ardent and self-controlled.

29. Then concentrated cognizance was thus purified and bright, unblanched, rid of deplorable and become malleable, well, steady and attained to imperturbability, I directed, I inclined, cognizance to know-ledge of the passing away and reappearing ^{of}. With the ~~same~~ ^{same} eye which is puri-fied and surpasses the human, I saw crea-tures passing away and reappearing, impor-tant and superior, ^{comely} ^{uncouth}, well-be-haved and ill-behaved; I understood how creatures pass on according to their actions. Thus ⁷³ These worthy creatures, who are ill-conducted in body, speech and mind, re-vilers of Noble Ones, wrong in their views,

71 giving effect to wrong view in their actions, have, on the dissolution of the body, after death, appeared in a state of deprivation, ^{a bad} in ~~antimony~~, destruction, in perdition, even in hell; but these worthy creatures, who are well conducted in body, speech and mind, not writers of Mala over, right in their views, giving effect to right view in their actions, have, on the dissolution of the body, after death, appeared in a happy destination even in the heavenly world, thus with ~~the heavenly eyeight~~, which is purified and surpasses the human, I saw creatures passing away and reappearing, inferior and superior, few and many, well behaved and ill-behaved; I understood how creatures pass on according to their actions.

30. This was the second ~~true knowledge~~^{s cience} attained by me in the second watch of the night. Ignorance was banished and true ~~knowledge~~ arose; darkness was banished and light arose: as [happens] in one who abides diligent, ardent and self-controlled.

31. When concentrated cognizance was thus purified and bright, unblemished, rid of depriment and become malleable, yielding, steady and attained to imperturbability, I directed, I inclined cognizance to knowledge of exhaustion of ~~entities~~^{Tenets}.

I had direct knowledge thus. This is



72

suffering', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the origin of suffering', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the cessation of suffering', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the way leading to the cessation of suffering', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'These are causes', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the origin of causes', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the cessation of causes', I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus 'This is the way leading to the cessation of causes'.

32 When I knew and saw thus, cognition was liberated from the ~~causes~~^{point} of sensual desire, from the ~~causes~~^{point} of being and from the ~~causes~~^{point} of ignorance. When liberated, there came the knowledge 'It is liberated'. I had direct ~~knowledge~~^{acquaintance} thus Birth is exhausted, the Life Divine^{which has been lived out}, whatever to be done is done, there is no more of this beyond to come'.

33 This was the third true ~~knowledge~~^{science} attained by me in the third watch of the night. Ignorance was banished and True ~~knowledge~~^{science} arose, darkness was banished and light arose; as it happens in one who is clever, diligent, ardent and self-controlled.

34 Now, divine; it might be that you [think] thus 'Perhaps the monk Gotama

is not free from lust, hate and delusion even today, which is why he still resorts to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest. But you should not think thus. It is because I see two bene-fits that I still resort to remote jungle-thicket resting-places in the forest: I see a pleasant abiding for myself here and now, and I have pity on the future generations».

35. Indeed it is because Master Gotama ²⁴ is accomplished and fully enlightened that he has pity on future generations.

36. Magnificent, Master Gotama, Magnificent, Master Gotama! The True Idea has been made clear in many ways by Master Gotama, as though he were righting the overthrown, revealing the hidden, showing the way to one who was lost; holding up a lamp in the darkness for those with eyesight to see forms.

37. I go to Master Gotama for refuge, and to the True Idea and to the Community. From today let Master Gotama remember me as a follower who has gone to him for refuge for life».

—

Notes

²² 'Brâhmane - Dvâraka - caste'. See introduction for the plays on the words associated with Brâhmane.

'Courteous and amiable': or more literally
'pleasing and memorable'.

§ 25 'yantami' is sometimes taken to refer,
to sutkam, which comes before, but from Viz.,
Ch IV § 176 (P.T.S. ed., p. 163) it is plain that
yantami refers forward to tatiyani jhanani:
it is not the 'pleasure' of which 'Noble ones
announce', but the 'third jhana' of which
they 'announce'. The sense, too, requires this.

§ 20 There are 3 seasons, each of four
lunar months (with an extra month included
every so many years to regulate the irregular-
ities of the moon). The month ends on the day
of the full moon and begins on the day after
the full moon. The third and seventh new-
moons in each 4-month season are 'of the
~~Eighth~~ Fourteenth' (i.e. fourteen days after
the last moon-day), while the other six
(2 new-moons + 4 full-moons) are 'of the
Fifteenth' (this compensates the daily lunar
irregularities). The 'Eighth' is the greater
moon (i.e. halfway between full & new, a
new + full).

§ 22 'Avayga - imperturbability': a term for the
fourth illumination, and also for the 4 ~~named~~
formless states. See Sutta 66, § 24 ff and also
Sutta 106

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 5 - Ananugaya Sutta (1, 1, 5)

75

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetavane, Anathapindika's Park. Then the venerable Sāriputta addressed the bhikkhus thus « Friends bhikkhus ». — « Friend » they replied. The Venerable Sāriputta said this:

2. « Friends, there are these four kinds of person ~~person~~ existing in the world. What four ? »

Here some person with a blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself'. Here some person with a blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself'. Here some person with no blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish in myself'. Here some person with no blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish in myself'.

Herein, the person with a blemish who does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself' is called the inferior of these two persons with a blemish.

Herein, the person with a blemish who understands it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself' is called the superior of these two persons with a blemish.

Herein, the person with no blemish ²⁵ who does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish' is called the infer-

of these two persons with no blemish.

* Herein the person with no blemish who understands it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish' is called the superior of these two persons with no blemish v.

3. When this was said, the venerable Mahayogagallana asked the Venerable Sariputta:

a Friend Sariputta, what is the ^{cause} ~~season~~, what is the condition, ~~that~~ ^{why} of these two persons with a blemish, one is called ^{the} inferior man and one is called the superior man? What is the ^{cause} ~~season~~, what is the condition, ~~that~~ ^{why} of these two persons with no blemish, one is called the inferior man and one is called the superior man?"

4. "Herein, friend, when a person with a blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself', it can be expected ~~that~~ that he will not arouse zeal, make efforts, or instigate energy, to abandon that blemish, and that he will die with lust and hate and delusion and blemish and ^{with} ~~devoid~~ cognizance."

Suppose a bronze dish were brought ~~back~~ from a shop or a smithy covered with dirt and stains, and the owners neither used it nor had it cleaned but put it in a dusty corner, would the bronze dish thus get more depiled and more stained color? — "Yes, friend." — "So too, when a person

with a blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself', it can ... & ^{and} with (depiled cognizance).

5. Herein, when a person with a blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself', it can be expected that he will arouse zeal, make efforts and instigate energy to abandon the blemish, and that he will die without lust and hate and delusion and blemish, ^{and} with undepiled (cognizance).

Suppose a bronze dish were brought ~~to~~
from a shop or a smutty covered with dirt and stains, and the owners had it cleaned and did not put it in a dusty corner, ^{it} would the bronze dish thus get cleaner and brighter late on? » — « Yes, friend » — « So too, ^{friend,} when a person with a blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have a blemish in myself', it can ... and with (undepiled cognizance).

6. Herein, when a person with no blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish in myself', it can be expected that he will ^{take for his wife's sake} gave attention to the sign of the beautiful, ^{and} that by ^{* his doing so *.} lust will infect his cognizance, and that he will die with lust and hate and delusion and blemish, ^{and} with (depiled cognizance).

Suppose a bronze dish were brought ~~to~~
from a shop or a smutty clean and bright, and the owners neither used it nor had it cleaned but put it in a dusty corner, would the bronze dish thus get more depiled and more stained later on? » — « Yes, friend » — « So too, ^{friend,} when a

person with no blemish does not understand it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish in myself', it can... and undepted cognizance.

7. Herein, when a person with no blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish ^{in myself}', it can be expected that he will not ~~take to his mind's work~~ give attention to the sign of the beautiful, that by his ~~not doing so~~ lust will not infect his cognizance, and that he will die without lust and hate and delusion and blemish, and with undepted cognizance.

Suppose a bronze dish were brought from a shop or a smithy clean and bright, and the owners used it and had it cleaned and did not put it in a dusty corner, would the bronze dish thus get cleaner and brighter later on? — *Yes, friend.* — *So too,* friend, when a person with no blemish understands it as it actually is thus 'I have no blemish in myself', it can... and with undepted cognizance.

8. ²⁷ This is the ~~cause~~, this is the condition, ~~that~~ of these two persons with a blemish one is called the superior man and one is called the superior man; this is the ~~cause~~, this is the condition, ~~that~~ of these two persons with no blemish one is called the superior man and one is called the inferior man.

blemish'

⑨ "Blemish," is said, friend; but what is this word 'blemish' a term for?

- 'Blemish,' friend, is a term for evil unprofitable ~~and~~ wishes.

⑩ It is possible that a bhikkhu here might wish: 'If I commit an offence, let the bhikkhus not know that I have committed an offence'. And it is possible that the bhikkhus might come to know that that bhikkhu has committed an offence. So he ~~becomes~~ ^{is} annoyed and displeased ^{there}; the bhikkhus know I have committed an offence. The annoyance and the displeasure are both a blemish.'

⑪ It is possible, friend, that a bhikkhu here might wish: 'I have committed an offence. The bhikkhus should correct me in private, not in the midst of the ^{community} Order'. And it is possible that the bhikkhus correct that bhikkhu in the midst of the ^{community} Order, not in private. So he ~~becomes~~ ^{is} annoyed and displeased ^{there}; the bhikkhus correct me in the midst of the ^{community} Order, not in private? The annoyance and the displeasure are both a blemish.'

⑫ It is possible that a bhikkhu here might wish: 'I have committed an offence. A person ^{is} in my equal position as myself should correct me, not a person ^{who is not equal} to a different position.' And it is possible that a person ^{not his equal} in a different position corrects him, not a person ^{in equal} to the same position. So he is annoyed and displeased ^{there}; 'A person ^{not my equal} in my equal position corrects me, not a person ^{at the same} position.' The an-

nuoyance and displeasure are both a blemish.

- (13) It is possible that a blidduh ^{here} might wish: 'Oh that the Master might teach the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} to the blidduhs by asking ~~the~~ ^{only of the} a series of questions, ^{the} that the Master might not teach the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} to the blidduhs by asking ~~another blidduh~~ ⁴ a series of questions.' And it is possible that the Master teaches the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} by asking ~~another blidduh~~ ^{of the} a series of questions and that the Master does not teach the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} to the blidduhs by asking ^{of} that blidduh a series of questions. So he is annoyed and displeased ^{thus}. 'The Master teaches the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} to the blidduhs by asking ~~another blidduh~~ a series of questions, the Master does not teach the ~~the~~ ^{one idea} by asking ^{of me} a series of questions.' The annoyances and the displeasure are both a blemish.

- (14) It is possible that a blidduh ^{here} might wish: 'Oh that the blidduhs might enter the village for alms putting ~~another blidduh~~ in the forefront, that the blidduhs might not enter the village for alms putting another blidduh ^{in the forefront}.' And it is possible that the blidduhs enter the village for alms putting ^{another blidduh} in the forefront, and do not enter the village for alms putting ^{that blidduh} in the forefront. He is annoyed and displeased ^{thus}. 'The blidduhs enter the village for alms putting another blidduh ^{in the forefront}; the blidduhs do not enter the village for alms putting ~~me~~ in the

8)

^{only me}
1. ~~for~~ first! The arrogance and the displeasure
are both a blight.

⑩ It is possible that a blighter here might
wish: 'Oh that only I might get the best eat the
best water, the best almofood, in the ~~eating place~~
that ~~no~~ other blighter might ~~not~~ get the best eat the
best water, the best almofood, in the ~~eating place~~,
and it is possible ...

⑪ It is possible that a blighter here might
wish: 'Oh that only I might give ^{the blessing} in
the refectory after the meal; that ~~no~~ other bligh-
tner might ~~not~~ give ^{the blessing} after the meal in
the refectory after the meal.' And it is possible

⑫ It is possible that a blighter here might
do wish: 'Oh that only I might teach the
~~discipline~~ to the blightners ~~who have visiting~~
to the monastery; that ~~no~~ other blighter
might ~~not~~ teach the ~~discipline~~ to the blightners
~~who visiting~~ the monastery.' And it is poss-
ible ... 29

⑬ It is possible that a blighter here might
wish: 'Oh that only I might teach the ~~discipline~~
to the blightners visiting the monastery; ...'

10 ⑭ ... to the lay men followers ...

11 ⑮ ... to the lay women followers ...

⑯ It is possible that a blighter might wish:
'Oh that the blightners might honour, respect,
revere and venerate only me; that the
blightners might not honour, respect, revere
and venerate another blighter.' And it is poss-
ible ...

⑰ It is possible that a blighter here might

- 13 wish: 'Oh that the bhikkhu's might hon-
our, respect, revere and venerate only
me; ...
- 14 ... that the laymen followers ...
15 ... that the laywomen followers ...
16 It is possible that a bhikkhu here might
wish: 'Oh that only I might be the one to get
a superior robe; that ~~no~~^{other} bhikkhu might
~~not~~ be the one to get a superior robe.' And
it is possible ... 30
- 17 ... superior almsfood ...
18 ... a superior abode
- 19 It is possible that a bhikkhu here might
wish: 'Oh that only I might be the one to
get ~~a~~ a superior requisite of medicine as cure
for the sick; that ~~no~~^{other} bhikkhu might
~~not~~ be the one to get a superior requisite of
medicine as cure for the sick.' And it is possi-
ble that another bhikkhu is the one to get
a superior requisite of medicine for the sick
and that that bhikkhu is not the one to
get a superior requisite of medicine as cure
for the sick. He is annoyed and displeas-
ed. Another bhikkhu is the one who gets
a superior requisite of medicine as cure for
the sick; I am not the one to get a super-
ior requisite of medicine as cure for the
sick. The annoyance and the displeasure
are both a blemish.

20 Blemish, friend, is a term for ^{the uppermost} these
evil unprofitable ~~spheres~~ wishes.

29. ~~If friend,~~ ^{the spheres of} These evil unprofitable ~~wishes~~ & wishes are seen and heard to be abandoned in any thicket, then for all he may be a Forest Dweller, a frequenter of Remote Abodes, an Almsfood eater, a House-to-house Seeker, a Repose-rag Weaver, a Weaver of Royal robes, still his fellows in the ~~17~~ ^{Divine life} do not honour, respect, reverence and ^{the spheres of} venerate him. Why is that? Because ~~These~~ ^{the spheres of} evil unprofitable ~~wishes~~ wishes are seen and heard to be abandoned in that venerable One.

Suppose, ~~friend~~, a metal bowl were brought back from a shop or asmithy clean and bright; and the owners put ^{but} the carcase of a snake or a dog or a human ^{but} tail it, and, ~~covering~~ covering it with another bowl, went back to the market; then people seeing it said, 'What is that you are carrying about like a treasure?' Then, raising [the lid] and uncovering it, they looked in, and as soon as they saw they were inspired with such loathing, repugnance and disgust that even the hungry would not want to eat, not to speak of the fed.

^{the spheres of} So too, ~~friend~~, if ^{the spheres of} these evil unprofitable ~~wishes~~ wishes are seen and heard to be abandoned in any thicket, then for all he may be a Forest Dweller ~~31~~ ^{unabandoned} in that venerable One.

(30) ~~If friend,~~ ^{the spheres of} these evil unprofitable ~~wishes~~ wishes are seen and heard to be aban-

doused in any bhikkhu, then for all he may be a village dweller, an accepter of invitations, a wearer of robes given by householders, yet his fellows in the ^{Divine Dharma} life of purity honour, respect, revere and venerate him. Why is that? Because ~~These~~^{the} ⁱⁿ ^{un} ^{prof} ^{itable} ~~spheres~~ ^{of} wishes are seen and heard to be abandoned in that venerable one.

Suppose, friend & metal bowl were brought back from a shop or smithy clean and bright; and the owners put boiled rice with the dark grains removed and various soups and sauces into it and, ~~carrying~~^{carrying} it ^{with} another bowl, went back to the market; then people seeing it said, 'What is that you are carrying about like a treasure?' Then, raising [the lid] and ~~open~~^{open} uncovering it, they looked in, and as soon as they saw they were inspired with such liking and appetite and relish that even the fed would want to eat, not to speak of the hungry.

So too, friend, if these ⁱⁿ ^{un} ^{prof} ^{itable} ~~spheres~~ ^{of} wishes are seen and heard to be abandoned in any bhikkhu, then for all he may be a village dweller ... abandoned in that venerable one.

Nugallana said to the Venerable Samputta:

A simile occurs to me, friend Samputta.

Let it occur to you, friend Nugallana.

As we ~~occurred~~^{are}, friend, I was living at Rajagaha

at Giri Vana (the Hill Fort). Then when it was early morning, I dressed, and taking bowl and robe, I went into Rajagaha for alms.

Now ~~on~~^{at} that ~~time~~^{occasione} Samuti the Cartwright's

son was planing ^{by himself} a fellow and Panduputta,

son of a former Cartwright was standing by

him. Then ^{this thought arose in his mind} ~~in~~ ^{for} the Acetic

Panduvas, son of a former Cartwright stood

more this line of thought: 'Of that thin

Samuti the Cartwright's son might plane

this bend, this twist, this fault, out of

the fellow so that, being ^{without} bends or twists

or faults the fellow might ~~be~~

~~find come to~~ ^{to} ~~governed~~ ^{purely} ~~of~~ ³² heartwood.' And

just as this ~~line~~ of thought came to pass in

his mind of the Acetic Panduputta, son

of a former Cartwright, so did Samuti the

Cartwright's son plane that bend, that twist,

that fault, ~~out~~ ^{near} of the fellow. Then ~~came~~

~~from~~ the Acetic Panduputta, son of a former

Cartwright, was glad and he voiced his glad-

ness thus: 'He planes ^{it} as if though he knew ^(my)

heart with this ^{while} heart! that he planes!'

(32) So too, friend, there are persons who are faithless and go forth from the home life into homelessness not out of faith but ^{while}

hollow personally

ing a livelihood, who are ~~greedy~~, ^{hollow} ~~deceitful~~, ^{personally} ~~treacherous~~, ^{distracted} ~~reckless~~, ^{ignorant} ~~unconstant~~, rough-tongued, loose-spoken, unguarded in their faculties, ignorant of the right measure in eating, undevoted to wakefulness, unconnected with ^{the mind's state} ~~the body~~ ^{the body}, not greatly respectful of training, busy, careless, ^{forward} ~~negligent~~ in erring, neglectful of seclusion, idle, wanting in energy, forgetful, ^{with} ~~of~~ ^{careless} ~~care~~, unconcentrated, ^{with} ~~of~~ ^{careless} ~~care~~, devoid of understanding, and travelling ^{such as} it is [the faults] of these that the venerable Sāriputta with his discourse on the ^{true} ~~false~~ planes cuts off ^{as if through know-} ing [my] heart with his heart.

But there are clausmen who go forth out of faith from the house life into homelessness, who are not ~~greedy~~, or ^{hollow} ~~deceitful~~, or ^{distracted} ~~treacherous~~, or ^{ignorant} ~~unconstant~~, or ^{rough-tongued} ~~reckless~~, or ^{loose-spoken} ~~unconstant~~, who are guarded in their faculties ^{more} ~~of~~ the right measure in eating, devoted to wakefulness, connected with ^{the mind's state} ~~the body~~, greatly respectful of training, not busy or careless, who are neglectful of erring, ^{forward} ~~negligent~~ in seclusion, ^{with} ~~of~~ ^{careless} ~~care~~, established in mindfullness, ^{fully} ~~carefully~~ aware, concentrated, ^{mentally} ~~mentally~~ one pointed, endowed with understanding cognizance.

standing, not dwelling — These, on hearing
 the venerable Saniputta's discourse on the ~~Truth~~.
^{True idea} drink, as it were and eat of it by word
 and thought. ~~It is~~ good indeed ^{it is} divine ~~good~~ that he makes
 his fellows in the ~~life of party~~ emerge from
 the unprofitable and become established ⁱⁿ
~~themselves~~ ⁱⁿ the profitable.

(39) Just as a woman — or a man — young,
 youthful, fond of adornments, with head batted,
 might ~~only~~ get a garland of lotuses or
 jasmine or ^{roses} alimuttaka flowers, and, taking
 it with both hands, place it on ~~the~~ head,
 so too ~~there~~ are claus men who go forth out
 of faith ... not dwelling, — these on hear-
 ing ... and established ^{themselves} in the profitable.

~~That it was~~ ^{they} those two great Nagas
~~were gladdened by each other's good words.~~
~~agreed with the other's good words~~
 confirmed each other's words

notes 931 The word *tacchati* (to plane or shave) is
 not in P.T.S. Dict. cf M. iii, 183.

932 In the first application of the simile one must
 read "Tesamī ayasma ā Saniputta ... dosamī
tacchati". "Tesamī" refers to "ye te puggrata" above
 over

§31 for the expression "suddhā 'assa, care
pratithita (might be ~~come~~ purified and ~~burnt~~
 or heat wood)" Cf M.i, 488 and iii, 80.

§32 Hollow (unala) see copy - what is
 meant?

Vain (capala) i.e. person addicted to
 personal vanity - see note to M.95 (M.ii,167)
 §9 note on capala.

uddhata (coupled with capala here as
 at M.i, 470) must ~~fully~~ be taken as
 distracted (uddhacca) ~~that their heart~~
~~joined~~ - see copy to M.69 (= M.iii,184)

Majjhima Nikāya 6 - Ākaṅkṣayya suttā (1,1,6)

- 20
- of fear and dread and may fear and dread
not conquer me; may I abide transcending
fear and dread as they arise', let him ...
9. If a blithelike should wish: 'May I become one
to obtain at will without trouble ~~and~~^{and} full,
the four absorptions, which are the higher cog-
nition and provide a pleasant abiding here and
now', let him ...
10. If a blithelike should wish: 'More liberations that
thy surmounting forms are freed peaceful and pur-
erly [May I ~~gather~~ ~~clad~~ with the body and abide in
the body] let him ...
11. If a blithelike should wish: 'With the destruc-
tion of three fettters ~~and~~ become a stream-
er, no more inseparable from the idea of
perdition, certain [of rightness], and headed
for full enlightenment', let him ...
12. If a blithelike should wish: 'With the destruction
of three fettters and with the attenuation of lust,
hate and delusion ~~may~~ become a Once-Returns,
returning once to this world to make an end of
suffering', let him ...
13. If a blithelike should wish: 'With the destruction
of the five lower fettters ~~may~~ reappear again
[in the Pure Abode] ~~and~~ three attain com-
plete extinction, without ever returning from that
world', let him ...
14. If a blithelike should wish: 'May I enjoy the
~~power~~ ~~heads~~ of [supernatural] success; having been
one, may I become many; having been many,
may I become one; may I appear and vanish; may
I go unhindered through ^a wall, through ^{an} enclosure,
through mountains, as though in space; may I dive in and
out of earth as though it were water; may I go on un-
broken water as though it were earth; created ^{as} ~~as~~
may I travel in space like a winged bird; with
my hand may I touch and ^{as} step the moon
and sun ^{as} ~~as~~ ^{as} ~~as~~ and ^{as} ~~as~~ ^{as} ~~as~~; may I enjoy
wild bodily mastery, even as far as the world & the
divinity (Brahma)', let him ...

15. If a blither should wish 'May I, with the divine ear element, which is purified and save
rangs, the human hearer both kinds of sound,
~~those that are too difficult to hear,~~ the divine and the human,' let him ...

16. If a blither should wish '~~by encompassing~~
~~cognizance with cognizance may I understand~~
of other creatures, of other persons, thus 'May I
understand by encompassing with cognizance
cognizance in other creatures, other persons.
May I understand cognizance affected by lust
as affected by lust, and cognizance unaffected by
lust as unaffected by lust; May I understand
cognizance affected by hate as affected by
hate, and cognizance unaffected by hate as
unaffected by hate; may I understand cogniz-
ance affected by delusion as affected by delusion,
and cognizance unaffected by delusion as un-
affected by delusion; may I understand ~~cog-~~
~~nizance;~~ contracted cognizance as contracted
and distracted cognizance as distracted; may I
understand exalted cognizance as exalted, and
unexalted cognizance as unexalted; may I un-
derstand surpassed cognizance as surpassed,
and unsurpassed cognizance as unsurpassed;
may I understand concentrated cognizance
as concentrated, and unconcentrated cognizance
as unconcentrated; may I understand ⁸⁵liberated
cognizances as liberated and unliberated
cognizance as unliberated,' let him ...

17. If a blither should wish 'May I recollect

92

my manifold past life, that is to say, one birth, two births, three births, four births, five births, ten births, twenty births, thirty births, forty births, fifty births, a hundred births, a thousand and births, a hundred thousand births, many aeons of [world-] contraction, many aeons of [world-] expansion, many aeons of [world-] contraction and ~~[world]~~ expansion; here I was so named, of such a race, with such ~~appearance~~ [quality of] appearance, such was my ~~total~~ nutrient, such my experience of pleasure and pain, such ~~ended~~^{term} of my life-span; and passing away from there, I appeared elsewhere; and there too I was so named, of such a race, with such [quality of] appearance, such was my nutrient, such my experience of pleasure and pain, such ~~the end of~~^{term} of my life-span; and passing away from there, I appeared here["], thus with its ~~world~~ aspects and its particulars may I recollect my manifold past life', let him ...

18. If a blither should wish: 'May I, with the divine eye, which is purified and suspenses the human, see creatures passing away and reappearing, inferior and superior, fair and ugly, ~~as well behaved and ill behaved,~~ may I understand how they are inferior and ~~and~~^{superior} ~~ugly~~^{beautiful}, well behaved and ill-behaved, may I under-

stand how

(creatures pass on according to their actions thus
 "these worthy creatures, ~~who are~~ ill-conducted
 in body, speech and mind, rulers of noble
 ones, wrong in their views, giving effect to wrong
 view in their actions, have, on the dissolution
 of the body, after death, appeared in a state
 of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in
 perdition, even in hell; but these worthy creatures,
~~who are~~ well conducted in body, speech and mind,
 not rulers of noble ones, right in their views,
 giving effect to right view in their actions, here,
 on the dissolution of the body, after death, appear
 in a happy destination, even in the heavenly
 world", thus, with the divine eye, which is purified
 and surpasses the human, may I see creatures
 passing away and reappearing, inferior and su-
 perior, fair and ugly, ~~happy~~, ~~or unhappy~~ in
~~their destination~~ well behaved and ill behaved,
 may I understand how creatures pass on
 according to their actions; let him ...

19. If a ~~thinker~~ should wish 'May I, by myself
 verifying ^{in my own} ~~realizing~~ ^{regarding together} direct knowledge here and now,
 enter upon and abide in the deliverance of cog-
 nition and deliverance of understanding that
 are ~~entirely~~ ^{entirely} free with explanation of ^[kind] ~~causes~~, ^{cause} ³⁶
 himself to ^{peace} ~~serenity~~ ^{in himself} of cognizance, unenfeated
 of illumination, possessed ^{of} ~~with~~ insight, and a
 frequenter of houses that are void.

20. So it was with reference to this test it was said 'Bhikkhus, dwell perfected in virtue, restrained with the precept in the Rule, & conduct, restrained with the Rule's restraint, perfected in the Dharma conduct and resort, and, seeing fear in the lightest fault, train by giving effect to the training precepts'.

That is what the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.
²³ ~~Properties do not mean niggards spontaneously (?)~~
 (but see M. 12).

or "with full enlightenment as supra-value" (Lumbodhipparaya) of sappaññā and of Delta 12

Notes

For the whole sutta cf. Aug. Daśaka nips 7,
 § 11 for certainty of reading, see S. III, 225.

§ 13 for Pure Abodes (Suddhavasa) see Sutta 12 § 57

§ 16 'paricca- by accompanying': cf 'pariccheda-nāma' at Vth A. 329 which Vth A. calls 'pariccheda-nāma'. The opening sentence of this para is very elliptical and very carelessly composed. It is difficult correctly with accuracy to tell of what is meant in Delta 12 § 57. Sankhitta - contracted = contracted by ekaggata letters of - and - drowsiness (the 3rd kind) according to conq. Vikkhitta - distracted = unconcentrated owing to agitation.

Mahaggata - exalted: usually used for cognizance 'exalted from the sensual element (kāmādhātu) to the form element or above; but

see Delta 127 § 15

'Bhūtare - suspended' =

'upasa - person: a term used for the linking up of the life after the death in the old life; see Delta 106, 33

'Samadāna - giving effect to'; see Suttas 45 and 46 particularly.

95
Majjhima Nikaya 7 - Vaṭṭhapama Sutta (1, 1, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindicas Park. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus ». — « Venerable sirs they replied, the Blessed One said thus.

2. Bhikkhus, suppose a cloth were defiled and stained and a dyer dipped it in some dye or other, whether blue or yellow or red or purple, it would look ill-dyed and impure in colour; Why is that? Because of the impurity of the cloth; so too, when cognizance is defiled, an unhappy destination may be expected.

Bhikkhus, suppose a cloth were pure and bright, and a dyer dipped it in some dye or other, whether blue or yellow or red or purple, it would look well dyed and pure in colour; Why is that? Because of the purity of the cloth; so too, when cognizance is undefiled a happy destination may be expected.

3. What are the imperfections that defile cognizance? Covetousness and unrighteous greed are an imperfection that defiles cognition. Ill will... Anger... ~~Feverish~~... Contempt... Domineering... Envy... Avarice... Deceit... Fraud... Obduracy... Presumption... Conceit... ~~desires~~ 37...

pride (Haughtiness) . . . Negligence is an unperceived in that depiles cognizance.

4. When a blincker knows that covetousness and unrighteous greed are ~~an imperfection~~ the imperfection that defiles cognizance, he abandons them; when he knows that ill will... negligence is an imperfection that defiles cognizance, he abandons ~~it~~ it.

5. As soon as ~~after~~ his knowing that covetousness and unrighteous greed are an imperfection that defiles consciousness, they have been abandoned in him; as soon as ~~by~~ his knowing that ill will... negligence is an imperfection of cognizance, it has been abandoned; ~~long before~~ ^{long before} ~~you will become happy~~ ^{you will become happy}

6. Thereupon he comes ~~to~~ ^{to} ~~with~~ ^{with} absolute confidence in the Enlightened One thus: 'That Blincked One is such that he is accomplished, fully enlightened, perfect in ^{true} knowledge and conduct, Incline, knower of worlds, incomparable leader of men to be tamed, teacher of gods and men, enlightened, Blincked'; ~~oway to experience undignifiedly~~ ^{the best and the} ~~And he thereupon becomes invested with~~ ^{visible, like and no}

7. absolute confidence in the True Idea thus: 'The True Idea is well proclaimed by this Blincked One [it has effect] ~~visible, like and no~~ ^{visible, like and no} ~~it has effect~~ ^{visible, like and no} ~~it has effect~~, not [after effect], it invites inspection, is onward-leading, and experienceable by the

8. wise each for himself'; ~~only experience under you he has by undergoing punishment~~
 And he therefore becomes possessed with
 perfect confidence in the community others: 'The
 Community of the Blest One's disciples has
 entered on the good way, has entered on the
 straight way, has entered on the true way, has
 entered on the proper way, that is to say,
 the four pairs of them, the Eight Persons;
 this Community of the Blest One's disciples is
 fit for offerings^{diffs}, fit for offerings hospitality,
 fit for offerings, and fit for reverential salut-
 ation, as the incomparable field of merit on the
 world.

9. And whatever [from among those imperfections]
 has, according to the limitation [set by whichever
 of the first three paths he has attained], been
 given up, has been [for ever] dropped, let go,
 abandoned, relinquished.

10. He [considers] thus 'I am ~~possessed~~ ^{possessed} ~~of~~ ^{with} the
 best state confidence in the ~~Ecclesiasticus~~ ^{that is due to experiencing} One'
 and he finds ~~gains experience of~~ ^{gains experience of} the meanings, he
~~finds inspiration in~~ ^{finds inspiration in} the ideas, and he finds
~~concentrated~~ ^{concentrated} ~~in the application~~ ^{with the} gladness ~~in the application~~ of the idea.

11. When he is glad, happiness is born in him;
 - being happy in mind, his body becomes tran-
 quillized; when his body is tranquil he feels
 pleasure; feeling pleasure, his cognizance
 becomes concentrated.

12. He [considers] thus 'I am invested with ^{and in due time} absolute confidence in the True Idea', and he finds inspiration in the meaning, ^{and} gains experience of ^{the} clearness, ^{and} ^{so} ~~conception~~^{inspiration} on the ideas, and he finds gladness ^{connected directly with} in ^{the} application of the idea.
13. When he is glad, ... becomes concentrated.
14. ³⁸ He [considers] thus 'I am ^{worried} ^{and} invested with perfect confidence in the Community', and he finds inspiration in the meaning, he gains experience of ^{the} clearness, ^{and} ^{so} finds inspiration in ^{the} True Idea, and he finds gladness ^{connected directly with} in ^{the} application of the idea.
15. When he is glad, ... becomes concentrated.
16. He [considers] thus 'And what one has, according to limitation, been given up, has been dropped, let go, abandoned, relinquished', and he finds inspiration in the meaning, he finds inspiration on the clear, and he finds gladness ^{connected with} in ^{the} application of the idea.
17. When he is glad, ... becomes concentrated.
18. If a blincker of such virtue, such as ideas, and such understanding ~~can~~ eats alms food consisting of rice with the dark grains picked out accompanied by many sauces and curries, even that will be no obstacle for him.
- Just as a cloth that is deplored and stained becomes pure and bright with the help of clear water; or just as gold

becomes pure and bright with the help of a furnace, so too; if a blighter of such virtue, ... even that will be no obstacle for him.

19. He abides with ~~his heart~~ cognizance endued with loving-kindness extending over one quarter, likewise the second, likewise the third, likewise the fourth, and so above, below, around, and everywhere, and to all as to himself; he abides with abundant, exalted, measureless, ~~and~~ ⁱⁿ ~~without~~ ^{with} ~~hostility or affliction~~ ~~cognizance~~ ^{loving-kindness}, extending over the entire ~~and~~ ^{entire} ~~all-embracing~~ world.

20. He abides with cognizance endued with compassion ... entire world.

21. He abides with cognizance endued with gladness ... ~~and~~ world.

22. He abides with cognizance endued with overlooking (equanimity) ... entire world.

23. [Of that] he understands thus: 'There is this [pure state of divine Abidij], there is the inferior [state of delightments abandoned], there is the superior ~~goal~~ ^{of} the Great Path ~~to be attained~~, and there is the escape from this [whole] field of perception, which is ~~without~~ extinction'.

24. When he knows and sees in this way, ~~that~~ cognizance becomes liberated from the center of sensual desire, liberated from the

canker of being, and liberated from the canker of ignorance. When liberated, there is knowledge 'It is liberated'. He understands 'Birth is exhausted, the life divine has been lived, what ~~is~~ to be done is done, there is no ~~more~~ state beyond'.

24 34 This bhikkhu is called bathed with the river bathing³⁵.

25 Now on that occasion Sūndarīka Bhāradvāja³⁶, the ~~divine~~^{caste} has seated not far from the Blest One. Then he said to the Blest One « But does Master Gotama go to the Bahukā River to bathe? »

« Why, divine; to the Bahukā River? what can the Bahukā River do? »

a Master Gotama, the Bahukā River is held by many to give liberation; it is held by many to give merit, and many And many wash away in the Bahukā River the evil actions they have done».

26 Then the Blest One addressed Sūndarīka Bhāradvāja of the Divine caste in stanzas:

« Bahukā and Adlikalikā,
Gaya, and Sūndarīka, too
Payāga, and Sarassati—
And the stream Bahumati—
A fool may there forever bathe
Yet will not wash black actions white.
What can Sūndarīka bring to pass?
What the Payāga? What the Bahukā? »

They cannot purify an evil-doer,
A man that has done brutal acts and cruel.

One pure in heart has evermore
The Feast of Spring, the Holy Day;
One fair in act, one pure in heart
Has every virtue perfect.

'Tis here, divine, that thou shouldst come
To bathe.

To make thyself safe refuge for all beings.

And if thou speakest no untruth
Nor workest harm to breathing things
Nor takest what is offered not,
With faith and with no avarice,
To Gayā gone what wouldst thou do?
Let any tell thy Gayā be».

27. When this was said, Sunderaka Bhāradvaja of the divine cast said:

"Magnificent Master Gotama, magnif-
icent, Master Gotama! the True Idea has been
made clear in many ways by Master Gotama,
as though he were righting the overthrown,
revealing the hidden, showing the way to one
who is lost, holding up a lamp in the
dark for those with eyesight to see forms."

28. I go to Master Gotama for refuge and to
the True Idea and to the Saṅgha. I would re-
ceive the going forth under Master Gotama and
I would receive the full Admission. 27.

29. And Sunderaka Bhāradvaja of the

Divine Caste received the Going Forth under
the Bleeding One, and he received the Full Ad-
mission. 40 And not long after his Full
Admission, dwelling alone, withdrawn, dili-
gent, ardent, and self-controlled, the Vener-
able Bhāradvāja, by realization himself
with direct knowledge here and now
entered upon and abode in that supreme goal
of the life Divine, for the sake of which class-
men rightly go forth from the home-life into
homelessness. He had direct-knowledge
thus & Birth is exhausted, the life Divine
has been lived, what was to be done is done,
there is no more of this to come.

And the venerable Bhāradvāja
became one of the Brahmanas accomplished ones.

Notes § 10, 12, 14, 16 Cf. 'सो तेजम् नामम् अथ वर्ति-
सामुदायोऽनाम्नपत्रासामिदः स' (A. iii, 2)

§ 6, 7, 8, and 9 can be taken to represent the
four factors of Stream Entry described at S. V,
39 'gatthodhi - according to limitation': the
commentary has been followed. gatthodhi = gathā
odhi (according to limitation). They 3 of the stage
reached in any of the 1st 3 paths, & by each
one of which certain deprivations correspond-
ing with, or associated with certain of the factors
are given up for ever. The first three paths do
not give up all deprivations as the last one does
and so each has its limitation (odhi). See Vibh.
§ 44 ~~प्रदीपोऽस्य तेर्वैव प्राप्तये इति विषयं~~
~~प्राप्तये तेर्वैव प्राप्तये इति विषयं~~
augustive तिर्वैव प्राप्तये इति विषयं
39 pharati - extends over See use of
pharati in the similes for the four planes

(illumination) in Sutta 39 § 15-18, particularly in the last, where 'per vision' (the alternative rendering) will not fit for the 'white cloth'.

'Sabbatthata - to all is to him self': This seems the reading more widely accepted than sab batthata for this adverb. The word is explained in Ch. IX of the Vinuddhi magga.

§ 23 The commentary relates these four references to the four truths thus: 'There is this' = the ~~skettha~~ state of pure contemplation as the truth of suffering; 'There is the inferior (the abandoned)' = craving as the truth of origin; 'There is the superior' = the truth of the Path as the Arhat path yet to be reached and so still a superior goal; 'There is the escape from this ~~field~~ field of perception' = nibbana where craving and its resultant 5-aggregate process is extinguished. For kuṇha, māyikā & pavita-dhata see e.g. A. I, 223-4.

§ 10 There are many ways of rendering this difficult paragraph, which is repeated elsewhere. For upasamhita as '^{identifiable with} application of the idea' & the choice of upasamharati at Sutta § 190 § 20 and Sutta 10 § 14, and Sutta 20, § 3

§ 33 The 'imperfections (upakkilesa) from anger (kosha)' to 'negligence (parimāda)' are known in the commentaries with 14 imperfections'. They appear in other Suttas, e.g. Sutta 3, 8, etc..

§ 18. Cf. Sa 81

§ 5-6 Cf construction at Sutta 128, §§ 28 and 37

§ 7. 'Pandithika akaliko: visible here and now,

104

not after a lapse of 7 times': cf. use of these two
words terms in Sutta 70, § 4 (vol. 1, p. 474, l. 6).
The passage occurs in Sutta 38, § 22. and at
A.

105

Majjhima Nikāya 8 - Sallekha Sutta (1, 1, 8)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jeta's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.

2. Then when it was evening, the reverable Mahā Cunda rose from meditation, and he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so he said:

3. "Venerable sir, these various views that arise in the world ~~are~~ associated either with self-~~doctrine~~ or with world-~~theories~~ or with world-~~theories~~ does the abandoning and relinquishing of such views come about in a bhikkhu who is giving attention only to the beginning?"

4. "Cunda, these various views that arise in the world associated either with self-~~doctrine~~ or with world-~~theories~~: [Now] whatever the basis those views arise on, whatever they underlie, whatever they are exercised on, when a man sees [that basis] as it actually is with right understanding thus 'This is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self', then ~~in that way~~ abandoning of such views comes about in ~~such a way~~, and ~~so does~~ the relinquishment of them".

THE 8 ATTAINMENTS

4. It is possible here that some bhikkhu, ~~who~~ secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas some bhikkhu abides upon and abides in the first ~~stage~~ ~~of illumination~~, which is accompanied by thinking and pondering with happiness and pleasure for a ce-

clusion. But it is not these that are called effacement in the Noble Ones' discipline: these He might [think] thus 'I am abiding in effacement'. But it is not these [attainments] that are called 'effacement' in the Noble Ones' discipline: these are called 'a pleasant abiding here and now' in ⁶¹ the Noble Ones' discipline.

5. It is possible that with the stilling of thinking and pondering some blither abides upon and abides in the second illumination, which has self-confidence and singleness of will without thinking, ^{without} pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration. He might [think] thus 'I am abiding in effacement'. But it is not these [attainments] that are called 'effacement' in the Noble Ones' discipline: these are called 'a pleasant abiding here and now' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

6. It is possible that with the fading as well of happiness some blither abides in overlooking (equanimity), and mindful and fully aware, still feeling pleasure with the body, he enters upon and abides in the third illumination, on account of which Noble Ones announce 'He has a pleasant abiding who is equan.' is an overlooker (with equanimity) and is mindful'. ~~But it~~ He might [think] thus 'I am abiding in effacement'. But it is not these [attainments] that are called

'effacement' in the Noble Ones' discipline: these are called 'a pleasant abiding here and now' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

7. It is possible that with the abandoning of pleasure and pain, and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief, a certain thickluk enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure, and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to overlooking (ignorance). He might [think] thus 'I am abiding in effacement'. But it is not these [attainments] that are called 'effacement' in the Noble Ones' discipline: these are called 'a pleasant abiding here and now' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

8. It is possible that with the complete surmounting of perceptions of form, with the disappearance of perception of resistance, with ^{non}designing attention to perceptions of difference, [aware that] 'perception of space', some thickluk enters upon and abides in the base consisting of ^{the infinite} space. He might [think] thus 'I am abiding in effacement'. But it is not these [attainments] that are called 'effacement' in the Noble Ones' discipline: these are called 'perceptual abiding' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

9. It is possible that by completely surmounting the base consisting of ^{the infinite} space, [aware that] 'consciousness is infinite',

some blackness enters upon and abides in
the base consisting of ^{the impurities of} boundless consciousness. He might ... : these are called 'quiet
~~abiding~~' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

10. It is possible that by completely sur-
mounting the base consisting of boundless
consciousness, some blackness ~~enters~~ ^{arises still} upon
and abide in the base consisting of nothing-
ness. He might ... : these are called 'quiet
~~abiding~~' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

11. It is possible that by completely sur-
mounting the base consisting of nothingness,
some blackness enters upon and abide in the
base consisting of neither perception nor non-
perception. He might [think] this 'I am abid-
ing in effacement'. ~~But~~ But these [attainments]
are not called 'effacement' in the Noble Ones'
discipline: these are called 'quiet
~~abiding~~' in the Noble Ones' discipline.

EFFACEMENT

12. Now, Cunda, here is where effacement
~~can~~ ^{is to} be effected.

(1) Others will be cruel; ~~but~~ we shall not
be cruel here: effacement can be effected thus.

(2) Others will kill breathing things; ~~but~~ we shall
abstain from killing breathing things here: effac-
ement can be effected here.

(3) Others will take what is not given; we
shall abstain from taking what is not given
here: ...

(4) Others will not live the life divine;
we shall live the life divine here: ...

- (5) Others will speak falsehood; we shall abstain from false speech here:...
- (6) Others will speak maliciously; we shall abstain from malicious speech here:...
- (7) Others will speak harshly; we shall abstain from harsh speech here:...
- (8) Others will gossip; we shall abstain from gossip here:...
- (9) Others will be covetous; we shall be uncovetous here:...
- (10) Others will have cognizance of ill will; we shall have no cognizance of ill will here:...
- (11) Others will have wrong view; we shall have right view here:...
- (12) Others will have wrong intention: others shall have right intention here:...
- (13) Others will have wrong speech; we shall have right speech here:...
- (14) Others will have wrong action; we shall have right action here:...
- (15) Others will have wrong livelihood; we shall have right livelihood here:...
- (16) Others will have wrong effort; we shall have right effort here:...
- (17) Others will have wrong mindfulness; we shall have right mindfulness here:...
- (18) Others will have wrong concentration; we shall have right concentration here:...
- (19) Others will have wrong knowledge; we shall have right knowledge here:...
- (20) Others will have wrong deliverance; we shall have right deliverance here:...

- (21) Others will be obnubbed by sluggishness and drowsiness; we shall be free from sluggishness and drowsiness here:...
 (22) Others will be agitated; we shall be unagitated here:...
 (23) Others will be uncertain; we shall have got beyond uncertainty here:...
 (24) Others will be angry; we shall be unangry here:...
 (25) Others will be inimical; we shall be without enmity here:... 43
 (26) Others will be contemptuous; we shall not be contemptuous here:...
 (27) Others will be domineering; we shall not be domineering here:...
 (28) Others will be curios; we shall not be curious here:...
 (29) Others will be avaricious; we shall not be avaricious here:...
 (30) Others will be fraudulent; we shall not be fraudulent here:...
 (31) Others will be deceitful; we shall not be deceitful here:...
 (32) Others will be obdurate; we shall not be obdurate here:...
 (33) Others will be haughty; we shall ~~not~~^{not} be haughty here:...
 (34) Others will be difficult to admonish; we shall ~~not~~^{not} be difficult to admonish here:...
 (35) Others will have bad friends; we shall have good friends here:...
 (36) Others will be negligent; we shall be diligent here:...

- (37) Others will be faithless; we shall be faithful here:...
- (38) Others will be conscienceless; we shall have conscience in mind here:...
- (39) Others will be shameless; we shall have shame here:...
- (40) Others will be ill-taught; we shall be well taught here:...
- (41) Others will be idle; we shall be energetic here:...
- (42) Others will be unmindful; we shall have established mindfulness here:...
- (43) Others will have no understanding; we shall possess understanding here: effacement can be effected thus.
- (44) Others will misapprehend according to ~~their~~ individual views, hold on tenaciously and relinquish with difficulty; we shall not misapprehend according to individual ~~view~~^{shall not}, hold on tenaciously, and shall relinquish ~~with ease~~ ease; effacement can be effected thus.

13.

ANISIMOV'S 6TH CLASS LECTURE

Cunda, I say that even the arising of cognizance is of great importance in profitable ideas, so what should be said of bodily and verbal operations consequent thereon? Therefore, Cunda:

- (1) Cognizance should be aroused thus: 'Others will be cruel; we shall not be cruel here'.
- (2) Cognizance should be aroused thus: 'Others will kill breathing things^{things}; we shall attain from killing breathing things here'.
- (3) - (43) ...
- (44) Cognizance should be aroused thus: 'Others

will misapprehend according to individual views, hold on tenaciously, and relinquish with difficulty; we shall not ~~ever~~ misapprehend according to individual view, shall not hold on tenaciously, and shall relinquish with ease.

AVOIDANCE

14. Cunda, suppose there were an uneven path and another, even, path, by which to avoid it; ~~and~~ and suppose there were an uneven ford and another, even, ford, by which to avoid it: so too,

- (1) A person given to cruelty has non-cruelty by which to avoid it.
- (2) ~~A person given to killing~~ ^{One given to killing} breathing things has abstention from killing living things by which to avoid it.
- (3) ~~A person given to taking what is not given~~ ^{One given to taking what is not given} has abstention from taking what is not given by which to avoid it ~~at the life~~
- (4) ~~One who does not lead the life~~ Divine has the life Divine by which to avoid it.
- (5) One given to false speech has abstention from false speech by which to avoid it.
- (6) One given to malicious speech has abstention from malicious speech by which to avoid it.
- (7) One given to harsh speech has abstention from harsh speech by which to avoid it.
- (8) One given to gossip has abstention from gossip by which to avoid it.

- (9) One given to covetousness has uncontrollables by which to avoid it.
- (10) One given to cognizance of ill will has non-ill will by which to avoid it.
- (11) One given to wrong view has right view by which to avoid it.
- (12) One given to wrong intention has right intention by which to avoid it.
- (13) One given to wrong speech has right speech by which to avoid it.
- (14) One given to wrong action has right action by which to avoid it.
- (15) One given to wrong livelihood has right livelihood by which to avoid it.
- (16) One given to wrong effort has right effort by which to avoid it.
- (17) One given to wrong mindfulness has right mindfulness by which to avoid it.
- (18) One given to wrong concentration has right concentration by which to avoid it.
- (19) One given to wrong knowledge has right knowledge by which to avoid it.
- (20) One given to wrong deliverance has right deliverance by which to avoid it.
- (21) One obscured by sluggishness and drowsiness has freedom from sluggishness and drowsiness by which to avoid it.
- (22) One given to distraction has non-distraction by which to avoid it.
- (23) One given to uncertainty has taste of having got beyond uncertainty by which to avoid it.

- (24) One given to anger has non-anger by which to avoid it.
- (25) One given to envy has non-envy by which to avoid it.
- (26) One given to contempt has non-contempt by which to avoid it. has non-dominating
- (27) One given to ~~envy~~^{dominating} has non-envy by which to avoid it.
- (28) One given to envy has non-envy by which to avoid it.
- (29) One given to avarice has non-avarice by which to avoid it.
- (30) One given to fraud has non-fraud by which to avoid it.
- (31) One given to deceit has non-deceit by which to avoid it.
- (32) One given to oddity has non-oddity by which to avoid it.
- (33) One given to haughtiness has non-haughtiness by which to avoid it.
- (34) One given to difficulty of admonishment has ease of admonishment by which to avoid it.
- (35) One given to ~~bad~~^{making} friends has good making good friends by which to avoid it.
- (36) One given to negligence has diligence by which to avoid it.
- (37) One given to faithlessness has faith by which to avoid it.
- (38) One without consciousness given to conscientiousness has conscience by which to avoid it.
- (39) One given to shamelessness has shame by which to avoid it.

- 115
 (40) One given to being ill-taught has been well taught by which to avoid it.
 (41) One given to idleness has energized by which to avoid it.
 (42) One given to forgetfulness has establishment of mindfulness given by which to avoid it.
 (43) One given to lack of understanding has perfection of understanding for its avoidance by which to avoid it.
 (44) One given to misapprehension according to individual views, to holding on tenaciously, and to difficulty in relinquishing, has non-misapprehension according to individual views, not holding on tenaciously, and ease in relinquishment, by which to avoid it.

THE LOWER & THE HIGHER STATE

15. Cunda, just as, ~~any~~ no matter what unprofitable ideas there are, they all lead to a lower state; and just as, no matter what profitable ideas there are, they all lead to higher states; so too:

- (1) A person given to cruelty has non-cruelty as a higher state.
 (2) One given to killing breathing things has abstention from killing breathing things, ^{things} as a higher state.
 (3) & (43) ...
 (44) One given to misapprehension according to individual views, to holding on tenaciously, and to difficulty in relinquishing, has non-misapprehension according to individual views, not holding on tenaciously, and ease in relinquishing, as a higher state.

16. Cunda, that one who is himself floundering in a slough should pull out another who is floundering in the slough is not possible; that one who is not himself floundering in a slough should pull out another who is floundering in the slough is possible & that one who is himself untamed, undisciplined, and unattained ^{complete} to extinction, should - tame, discipline, ^{and} ^{complete} him, and lead him to ^{complete} extinction, is not possible; that one who is himself tamed, disciplined and attained ^{complete} to extinction ~~should tame another, discipline him,~~ and lead him to ^{complete} extinction, is possible. So too:

(1) A person given to cruelty has non-cruelty by which to attain complete extinction.

(2) One given to killing breathing things has abstinence from killing breathing things by which to attain complete extinction.

(3)-(43) ... 46

(44) One given to misapprehension according to individual view, to holding on tenaciously, and to difficulty in relinquishing, has non-misapprehension according to individual views, not holding on tenaciously, and ease in relinquishing, by which to attain complete extinction.

CONCLUSION

17. So, Cunda, the way of effacement has been shown by me, the way of arisings of

cognizance has been shown by me, the way of avoidance has been shown by me, the higher stay of the higher state has been shown by me, and the way of complete extinction has been shown by me.

18. What should be done ^{out of pity} for his disciples by a Master who seeks their welfare and has pity [on them], that I have done for you, Cunda. There are these roots of trees, these empty houses. Develop illumination, Cunda, do not delay, lest you later regret it. This is our ~~instruction~~ message for you.

~~Not in what~~
~~as~~ the Blessed One said. The venerable ~~in~~
 Maha Cunda was ~~selected~~, and he ~~selected~~ ~~with~~
 the Blessed One's words.

119

✓ Majjhima - Nikāya - 9 - Sannādiṭṭhisutta
(1, 1, 9)

1. Thus I heard.

On one ~~occasi~~^{on} the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.

There the Venerable Sāriputta addressed the bhikkhus thus - 'Bhikkhus!' - ~~Venerable~~ 'Friend,' they ~~bhikkhus~~ replied. ~~To the Venerable Sāriputta~~ The Venerable Sāriputta said this:

2. - ^{A man of} "Right View" is said, friends. In what way does a noble disciple ~~have~~ a ⁱⁿ right view? so that his view is ~~correct~~ rectified, ~~he has perfect confidence in the~~ ^{True Idea, and in the other of just Right} ~~Dhamma~~; ~~he has come to this~~ ^{place} ~~for~~?

~~away~~ - 'Indeed, friend, we would come from afar to learn the meaning of this pronouncement. From the venerable Sāriputta it would be good that the meaning of this pronouncement occurs to the Venerable Sāriputta. Having heard it from the venerable Sāriputta, the bhikkhus will bear it in mind.'

- 'Then, friends, ~~listen~~, and ~~hear~~ carefully to what I shall say.'

- 'Even so, friend,' the bhikkhus replied to the Venerable Sāriputta. The venerable Sāriputta said this:

~~The profitable, unprofitable~~

3. - As soon as a noble disciple under-

4. And what is the unprofitable, what is the root of the unprofitable, what is the profit of the unprofitable?

'Killing bleeding things is unprofitable. Taking what is not given is unprofitable. ~~Sexual~~ ^{In general desire} Misconduct is unprofitable. False speech is unprofitable. Malicious speech is unprofitable. Harsh speech is unprofitable, gossip is unprofitable. Covetousness is unprofitable. Ill will is unprofitable. Wrong view is unprofitable. This is what is called unprofitable.

5. And what is the root of the unprofitable? Greed is a root of the unprofitable. Hate is a root of the unprofitable. Delusion is a root of the unprofitable. This is what is called the root of the unprofitable.

6. And what is the profitable? Abstaining from killing bleeding things is profitable. Abstaining from taking what is not given is profitable. Abstaining from ~~sexual~~ ^{In general desire} misconduct is profitable. Abstaining from false speech is profitable. Abstaining from malicious speech is profitable. Abstaining from harsh speech is profitable. Abstaining from gossip is profitable. Non-covetousness is

profitable. Non ill will is profitable. Right view is profitable. This is what is called profitable.

7. And what is the root of the profitable?

Non-greed is a root of the profitable. Non-hate is a root of the ~~un~~ profitable. Non-delusion is a root of the ~~un~~ profitable. This is what is called the root of the profitable.

8. As far as a noble disciple has ^{been} understood

~~thus~~ the unprofitable to root of the unprofitable, the profitable, and the root of the profitable, he abandons the underlying tendency to ~~evil~~, ~~he~~ abolishes the underlying tendency to resist ~~ance~~, ~~discusses~~ ~~abuse~~, the indulgent tendency to the view and conceit "I am", and by abandoning ignorance and avowing ~~true~~ ^{true} knowledge he here and now makes an end of suffering. In that way a noble disciple ~~is~~ ⁱⁿ ~~the~~ ^a view of right view, his view is rectified, he has perfect confidence in the ~~True Idea~~ ^{True Idea and this is the true object of faith}, he has come to the good Dhamma.

(object of faith)

9. Saying-'Good, friends,' the thicklers were satisfied, and ^{then delighted} ~~rejoiced~~ at the venerable Sariputta's words. Then they asked him a further question:

- 'But, friend, ~~might~~ there be another way in which a noble disciple is ⁱⁿ ~~of~~ right view, so that his view is rectified, he has perfect confidence in the ~~True Idea~~ ^{True Idea and this is the true object of faith}, he has come to the good Dhamma?

- 'There might be, friends, ~~however~~ ^{however} ~~designedly~~ ^{designedly}

M. 9 ~~Creatures that already~~
~~and for... these seeking~~
~~desire of being.~~

Nutiment.

10. At 'As soon as a noble disciple understands nutiment, ~~and~~ the arising of nutiment, ~~and~~ the cessation of nutiment, and the way leading to the cessation of nutiment, in that way he is ~~in~~ ^{of} man of right view, his view is rectified, ~~he~~ ^{has} perfect confidence in the ~~true idea, and this~~
~~is the true object of truth that he~~ ⁴⁸ ~~knows.~~ That come to ~~the good~~ ^{the good} ~~knowledge.~~
11. And what is nutiment, what is the origin of nutiment, what is the cessation of nutiment, what is the way leading to the cessation of nutiment? ^(seater portion being)
- * There ~~are~~ ^{are} four kinds of nutiment
of creatures ~~that are directly, indirectly~~
~~the nutrimental support of creatures~~
~~of creatures, going to be; what four?~~
They are physical food as nutiment, gross or subtle contact as the second; mental volition ^{about the state} as the third; and consciousness as the fourth. With the arising of craving there is the arising of nutriment. With the cessation of craving of nutriment. There is the cessation of nutriment. The way leading to the cessation of nutriment is just this noble eightfold Path, that is to say, right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindful-
ness, right concentration.
12. After ~~he~~ ^{After} a noble disciple ^{has} understood ~~this~~ nutriment, ... he entirely abandons the underlying tendency to gross, ... makes an end of suffering. So that ^{and this} ~~the object with that is~~ a noble disciple is one of right view. That come to ~~the good~~ ^{the good} ~~knowledge.~~

13. Saying - 'good, friend,' the brahmins were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ ^{rejoiced at} the venerable Sankirtas words. Then they asked him a further question:

- 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ~~a man~~ ^{of right view} standing views, ... ^{and this is the true spirit of truth what below?} Come to ~~has good Dhamma?~~

- 'There might be, friends.' ~~the venerable~~
~~investigation on the~~

14. The 4 Truths

" As soon as a noble disciple understands suffering, the origin of suffering, the cessation of suffering, and the way leading to the cessation of suffering, in that he is ~~a man~~ of right view, his view is rectified; he has perfect confidence in the ~~true idea and this is the true spirit of truth and~~ ^{True Idea and this is the true spirit of truth and} Dhamma, ~~he has come to~~ ^{he has come to} ~~good Dhamma~~.

15. And what is suffering; what is the origin of suffering, what is the cessation of suffering, what is the way leading to the cessation of suffering?

' Birth is suffering, ageing is suffering, sickness is suffering, death is suffering, sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and ~~grief~~ ^{sorrow} are suffering; not to get what one wants is suffering; in short the five aggregates ~~for~~ ^{affected} ~~just~~ ^{just} by clinging are suffering. This is what is called ~~the~~ suffering.

16. And what is the origin of suffering? It is craving, which produces ~~renewed~~ ^{renewed} ~~being~~ ^{being} is accompanied by ~~delight~~ ^{desire} and ~~lust~~ ^{greed}, delight concerned with this and that, that is to say,

craving for sensed desirables, craving for ~~be~~^{being}, craving for non-being.⁴⁹ This is what is called the origin of suffering.

17. 'And what is the cessation of suffering ? It is the remainderless fading and ceasing, the giving up, relinquishing, letting go, and rejecting of that same craving . This is called the cessation of suffering .

18. And what is the ~~cessate~~^{cessation} way leading to the cessation of suffering? It is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.

- view, ... right concurrence.
After a little discourse had ^{then} under-
19. stood ... and this is the object of faith that he has
come to. His good behaviour.

20. Saying - 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ ^{they rejoiced at the} venerable Ānanda's words. Then they asked him a further question.

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is a man of right understanding view so that his friend is rectified, ... ^{and this is the true object} ~~and come to the good of friends~~ ~~that he has come to?~~

~~The sun~~. - There might be, friends. ~~however~~
~~and so some another~~

Ageing and Death

31. ~~As soon as a noble disciple understands ageing and death, the origin of ageing-~~

and-death, the cessation of ageing-and-death, and the way leading to the cessation of ageing-and-death, in that may be in ^a man of right view, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~.

22. But what is ageing-and-death, what is the origin of ageing-and-death, what is the cessation of ageing-and-death, what is the way leading to the cessation of ageing-and-death?

.. In the various orders of ~~beings~~, ^{creatures} the ageing, of beings, their old age, state of broken ~~teeth~~
(of teeth), gray ^{white} hair, and wrinkles, their decline of life, and ~~an~~ ^{an} ~~acquiring~~ ^{acquisition} of weak ~~weak~~ faculties. That is what is called ageing.

23. In the various orders of ~~beings~~, ^{creatures} the passing away, ~~the~~ ^{the} dissolution, disappearance, dying, completion of time, disintegration of ~~the~~ aggregates — that is, what is called death.

24. So this ageing and this death are what is called ageing-and-death. With the arising of birth there is the arising of ageing and death. With the cessation of birth there is the cessation of ageing-and-death. The way leading to the cessation of ageing and death is just this noble eight-fold path; that is to say right view, ... right concentration.

25. After a noble disciple ^{thus} has understood ~~this~~ ageing-and-death, ... has come to ~~this~~ good Dhamma.

26. Saying - 'Good, friend'; the thickness

were satisfied, and ~~rejoiced at~~^{delighted in} the venerable Sari puttā's words. Then they asked him another question.

- 'But friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ~~seen~~^{a man} of right view, so that his views is rectified, -- he has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~?'

- 'There might be friends' ~~elsewhere~~

Birth

30. Saying 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted~~ ~~rejoiced at the~~ venerable Sariputta's words. Then they asked him a further question.

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple ~~is~~ ^{a man} of right view, so that his view is rectified, ... he has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~?'

— 'There might be, friends.'

13. becoming

31. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands ~~being~~, the origin of ~~becoming~~, the cessation of ~~being~~, and the way leading to the cessation of ~~being~~, in that way he ^{a man} is ~~in~~ of right view, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~.

32. 'And what is ~~being~~, what is the origin of ~~becoming~~, what is the cessation of ~~being~~, what is the way leading to the cessation of ~~being~~?

'There are these three kinds of being; sensual desire being, ~~form~~ material being, and ~~formless~~ being. With the arising of clinging there is the arising of ~~being~~. With the cessation of ~~being~~ there is the cessation of ~~being~~. The way leading to the cessation of ~~being~~ is just this noble eightfold Path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.

33. 'After a noble ~~one~~ disciple has understood ~~this~~ becoming, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~'

34. Saying 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ the venerable Sariputta's words. Then they asked him a further question.

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ~~one~~^a of right view, so that his view is rectified, ... has come to ~~this~~^{the} good ~~Dhamma~~?'

— 'There might be, friend.'

Clinging

35. 'When ~~as soon as~~ a noble disciple understands clinging, the origin of clinging, the cessation of clinging, and the ~~way~~^{path} leading to the cessation of clinging, in that way he is ~~one~~^a of right view, ... has come to the ~~good~~ Dhamma.'

36. 'And what is clinging, what is the origin of clinging, what is the cessation of clinging, what is the path leading to the cessation of clinging?'

There are these four kinds of clinging:⁵¹
 Sensual-desire clinging [false-]view clinging,
~~Virtue~~ and ~~clarity~~ ~~clarity~~ clinging, and self-theory
 clinging. With the ~~arising~~ of ~~craving~~, there is
 the arising of ~~clinging~~. With the cessation of
~~clinging~~ there is the cessation of ~~clinging~~.
 The way leading to the cessation of clinging
 is just this noble eight-fold path, that is to
 say, right view, ... right concentration.

37. 'After a noble disciple has ~~thus~~ understood
~~this~~ clinging, ... has come to ~~this~~ good ~~Dhamma~~.'

38. Saying 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were

satisfied, and ~~they~~^{they delighted in} the venerable Sāriputta's words. Then they asked him a further question.

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ^{even} ~~not~~ of right view, so that his view is rectified, ... he has come to ~~this~~ ^{the} good Dhamma?'

— 'There might be, friends.'

Craving

39. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands craving, the origin of craving, the cessation of craving, and the way leading to the cessation of craving, in that way he is ^{even} ~~not~~ of right view, ... has come to ~~this~~ ^{the} good Dhamma.'

40. 'And what is craving, what is the origin of craving, what is the cessation of craving, what is the way leading to the cessation of craving?

'There are these six ^{bodies} ~~classes~~ of craving: craving for ~~visible objects~~, craving for sounds, craving for odours, craving for flavours, craving for tangible objects, craving for ~~mental objects~~. With the arising of feeling there is the arising of craving, with the cessation of feeling there is the cessation of craving. The way leading to the cessation of craving is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.'

41. After a noble disciple has ^{thus} understood thus craving, ... has come to ~~this~~ ^{the} good Dhamma.'

42. Saying 'Good, friend,' the Bhikkhus were satisfied, and ^{they} ~~delighted in~~ the venerable Sāriputta's

words. Then they asked him a further question.

- 'But friends, might there be another way in which a noble disciple in ^{a man} right view, ... he has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~?

- 'There might be, friends.'

Feeling

43. 'After ^{As soon as} a noble disciple understands feeling, the origin of feeling, the cessation of feeling, and the way leading to the cessation of feeling, in that way, he in ^{a man} right view, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~.

44. 'And what is feeling, what is the origin of feeling, what is the cessation of feeling, what is the way leading to the cessation of feeling?

? There are ^{these} ~~six~~ ^{bodies} classes of feeling: eye-contact-born feeling, ear-contact-born feeling, nose-contact-born feeling, tongue-contact-born feeling, body-contact-born feeling, mind-contact-born feeling. With the arising of contact there is the arising of feeling. With the cessation of contact there is the cessation of feeling. The way leading to the cessation of feeling is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.⁵²

45. 'After a noble disciple has ^{thus} understood ~~this~~ feeling ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~.

46. Saying, 'Good, friend', the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ the venerable Sāriputta's words. Then they asked him a further question.

- 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple ~~is~~^{a man} of right view, ... he has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~?'

- 'There might be, friends.'

Contact

47. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands ~~feeling~~, & contact, the origin of contact, the cessation of contact, and the way leading to the cessation of contact, in that way he ~~is~~^{a man} of right view, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~'

48. 'And what is contact, what is the origin of contact, what is the cessation of contact, what is the way leading to the cessation of contact?'

'There are these six ~~bodies~~ of contact: eye contact, ear contact, nose contact, tongue contact, body contact, mind contact. With the arising of the sixfold base there is the arising of contact. With the cessation of ~~contact~~ ~~there is~~ the sixfold base there is the cessation of contact. The way leading to the cessation of contact is just this this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.'

49. 'After a noble disciple has understood ~~this~~⁵³ contact, ... has come to ~~this good Dhamma~~'

50. Saying 'Good, friend', the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ the venerable Sāriputta's

words. Then they asked him a further question.

- 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ^{of} right view, so that his view is rectified, ... he has come to this good Dhamma?'

- 'There might be, friends.'

The sixfold base

51. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands the sixfold base, the origin of the sixfold base, the cessation of the sixfold base, and the way leading to the sixfold base, he is ^{of} right view, ... has come to this good Dhamma.

52. 'And what is the sixfold base, what is the origin of the sixfold base, what is the cessation of the sixfold base, what is the way leading to the cessation of the sixfold base?

'There are these six bases: the eye base, the ear base, the nose base, the tongue base, the body base, the mind base. With the arising of ~~name and form~~ ^{and} ~~materiality~~, there is the arising of the sixfold base. With the cessation of ~~name and form~~ ^{and} ~~materiality~~, there is the cessation of the sixfold base. The way leading to the cessation of the sixfold base is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.'

53. 'After a noble disciple has understood thus the sixfold base, ... has come to this good Dhamma.'

54. Saying 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were

satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ rejoiced at the venerable Saṅghatā's words. Then they asked him a further question.

"But, friend, might there be another way
in which a noble disciple in ^a ~~the~~ way of right view,
... he has come to ~~this good place~~?"

— There might be, friends.

Maturity-maturity Name & Form

55. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands
maya-and-form, materiality, the origin of maya-and-form
materiality, the cessation of maya-and-form materiality,
and the way leading to the cessation of maya-and-form
materiality, in that way he is in ^{a man} of right
view, ... has come to this good Dhamma.'

56. 'And what is maya-and-form, what
is the origin of maya-and-form materiality, what is
the cessation of maya-and-form materiality, what is
the way leading to the cessation of maya-and-form
materiality?

57. 'Feeling, perception, volition, contact,
and attention, these are what is called mentality.

58. 'The four ~~great primary elements~~
^{any fe. depend from account to go along to} and
~~the four primary elements~~ ^{from account to go along to} the four
giant entities ^{from account to go along to}, there are what is called
materiality form.'

59. 'So this mentality and this materiality
are what is called maya-and-form materiality. With
the arising of Consciousness there is the arising
of maya-and-form materiality, with the creation
of Consciousness there is the cessation of maya-and-form
materiality. The way leading to the cessation of

~~mano - and - form~~
mentality ~~materia~~ city is just this noble
 eight-fold Path, that is to say, right view, ...
 right concentration.

60 'After a noble disciple has ^{thus} understood
~~mano - and - form~~
mentality ~~materia~~ city, ... has come to ~~this~~
good Dhamma'.

61. Saying 'good friend', the bhikkhus
^{were} ~~glad~~ ^{and} ~~delighted~~ ⁱⁿ ~~revered~~ at the venerable Sariputta's words. Then they asked him a further question:

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ^{a man} of right view, ... he has come to ~~this~~ good Dhamma?'

— 'There might be, friend.'

Consciousness

62. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands consciousness, the origin of consciousness, the cessation of consciousness, and the way leading to the cessation of consciousness, in that way ^{he is} ~~one~~ ^{a man} of right view, ... has come to ~~this~~ good Dhamma'.

63. 'And what to consciousness, what is the origin of consciousness, what is the cessation of consciousness, what is the way leading to the cessation of consciousness?

— 'There are these six ~~types~~ ^{bodies} of consciousness; eye-consciousness, ear-consciousness, nose-consciousness, tongue-consciousness,

body consciousness, mind consciousness. With the ~~arising~~^{arising} of ~~determinations~~^{formations} there is the arising of consciousness, with the cessation of ~~determinations~~^{formations}, there is the cessation of consciousness. The way leading to the cessation of consciousness is in just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.

64. After a noble disciple has understood ~~consciousness~~^{this}, ~~consciousness~~³⁴ has come to this good Dhamma.

65. Saying "Good, friend," the bhikkus were satisfied, and rejoiced at the venerable Samputha's words. Then they asked him a further question.

- 'Bhikk, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ^{a user} of right view, ... he has come to this good Dhamma?'

- 'There might be, friend.'

Formations Determination

66. As soon as a noble disciple understands ~~consciousness~~^{determination}, the origin of ~~consciousness~~^{determination}, the cessation of ~~consciousness~~^{determination}, and the way leading to the cessation of ~~consciousness~~^{determination}, in that way he is one of right view, ... has come to this good Dhamma.

67. And what are ~~determinations~~, what is the origin of ~~determinations~~, what is the cessation of ~~determinations~~, what is the way leading to the cessation of ~~determinations~~?

'There are these three kinds of ~~determinations~~: the bodily ~~determination~~, the verbal ~~determination~~, the

mental ~~formation~~^{determination}. With the arising of ignorance there is the arising of ~~determination~~^{determination}. With the ~~ceasing~~^{ceasing} of ignorance or ~~formations~~^{ignorance} there is the cessation of ~~determination~~^{determination}. The way leading to the cessation of ~~formations~~^{determination} is just this noble eight-fold path, that is, to say, right view, ... right thinking, right concentration.

68. 'After a noble disciple has ^{thus} understood ~~formations~~, ... has come to this good Dhamma.'

69. Saying 'Good, friend,' the bhikkhus were satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ the Venerable Sāriputta's words, then they asked him a further question:

— 'But, friend, might there be another way in which a noble disciple is ^{a man} ~~one~~ of right view, ... he has come to this good Dhamma?'

— 'There might be, friends.'

Ignorance

70. 'As soon as a noble disciple understands ignorance, the origin of ignorance, the cessation of ignorance, and the way leading to the cessation of ignorance, ~~but~~ in that way he is ^{a man} ~~one~~ of right view, ... has come to that good Dhamma.

71. 'And what is ignorance, what is the origin of ignorance, what is the cessation of ignorance, what is the way leading to the cessation of ignorance?'

37
 Unknowing about suffering, about the origin of suffering, about the cessation of suffering, about the way leading to the cessation of suffering, is what is called ignorance. With the arising of cankers there is the arising of ignorance, with the cessation of cankers there is the cessation of ignorance. The way leading to the cessation of ignorance is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, ... right concentration.

72. After a noble disciple has understood ^{thus} ignorance, ... has come to this good Dhamma

73. Saying 'Good, friend,' the thicklys were glad and re^d satisfied, and ~~they delighted in~~ the venerable Sāriputta's words. Then they asked him a further question.

- 'But, friend, might there be another ⁵⁵ way in which a noble disciple is ^{a man} of right view, so that his view is rectified, he has perfect confidence in the ~~Dhamma~~ ^{true Idea} and, ~~there~~ ^{in this time} ~~comes~~ ^{to} object of faith that he has come to?'

- 'There might be, friend.'

Cankers

74. As soon as a noble disciple understands cankers, the origin of cankers, the cessation of cankers, and the way leading to the cessation of cankers; in that way he is ^{a man} of right view. His view is rectified, he has perfect confidence in the ~~Dhamma~~ ^{true Idea} and this is the true object of faith that he has come to.

75. And what are cankers, what is the origin of cankers, what is the cessation of cankers, what is the way leading to the cessation of cankers?

There are three kinds of cankers: the canker of sensual desires, the canker of ~~the~~^{and} ~~the~~ ~~canker~~ of becoming, the canker of ignorance. With the origin arising of ignorance there is the arising of ~~of~~ cankers, with the cessation of ignorance there is the cessation of cankers. The way leading to the cessation of cankers is just this noble eightfold path, that is to say, right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindfulness, right concentration.

76. After a noble disciple has understood cankers, the origin of cankers, the cessation of cankers, and the way leading to the cessation of cankers, he entirely abandons the underlying tendency to greed, abolishes the underlying tendency to resistance, extirpates the underlying tendency to the view and conceit "I am", and by abandoning ignorance and arousing ~~the knowledge~~ ^{a clear} he here and now makes an end of suffering. In that way too a noble disciple in ^{a clear} right view, his view is rectified, he has perfect confidence in the ~~Buddha, Dhamma, and Sangha~~, ^{Buddha, Dhamma, and other} ~~the Buddha, the Dhamma, and the Sangha~~ ~~The means of truth that he has come to~~.

That's what the venerable Sāriputta said. The bhikkhus were ~~satisfied~~ and ~~understood~~ his words.

Notes

§ 2 Saddhamma: depending on whether the word, & traceable as a gen. of sant + daheti (or dharati). It can be taken as an emphatic metonymy of dhamma (= 'idea'), in which case it is renderable as 'true idea'; or it can be taken as a ~~pure~~ gen. from saddhati ('to have faith') from which ~~the~~ it name saddha ('faith') comes, in which case it is renderable by '(true) object of faith' or 'what faith should be placed in (rights)'. See e. g.

✓ Mejjima Nōtāga 10 - Sati-patthāna Sutta (c. 1, 10)

1. Thus I heard.

On one Occasion the Blessed One was living in the Kuru Country. There is a town of trees known called Kammasaddana, and there he addressed the bhikkhus thus & Bhikkhus! — "Venerable sir" they replied. The Blessed One said this.

INTRODUCTION it

2 a Bhikkhus, this path, namely, the four foundations of mindfulness, is a path that goes in one way only: to the purification ~~of~~ ^{of} creatures, to the surmounting of sorrow and lamenting, to the disappearance of pain and grief, to the attainment ^{my type} ~~the~~ ^{of} ~~the~~ ^{of} Nirvana, to the realization of extinction.

3 what are the four? Here a bhikkhu abides contemplating the body as a body, ardent, fully aware, and mindful, having put away covetousness and grief for the world. He abides contemplating feelings (experiences) as feelings (experiences), ardent, fully aware, and mindful, having put (led) away covetousness and grief for the world. He abides contemplating cognizance as cognizance, ardent, fully aware, and mindful, having put (led) away covetousness and grief for the world. He abides contemplating ideas as ideas, ardent, fully aware, and mindful, having put (led) away covetousness and grief for the world.

CONTEMPLATION OF THE BODY

1. MINDFULNESS OF BREATHING

4. And how does a bhikkhu do well abide

contemplating the body as a body?

Here a blukker, gone to the forest, or to
the root of a tree or to an empty ~~temple~~^{void}, sits
down; having folded his legs crosswise, sets
body erect, established mind failure in front
of him, always mindful he breathes in, mind-
ful he breathes out.

Breathing in long, he ~~knows~~ understands
'I breathe in long'; or breathing out ~~short~~, he
understands 'I breathe ~~at~~ long out ~~short~~'.

Breathing short, he understands 'I breathe in
short'; or breathing out short, he understands
'I breath out short'. ~~He understands~~

He trains thus 'I shall breathe in experiencing
the whole body'; he trains thus 'I
shall breathe out experiencing a whole body'.
He trains thus 'I shall breathe in tran-
quillizing the bodily determination'; he trains
thus 'I shall breathe out tranquillizing the
bodily determination'.

Just as a skilled turner or turner's
apprentice, when making a long turn under-
stands 'I make a long turn'; or when making
a short turn he understands 'I make a short
turn'; so too, breathing in long, he under-
stands 'I breathe in long'; --- he trains thus
'I shall breathe out tranquillizing the bodily de-
termination'.

INSIGHT

6. He abides [in this way] contemplating the
body as a body in himself, or he abides
contemplating the body as a body externally,
or he abides contemplating the body as a body

in himself and externally.

Or else he abides contemplating in the body its inseparability from the idea of arising, or he abides contemplating in the body its inseparability from the idea of fall, or he abides contemplating in the body its inseparability from the idea of arising and fall.

Or else ^{simply} mindfulness that 'There is a body' is established in him to the extent of his knowledge and remembrance [of it] ^{which} ~~and~~ he abides independent, and not clinging to anything in the world.

That is how a blitheler abides contemplating the body as a body.

II THE 4 POSTURES

6. Again, a blitheler, when walking, understands 'I walk'; when standing, he understands 'I stand'; when sitting, ⁵⁷ he understands 'I sit'; when lying down, he understands 'I am lying down'; or however his body is disposed he understands accordingly.

7. In this way he abides --- externally.
Or else... arising and fall.

Or else... anything in the world.

That also is how a blitheler abides contemplating the body as a body.

III FULL-AWARENESS

8. Again, a blithel is one who acts in full-awareness when ~~stopping forward~~ ^{to} ~~backward~~, who acts in full stop moving forward and ~~stopping~~ ^{to} backward, who acts in full-awareness when

looking towards and looking away, who acts in full-awareness when flexing and extending, who acts in full-awareness when wearing the patched robe cloak, bowl and robes, who acts in full-awareness when ~~eating~~^{feeding}, drinking, chewing, and ~~sitting~~^{resting}, who acts in full-awareness when evacuating the bowels and making water, who acts in full-awareness when walking, standing ~~sitting~~^{gallily} aside, walking up, talking, and keeping silent.

9. In this may he abide... externally.

Or else... arising and fall.

Or else... any thing in the world.

That also is how a bhikkhu abides
contemplating the body as a body.

IV FOULNESS - THE BODY'S PARTS

10. Again, a bhikkhu reviews this ^{same} body up from the soles of the feet and down from the top of the hair as full of many kinds of filth; thus 'In this body there are hard-hairs, body-hairs, teeth, ~~nails~~^{skin}, flesh, sinews, bones, bone-marrow, kidneys, heart, liver, midriff, spleen, lungs, bowels, entrails, gorge, dung, bile, phlegm, pus, blood, sweat, fat, tears, grease, spit, snot, oil-of-the-joints, and urine'.

Just as though there were a bag with ~~but~~ an opening at both [ends] full of many sorts of grain such as ~~wheat, rice, beans, peas, millet, and rice,~~^{white}, beans, peas, millet, and rice, and a man with [clear] eyes had opened it and were reviewing it thus 'This is wheat, this is rice, this are beans, these are peas,

195
This is millet, This is rice'; so too, a bliekkhu
reviews this same body... and urine'.

11 In this way he abides...

... anything in the world.

That also is how a bliekkhu abides
contemplating the body as a body.

~~THE ELEMENTS~~

12 Again, however placed, however dis-
posed a bliekkhu ~~refuses~~^{considers} this same body &
he regards it according to elements thus
'In this body there are the earth ele-
ment, the water element, the fire element,
and the air element'. 58

Just as though a skilled butcher or his
apprentice had killed a cow and dissected
at the four crossroads with it cut up into
pieces; so too, however it is placed, ...
and the air element.

13. In this way he abides...

... anything in the world.

That also is how a bliekkhu abides
contemplating the body as a body.

~~THE CHARNEL-GROUNDS~~

14. Again, a bliekkhu ~~gives~~^{thinks} ~~this same~~
~~body~~ as though he were looking at a corpse
(on a charnel ground, one-day dead, two-
days dead, three-days dead, bloated,
livid, and oozing matter, ~~which~~^{is connected} to this same
body) thus this body too is inseparable from
such ideas, ~~with~~ it will be like that,

- it is not except from that'.
15. In this way he abides...
... anything in the world
That also is how a blitche abides, con-
templating the body as a body.
16. Again, a blitche, as though he were
looking at a ~~corpse~~^{physical frame} thrown on a charnel
ground, being devoured by crows, kites, vul-
tures, dogs, jackals, and other ~~many~~^{multitudinous} kinds
of worms, judges this same body. Then this
body too is inseparable from such ideas, it
will be like that, it is not except from
that'.
17. In this way he abides...
... anything in the world
That also is how a blitche abides
contemplating the body as a body.
18. Again a blitche, as though he were
looking at a ~~corpse~~^{physical frame} thrown on a charnel
ground, a skeleton with flesh and blood
held together with sinews, judges... .
19. In this way
20. Again, ... a fleshless skeleton
smearred with blood, and held together
with sinews... .
21. In this way...
22. Again, ... a skeleton without flesh
and blood, held together with sinews... .
23. In this way.
24. Again, ... bones without sinews,
scattered in all directions, here a hand
bone, there a foot bone, there a shin bone,
there a thigh bone, then a hip bone,

- there a back bone, there the skull, ...
 In this way ...
- Again, ... bones bleached white, the
 colour of shells ...
 In this way ...
- Again, ... bones heaped up, more
 than a year old ...
 In this way ...
- Again, a ~~bhikkhu~~^{bhikkhu}, though he were
 looking at a ~~corpse~~^{corpse} thrown on a charnel
 ground, bones rotted and crumbled to dust,⁵⁹
 judges ^{the} same body thus: 'This body too is
 inseparable from such ideas, it will be like
 that, it is not except from that'.
- In this way he abides contemplating
 the body as a body in himself, or he abides
 contemplating the body as a body externally,
 or he abides contemplating the body as a
 body in himself and externally.
 Or else he abides contemplating in the
 body its inseparability from the idea of origin,
 or he abides contemplating in the body its
 inseparability from the idea of fall, or he
 abides contemplating in the body its insepar-
 ability from the idea of origin and fall.
- Or else ~~mind~~^{mind} places itself 'There is a
 body' ^{simply} established in him to the extent of
~~supposing~~^{bare} knowledge and remembrance
 [of it], that he abides independent, and not
 clinging to anything in the world.
- That also is how a bhikkhu abides con-
 templating the body as a body.

CONTEMPLATION OF FEELING

82. And how does a bhikkhu abide contemplating feelings as feelings?

Here, when feeling a pleasant feeling, a bhikkhu understands 'I feel a pleasant feeling'; when feeling a painful feeling, he understands 'I feel a painful feeling'; when feeling a neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling, he ~~knows~~ understands 'I feel a neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling'.

When feeling a materialistic pleasant feeling, he understands 'I feel a materialistic pleasant feeling'; when feeling an unmateriālistic pleasant feeling, he understands 'I feel an unmateriālistic pleasant feeling'; when feeling a materialistic painful feeling, he understands 'I feel a materialistic painful feeling'; when feeling an unmateriālistic painful feeling, he understands 'I feel an unmateriālistic painful feeling'; when feeling a materialistic neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling, he understands 'I feel a materialistic neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling'; when feeling an unmateriālistic neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling', INSIGHT.

omission

33 In this way he abides contemplating feelings as feelings in himself, or lie

abides contemplating feelings as feelings externally, or he abides contemplating feelings as feelings in himself and externally.

60 Or else he abides contemplating in feelings their inseparability from the idea of origination, or he abides contemplating in feelings their inseparability from the idea of fall, or he abides contemplating in feelings their inseparability from the idea of origination and fall.

Or else mindfulness that 'there are feelings' is simply established in him to the extent of bare knowledge and remembrance [of it], whilst he abides independent, and not clinging to anything in the world. That is how a blither abides contemplating ~~the~~ feelings as feelings.

COMPLICATION OF COGNIZANCE

34 And now does a blither abide contemplating cognizance as cognizance?

Here a blither understands cognizance affected by lust as affected by lust, and cognizance unaffected by lust as unaffected by lust. He understands cognizance affected by hate as a fact of hate, and cognizance unaffected by hate. He understands cognizance affected by delusion as affected by delusion, and cognizance unaffected by delusion as unaffected by delusion. He understands contracted cognizance as occupied, and distracted cognizance as distracted. He

159

understands exalted cognizance as exalted, and he understands unexalted consciousness as unexalted. He understands surpassed cognizance as surpassed, and unsurpassed cognizance as unsurpassed. He understands concentrated cognizance as concentrated, and unconcentrated cognizance as unconcentrated. He understands liberated consciousness as liberated and unliberated cognizance as unliberated.

35 In this way he abides contemplating cognizance as cognizance in himself, or he abides contemplating cognizance as cognizance externally, or he abides contemplating cognizance as cognizance in himself and externally.

Or else he abides contemplating in cognizance its inseparability from the idea of origination, or he abides contemplating in cognizance its inseparability from the idea of fall, or he abides contemplating in cognizance its inseparability from the idea of origination and fall.

Or else mindfulness that 'there is cognizance' is simply established in him to the extent of bare knowledge and remembrance [of the fact it], and he abides independent and not clinging to anything in the world.

That is how a bhikkhu abides contemplating cognizance as cognizance.

CONTEMPLATION OF IDEAS

36. And how does a bhikkhu abide contemplating ideas as ideas?

I. THE 5 MINDRAKES

Here a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the five hindrances.

How does a bhikkhu abide contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the five hindrances?

Here, ~~when~~ there ^{being} is zeal for sensual desires in him, a bhikkhu understands, 'There is zeal for sensual desires in me'; or ~~when~~ there ^{being} is no zeal for sensual desires in him, he understands 'There is no zeal for sensual desires in me'; and also he understands how there comes to be the arising of abandoning zeal for sensual desires, and he understands how there comes to be the abandoning of arisen zeal for sensual desires, and he understands how there comes to be the future non-arising of abandoned zeal for sensual desires.

~~when there is ill will in him, ...~~
~~when there is clinging and diwassas in him, ...~~
~~when there is agitation and worry in him, ...~~
~~when there is uncertainty in him, ...~~

future non-arising of abandoned uncertainty.

37. In this way he abides contemplating ideas as ideas in himself, or he abides con-

152

contemplating ideas as ideas externally, or he abides contemplating ideas as ideas in himself and externally.

Or else he abides contemplating in ideas their inseparability from the idea of arising, or he abides contemplating in ideas their inseparability from the idea of fall, or he abides contemplating in ideas their inseparability from the idea of arising and fall.

Or else mind places that 'there are ideas' is simply established in him to the extent of bare knowledge and remembrance [of it], whilst he abides independent, and not clinging to any thing in the world.

That is how a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the five hindrances.

THE AGGREGATES

Again a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the ~~the~~ five aggregates affected by clinging.

And how does a bhikkhu abide contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the five aggregates affected by clinging?

Here a bhikkhu [knows] 'Such is form, such its origination, such its disappearance; such is feeling, such its origination, such its disappearance; such is perception, such its origination, such its disappearance;

such are determinations, such their origin,
such their disappearance; such is consciousness,
such its origin, such its disappearance!

39. In this way he abides ... externally.
Or else he abides ... and falls.
Or else disappears ... in the world;
that is how a blithely abides, contempla-
ting ideas as ideas in [terms of] the five
aggregates affected by clinging.

THE 6 BASES

40. Again a blithely abides contemplating
ideas as ideas in [terms of] the ~~the~~ six
in-one-self/external bases.

And how does a blithely abide con-
templating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the six
in-one-self/external bases?

Here a blithely understands the eye,
~~and~~ he understands forms, and he understands
the fetter that arises dependent on both; he
understands how there comes to be the arising
of the unarisen fetter; he understands how
there comes to be the abandoning of the arisen
fetter; and he understands how there comes
to be the future non-arising of the abandoned
fetter.

He understands the ^{ear} eye, and he under-
stands sounds, ...

He understands the nose, he understands
odours, ...

He understands the tongue, he under-
stands flavours, ...

He understands the body, he understands tangibles, ...

He understands the mind, he understands ideas, ... the future non-arising of the abandoned fetters.

41. In this way he abides -- externally...
Or else he abides -- and falls.
Or else mindfulness ... in the world.
That is how a blibber abides contemplative ideas as ideas in [terms of] the six in-onself/external bases.

THE 7 ENLIGHTENMENT FACTORS

42. Again, a blibber abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the seven enlightenment factors.

And how does a blibber abide contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the seven enlightenment factors?

Here, when there ~~is~~ ^{being} no mindfulness enlightenment factor in him, a blibber understands "There is the mindfulness enlightenment factor in me"; when there being no mindfulness enlightenment factor in him, he understands ~~62~~ "There is no mindfulness enlightenment factor in me"; and also he understands how there comes to be arising of the unarisen mindfulness enlightenment factor, and he understands how ~~there comes to be~~, to be the developing and perfecting of the unarisen mindfulness enlightenment factor ^{concomitantly} ~~to long into being~~ and perfected.

~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ investigation - of - ideas enlightenment factor in him, ...

~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ energy enlightenment factor in him, ...
~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ happiness enlightenment factor in him, ...

~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ tranquillity enlightenment factor in him, ...

~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ concentration enlightenment factor in him, ...

~~when~~ there ^{is} ~~the~~ overlooking (equanimity) enlightenment factor in him, ... and per-
fecting ~~of the vision~~ overlooking (equanimity) enlightenment factor.

43. In this way he abides ... internally.

Or else he abides ... and falls.

Or else mindfulness ... in the world.

That is how a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the seven enlightenment factors.

THE 4 NOBLE TRUTHS

44. Again a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the four Noble Truths [actualities].

And how does a bhikkhu abide contemplating ideas as ideas in [terms of] the four Noble Truths?

Here a bhikkhu understands as it actually is that 'this is suffering'; he under-

stands as it actually is that ~~such~~ ^{such} is the origin of suffering'; he understands as it actually is that '~~such~~' ^{such} is the cessation of suffering'; he understands as it actually is that '~~such~~' ^{such} is the way leading to the cessation of suffering'.

45. In this may be abides contemplating ideas as ideas in himself, or he abides contemplating ideas as ideas externally, or he abides contemplating ideas as ideas in himself and externally.

Or else he abides contemplating ideas their inseparability from the idea of origin, or he abides contemplating ideas their inseparability from the idea of disappearance, or he abides contemplating ideas their inseparability from the idea of origin and disappearance.

Or else mindfulness that 'There are ideas' is simply established in him to the extent of bare knowledge and remembrance [of it], whilst he abides independent and not clinging to anything in the world.

That is how a bhikkhu abides contemplating ideas as ideas in terms of] the four Noble Truths.

CONCERNING 475

46. Bhikkhus, were anyone to develop these four foundations of mindfulness for seven years, one of his fruits could be expected

for him: ~~for~~ either final knowledge here and now, or else non-return.

~~maintain~~ ⁱⁿ let alone seven years, were anyone to ⁶³ develop these four foundations of mindfulness for six years ...

let alone ~~six~~ years ... for five years ...
let alone five years ... for four years ...
let alone four years ... for three years ...
let alone three years ... for two years ...
let alone two years ... for one year ...
let alone one year ... for seven months ...
let alone seven months ... for six months ...
let alone six months ... for five months ...
let alone five months ... for four months ...
let alone four months ... for three months ...
let alone three months ... for two months ...
let alone two months ... for one month ...
let alone one month ... for half a month ...

~~maintain~~ ⁱⁿ let alone half a month, were anyone to ~~develop~~ ^{the} ~~these~~ four foundations of mindfulness for seven days, one of two fruits could be expected for him: either final knowledge here and now, or else non-return.

47. So it was with reference to this that it was said c Shikkhins, this path is the only way to the purification of creatures, to the subduing of sorrow and lamenting, to the disappearance of suffering and grief, to the attainment of ^{The proper way} ~~of~~ ^{to} the realization of extinction, that is to say the four foundations of mindfulness.

^{that is what} ~~all~~ the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were ^{of} ~~in~~ ^{and they delighted in his words.} ~~entirely~~ ^{disagreed with} ~~delighted~~

6
6
7

Notes

- § 2 deśāvara (goes in one direction only): cf. Sutta 12 § 37 f.
- § 3 World (Loka) = This body and its world.
Cf. Kapittha
- § 4 experiencing the whole body (sabbakāya-patiṣṭinavādi): the 'body' here = the breaths taken as a 'body' in the sense of a group in continuity. See Sutta 118, § 37 (end).
- The bodily determination (kāya-saṅkharā) is defined as 'in-breath and out-breath' at Sutta 44, § 14.
- § 10 simile a literal rendering of the six kinds of grains ~~is actually impossible~~ would be something like this 'sāli-paddy, vihī-paddy, beans, peas, sesamum, tandula-paddy'. This is one of the special cases where a literal translation has not been given.
- § 34 For the meaning of the word 'exalted' (maha-
ggata - lit 'gone big') is usually that of consciousness 'exalted from the sensual-desire sphere to the form element of formless element (i.e. by the 8 attainments); Cf. also note at Sutta 127, § 8.
- § 40 compare Sutta 18, § 16 and Sutta 148, § 37
for how the latter arises and ceases.
for the future non-arising of what is abu-
nded Cf. Sutta 22, § 34 etc.
- § 2 For the construction of the sentence 'Kamūḍa-
dammarūpa nāma kurāvāni nijamo' Cf. M. ii, 119
'atthi Mahārūpa, Medālumpaṇi nāma & skṛiyāvāni
nijamo'

Majjhima Nikāya 11 - Cula-Suttanada Sutta

(1, 2, 1)

161

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetas Grove, Anathapindika's Park. There the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus », — « Venables » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, only here is there a monk, only here a second monk, only here a third monk, only here a fourth monk, ~~other~~ ^{The} doctrines are devoid ~~of~~ ^{not} ~~of~~ ^{not} works; that is how you should roar your lion-roar.

3. It is possible that wanderers of other sects here might ask 'But what is the venerable ones' [course of] comfort and strength that your venerable ones say ~~not~~ ^{the} least ~~of~~ ⁱⁿ this?'. Wanderers of other sects who ask this may be answered thus 'Friends, four ~~ideas~~ ^{ideals} have been declared to us by the Blessed One who knows and sees, accomplished and fully enlightened, which ~~when we see them~~ ^{on seeing which} in ourselves we say thus "Only here is there a monk, only here a second monk, only here a third monk, only here a fourth monk". ~~Other~~ ^{The} doctrines are devoid of works». What are the four? We have confidence in the Master, we have confidence in the True Idea ~~for~~ ^{more who} affected the fortunes, and ~~those holding~~ ^{whether they are} ~~gave~~ ^{True idea} ~~forth~~ are dear to us ^{in accord with it}.

~~laymen or you forth and they are~~
~~the true Ideal and~~ loved by us. These are
 the four ideas declared by the Blind One
 who knows and sees, accoupled and fully
 enlightened, ^{on seeing} which ~~since we see them in ourselves~~
 we say thus "We do". ~~Only then... dearest master~~".

4. It is possible that Wanderers of other sects
 might say thus 'Friends, we ~~also~~ have con-
 fidence in the Master, that is, our Master; we
 too have confidence in the True Idea, that is,
 our true Idea; we too have perfected the
 virtues, that is, our virtues; ~~and more pio-~~
~~guare than your~~ ^{True} Idea ~~for they are dear to us,~~
~~whether they are~~ ^{to you} ~~or your path.~~
~~too, in accordance with the true Idea, and~~
~~loved by us. What is the difference~~ ⁱⁿ ~~distin-~~
~~tion here, friends, what is the variance, what~~
~~is the difference, between you and us?~~'
 Wanderers of other sects who ask thus may be
 answered thus 'How then, friends, is the
 goal one or many?'. Answering rightly.
 The Wanderers of other sects would answer
 thus 'friends the goal is one, not many'.
 — 'But, friends, is that goal affected by
 lust or free from lust?' ~~Rightly~~ Answering
 rightly, the Wanderers of other sects would
 answer thus 'Friends, the goal is free from
 lust, not affected by lust.' — 'But, friends,
 is that goal affected by hate, or free from
 hate?' Answering rightly they would answer
 thus 'Friends, the goal is free from hate, not
 affected by hate'. — 'But friends, is that
 goal affected by delusion or free from delus-

ion?" Answering rightly they would answer them 'Friends, the goal is free from delusion, not affected by delusion?' 'But, friends, is that goal affected by ~~need~~ ^{need} a free from ~~causing~~ ^{causing}? ' Answering rightly they would answer 'Friends, the goal is free from ~~causing~~, not affected by ~~need~~ ^{need}'. 'But, friends, is that goal affected by ~~assumption~~ ^{assumption} a free from ~~clinging~~ ^{clinging}? ' Answering rightly they would answer 'Friends, the goal is free from ~~assumption~~, not affected by ~~clinging~~ ^{clinging}'.

— 'But, friends, is that goal for one who has vision or for one without vision?' Answering rightly they would answer 'Friends, that goal is for one with vision, not for one without vision'.

— 'But, friends, is that goal for one who ~~favors~~ ^{affirms} and ~~opposes~~ ^{denies} or for one who does not favor ^{affirm} and oppose ^{deny}? ' Answering rightly they would answer 'Friends, the goal is for one who does not favor ^{affirms} and oppose ^{denies}, not for one who ~~favors~~ ^{affirms} and ~~opposes~~ ^{denies}'. — 'But, friends, is that goal for one who delights in diversification or for one who has no delight in diversification?' Answering rightly they would answer 'Friends, the goal is for one who has no delight in diversification, not for one who delights in diversification'.

X 5. kind of Shikshak, there are these two views:

5. the view of being and the view of non-being.
6. whatever ^{or} Any monk ~~and~~ divine who adopt

rely on the ~~the non-being~~ view of being, & adopt
 the view of being, ^{and} accept the view of being, / are
^{thus} opposed to the view of non-being. Any monks
 and divines who rely on the view ~~of being~~
 of non-being, adopt the view of non-being,
 accept the view of non-being, ~~are thus~~ opposed to
 to the view of being. // Any ^{or} ~~monks~~ and divines
 who do not understand, ~~as they~~ it ad-
^{comes to be} valle~~gat~~ the origin and the disappearance
 and the ~~affection~~ and the ~~desire~~ and
 the escape in [the case of] these two ^{kinds of} views
 are affected by lust, affected by hate,
 affected by delusion, affected by ^{need} sorrow,
 affected by ^{assumption} clinging, without vision, given
 over to favouring and opposing ^(denial), and ~~they~~
 delight in diversification, enjoy diversi-
^{tion}: they are not liberated from birth, ageing and death,
^{from} lamentation, pain, grief and despair, they are still bound
^{from suffering} to ^{according to} ~~monks~~ or divines who under-
 stand, as ~~they~~ actually see the origin and the
 disappearance and the ~~affection~~ and the
 desire and the escape in [the case of]
 these two ^{kinds of} views are without lust, without
 hate, without delusion, without ^{need} sorrow,
 without clinging, without vision, not given over
 to favouring and opposing, ~~but~~ there is no
 delight in diversification, no enjoyment in
 diversification: They are liberated from
 birth, ageing and death, from sorrow, lamenta-
 tion, pain, grief and despair, they are
 liberated from suffering, I say.

9. 66 ~~Philibert~~ There are three four kinds of assumption: assuming ^{or} clinging, assumption of ~~sensual-desires, clinging, wrong views, clinging, virtue-and-duty, clinging, and assumption of a self-theory clinging.~~

10. When ~~there are~~ certain monies and dines ~~also~~ claim to proposed ^{a diagnosis} ~~the full knowledge~~ of all kinds of ~~clinging~~ ^{according to} ~~wrong~~ ^{complete} assumption ^{of clinging} they do ~~not~~ ^{not} describe ~~the diagnosis~~ ^{a diagnosis} of all kinds ~~make~~ ^{make} ~~know~~ ^{full knowledge} of all kinds assumption ^{of clinging}: they ~~make known~~ ^{describe} a diagnosis of clinging: they ~~make known~~ ^{describing} of assumption of sensual-desires clinging without ~~assuming~~ ^{describing} of assumption of ~~wrong~~ ^{wrong} ~~views~~ ^{views} clinging or virtue-and-duty clinging or self-theory clinging. Why is that? These good monies and dines do not understand it as it actually is: there instances [of clinging] as ~~they~~, actually ~~are~~, consequently ^{while} these good monies and dines claim to proposed ^{a diagnosis} ~~the full knowledge~~ of all kinds of ~~clinging~~ ^{according to} ~~wrong~~ ^{complete} assumption ^{of clinging} they ~~make known~~ ^{describe} a diagnosis of all kinds assumption ^{of clinging}: they ~~make known~~ ^{describing} of assumption of sensual-desires clinging without ~~assuming~~ ^{describing} of assumption of ~~wrong~~ ^{wrong} ~~views~~ ^{views} clinging or virtue-and-duty clinging or self-theory clinging.

11. When ~~there are~~ certain monies and dines ~~assuming~~ ^{clinging}: they ~~make known~~ ^{describe} a diagnosis ^{of clinging} ~~the full knowledge~~ of sensual-desires clinging, and assumption of ~~wrong~~ ^{wrong} ~~views~~ ^{views} clinging without ~~assuming~~ ^{describing} virtue-and-duty clinging or self-theory clinging. ... don't understand two instances: they ~~make known~~ ^{describe} a diagnosis ^{of sensual} ~~the full knowledge~~ of ~~wrong~~ ^{wrong} ~~views~~ ^{views} clinging with ~~assumption~~ ^{assumption} of

~~describing assumption & make, from virtue-and-duty clinging or self-being clinging.~~

12. ~~There are certain masters and disciplines~~
assumption: they ~~make~~ ~~know~~ ~~full knowledge~~ ~~of~~ ~~sensual-desire clinging and leading~~ ~~clinging~~ ~~and virtue-and-duty clinging~~.
describing assumption: ~~without making known~~ ~~leading~~ ~~clinging~~.
 do not understand one instance ... they
describing a diagnosis of assumption: they
make known full knowledge of sensual-
desire clinging and leading ~~clinging~~ ~~and vice-and-duty clinging~~
describing assumption: ~~without making known~~ ~~leading~~ ~~clinging~~.

13. Blasphemers, in such a True Idea and discipline ~~confident~~ ^{again} is that it is the ~~blasted~~ evident that confidence in the Master is not rightly placed, it is evident that confidence in the True Idea is not rightly placed, that perfecting of the virtues is not rightly directed, and that the learners and loved ones ~~of them~~ among those who share the True Idea are not rightly directed. Why is that? Because that is how it is when the True Idea and the Discipline ~~is~~ ill-evidenced, ~~is~~ ill-proclaimed, ~~leads~~, leading nowhere, unconducive to peace and ~~not~~ proclaimed by one, fully enlightened and ~~not~~ proclaimed by one, fully enlightened.

14. Blasphemers, ^{when} a Perfect One, accomplished and fully enlightened, claims to ~~know~~ ^{a diagnosis} ~~make~~ ~~know~~ ~~full knowledge~~ of all kinds of ~~clinging~~, he completely describes ^{assumption} ~~making known~~ all kinds of ~~clinging~~. ~~refutes~~ ~~makes known~~ ~~all kinds of clinging~~. ~~describes~~ ~~making known~~ ~~all kinds of clinging~~. ~~refutes~~ ~~makes known~~ ~~all kinds of clinging~~.

assumption of decisive clinging and
assumption of former clinging and
assumption of and assumption of former
L value-and-duty clinging and self-thirsty
clinging.

15. Blasphemy, in such a ~~time~~ ^{True Idea} and discipline as that it is evident that confidence in the Master is rightly directed, ~~it is evident~~
~~that confidence in the True Idea is rightly di-~~
~~rected, it is evident~~ that perfecting of the in-
tues is rightly directed, and that learners and
loveduers among those who share the True
Idea are rightly directed. Why is that? Be-
cause that is how it is when the True Idea
and the discipline is well evidenced, well produced,
and ^{the} conduct ^{leads} to peace, and proclaimed
by one fully enlightened.

16. Now ~~aspects~~^{assumption has} of these four kinds I cleary^{not} see
as their source; what as their origin! ~~they are~~^{they are} of course
~~some things~~^{them} of birth, my what ~~that~~^{the} they will then ~~be~~^{be} -

These four kinds of clinging have need as their course ~~as their origin~~ ~~is their origin~~ ~~being given them birth~~ ~~and growth~~ ~~and produced by~~ ~~the hole~~ ~~process~~ ~~of speed~~ ~~by~~ ~~moving profiles~~ ~~them with their being~~ - ~~by~~

provide them with their bread.
Read Geog. see what is its source, ... ~~forwards~~^{beg.}

Jesus, has feelings its source, ... and
Jesus, feeling provider with being beginning?

Feeling has what is its source, ... ~~feared~~?
It is contact as its source, ... and

Feeling has contact as its source, ... and
produced by contact provides it with being being? ...
So to & has what is its source, ... produced?

Contact has the sixth base as its source, and reproduced by the six fold base provided by it.

The cipold base her what as its cause, ... ~~she~~?

The six-fold base ~~has~~ name-and-form as its source, ~~produced by~~ name-and-form provides it with being.

Name-and-form has what as its source, ... produced?
Name-and-form has conscious ~~man~~ as its source,
~~and~~ produced by consciousness provider it
Consciousness has what as its source, ... ~~being~~ produced?

Consciousness has determinations as its source, ~~being~~ produced by determinations provides it with ~~being~~ material. This is

Determinations have what as their source, what
as their origin, from what ~~they~~^{they} birth to what is
produced & what is their ~~to be~~^{use}? provide them with this being?

Determinations have ~~rescence~~ as their
source, ~~rescence~~ as their organ, ~~rescence~~ as their
product, ~~rescence~~ as their being.

68 ~~the~~ ^{That is to say,} the Bleeding Heart said. the blackbirds
were ~~surprised~~, and they ^{agreed with} him.

Votes. § 5 for papāna (diversification) see Sutta 18, § 160 n^o 5
§ 17 the idiom is 'eva kāmīgādāna upādīyati';
etc., where upādāna is the subject of the verb upā-
dīyati, has been rendered by borrowing the word
upādāna's other meaning of 'fuel'; for 'to cling'
to a clinging' makes no sense in English. Upādāna
is ultraquaque in Pāli while 'clinging' in English is not.
Cf. Sutta 106, § 11.

162

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 12 - Mahā-Sīhakāda Sutta
(1, 2, 2)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Vesali in the grove outside the city to the west.

2. Now on that occasion Sunakkhatta, son of the Licchavī had recently forsaken the True Idea and Discipline. He was making these statement before the Vesali Assembly: "The Monk Gotama has no distinction higher than ~~any~~ ^{any} human state ~~idea~~ ^{and} worthy of a Noble One's knowledge and vision. The Monk Gotama teaches an idea ^{his own} [nearly] hammered out by thought, following a line of inquiry as it occurs to him, and who ~~ever~~ ^{ever} taught ~~the true open~~ ^{before his benefit}, it [only] leads rightly to the destruction ^{expansion} of suffering in him who ^{he} practices it ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~it~~; ^{but} ~~it~~ ^{it} ~~is~~ ^{is} ~~not~~ ^{not} ~~to~~ ^{to} ~~die~~ ^{die}]".

3. Then, it being morning, the venerable Sāriputta dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went into Vesali for alms. Then he heard of [what] Sunakkhatta, son of the Licchavī ~~was~~ ^{Jesati} saying:

When he had wandered for alms in ~~the~~ ^{the} and had returned from his alms round after his meal, he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side, when he had done so, he told the Blessed One what had taken place.

4. "Sāriputta, the misguided man Sunakkhatta is angry, and his words are spoken out

of anger. Thinking to condemn the Perfect One, he actually commends the Perfect One; for it is commendation of the Perfect One to say of him 'And whoever is taught the true Idea for his benefit, it [only] leads right to the exhaustion of suffering in him who practices it ~~and nothing else~~ [but not to anything else]. (Find in me the necessity of this idea.)

5. Saṅgītta ~~After my own knowledge according to the~~ men ~~savak-~~
Khatta will never have ~~inherent~~ ~~super-~~ ~~natural~~ ~~knowledge~~ ~~of me according to the true Idea that~~
~~that~~ ~~Blind~~ ~~One~~ ~~is such that he is accom-~~
~~plished~~ ... [Sutta 7, § 6] ... ~~blamed~~ ^{and ~~introduction~~}
6. And he will never have ~~inherent~~ ~~super-~~ ~~natural~~ ~~knowledge~~ ~~of me according to the true Idea:~~
~~thus~~: 'That Blind One is such that he
 enjoys the various kinds of [super-
 natural] success; ... [Sutta 6, § 14] ... world
 of the Divinity (brahma)'. ^{and ~~introduction~~}
7. And he will never have ~~inherent~~ ~~super-~~ ~~natural~~ ~~knowledge~~ ~~of me according to the true Idea;~~
~~thus~~: 'That Blind One is such that with the
 divine ear element ... [Sutta 6, § 15] ... near'
8. And he will never have ~~inherent~~ ~~super-~~ ~~natural~~ ~~knowledge~~ ~~of me according to the true Idea:~~
~~thus~~: 'That Blind One is such that he en-
 compasses with his ^{cognizance} ~~will~~ its ^{knowledge} ~~wishes~~
 (wills) of other creatures. ... [Sutta 6, § 16] ...
 as unliberated'.

10 POWERS OF A PERFECT ONE

- Saṅgītta A Perfect One has
9. These are there Ten Perfect One Powers,
 possessing which the Perfect One claims the
 herd-leader's place, roars like lion's roar etc.

before assemblies, meets the Divine Wheel rolling forward, what are the ten?

10. (1) Here a Perfect One ~~knows the possible and the impossible~~ understands, as it actually is, the possible as possible and the impossible as impossible; and ^{that it is a good Person} ~~that a Perfect One has~~ a Perfect One ^{knows} ~~the state of having~~ ^{understands, as it actually is, the species,} undertakes actions, past, future and present, with possibilities and with reasons. And ^{that it is} that ^{it is} in a Perfect One Power...
11. (2) Again a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} the world with its many and various elements and its differing elements. And ^{that it is}...
12. (3) Again, a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} the world with its many and various elements and its differing elements. And ^{that it is}...
13. (4) Again, a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} the world with its many and various elements and its differing elements. And ^{that it is}...
14. (5) Again, a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} how creatures have different life-decisions. And ^{that it is}...
15. (6) Again, a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} the disposition of the faculties of other creatures, other persons. And ^{that it is}...
16. (7) Again, a Perfect One ~~knows~~ ^{understands, as it actually is,} corruption, purification, depliment, cleansing, and emergence, in the illuminations, liberations, concentrations, and attainments. And ^{that it is}...

17. (8) Again, a Perfect One ~~understands~~, with ~~actually~~⁷², recollects his manifold past life ... [Sutta 4, § 27] ... with details and particulars, he recollects his manifold past life. And ~~that~~^{*} ...
18. (9) Again, a Perfect One, with the divine eye, which is purified ... [Sutta 4, § 29]⁷¹. He understands how creatures pass on according to their actions. And ~~that~~^{*} ...
19. (10) Again, a Perfect One, by realization ^{the} self ... [Sutta 6, § 19] ... with exhaustion of ~~caukkars~~⁷³. And ~~that~~^{*} is a Perfect One's Power in virtue of which he claims the herd-leader's place, roars his lion's roar in the assemblies, and sets the Divine Wheel rolling forward.
20. Here are the ~~Perfect One's~~ Powers. A Perfect One has these ten Perfect One's Powers, possessing which he claims the herd-leader's place, roars his lion's roar in the assemblies, and sets the Divine Wheel rolling forward.
21. ~~Again~~⁷⁴, Should anyone, knowing and seeing me thus, say 'The monk Gotama has no distinction higher than the human idea worthy of the Noble One' knowledge and vision. The monk Gotama teaches an ^{unperceivable} idea [merely] hammered out by thought, following his own line of inquiry as it occurs to him. And whoever is taught that this Idea, for his benefit, if only it leads right to the ~~desire~~⁷⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁹ ~~the~~⁸⁰ ~~the~~⁸¹ ~~the~~⁸² ~~the~~⁸³ ~~the~~⁸⁴ ~~the~~⁸⁵ ~~the~~⁸⁶ ~~the~~⁸⁷ ~~the~~⁸⁸ ~~the~~⁸⁹ ~~the~~⁹⁰ ~~the~~⁹¹ ~~the~~⁹² ~~the~~⁹³ ~~the~~⁹⁴ ~~the~~⁹⁵ ~~the~~⁹⁶ ~~the~~⁹⁷ ~~the~~⁹⁸ ~~the~~⁹⁹ ~~the~~¹⁰⁰ ~~the~~¹⁰¹ ~~the~~¹⁰² ~~the~~¹⁰³ ~~the~~¹⁰⁴ ~~the~~¹⁰⁵ ~~the~~¹⁰⁶ ~~the~~¹⁰⁷ ~~the~~¹⁰⁸ ~~the~~¹⁰⁹ ~~the~~¹¹⁰ ~~the~~¹¹¹ ~~the~~¹¹² ~~the~~¹¹³ ~~the~~¹¹⁴ ~~the~~¹¹⁵ ~~the~~¹¹⁶ ~~the~~¹¹⁷ ~~the~~¹¹⁸ ~~the~~¹¹⁹ ~~the~~¹²⁰ ~~the~~¹²¹ ~~the~~¹²² ~~the~~¹²³ ~~the~~¹²⁴ ~~the~~¹²⁵ ~~the~~¹²⁶ ~~the~~¹²⁷ ~~the~~¹²⁸ ~~the~~¹²⁹ ~~the~~¹³⁰ ~~the~~¹³¹ ~~the~~¹³² ~~the~~¹³³ ~~the~~¹³⁴ ~~the~~¹³⁵ ~~the~~¹³⁶ ~~the~~¹³⁷ ~~the~~¹³⁸ ~~the~~¹³⁹ ~~the~~¹⁴⁰ ~~the~~¹⁴¹ ~~the~~¹⁴² ~~the~~¹⁴³ ~~the~~¹⁴⁴ ~~the~~¹⁴⁵ ~~the~~¹⁴⁶ ~~the~~¹⁴⁷ ~~the~~¹⁴⁸ ~~the~~¹⁴⁹ ~~the~~¹⁵⁰ ~~the~~¹⁵¹ ~~the~~¹⁵² ~~the~~¹⁵³ ~~the~~¹⁵⁴ ~~the~~¹⁵⁵ ~~the~~¹⁵⁶ ~~the~~¹⁵⁷ ~~the~~¹⁵⁸ ~~the~~¹⁵⁹ ~~the~~¹⁶⁰ ~~the~~¹⁶¹ ~~the~~¹⁶² ~~the~~¹⁶³ ~~the~~¹⁶⁴ ~~the~~¹⁶⁵ ~~the~~¹⁶⁶ ~~the~~¹⁶⁷ ~~the~~¹⁶⁸ ~~the~~¹⁶⁹ ~~the~~¹⁷⁰ ~~the~~¹⁷¹ ~~the~~¹⁷² ~~the~~¹⁷³ ~~the~~¹⁷⁴ ~~the~~¹⁷⁵ ~~the~~¹⁷⁶ ~~the~~¹⁷⁷ ~~the~~¹⁷⁸ ~~the~~¹⁷⁹ ~~the~~¹⁸⁰ ~~the~~¹⁸¹ ~~the~~¹⁸² ~~the~~¹⁸³ ~~the~~¹⁸⁴ ~~the~~¹⁸⁵ ~~the~~¹⁸⁶ ~~the~~¹⁸⁷ ~~the~~¹⁸⁸ ~~the~~¹⁸⁹ ~~the~~¹⁹⁰ ~~the~~¹⁹¹ ~~the~~¹⁹² ~~the~~¹⁹³ ~~the~~¹⁹⁴ ~~the~~¹⁹⁵ ~~the~~¹⁹⁶ ~~the~~¹⁹⁷ ~~the~~¹⁹⁸ ~~the~~¹⁹⁹ ~~the~~²⁰⁰ ~~the~~²⁰¹ ~~the~~²⁰² ~~the~~²⁰³ ~~the~~²⁰⁴ ~~the~~²⁰⁵ ~~the~~²⁰⁶ ~~the~~²⁰⁷ ~~the~~²⁰⁸ ~~the~~²⁰⁹ ~~the~~²¹⁰ ~~the~~²¹¹ ~~the~~²¹² ~~the~~²¹³ ~~the~~²¹⁴ ~~the~~²¹⁵ ~~the~~²¹⁶ ~~the~~²¹⁷ ~~the~~²¹⁸ ~~the~~²¹⁹ ~~the~~²²⁰ ~~the~~²²¹ ~~the~~²²² ~~the~~²²³ ~~the~~²²⁴ ~~the~~²²⁵ ~~the~~²²⁶ ~~the~~²²⁷ ~~the~~²²⁸ ~~the~~²²⁹ ~~the~~²³⁰ ~~the~~²³¹ ~~the~~²³² ~~the~~²³³ ~~the~~²³⁴ ~~the~~²³⁵ ~~the~~²³⁶ ~~the~~²³⁷ ~~the~~²³⁸ ~~the~~²³⁹ ~~the~~²⁴⁰ ~~the~~²⁴¹ ~~the~~²⁴² ~~the~~²⁴³ ~~the~~²⁴⁴ ~~the~~²⁴⁵ ~~the~~²⁴⁶ ~~the~~²⁴⁷ ~~the~~²⁴⁸ ~~the~~²⁴⁹ ~~the~~²⁵⁰ ~~the~~²⁵¹ ~~the~~²⁵² ~~the~~²⁵³ ~~the~~²⁵⁴ ~~the~~²⁵⁵ ~~the~~²⁵⁶ ~~the~~²⁵⁷ ~~the~~²⁵⁸ ~~the~~²⁵⁹ ~~the~~²⁶⁰ ~~the~~²⁶¹ ~~the~~²⁶² ~~the~~²⁶³ ~~the~~²⁶⁴ ~~the~~²⁶⁵ ~~the~~²⁶⁶ ~~the~~²⁶⁷ ~~the~~²⁶⁸ ~~the~~²⁶⁹ ~~the~~²⁷⁰ ~~the~~²⁷¹ ~~the~~²⁷² ~~the~~²⁷³ ~~the~~²⁷⁴ ~~the~~²⁷⁵ ~~the~~²⁷⁶ ~~the~~²⁷⁷ ~~the~~²⁷⁸ ~~the~~²⁷⁹ ~~the~~²⁸⁰ ~~the~~²⁸¹ ~~the~~²⁸² ~~the~~²⁸³ ~~the~~²⁸⁴ ~~the~~²⁸⁵ ~~the~~²⁸⁶ ~~the~~²⁸⁷ ~~the~~²⁸⁸ ~~the~~²⁸⁹ ~~the~~²⁹⁰ ~~the~~²⁹¹ ~~the~~²⁹² ~~the~~²⁹³ ~~the~~²⁹⁴ ~~the~~²⁹⁵ ~~the~~²⁹⁶ ~~the~~²⁹⁷ ~~the~~²⁹⁸ ~~the~~²⁹⁹ ~~the~~³⁰⁰ ~~the~~³⁰¹ ~~the~~³⁰² ~~the~~³⁰³ ~~the~~³⁰⁴ ~~the~~³⁰⁵ ~~the~~³⁰⁶ ~~the~~³⁰⁷ ~~the~~³⁰⁸ ~~the~~³⁰⁹ ~~the~~³¹⁰ ~~the~~³¹¹ ~~the~~³¹² ~~the~~³¹³ ~~the~~³¹⁴ ~~the~~³¹⁵ ~~the~~³¹⁶ ~~the~~³¹⁷ ~~the~~³¹⁸ ~~the~~³¹⁹ ~~the~~³²⁰ ~~the~~³²¹ ~~the~~³²² ~~the~~³²³ ~~the~~³²⁴ ~~the~~³²⁵ ~~the~~³²⁶ ~~the~~³²⁷ ~~the~~³²⁸ ~~the~~³²⁹ ~~the~~³³⁰ ~~the~~³³¹ ~~the~~³³² ~~the~~³³³ ~~the~~³³⁴ ~~the~~³³⁵ ~~the~~³³⁶ ~~the~~³³⁷ ~~the~~³³⁸ ~~the~~³³⁹ ~~the~~³⁴⁰ ~~the~~³⁴¹ ~~the~~³⁴² ~~the~~³⁴³ ~~the~~³⁴⁴ ~~the~~³⁴⁵ ~~the~~³⁴⁶ ~~the~~³⁴⁷ ~~the~~³⁴⁸ ~~the~~³⁴⁹ ~~the~~³⁵⁰ ~~the~~³⁵¹ ~~the~~³⁵² ~~the~~³⁵³ ~~the~~³⁵⁴ ~~the~~³⁵⁵ ~~the~~³⁵⁶ ~~the~~³⁵⁷ ~~the~~³⁵⁸ ~~the~~³⁵⁹ ~~the~~³⁶⁰ ~~the~~³⁶¹ ~~the~~³⁶² ~~the~~³⁶³ ~~the~~³⁶⁴ ~~the~~³⁶⁵ ~~the~~³⁶⁶ ~~the~~³⁶⁷ ~~the~~³⁶⁸ ~~the~~³⁶⁹ ~~the~~³⁷⁰ ~~the~~³⁷¹ ~~the~~³⁷² ~~the~~³⁷³ ~~the~~³⁷⁴ ~~the~~³⁷⁵ ~~the~~³⁷⁶ ~~the~~³⁷⁷ ~~the~~³⁷⁸ ~~the~~³⁷⁹ ~~the~~³⁸⁰ ~~the~~³⁸¹ ~~the~~³⁸² ~~the~~³⁸³ ~~the~~³⁸⁴ ~~the~~³⁸⁵ ~~the~~³⁸⁶ ~~the~~³⁸⁷ ~~the~~³⁸⁸ ~~the~~³⁸⁹ ~~the~~³⁹⁰ ~~the~~³⁹¹ ~~the~~³⁹² ~~the~~³⁹³ ~~the~~³⁹⁴ ~~the~~³⁹⁵ ~~the~~³⁹⁶ ~~the~~³⁹⁷ ~~the~~³⁹⁸ ~~the~~³⁹⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁰¹ ~~the~~⁴⁰² ~~the~~⁴⁰³ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁰⁹ ~~the~~⁴¹⁰ ~~the~~⁴¹¹ ~~the~~⁴¹² ~~the~~⁴¹³ ~~the~~⁴¹⁴ ~~the~~⁴¹⁵ ~~the~~⁴¹⁶ ~~the~~⁴¹⁷ ~~the~~⁴¹⁸ ~~the~~⁴¹⁹ ~~the~~⁴²⁰ ~~the~~⁴²¹ ~~the~~⁴²² ~~the~~⁴²³ ~~the~~⁴²⁴ ~~the~~⁴²⁵ ~~the~~⁴²⁶ ~~the~~⁴²⁷ ~~the~~⁴²⁸ ~~the~~⁴²⁹ ~~the~~⁴³⁰ ~~the~~⁴³¹ ~~the~~⁴³² ~~the~~⁴³³ ~~the~~⁴³⁴ ~~the~~⁴³⁵ ~~the~~⁴³⁶ ~~the~~⁴³⁷ ~~the~~⁴³⁸ ~~the~~⁴³⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁴¹ ~~the~~⁴⁴² ~~the~~⁴⁴³ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁴⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁵¹ ~~the~~⁴⁵² ~~the~~⁴⁵³ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁵⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁶¹ ~~the~~⁴⁶² ~~the~~⁴⁶³ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁶⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁷¹ ~~the~~⁴⁷² ~~the~~⁴⁷³ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁷⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁸¹ ~~the~~⁴⁸² ~~the~~⁴⁸³ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁸⁹ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁰ ~~the~~⁴⁹¹ ~~the~~⁴⁹² ~~the~~⁴⁹³ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁴ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁵ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁶ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁷ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁸ ~~the~~⁴⁹⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁰¹ ~~the~~⁵⁰² ~~the~~⁵⁰³ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁰⁹ ~~the~~⁵¹⁰ ~~the~~⁵¹¹ ~~the~~⁵¹² ~~the~~⁵¹³ ~~the~~⁵¹⁴ ~~the~~⁵¹⁵ ~~the~~⁵¹⁶ ~~the~~⁵¹⁷ ~~the~~⁵¹⁸ ~~the~~⁵¹⁹ ~~the~~⁵²⁰ ~~the~~⁵²¹ ~~the~~⁵²² ~~the~~⁵²³ ~~the~~⁵²⁴ ~~the~~⁵²⁵ ~~the~~⁵²⁶ ~~the~~⁵²⁷ ~~the~~⁵²⁸ ~~the~~⁵²⁹ ~~the~~⁵³⁰ ~~the~~⁵³¹ ~~the~~⁵³² ~~the~~⁵³³ ~~the~~⁵³⁴ ~~the~~⁵³⁵ ~~the~~⁵³⁶ ~~the~~⁵³⁷ ~~the~~⁵³⁸ ~~the~~⁵³⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁴¹ ~~the~~⁵⁴² ~~the~~⁵⁴³ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁴⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁵¹ ~~the~~⁵⁵² ~~the~~⁵⁵³ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁵⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁶¹ ~~the~~⁵⁶² ~~the~~⁵⁶³ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁶⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁷¹ ~~the~~⁵⁷² ~~the~~⁵⁷³ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁷⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁸¹ ~~the~~⁵⁸² ~~the~~⁵⁸³ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁸⁹ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁰ ~~the~~⁵⁹¹ ~~the~~⁵⁹² ~~the~~⁵⁹³ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁴ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁵ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁶ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁷ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁸ ~~the~~⁵⁹⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁰¹ ~~the~~⁶⁰² ~~the~~⁶⁰³ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁰⁹ ~~the~~⁶¹⁰ ~~the~~⁶¹¹ ~~the~~⁶¹² ~~the~~⁶¹³ ~~the~~⁶¹⁴ ~~the~~⁶¹⁵ ~~the~~⁶¹⁶ ~~the~~⁶¹⁷ ~~the~~⁶¹⁸ ~~the~~⁶¹⁹ ~~the~~⁶²⁰ ~~the~~⁶²¹ ~~the~~⁶²² ~~the~~⁶²³ ~~the~~⁶²⁴ ~~the~~⁶²⁵ ~~the~~⁶²⁶ ~~the~~⁶²⁷ ~~the~~⁶²⁸ ~~the~~⁶²⁹ ~~the~~⁶³⁰ ~~the~~⁶³¹ ~~the~~⁶³² ~~the~~⁶³³ ~~the~~⁶³⁴ ~~the~~⁶³⁵ ~~the~~⁶³⁶ ~~the~~⁶³⁷ ~~the~~⁶³⁸ ~~the~~⁶³⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁴¹ ~~the~~⁶⁴² ~~the~~⁶⁴³ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁴⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁵¹ ~~the~~⁶⁵² ~~the~~⁶⁵³ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁵⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁶¹ ~~the~~⁶⁶² ~~the~~⁶⁶³ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁶⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁷¹ ~~the~~⁶⁷² ~~the~~⁶⁷³ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁷⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁸¹ ~~the~~⁶⁸² ~~the~~⁶⁸³ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁸⁹ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁰ ~~the~~⁶⁹¹ ~~the~~⁶⁹² ~~the~~⁶⁹³ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁴ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁵ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁶ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁷ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁸ ~~the~~⁶⁹⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁰¹ ~~the~~⁷⁰² ~~the~~⁷⁰³ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁰⁹ ~~the~~⁷¹⁰ ~~the~~⁷¹¹ ~~the~~⁷¹² ~~the~~⁷¹³ ~~the~~⁷¹⁴ ~~the~~⁷¹⁵ ~~the~~⁷¹⁶ ~~the~~⁷¹⁷ ~~the~~⁷¹⁸ ~~the~~⁷¹⁹ ~~the~~⁷²⁰ ~~the~~⁷²¹ ~~the~~⁷²² ~~the~~⁷²³ ~~the~~⁷²⁴ ~~the~~⁷²⁵ ~~the~~⁷²⁶ ~~the~~⁷²⁷ ~~the~~⁷²⁸ ~~the~~⁷²⁹ ~~the~~⁷³⁰ ~~the~~⁷³¹ ~~the~~⁷³² ~~the~~⁷³³ ~~the~~⁷³⁴ ~~the~~⁷³⁵ ~~the~~⁷³⁶ ~~the~~⁷³⁷ ~~the~~⁷³⁸ ~~the~~⁷³⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁴¹ ~~the~~⁷⁴² ~~the~~⁷⁴³ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁴⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁵¹ ~~the~~⁷⁵² ~~the~~⁷⁵³ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁵⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁶¹ ~~the~~⁷⁶² ~~the~~⁷⁶³ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁶⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁷¹ ~~the~~⁷⁷² ~~the~~⁷⁷³ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁷⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁸¹ ~~the~~⁷⁸² ~~the~~⁷⁸³ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁸⁹ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁰ ~~the~~⁷⁹¹ ~~the~~⁷⁹² ~~the~~⁷⁹³ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁴ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁵ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁶ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁷ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁸ ~~the~~⁷⁹⁹ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁰ ~~the~~⁸⁰¹ ~~the~~⁸⁰² ~~the~~⁸⁰³ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁴ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁵ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁶ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁷ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁸ ~~the~~⁸⁰⁹ ~~the~~⁸¹⁰ ~~the~~⁸¹¹ ~~the~~⁸¹² ~~the~~⁸¹³ ~~the~~⁸¹⁴ ~~the~~⁸¹⁵ ~~the~~⁸¹⁶ ~~the~~⁸¹⁷ ~~the~~⁸¹⁸ ~~the~~⁸¹⁹ ~~the~~⁸²⁰ ~~the~~⁸²¹ ~~the~~⁸²² ~~the~~⁸²³ ~~the~~⁸²⁴ ~~the~~⁸²⁵ ~~the~~⁸²⁶ ~~the~~⁸²⁷ ~~the~~⁸²⁸ ~~the~~⁸²⁹ ~~the~~⁸³⁰ ~~the~~⁸³¹ ~~the~~⁸³² ~~the~~⁸³³ ~~the~~⁸³⁴ ~~the~~⁸³⁵ ~~the~~⁸³⁶ ~~the~~⁸³⁷ ~~the~~⁸³⁸ ~~the~~⁸³⁹ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁰ ~~the~~⁸⁴¹ ~~the~~⁸⁴² ~~the~~⁸⁴³ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁴ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁵ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁶ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁷ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁸ ~~the~~⁸⁴⁹ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁰ ~~the~~⁸⁵¹ ~~the~~⁸⁵² ~~the~~⁸⁵³ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁴ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁵ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁶ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁷ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁸ ~~the~~⁸⁵⁹ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁰ ~~the~~⁸⁶¹ ~~the~~⁸⁶² ~~the~~⁸⁶³ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁴ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁵ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁶ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁷ ~~the~~⁸⁶⁸ ~~the</~~

assertion and that cognizance, and unless he recants that view, he [will find himself] in hell as [sure as if he had been] carried there off [and put there]. Just as a blithely perfected virtue, concentration and understanding would here and now ~~not~~ enjoy spiritual knowledge, so it [~~would~~] happen in this case, ~~that unless~~ I say, that unless he abandons that assertion and that cognizance, and, ~~unless~~ he recants that view ^{then go hence} he will ~~be~~ carried off ^{he will} and placed [~~there~~] as ^{he} was ~~carried off~~ in hell as [sure as if he had been] carried off [and put there].

4 KINDS OF INTRÉPIDITY

22 ~~Saciputta~~, there are four kinds of intrepidity, possessing which a Perfect One claims the herd-leader's place, roars his lion's roar in the Assemblies, and sets the Divine Wheel rolling forward. What are the four?

23 Here I see no ~~occasion~~ that any mortal or divine or god or ~~the~~ devil or divinity at all in the world who could, in accordance with the True Idea, ~~accuse~~ me thus: 'While you claim full enlightenment, you take not due ~~care~~ in these ideas'. And seeing no ~~cause~~ for that, I ~~do~~ abide in safety, fearlessness and intrepidity.

24 Here I see no occasion that any ... could, in accordance with the True Idea, accuse me thus: 'While you claim to have exhausted cakas, these cakas are unexhausted in you'. And ... intrepidity.

25. ~~Here~~ I see no reason that any ... could, in accordance with the true Idea, accuse me thus: 'Through certain] ideas [themselves are] called obstructions by you, therefore not sufficient ^{to} obstruct, obstructions to the actual peerance of them [himself]'. And ... intrepidity.
26. I see no reason that any ... could, in accordance with the true Idea, accuse me thus: 'Whoever is taught the true Idea by you for his benefit, it does not ^{lead} rightly to the exhalation of suffering in him when he practises it'. And seeing no reason for that, I abide in safety, fearlessness and intrepidity.
27. There are the four kinds of intrepidity, possessing which a Perfect One claims the herd-leader's place, roars his lion's roar in the Assemblies, and sets the Divine wheel rolling forward.
28. Sariputta, should anyone, knowing and saying thus, ... [repeat ~~verses~~ 21] ... carried off [and put there].

THE 8 ASSEMBLIES

29. Sariputta, there, ^{are} these eight assemblies. What ~~are~~ ^{are} the eight? ~~the~~ A Warrior-Notables' Assembly, ~~the~~ a Divines' Assembly, ~~the~~ Householders' Assembly, ~~the~~ Marks' Assembly, ~~the~~ Gods of the Four Kings' Assembly, ~~the~~ a Gods of the Thirty-Three's Assembly, a Māras' Assembly, ~~the~~ a Divinity's Assembly. Possessing these four kinds of intrepidity, a Perfect One approaches and goes into these

~~the~~ eight kinds of Assembly.

175

30. I have had direct knowledge, as a visitor, of many hundred Warrior-caste Assemblies. And formerly I have sat with them there and talked and held converse with them. I see no reason for fear or timidity to come upon me there. And seeing no reason for that, I abide in safety, fearlessness and intrepidity.
- I have had direct knowledge, as a visitor, of many hundred Divine-caste Assemblies...
- ... Householders' Assemblies...
 - ... Monks' Assemblies
 - ... Four Kings' Gods' Assemblies...
 - ... Thirty-three Gods' Assemblies...
 - ... Maras' Assemblies...
 - ... Divinity's Assemblies... ²⁹ intrepidity.

[These are the eight kinds of Assembly].

31. Sāriputta, should anyone, knowing and seeing me thus, ... [repeat ~~20~~ 21] ... carried off [and put there].

4 KINDS OF GENERATION

32. Sāriputta, there are these four kinds of generation. What are the four? Egg-born generation, womb-born generation, moisture-born generation, spontaneous generation.
33. What is egg-born generation? There are creatures born by breaking out of the shell of an egg; this is called egg-born generation. What is womb-born generation? There are those creatures born by breaking out from the pudendum; this is called womb-born generation.

What is moisture-born generation? There are those creatures born in a rotten fish, in a rotten corpse, or in rotten dough, or in a cesspit or in a sewer; this is called moisture-born generation.

What is spontaneous generation? There are Certain gods and denizens of hell and human beings and ^{certain} denizens of the states of deprivation of spontaneous generation; this is called spontaneous generation. These are the four kinds of generation.

34. Sariputta, should anyone, knowing and seeing me thus, ... [repeat § 21] ... carried off [and put there].

THE 5 DESTINATIONS/EXTINCTION

35. Sariputta, there are these five destinations, what are the five? They Hell, the animal ^{womb} generation, the realm of ghosts, human beings, and gods.
36. (1) I understand hell; and the path and the way that lead to hell, wherein he who has entered will, on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear in states of ~~perdition~~ deprivation, in an unhappy destination in perdition in hell, that, too, I understand. (2) I understand the animal generation; and the paths and the way that leading to animal generation, wherein he who has entered will, on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear in the animal generation, that, too, I understand. (3) I understand the realm of ghosts;

and the paths and the way leading to the realm
of ghosts, wherein he who has entered will,
on the dissolution of the body, after death, re-
appear in the realms of ghosts. That too I
understand.

(4) I understand the ~~seal~~ human beings; and the path and the way leading to the human world, wherein he who has attended will, on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear among human beings, that, too, I understand.

(5) I understand gods; and the paths
and the way leading to the world of gods,
whereon he who has entered will, in the
dissolution of the body, after death, reappear
in a happy destination, in the heavenly world;
(6) I understand extinction; and the
paths and the way leading to extinction, ⁷⁴

(6) too I understand' extinction; and the
parts and the way leading to extinction,⁷⁴
whereon he who has entered, ~~will~~ with, by
ocalization himself with direct knowledge,
here and now enter upon and abide in
the deliverance of will and deliverance of
understanding that are cancer-free with
exhaustion of cancers; that too I under-
stand.

37 (1) By encompassing a ~~containing~~^{surrounding} ~~and~~^{with} ~~the~~^a coining once into ~~the~~^{the} coining over,
~~understanding~~^{understanding}: this person so behaves, his
 deportment is such, the path he has taken
 is such, that, on the dissolution of the
 body, after death, he will reappear in the
 states of deprivation, in an unhappy des-
 tination, in perdition, in hell. And then
 later on, ~~will~~^{will} meet the divine eye, which
 is purified and surpasses the human, ~~will~~

I see that, ~~supposedly~~ ^{he had} on the dissolution of the body, after death, he appeared in the state of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, in hell ^{and also}, experiencing unrelenting painful, racking, piercing feelings.

Suppose there were a charcoal pit deeper than a man's height ~~for depth~~ ^{now} deep full of glowing coals without flame or smoke; and then a man, scorched and exhausted by ~~heat~~ ^{hot water}, weary, parched and thirsty, came by a path going in one way only and directed to that same charcoal pit; then a man with [good] eyes on seeing him would say 'This person so behaves, his deportment is such, the path he has taken is such, that he will come to this same charcoal pit'; and then later on he ~~will~~ ^{has} fallen into that charcoal pit and is experiencing unrelenting painful, racking, piercing feelings; so too, by encompassing... piercing feelings.

38. (2) By encompassing ^{a certain person} ~~a certain~~ cognizance with ~~this~~ ^{here} cognizance, I understand ^{that} this person so behaves, his deportment is such, the path he has taken is such, that on the dissolution of the body, after death, he will reappear in the horizontal womb [of an animal]. And then later on with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, I see that on the dissolution of the body, after death, he has reappeared in the horizontal womb [of an animal] and is experiencing painful, racking, piercing

feelings.

Suppose there were a cesspit more than a man's height deep full of filth; and then a man, ⁷⁵ scorched and exhausted by ^{hot weather}, weary, parched, and thirsty, came by a path going in one way only and directed to that same cesspit; then a man with good eyes on seeing him would say 'This person so behaves, his deportment is such, the path he has taken is such, that he will come to this same cesspit'; and then later on he sees that he has fallen into that cesspit and is ~~suffer~~ experiencing painful, racked, piercing feelings; so too, by encompassing ... piercing feelings.

39. (3) By encompassing ~~a certain person~~ cogni-
nance with ~~the~~ cognizance I understand this
person so behaves, his deportment is such, the
path he has taken is such, that on the dis-
solution of the body, after death, he will reap-
pear in the realm of ghosts. And then later
on, ... I see that, ... he has reappeared in
the realm of ghosts and is experiencing much
painful feeling.

Suppose there were a tree growing on uneven ground with scanty foliage and casting a dappled shadow; and then a man, scorched and exhausted by ^{hot weather}, weary, parched, and thirsty, came by a path ~~not~~ going in one way only and directed to that same tree; then a man with [good] eyes on seeing

would say 'This person so behaves, his deportment is such, the path he has taken is such, that he will come to this same tree'; and then later on he sees that he ~~too~~ is sitting or lying in the shadow of that tree experiencing much painful feeling; so too, by encompassing... much painful feeling.

40 (4) By encompassing (~~a person's cognizance~~^{certain}) with ~~any~~ cognizance here I understand, 'This person so behaves, ... that... ~~he will appear~~ ~~after death~~, he will reappear among human beings? And then later on I see that, ... he has reappeared among human beings and is experiencing much pleasant feeling.'

Suppose there were a tree growing on even ground with thick foliage casting a deep shadow; and then a man, scorched and exhausted by ~~heat~~^{hot weather}, weary, perched and thirsty, came by a path going in one way only and directed to that same tree; then a man with [good] eyes on seeing him would say 'This person so behaves, ... that he will come to this same tree'; and then later on he sees that he is sitting or lying in the shadow of that tree experiencing much pleasant feeling; so too, by encompassing... much pleasant feeling.

41 (5) ~~H.~~ By encompassing (~~any person's cognizance~~^{certain}) once with ~~any~~ cognizance here I understand, 'This person so behaves, ... that... after death, he will reappear in a happy destination, in the heavenly world?' And then

121
later on I see that... he has reappeared
~~among~~ ~~you~~ in a happy destination in the heavenly
world and is experiencing unceasing pleasant
feelings.

Suppose there were a mansion, and
in it an upper chamber plastered within and
without, shut off, secured by bars, and with
shuttered windows, and in it a couch spread
with rags and blankets and sheets, with a
deer-skin coverlet, and with a canopy ~~and~~
as well as crimson ^{pillow} cushions for both [head
and feet]; and then a man, scorched and
exhausted ~~by~~ ^{after} ~~heat~~, weary, parched and thirsty,
came by a path going in only one way and di-
rected to that same mansion; then a man with
(good) eyes on seeing him would say 'This
person so behaves,... that he will come to this
same mansion'; and then later on he sees
that he is sitting ~~in~~ lying in that ~~upper~~ upper
chamber in that mansion experiencing un-
ceasing pleasant feelings; so too, by encom-
assing... unceasing pleasant feelings.

42. (6) By encompassing ^{certain} ~~a person~~ cognizance
with ~~my~~ cognizance here I understand ^{certain} this
person so behaves, his deportment is such,
the path he has taken is such, that ~~with~~
~~the exhaustion of causes by recognizing himself~~
with direct knowledge, he here and now
centers upon and abides in the deliverances of
will and deliverance of understanding that
are cause-free with exhaustion of causes.
And then later on I see that ~~by recognizing himself~~

by realization for himself with direct knowledge he here and now enters upon and abides in the deliverance of will and deliverance of understanding that are cause-free, with the exhaustion of causes, and is experiencing unceasing pleasant feeling.

Suppose there were a little pond with clear, agreeable cool water, transparent, with smooth banks and delightful, and nearly a dense ~~too~~ wood; and then a man, scorched and exhausted by heat, weary, parched and thirsty, came by a path going in one way only and directed towards that pond; then a man with [good] eyes would say 'This person so behaves, his deportment is such, the path he has taken is such, that he will come to this same pond'; and then later on he sees that he has gone down to the pond and bathed and drunk and relieved all his distress, fatigue and fever and ~~then~~ has come out again and is sitting or lying in the wood ~~pp~~ experiencing unceasing pleasant feelings; so too, by encompassing ... unceasing pleasant feelings.

42. There are the ^{five} kinds of destruction -

43. Sāriputta, should anyone, knowing and seeing me thus ... [repeat § 21] ... carried off [and put there].

44 ~~Sāriputta~~, I have had direct ^{Divine} knowledge
 of what is called ^{Divine} the Four-factored life.
~~Divine~~, as one who has ^{and} ~~practiced~~ it. I have
 practiced the extreme of asceticism, of
~~scrupulousness~~, of ~~purification~~, of scrupulousness, and of
 seclusion.

45 Such was my asceticism here that I
 went naked, rejecting conventions, wiping
 with my hands, not coming when asked,
 not stopping when asked; I did not accept
 a thing brought, or a thing specially made,
 or an invitation; I received nothing from
 out of a pot, from out of a bowl, across a
 threshold, across a stick, across a pestle,
 from two eating together, from a woman ^{giving}
 child, from a woman giving suck, from a
 woman ^{was} lying with a man, from where
 food was distributed, from where a dog
 was waiting, from where flies were buzzing;
 I accepted no fish or meat, I drank
^{liquor}, ~~liqueur~~ or ^{begot by drift}, I kept to
 no wine, ~~liqueur~~ or ~~intoxicant~~, I kept to ²⁸
 one house, to one morsel; I kept to two
 houses, to two morsels... I kept to seven
 houses, to seven morsels. I lived on one
 saucerful on two saucers full, ... on seven
 saucers full, a day; I took food once a day,
 once each the days, ... once each seven
 days; and so, up to once each fortnight,
 I dwelt pursuing the practice of taking
 food at stated intervals. I was an eater

of greens, or millet, or wild rice, or hide-pairings, or moss, or rice-bran, or rice-flour, or ~~rice~~
~~seeds~~, or sesamum flour, or grass, or cowdung; I lived on forest roots and on fruits as a feeder on windfalls. I clothed myself in heaps, in ~~purus clothes~~ surface, in shrouds, in refuse rags, in tree bark, in antelope ~~the~~ hide, in kusa-grass fabric, in bark fabric, in wood fabric, in beard-hair wool, in animal wool, in owl's wings. I was one who pulled out hair and beard, pursuing the practice of pulling out hair and beard. I was one who stood continually, rejecting seats. I was one who squatted continually, devoted to maintaining the squatting position. I was one who used a mat-trass of spikes; I made a mat-trass of spikes my bed. I slept pursuing the practice of bathing in water for the third time by nightfall. Such was my asceticism.

X46. Such was my ~~sorrows~~ ^{conqueror} that, just as the bole of a plane tree, accumulating over years, scales and flakes off, so too, the dust and dirt, accumulating over years, scaled on my body and peeled off. It never occurred to me 'Oh let me rub this dust and dirt off with my hand, or let another rub this dust and dirt off with ^{his} hand' — it never occurred to me this. Such was my ~~sorrows~~ ^{conqueror}.

47. Such was my scrupulousness that I was ~~sickly~~ always mind full in stepping forwards and stepping backwards: so much so that I was full of pity for even a drop of water thus: 'Let me not hurt the tiny ~~creatures~~ breathing things in the crevices of the ground'. Such was my scrupulousness.

48. Such was my seclusion that ~~I~~ I would go away into some forest and dwell there. ~~Just as a~~ And when I saw a cowherd or a shepherd, or someone gathering grass or sticks, or a woodman, I would flee from grove to grove, from thicket to thicket, from hollow to hollow, from hillock to hillock — always that? So that they should not see me or I them. Just as a ~~forest-dwelling~~ forest-bred deer, on seeing human beings, flees from grove to grove, from thicket to thicket, from hollow to hollow, from hillock to hillock, so too, when I saw... or I them. Such was my seclusion.

49. I would go on all fours to the byres when the cattle had gone out and the cowherds had left them, and I would feed on the young sucking-calves' dung. As long as my own excrement lasted and urine lasted, I fed on my own excrement and urine. Such was ~~the~~ ~~great~~ ~~attraction~~ ~~of~~ ~~by~~ ~~fe~~ ~~urine~~.

50. I would go off to some awe-inspiring grove and dwell there — a grove so awe-inspiring that normally it would make a man's hair stand up if he were not free from lust. I would dwell by night in the open and by day

in the grove when those cold wintry nights
came during the eight-day ~~of~~^{interval} of Frost, I would dwell by day in the open and
by night in the grove in the last month of
the hot season. And there came to me spontaneous
thenceforth this stanza never heard before:

Chilled by night and scorched by day,
Alone in awe-inspiring groves,
Naked, no fire to sit beside,
The hermit yet pursues his quest.

51 I would make my bed in a channel
ground with the bones of the dead for a
pillow. And cowherd boys came up and
spat on me, made water on me, threw dirt
at me, and poked sticks into my ears.
Yet ~~dears~~ had direct knowledge of arousing
evil thoughts about them.

Such was my abiding in ~~out~~ looking (regarding
myself).

52. 80 Sāriputta, there are certain monks
and divines whose theory and whose view is
that 'Purification comes about through food',
and they say 'Let us live on Kola fruits',
and they eat kola fruits, and they eat kola
fruit-powder, and they drink kola-fruit
water, and ~~they~~ ^{they} make many kinds of kola
fruit concoctions. Now I have had direct
knowledge of eating a single kola fruit a
day. But, Sāriputta, it might be that you
think the kola fruit was bigger at ~~a~~ that
occasion; yet you should not regard it
so: the kola fruit was thereat most the same

size as now. Though feeding on a single fruit a day, my body reached a state of extreme emaciation. Because of eating so little, my limbs became like the jointed segments of vine stems or bamboo stems. Because of eating so little, my backbone became like a camel's hump. Because of eating so little, the projections on my spine stood out like ~~the~~^{a row of open coxa} ~~bones~~. Because of eating so little, my ribs jutted out as gaunt as the crazy rafters of an old roofless bazar. Because of eating so little, the gleam of my eyes sank far down in their sockets, looked like the gleam of water sunk far down in a deep well. Because of eating so little, my scalp shrivelled and withered as a green gourd shrivels and withers in the wind and sun. Because of eating so little, if I touched my belly skin, I encountered my backbone too. If I touched my backbone, I encountered my belly skin too. Because of eating so little, if I made water or evacuated my bowels, I fell over on my face there. Because of eating so little, if I tried to ease my body by rubbing my limbs with my hands, the hair, rotten at its roots, fell away from my body as I rubbed.

53. There are certain monks and dervies whose theory and whose view is this 'Prati-
action comes about through food', and they
say 'let us live on beans'. And they ...

54 ... 'Let us live on sesamum' ...

5. Here ~~the~~^{the} ascetics and divines...
 'let us live on rice'. And they eat rice,
 and they eat rice powder, ~~and~~^{SI} and they drink
 rice water, and they make many kinds of
 rice concoctions. Now I have had direct-
 knowledge of eating a single rice grain a
 day. But, Sariputta, it might be that you
 think the rice grain was bigger on that
 occasion; yet you should not regard it so:
 the rice grain was at most the same size
 as now. Through feeding on a single rice grain
 a day my body reached a state of extreme
 emaciation. Because of eating so little... as
 I uttered.

6b. Yet, Sariputta, by such deportment,
 by such practice, by such performance of
 difficult feats, I attained no distinction higher
 than the human idea worthy of ~~the~~^{the} Noble One's
 knowledge and vision. Why was that? Because
 I did not attain this noble understanding,
 which, on being attained, rightly leads to the
exhaustion of suffering in him who practises
~~it~~ because it belongs to the Noble state and
 leads out, being Noble and an outlet,
 rightly leads to the exhaustion of suffering
 in him who practises it

57 Sariputta, there are certain monks
 and divines whose theory and whose view is
 thus 'Purification comes about through ~~deeds~~
~~particularly~~ [the process of] ~~a~~^a round of rebirth
 [itself]. But it is impossible to find the

round of rebirths that I have not already
~~seen~~^{been} ⁸² taken in this long journey - except for
the gods of the Pure Abodes: and if had I been
~~a~~^{the round} taken as a god in the Pure Abode
I should never have returned to this world

58. There are certain mortals and divines whose theory and whose view is thus 'Purification comes through [some particular kind of] rebirth'. But it is impossible to find the kind of rebirth that I have not been re-born in already in this long journey - except ...

59. ... 'Purification comes about through [some particular] abode', ... the kind of abode that I have not dwelt in ... - except for the Three Abodes: ...

60. ... 'Purification comes about through sacrifice'. But it is impossible to find the kind of sacrifice that has not ^{already} been offered up by me already in this long journey, either as a head-anointed warrior-noble king or as a divine with great property.

61. There are certain mortals and divines whose theory is this and whose view is thus 'Purification comes about through fire-worship'. But it is impossible to find the kind of fire that has not already been worshipped by me in this long journey, either as a head-anointed warrior-noble king or as a divine with great property.

62. ~~Sacigutta~~, there are certain mortals and divines whose theory and whose view is thus 'As long as this good man is still ^{by my interpretation} going, a black-haired, long-faced, hairy ^{ugly} youth,

130

M. 12
a black-haired boy endowed with the blessing of youth
in the first phase of life, so long is he
~~wise~~ ^{and} ~~perfect~~ ⁱⁿ lucid under-
standing. But when this good man is old,
aged, burdened with years, advanced in
life, and come to the last stage, being
eighty, ninety or a hundred years old,
then the lucidity of his understanding is
lost'. But it should not be regarded so.
I am now old, aged, burdened with years,
advanced in life, and come to the last
stage: my years have turned eighty.

Now suppose I had four disciples with a
hundred years' life, a hundred years'
span, possessing perfect mindfulness,
attentiveness, memory and lucidity of
understanding — just as a well-equipped
archer, trained, practised and tested,
could easily shoot a light arrow across
a palm's shadow; suppose they ^{even} were to that ¹³
extent ~~possessed~~ ^{of} perfect mindfulness,
attentiveness, memory and lucidity of
understanding —, and suppose that they
continuously asked about the Four Found-
ations of Mindfulness, and that I an-
swered when asked and that they re-
membered each answer of mine, and
~~that~~ never asked a subsidiary question,
or paused except to eat drink, chew,
taste, make water, evacuate the bowels
and rest in order to remove sleepiness
and tiredness still the Perfect One ex-
positions of the True Idea, his ~~expansions~~
of explanations of factors of the True Idea,

M. 12

and his replies to questions, would be un-exhausted. But meanwhile those four disciples of mine with their hundred-year life, their hundred-years' span, would have died at the end of those hundred years. Sari-putta, even if you have to carry me about on a bed, there will still be no change in the lucidity of the Perfect One's understanding.

63. Were it rightly speaking to be said of someone 'A Being not inseparable from the idea of delusion has appeared in the world for the welfare and happiness of many, out of pity for the world, to the benefit, welfare and happiness of gods and men', it is of me indeed that rightly speaking it should be said thus. »

64. Now on that occasion the venerable Nagasamala was standing behind the Blind One fanning him. Then he said to the Blind One 'Wonderful, venerable sir, it is marvellous! As I listened to this discourse the hairs of my body stood up. Venerable sir, what is the name of this discourse of the True Idea?»

« As to that, Nagasamala, you may remember this discourse on the True Idea as the Hair-raising Discourse. »

So the Blind One said. The venerable Nagasamala was delighted, and he delighted in the Blind One's words.

Notes

§ 2: Sunatthatta is denying the Buddha's attainment of supernatural power while grudgingly admitting that he can show the way to end suffering. The cause requires the word 'only' in the last sentence of S.'s accusation, which is rather elliptically put.

For the expression 'Uttarimannasādhama alamariyā nāvādānava vīraso adigato' see

§ 5

(The necessity of the idea according to the Sutta)

§ 5: 'Pāramitāya - ~~inference~~ ~~knowledge~~ (in logic avaya = caya) according to the True Idea (Sādharma):
amongst for avaya cf. D. ii, . Here Sādharma (positive), might refer to the Uttarimannasādhama app. of ^{of} it by ^{itself} of § 2. (Avaya up.: M. i, 237; 238; 266; 319; 500; ii, 120; 119, 292.)

§ 10: Thenā ca athānāca - the possible and impossible (or what is a reason and what is not a reason): see Sutta 115, § 8, 12 ff. and A. IV, 33). See also M. i, 500 (kāyavayata)

→ § 30: for the idiom 'abhijanāmi... upasain-
karita' (upasainkarita = verbal noun of consonantal decl.) cf. § 44 and also Sutta 36, § 31, etc., etc.

§ 30 (end): the concluding sentence in [] is not in P.T.S. Text, but seems required.

§ 12: for gathābhātan nikhilto vām viraya is dealt with in P.T.S. Dict. under gathā. The rendering here follows the commentary. Cf. also Sutta 97, § 6.

§ 33 'kūmara - dough': this meaning is not given in P.T.S. Dict.; but the meaning 'gundek' seems wrong since ~~the~~ it is explained as made of vara (corn or wheat) in the Viraya (Vii.)

and at Khudha sikkha v. 85. Cf. Diction 23, 54
 837 cf. castralia at Suttalattha, where you instead of gatikas and
 841 upadha - pillow: not in P.T.S. Dict. See

851 upadha

845 for idem 'tratr' are we idam
tapassitaya (loc.)^{*~~st~~} - such was my asceticism
 of the 850, etc & ~~etc~~ advertised to
 'Sankhita - where food is distributed': this
 is probably the meaning.

'sa' is noun sing. of sav = a dog.
daddula - hide-parings: P.T.S. gives 'daddula'
 as 'a kind of rice' with this ref. But that meaning
 seems to have no support at all either for
 this ref. or any of the other 6 refs. given. There should
 in fact be under 'daddula'? and 'daddula'
 cancelled.

'acame - rinsings': an alternative would be
 rice-scum; but acamehi is the normal word for
 'to rinse'.

846 & 'Tindula' tree is not actually a plane
 tree, but the plane tree, extubis this phenomena,
 like the sycamore,

847 849 'pattita - gone out' = nikkhanta (Cory): not
 in P.T.S. Dict.

850 'antaratthala - the eight-days interval':
 P.T.S. Dict. has wrongly connected the 'eight' with
 the ~~same~~ 'Eight of the half moon'; apparently. But
 this refers to the cold spell called 'the Eight
 Days Interval', which falls ~~between~~ ~~between~~
 at the end of the Month of May & the beginning
 of Phaguna (Dec.-Jan.). See Cory.

851 'Upadha - pillow: not in P.T.S. Dict.; see
upadha 841 above.

§ 52 'staparana - that at most': note in P.T.S.

Dict.; cf. M. i, 339, and stava parana,
M. i, 246, iii, 262.

104

§ 53 'kisabharā - emaciation': note in P.T.S. Dict.

§ 54 'Dukkarakārikā - performance of difficult
feats': note in P.T.S. Dict.

§ 55) 'Suddhārāsa - the Pure Abode': a part
of the rūpa dhatu or rūpa-Brahma world, where
Alon only Non-returns go ~~and~~ to attain
extinction there without returning to this world
at all. Had the Buddha been reborn there, he
would, as a non-returner, not have returned
to this world. However, it can, like any other
heaven, be visited by ~~men~~ with the ^{spirit} ~~force~~
to do so through supernormal power. See
also sutta 6, § 13.

§ 56) The simile of the shorting ~~explosive~~ is
given to show how easily the thing might
be done, and so seems to require the sense
of shooting an arrow across a palm tree's
shadow lying on the ground, not the sense
of shooting an arrow over the top of the palm
tree.

§ 'stipateyya - might shoot': not in this sense
in P.T.S. Dict.

§ 49 'Mahāvilekhabhujanuspini - my catalog of the
great distortions: for other Mahāvilekhanī as ex-
crement, urine, clay, & ashes, see Vin. I, 206

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 13 - Mahā-Bhikkhuddhammāsutta
(1, 2, 3)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anāthapindika's Park. Then

2. Then, it being morning, ~~the~~ a number of bhikkhus dressed, and taking their bowls and [outer] robes, they went into Sāvatthī for alms.

3. By then they thought & It is still too early to wander for alms in Sāvatthī; suppose we went to the Other Sectarian Wanderers' Park?

4. So they went to the Other Sectarian

Wanderers' Park, and they exchanged greetings with the other sectarian Wanderers, and when the courteous and friendly amicable talk was finished, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Wanderers said to them:

5. «Friends, the Monk Gotama makes known full-knowledge of sensual desires, and so too do we; the monk Gotama makes known full-knowledge of form, and so too do we; the monk Gotama makes known full-knowledge of feelings, and so too do we. What then is the distinction here, what is the variance, what is the difference, between the Monk Gotama's teaching of the True Idea and ours; between his message and ours? »

6. Then without agreeing or disagreeing with these words, the Bhikkhus got up from their seats and went away, [thinking] & We shall come to know the meaning of these words in the Blessed One's presence.

7. When they had rambled for alms in Savatthi and had returned from their alms round after the meal, they went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, they told him whether taken place.^x 85

8. A Bhikkhus, a wanderer of other sets who say thus should be questioned thus 'But, friends, what is the ^{gratification} temptation, what is the danger, and what is the escape, in the case of sensual desires? What is the attraction, what is the danger, and what is the escape, in the case of a storm? What is the escape, in the case of ^{gratification} attraction, what is the danger, and what is the escape, in the case of feeling?' Being questioned thus, Wanderers of other sets will not accept ^{till accepted with the previous question} with the previous question, and what is more, they will get into difficulties. Why is that? Because it is not their ~~desire~~ province. Bhikkhus, I see no one in the world with its gods, its Maras and its Divinities, in this generation with its monks and divines, with its kings by divine right and its men, who could satisfy the mind with

a reply to these to them questions unless it were a Perfect One or a Perfect One's disciple, or else one who has learnt it from that [source].

SECTIONAL PERSPECTIVE

9. (i) And what is the gratification in the case of sensual desires?

Bhikkhus, there are these five cords (dimensions) of sensual desire. What are the five? ~~These~~ Forms cognizable by the eye that are wished for, desired, agreeable ^{and} likable, ~~completely~~ connected with sensual desire, and prospective of lust. Sounds cognizable by the ear ... Odours cognizable ^{thinking} by the nose ... flavours cognizable by the tongue ... Tangibles cognizable by the body ~~that are~~ wished for, desired, agreeable ^{and} likable, ~~connected~~ connected with sensual desire, and prospective of lust. These are the five cords (dimensions) of sensual desire.

Nor the pleasure and joy that are dependent on these five cords of sensual desire are the satisfaction in the case of sensual desires.

- 10 (ii) And what is the danger in the case
of sensual desires?

Here, blithely, or account of the calling by which a claus-man makes a living, whether checking or accounting or calculating or ploughing or trading or cattle-farming or archery or as a king's man, or whatever the calling may be, he has to face cold, he has to face heat, he is harassed by gadflies, ^{and} fleas, wind and sun and creeping things, risking death by hunger and thirst, ^{in the city of their} ~~and~~ ^{and} sensual desires,

Now this danger ^{in the case of others} is
and now aggregate mass of suffering in
~~however~~
sexual desires has sexual desires
for its reason sexual desire for its
sexual desire for its cause, ^{the reason being} sexual
cause, and its cause, ^{the} sexual desire.

11. 86 If no ~~talent~~ comes to me
while he works and strives and makes efforts
thus, he sorrows, grieves and laments,
beating his breast, he weeps and becomes
desirous! "My work is vain, my effort is
fruitsless!" in the case of several diseases, ^{(aggregate}
^{the danger too often present}

Now this danger took the form
of suffering visible here and now, in the
case of sensual desires has sensual de-
sires for its reason, sensual desires for
its source, and the cause is simply
sensual desires for its cause, the reason being
the aggregate of sensual desires.

13. ~~empty~~ ~~guru~~ If wealth comes to the cleverman

while he works and strives and makes efforts thus, he experiences gain and grief in protecting it; 'How shall neither kings nor their sons make off with my property, nor fire burn it nor water sweep it away, nor hateful heirs make off with it?' And as he guards and protects his property, kings or their sons make off with it or fire burns it or water sweeps it away or hateful heirs make off with it. And he sorrows, grieves, and laments, beating his breast, he weeps and becomes distraught, ~~forgetting~~ [What it had I have no more!]

Now this ^{influence of sensual desire} danger too, the reason being simply sensual desire visible here and now, in the case of sensual desires has sensual desire for its reason, sensual desire for its source; and its cause is simply sensual desire. Sensual desire for its cause, and the reason being simply sensual desire.

13 Again, with sensual desire for the reason, sensual desire for the source, sensual desire for the cause, the reason being simply sensual desires, kings quarrel with kings, Warrior-astlers with Warrior-hobles, Divines with Divines, householders with householders, mother with child, child with mother, father with child, child with father, brother with brother, brother with sister, sister with brother, friend with friend, And here in their quarrels, brawls and disputes they attack each other with fists or with clods or with sticks or with knives, whereby they come ^{injure} to death or deadly suffocation.

Now this danger too, the reason being simply sensual desires.

14. Again, with sensual desires for the reason, ... the reason being simply sensual desires, [men] take swords and shields and buckle on bows and quivers, and they charge into battle massed in double array with arrows and spears flying and swords flashing; and there they are wounded by arrows and spears, and their heads are cut off by swords, whereby they incur death or deadly suffering.

Now this danger too ... the reason is simply sensual desires.

15. Again, with sensual desires for the reason, ... the reason being simply sensual desires, [men] take swords and shields and buckle on bows and quivers, and they charge slippery bastions, with arrows and spears flying, ⁸⁷ and swords flashing; and there they are wounded by arrows and spears and splashed with boiling liquids and crushed under heavy weights, and their heads are cut off by swords, whereby they incur death or deadly suffering.

Now this danger too ... the reason is simply sensual desires.

16. Again, with sensual desires for the reason, ... the reason being simply sensual desires, [men] break in and steal, turn bandit, rob highways, seduce others' wives, so that when they are caught, kings have many kinds of torture inflicted on them. They have them flogged with whips, beaten with canes, beaten with clubs, they have their hands cut off, their feet cut off, their heads and feet cut off, their ears cut off, their noses cut off,

Their ears and noses cut off, they have them subjected to the 'porridge pot', to the 'polished-shell shave', to the 'eclipse's mouth', to the 'fiery wrath', to the 'fiery hand', to the 'blades of grass', to the 'dark dress', to the 'antelope', to the 'nest hooks', to the 'coins', to the 'lye-pickling', to the 'pivotting-pain', to the 'rolled-up palliasse', and they have them splashed with boiling oil, and they have them thrown to dogs to devour, and they have them impaled alive on stakes, and they have their heads cut off with swords, - whereby they incur death or deadly suffering.

Now this danger too... the reason is simply sensual desires.

17. Again, with sensual desires for the reason, sensual desires for the source, sensual desires for the cause, the reason being simply sensual desires, & men in dulge in misconduct of body, speech and mind; on the dissolution of the body, after death, they reappear in states of deprivation, in an unhappy deterioration, in perdition, even in hell.

Now this danger ^{in the case of sensual desires} to ~~of~~ this aggregate-
ness of suffering in life to come, ~~in the case of sensual desires~~, has sensual desires for its reason, sensual desires for its source, sensual desires for its cause, the reason being simply sensual desires

^{of sensual desires?}

18. (iii) And what is the escape in this case,
It is the removal of zeal and lust, the abandonment of zeal and lust, for sensual

desires.

This is the escape in the case of sensual desires.

19. That those monks and divines who do not understand, as it actually is, the attraction as attraction, the danger as danger, and the escape as escape, in the case of sensual desires can either themselves fully know sensual desires or instruct ~~others~~^{others} so that another can fully know sensual desires — that is not possible.

That those monks and divines who understand, as it actually is,^{q8} the attraction as attraction, the danger as danger, and the escape as escape, in the case of sensual desires can either themselves fully know sensual desires or instruct so that another can fully know sensual desires — that is possible.

FORM

20. (i) And what is the attraction in the case of form?

Suppose there were a girl of warrior-noble caste or divine caste or householder stock, in her fifteenth or sixteenth year, neither too tall nor too short, neither too thin nor too fat, neither too dark nor too fair; is her beauty and loveliness then at its height? — «Yes, venerable sir.» «Now the pleasure and joy that

203

arie in dependence on that beauty and loveliness are the attraction in the case of form.

21. (ii) And what is the danger in the case of form?

Later on one might see that same woman here at eighty, ninety or a hundred years, aged, as crooked as a roof, doubled up, tottering with the aid of sticks, frail, her youth gone, her teeth broken, grey-haired, scanty-haired, bald, wrinkled, with limbs all blotchy: how do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, has the former beauty and loveliness vanished and the danger become evident? » — « Yes, venerable sir ». — « Bhikkhus, this is the danger in the case of form.

22. Again, one might see that same woman afflicted, suffering and gravely ill, lying torpid in her own excrement and urine, lifted up by some and set down by others. How do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, has the former beauty and loveliness vanished and the danger become evident? » — « Yes, venerable sir ». — « Bhikkhus, this too is the danger in the case of form ».

13. Again, one might see that same woman as a ^{physical} ~~ghostly~~ being on a charnel ground, one-day dead, two-days dead, three-days dead, bloated, livid, and oozing with matter. How do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, has the former beauty and loveliness vanished and the danger become evident? » — « Yes, venerable sir ». —

"Bhikkhus, this too is the danger in the case of form.

24. Again, one might see that same woman as a ~~corpse~~^{physical frame} thrown on a charnel ground, devoured by crows, kites, vultures, dogs, jackals, and the various kinds of worms.⁸⁷ How do you conceive this, ... danger in the case of form.
25. ... a skeleton with flesh and blood held together by sinews ...
26. ... a fleshless skeleton smeared with blood and held together by sinews ...
27. ... a skeleton without flesh or blood, held together by sinews ...
28. ... bones without sinews, scattered in all directions, here a hand bone, there a foot bone, there a shin bone, there a thigh bone, there a hip bone, there the backbone, there the skull ...
29. ... bones bleached white, the colour of shells ...
30. ... bones heaped up, more than a year old ...
31. Again, one might see that same woman as a ~~corpse~~^{physical frame} thrown on a charnel ground: bones rotted and crumbled to dust. How do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, has the former beauty and love-lines vanished and the danger become evident?" — "Yes, venerable sir?" — "Bhikkhus, this too is the danger in the case of form.
32. (iii) And what is the escape in the case of form?

It is the removal of zeal and lust, the abandonment of zeal and lust, for form.

This is the escape in the case of form.

33. That those monks and divines who do not understand, as it actually is, the attraction as attraction, the danger as danger, and the escape as escape, in the case of form can either themselves fully know form or instruct so that another can fully know form - that is not possible.

That those monks and divines who understand, as it actually is, the attraction as attraction, the danger as danger, and the escape as escape, in the case of form can either themselves fully know form or instruct so that another can fully know form - that is possible.

FEELINGS

34. (1) And what is the attraction in the case of feelings?

Here, bhikkhus, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of ~~seclusion~~. ^{He} ~~comes~~ back to an occasion he does not ~~know~~ his own affliction or of another's affliction or of the affliction of both. ^{On} On that occasion he feels only feeling that is free from affliction. Attraction in the case of feeling is in its highest aspect freedom from affliction, I say.

35 Again, with the stilling of thinking and pondering, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in

the second illumination, which has self-confidence and singleness of cognizance without thinking and without pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration.

On such an occasion... affliction, I say.

36. With the fading as well of happiness a bhikkhu abides in onlooking (equanimity), and mindful and fully aware, feeling pleasure with his body, he enters upon and abides in the third illumination, on account of which Noble One announces 'He has a pleasant abiding who is an onlooker (with equanimity) and is mindful.'

On such an occasion... affliction, I say.

37. With the abandoning of pleasure and pain and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither -pain - nor - pleasure and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to onlooking (equanimity).

On such an occasion... affliction, I say.

38. (ii) And what is the danger in the case of feelings?

Feelings are impermanent, painful, and inseparable from the idea of change.

This is the danger in the case of feelings.

39. (iii) And what is the escape in the case of feelings?

It is the removal of zeal and lust, the abandoning of zeal and lust, for feelings. This is the escape in the case of feelings.

40. That those monks and divines who do
not understand, as it actually is, the
~~attraction as attraction~~, the danger as danger,
and the escape as escape, in the case of
feelings can either themselves fully know
feelings or instruct so that another can
fully know feelings - that is not poss-
ible.

That those monks and divines who
understand, as it actually is, the attraction
as attraction, the danger as danger, and
the escape as escape, in the case of feelings
can either themselves fully know feelings
or instruct so that another can fully
know feelings - that is possible».

That is what the Blessed One said. His
bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted
in his words.

Notes

§15 'Upakāra - bastion'; not in P.T.S. Dict.

'Abhiragga - heavy weight'; P.T.S. Dict.

(this ref.) does not agree with commentary.

§34 'N'eva tasminn samaye atta-bjātādhāya
ceteti - on such an occasion he is not cognisant
of his own affliction': bjātādhā needs to be taken
as 'affliction' in the sense of abādhi (afflicted) as, cf
e.g. Sutta 143, §2 rather than in the sense of bastū
(cramped, restricted/crowded) as e.g. Sutta 36, §12

ceteti is the verb properly for both citta and cetana and so can be rendered either by 'to be cognizant of' or 'to will'. The first seems to be required by the context. In the triple formula: attraction - danger - escape' as applied to 'sensual desires (kama) in the § 9 the 'attraction' is pleasant feeling, so it is too in the case of feeling (§ 34), and pleasant feeling, the pleasant feeling, as the attraction in the case of feeling = general, is non-affliction in its most refined form. Feeling is dealt with in Sutta 10, § 32, Sutta 43, 223, Sutta 44, §§ 72 ff.; Sutta 59, §§ 3, 5 Sutta 137, §§ 9 ff., and Sutta 140, § 20, Sutta 38, §§ 22, 39

202

Majjhima Nikāya 14 - Cula-dukkhakkha-sutta
(1, 2, 4)

1. **H** This I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Sakyam country at Kapilavatthu in Nigrodha's Park.

2. Then Mahānāma the Sakyam went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side, when he had done so, he said:

"A venerable sir, I have long known the True Idea taught by the Blessed One thus: 'Greed is an imperfection of cognizance, hate is an imperfection of cognizance, delusion is an imperfection of cognizance'. Yet while I know the True Idea as taught by the Blessed One thus, at times ideas of greed invade my cognizance and remain, ideas of hate invade my cognizance and remain, ideas of delusion invade my cognizance and remain: I [have wondered], venerable sir, what idea is still un abandoned by me in myself owing to which at times 'These ideas' invade my cognizance and remain".

3. A Mahānāma, There is still an idea un abandoned in you, owing to which at times ideas of greed invade your cognizance and remain, ideas of hate invade your cognizance and remain, ideas of delusion invade your cognizance and remain; for were that idea already abandoned ^{by you} in yourself you would not

be living the house life, you would not be enjoying ~~sensual~~ desires. It is because ~~there~~
 is still ~~not quite~~ abandoned by you in yourself that
 you are living the house life and enjoying sens-
 ual desires.

disappointment

4. ~~If,~~ though a noble disciple has clearly seen, as it actually is, with right understanding how sensual desires provide little enjoyment and much suffering and despair, and how great is the danger in them, then so long as he still does not attain to the happiness and pleasure that are quite apart from sensual desires, apart from unprofitable ideas, or to something more peaceful than that, he is still ~~not~~ ^{unaware} ~~from~~ ^{even} sensual desires.

But when a noble disciple has clearly seen, as it actually is, with right understanding how sensual desires provide little enjoyment and much suffering and despair and how great is the danger in them, then when he attains to the happiness and pleasure that are quite apart from sensual desires, apart from unprofitable ideas, or to something more peaceful than that, he is no more unaware to sensual desires.

5. ^{92m} Before my enlightenment, while I was still only an unenlightened creature pledged to enlightenment, when I too saw clearly, as it actually is, with right understand-

Ms. 14

ing how sensual desires provide little enjoyment and much suffering and despair and how great is the danger in them, then for as long as I still did not attain to the happiness and pleasure that are quite apart from sensual desires, apart from unprofitable ideas, or to something more peaceful even than that, I recognized that I was still unaware to sensual desires.

But when I clearly saw, as it actually is, with right understanding, how sensual desires provide little enjoyment and much suffering and despair, and how great is the danger in them, then when I attained to the happiness and pleasure that are quite apart from sensual desires, apart from unprofitable ideas, or to something more peaceful even than that, I recognized that I was no more unaware to sensual desires.

6.-14. (i) And what is the gathering in the case of sensual desires?

Mahānāma, there are ... [as in Sutta 13, §§ 9-17] ... now this danger in the case of sensual desires, this aggregate-mass of suffering in lives to come, has sensual desires for its reason, sensual desires for its source, sensual desires for its cause, the reason being ^{simply} sensual desires.

15. Now, Mahānāma, on one occasion I was living at Rājagaha on the Vulture Peak Rock. On that occasion a number of Vajrathas (Fairs) living at the Black Rock on the

212

slopes of the Gullet of the Anchors were practicing continuous standing, rejecting seats, and experiencing painful racking piercing feelings due to striving.

16. Then when it was evening I rose from meditation, and I went to the Niganthes & there I asked them & friends, why do you practise continuous standing, rejecting seats, and experiencing painful racking piercing feelings due to striving?

When this was said, they replied

17. (Friend, the Nigantha Nataputta, the Omniscient All-seer, claims to have complete knowledge and vision thus "whether I am walking or standing or sleeping or waking,⁹³ my knowledge and vision are continuously, unceasingly maintained". He says thus "Niganthes, you have done evil actions in the past; exhaust them with piercing mortification. And when you are here and now restrained in body, speech and mind, that is doing no evil deeds for the future. So by annihilating with penance past evildoings, and by doing no fresh evil actions, there will be no consequence in the future. With no consequence in the future there is exhaustion of actions. With exhaustion of actions there is exhaustion of suffering. With exhaustion of suffering there is exhaustion of feeling.

With the exhaustion of feeling all suffering will be used up". This is our ~~profession~~^{liking} and our choice, and we are satisfied with it'.

18. When this was said, I told them "But, friends, do you know that you were in the past, and that ^{to a not less} 'you were not satisfied'?" — "No, friend".

"But, friends, do you know that you did evil actions in the past and did not abstain from them?" — "No, friend".

"But, friends, do you know that so much suffering has already been used up or that so much suffering has still to be used up or that when so much suffering has been used up all suffering will have been used up?" — "No, friend".

"But, friends, do you know what the abandoning of unprofitable ideas is and the cultivation of profitable ideas?" — "No, friend".

19. "So, friends, it seems that you do not know that you were in the past and that it is not that you were not; or that you did evil actions in the past and did not abstain from them; or that you did such and such evil actions; or that so much suffering has already been used up; or that when so much suffering has been used up, all suffering will have been used up; or what the abandoning of unprofitable ideas is and the cultivation of profitable ideas here and now. Not being so, those who are

214

murderous, bloody-handed evil-doers in
in the world go into homelessness as Nig-
anthas when they are reborn among human
beings?"

"Friend Gotama, pleasure is not to be
gained through pleasure; pleasure is to be
gained through pain.⁹⁴ For were pleasure to
be gained through pleasure, then Sennja
Bimbisara King of Magadha would gain
pleasure, since he abides in greater plea-
sure than the venerable Gotama does".

~~"Surely the venerable Niganthas have~~
~~uttered those words rashly and unreflectingly,~~
~~would it?~~ Rather it is I who ought to be asked
"Who abides in greater pleasure, Sennja
Bimbisara King of Magadha or the vene-
erable Gotama?"

~~"Surely, friend Gotama, we uttered~~
~~& those words rashly and unreflectingly.~~
But let that be. Now we ask the vene-
erable Gotama "Who abides in greater plea-
sure, Sennja Bimbisara King of Magadha
or the venerable Gotama?"

22. "Then, friends, I shall ask you a
question in return. Answer it as you like.
How do you conceive this, friends, can
Sennja Bimbisara King of Magadha abide
without moving his body or uttering a
word for seven days experiencing non-
semiting pleasure?" — "No, friend! —
~~"Friends, I can abide without moving~~

'How do you conceive their friends, can Senuja
Bimbisāra King of Magadha abide without moving
his body or uttering a word for six... five
... four... three... two days... one day
experiencing unremitting pleasure?' — 'No
friends'.

23. 'Friends, I can abide without moving
my body or uttering a word for one day ex-
periencing unremitting pleasure. I can
abide without moving my body or uttering
a word for two days ~~up to three days~~... four...
five... six... seven days experiencing un-
remitting pleasure.'

'How do you conceive this, friends? that
being so, who dwells in greater pleasure,
Senuja Bimbisāra King of Magadha or ³⁰?'

'That being so, ⁹⁵ the venerable Gotama
abides in greater pleasure than Senuja Bim-
bisāra King of Magadha does'.

That is what the Blind One said. Mahā-
nāma the Sakyamuni was satisfied, and he
delighted in the Blind One's words.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 15 - Anumana Sutta (1, 2, 5)

217

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna was living in the Bhagga country in the Bhersakalā Grove, the deer Park at Sunisumāra giri. Here he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Friends, bhikkhus » — « Friends » they replied. The venerable Mahā-Moggallāna said this :

2. a Friend, if a bhikkhu asks thus 'Let the Elders correct me, I have need of the Elders' ~~correction~~', and yet he is difficult to correct, possesses ideas that make him difficult to correct, is impatient, and does not take instruction right, then his companions in the ~~life~~ divine may conceive him as one that to be corrected or instructed and they may conceive him as a person not to be trusted.

What are the ideas that make him difficult to correct?

3. Here a bhikkhu has evil wishes and is dominated by evil wishes; ~~that~~ ^{is} an idea that makes him difficult to correct.

4. Again, a bhikkhu lands himself and disparages others; ~~that~~ ^{is} an idea that makes him difficult to correct.

5. Again, a bhikkhu is angry, allowing anger to transend him; ~~that~~ ^{is} ...

6. Again, a bhikkhu is angry and revengeful by reason of anger; ...

7. Again, a blither is angry, and obstinate by reason of anger; ...
8. Again, a blither is angry and utters words bordering on anger; ...
9. Again, a blither is reproved, and he resists the reprobation; ...
10. Again, a blither is reproved, and he shows no compunction in counter-reproves the reprobator; ~~the~~ ...
11. Again, a blither is reproved, and he counter-reproves the reprobation; ~~the~~ 96 ...
12. Again, a blither is reproved, and he prevaricates, leads the talk aside, and shows disturbance, hate and surliness; ...
13. Again, a blither is reproved, and he fails to account for his conduct; ...
14. Again, a blither is reproved, and he is contemptuous and domineering; ...
15. Again, a blither is curious and avaricious; ...
16. Again, a blither is fickle and deceitful; ...
17. Again, a blither is obstinate and proud; ...
18. Again, a blither is apprehensive according to individual views, holds on tenaciously, and relinquishes with difficulty; ~~that is~~ it is an idea that makes him difficult to correct. Friends, there are called the ideas that make him difficult to correct.
19. Friends, even if a blither does not ask thus 'Let the Elders correct me; I have need of the Elders' correction', and yet he

is easy to correct, possesses the ideas that make him easy to correct, is patient, and takes instruction right, then his companions in the life Divine will conceive him as one to be corrected and instructed, and they may conceive him as a person to be trusted.

~~And what are the ideas that make him easy to correct?~~

20. Here a bhikkhu has no evil wishes, and is not dominated by evil wishes; & that & is an idea that makes him easy to correct.
21. Again a bhikkhu does not laud himself and or disparage others; & that & ...
22. ... is not angry, nor allows anger to transude him; ...
23. ... is not angry, nor revengeful by reason of anger; ...
24. ... is not angry, nor obtrusive by reason of anger; ...
25. ... is not angry, nor utters words bad-
ering on anger; ...
26. ... is reproved, and he does not resist the reproof; ...
27. ... is reproved, and he does not lack confidence in the reproof; ... ⁹⁷
28. ... is reproved, and he does not counter-reprove the reproof; ...
29. ... is reproved, and he does not prevaricate, lead the talk aside, and

- show ~~anger~~^{disturbance}, hate and surliness; ...
30. ... is reproved, and he does not fail to account for his conduct; ...
31. ... is not contemptuous or domineering; ...
32. ... is not envious or avaricious; ...
33. ... is not fraudulent or deceitful; ...
34. ... is not obdurate or proud; ...
35. Again, a bhikkhu does not misapprehend according to an individual view & or hold on tenaciously, and he easily relinquishes; & that is an idea that makes him easy to correct.
Friends, these are called the ideas that make him easy to correct.
36. Now, friends, a bhikkhu ought himself to infer about himself in the following way.
37. 'A person with evil wishes and dominated by evil wishes is unwelcome and disagreeable to me. And were I to have evil wishes and be dominated by evil wishes, I should be unwelcome and disagreeable to others'. And a bhikkhu who knows this should arouse cognizance thus 'I shall not have evil wishes and be dominated by evil wishes'.
38. 'A person who lands himself and disfigures others ...'
q8
- 39.-51. ...
52. 'A person who misapprehends according to an individual view, holds on tenaciously; and

relinquishes with difficulty is unwelcome and disagreeable to others. And were I to misapprehend according to an individual view, held or tenaciously and relinquish with difficulty, I should be unwelcome and disagreeable to others'. And a bhikkhu who knows this should arouse cognizance thus 'I shall not misapprehend according to an individual view, ^{and} held or tenaciously, and I shall relinquish easily'.

53. Now, friends, a bhikkhu himself should review himself thus 'Have I evil wishes, am I dominated by evil wishes?'. If, when he reviews himself thus, he knows thus 'I have evil wishes, I am dominated by evil wishes', then he should make efforts to abandon those evil wishes, unprofitable ideas. But if, when he reviews himself thus, he knows 'I have no evil wishes, I am not dominated by evil wishes', then he can abide happy and glad as one who travels day and night in profitable ideas.

54. Again, a bhikkhu himself should review himself thus 'Do I praise myself and disparage others?' • • • 99, 100

55. - 68. - - -

68.

69. Friends, when a bhikkhu reviews himself thus, if he sees that these evil unprofitable ideas are not all abandoned in himself, then he should make efforts to abandon them.

M. 15

all. But if when he reviews himself thus
he ~~finds~~ sees that they are all abandoned in
himself, then he can abide happy and glad
as one who trains day and night in profitable
ideas.

Just as when a woman - or a man -
young, youthful, fond of ornaments, on revis-
ing the image of her own face in a clean
bright looking-glass or in a basin of clear
water, saw a smut or a blemish on it, she
would make efforts to remove it, but if
she saw no smut or blemish on it, she would
be glad thus 'It is gain for me that it is
clean'; so too when a blabber reviews... as
one who trains day and night in profitable
ideas ».

That is what the venerable Mahā Mo-
gallana said. The blabbers were satisfied,
and they delighted in his words.

—

223

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 16 - Ceto /chita Sutta (1, 2, 6)

1. ~~Thus~~ I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindīka's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus < Bhikkhus? > - «Venerable sir» they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. a Bhikkhu, that any bhikkhu who is not rid of five wildernesses in the heart, who hasn't severed five shackles in the heart, should come to growth and increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and discipline - that is not possible.
3. What five wildernesses in the heart is he not rid of?

Here, blithely a bhikkhu is doubtful, uncertain, undecided and unconfident about the Master. When that is so, his cognizance does not incline to ardour, devotion, perseverance, and endeavour. When that is so, he is not rid of this first wilderness in the heart.

4. Again, a bhikkhu is doubtful, uncertain, undecided and unconfident about the True Idea ... he is not rid of this second wilderness in the heart.

5. Again, a bhikkhu is doubtful, ... about the Community ... he is not rid of this third wilderness in the heart.

6. Again, a bhikkhu is doubtful, ... about the training ... he is not rid of this fourth wilderness in the heart.

7. Again, a bhikkhu is angry with his fellows in the life Divine, displeased, callous-minded and a wilderness [for them]. When that is so,

his cognizance does not incline to ardour, devotion, perseverance, and endeavour. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$, he is not rid of this fifth wilderness in the heart.

8. What are the five shackles in the heart that he has not severed?

Here a blithely is not without lust or zeal or love or thirst or fever or craving, for sensual desires. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$ his cognizance does not incline to ardour, devotion, perseverance and endeavour. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$, he has not severed the first shackle in the heart.

9. Again, a blithely is not without lust or zeal or love or thirst or fever or craving, for the body. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$... he has not severed the second shackle in the heart.

10. ¹⁰² Again, a blithely is not without lust... for form. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so... he has not severed the third shackle in the heart.

11. Again, after eating his belly full a blithely abides indulging as much as he likes, in the pleasure of rolling, in the pleasure of drossing. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$... he has not severed the fourth shackle in the heart.

12. Again, a blithely lives the live Divine aspiring to some Order of gods thus 'By this virtue, this duty, this reverence, or this like Divine, I shall become a [great] god or some [lower] god'. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$ his cognizance does not incline to ardour, devotion, perseverance and endeavour. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so $\frac{1}{2}$ he has not severed this fifth shackle in the heart.

13. That ay blithely, who is not rid of these five wildernesses in the heart, who has not

225.

severed these five shackles in the heart, should come to growth, increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and Discipline - that is at possible.

14. That any blitche who is rid of five wildernesses in the heart, who has severed five shackles in the heart, should come to growth, increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and Discipline - that is possible.

15. What are the five wildernesses in the heart that he is rid of?

Here, blitche, a blitche is not doubtful, uncertain, undecided, or unconfident, about the Master. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so, his cognizance inclines to ardour, devotion, perseverance and ~~control~~. When $\frac{2}{3}$ that is so, $\frac{3}{3}$ he is rid of this first wilderness in the heart.

16. Again a blitche is not doubtful, ... about the True Idea ... this second wilderness in the heart.

17. Again a blitche is not doubtful, ... about the Community ... this third wilderness in the heart.

18. Again a blitche is not doubtful, ... about the training ... this fourth wilderness in the heart.

19. Again a blitche is not angry with his fellows in the life Divine or displeased or sullen-minded, and he is not a withdrawer [for them]. When $\frac{4}{5}$ that is so, ... 103 this fifth wilderness in the heart.

There are the five wildernesses in the heart that he is rid of.

20. What are the five shackles in the heart that he has severed?

Here a blitche is without lust and jealousy, love and thirst and fever and craving for sensual desires. When $\frac{1}{2}$ that is so, his cognizance ~~inclines~~ to ardour, devotion, perseverance and ~~control~~. When $\frac{2}{3}$ that is so, he has severed this first shackle in the heart.

21. Again, a blither is without lust, ... for his body. When that is so, ... this ~~the~~ second shackle ~~that he has severed~~
22. Again, a blither is without lust, ... for form. When that is so, ... this ~~the~~ third shackle in the heart. ~~that he has severed~~
23. Again a blither after eating his belly full, a blither does not abide indulging as much as he likes in the pleasure of rolling, in the pleasure of growing. When that is so, ... he has severed this fourth shackle in the heart.
24. Again, a blither does not live the life Divine aspiring to some order of gods thus 'By this virtue of this duty or this ~~asceticism~~ ^{or} this life Divine, I shall become a [great] god or some [lesser] god'. When that is so, ... he has severed this fifth shackle in the heart.
These are the five shackles in the heart
~~that he has severed~~.
25. That my blither who is rid of these five wilder nesses in the heart, who has severed these five shackles in his heart, should come to growth, increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and Discipline - that is possible
26. He develops the basis for success that possesses ~~the~~ concentration due to zeal and also determination to ~~success~~; he develops the basis for success that possesses ~~the~~ concentration due to energy and ~~also~~ determination to ~~success~~; he develops the basis for success that possesses ~~the~~ concentration due to [purity of cognizance] and ~~determination to~~ ^{energy and} ~~success~~; he develops the basis for success that possesses ~~the~~ concentration due to inquiry

M. 16

And active involvement of other things
and also determination to endear and control.

27. A thicklē who possesses thus the fifteen factors including acting and development is capable to break out, to awake, to attain the supreme success of bondage.

I suppose there were a hen with eight or ten or twelve eggs, well covered, well incubated, well fostered; ~~which she had~~ ^{for all} she did not wish 'Oh that my chickens might pierce their shells with the points of their claws and beaks and hatch out safely!', yet the chickens are capable of piercing their shells with the points of their claws and beaks and hatching out safely - is too, a thicklē who possesses... ^{that is what} ~~boufage~~ 33.

~~for the Blund One said. The thicklēs~~
~~were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.~~

Notes

ch. § 12 + 24; sila and vata ('virtue' and 'duty') with si labbat upādāna ('virtue-and-duty clinging') in Sutta 11, § 9; also si labhataparāmara ('misapprehension of virtue and duty').

§ 26 'Ussollhi - ^{a disappearance} ~~involvement~~ = usahā more or less; ch. Brutta 70, § 23. The difference between ussollhi (~~involvement~~) and pashana ('endeavor') is made plain in ~~Sutta 95~~.

~~Brutta 70, § 23~~ ^{in the} series usahāti, tuleti
podahati

326: or "The Basis for Success that has concentration due to zeal and has for its determination the endear and control." see Netti 56 & IV an analysis of this compound.

Majjhima Nikāya 17 - Vanapattī Sutta (1, 2, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at
Sāvatthī in Jetā's grove, Anāthapindīka's Park.
Then he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus! »
— « Reverable sir » they replied. The Blessed One
said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, I shall expand by your dis-
ciple on jungle thickets, listen and heed well
what I shall say — « Even so, reverable sir »
the bhikkhus replied. The Blessed One said this:

3. « Here ^{bhikkhu} a bhikkhu lives in some jungle thicket.
While living there his unestablished mindfulness
does not become established, his unconcentrated
cognition does not become concentrated, his
unexhausted cankers do not come to exhaustion.
The unattained supreme release of bondage
is not attained; and also the requisites for
the life of one gone forth that should be available
— robes, alms food, resting place, and the re-
quisite of medicine as cure for the ~~sick~~ — are
hard to come by. The bhikkhu ^{should} ~~is~~ take
count of this. He should depart from that jungle
thicket that very night or that very day; he
should not ~~continue~~ ^{go} on living there.

4. Here a bhikkhu lives in some jungle thicket.
While living there his unestablished mindfulness
does not become established, his unconcentrated
cognition does not become concentrated, his
unexhausted cankers do not come to exhaustion,
the unattained supreme release of bondage is
not attained; yet the requisites for the life of
one gone forth that should be available — robes,
alms food, resting place, and the requisite of

medicine as cure for the sick — ~~that should~~
be available are easily come by. The blitche
 should ~~x.~~ take count of this, but he should
 reflect thus ~~x.~~ "I did not go forth from the
 home life into homelessness for the sake of
 robes, alms food, resting place, and the requi-
 site of medicine for the sick; but yet I ~~x.~~ make
 no progress ^{here} ~~x.~~". He should depart from that
 jungle thicket after weighing the matter; he
 should not ~~continue~~ living there.

5. Here a blitche lives in some jungle
 thicket. While living there his unestablished
 mindfulness becomes established, his un-
 concentrated cognizance becomes concentrated,
 his unexhausted cankers come to exhaustion,
 the unattained supreme release of bondage
 is attained; yet the requisites for the life of
 one gone forth that should be available —
 robes, alms food, resting place, and the re-
 quisite of medicine as cure for the sick —
 are hard to come by. The blitche should ¹⁰⁶ ~~x.~~
 take count of this; but he should reflect
 thus ~~x.~~ "I did not go forth from the home life
 into homelessness for the sake of robes, alms
 food, resting place, and the requisite of medi-
 cine as cure for the sick; but yet I ~~x.~~ make
 progress here ~~x.~~" He should continue living
 in that jungle thicket after weighing the
 matter; he should not depart.

6. Here a blitche lives in some jungle
 thicket. While living there his unestablished mind-
 fulness becomes established, his unconcen-

rated cognizance becomes concentrated, his unextinguished cankers come to exhaustion, the maturing supreme curence of bondage is attained; and also the requisite for the life of one gone forth that should be available — robes, alms food, resting place, and the requisite of ~~medicine~~ as cure for the sick — are easy to come by. The bhikkhu should take count of this. He should continue living in that jungle thicket as long as life lasts; he should not depart.

7-10. Here a bhikkhu lives in a certain village ~~not~~

11-14. & ... a certain town ...

15-18. ... a certain city ...

19-22. ... a certain country ...

23-~~26~~ Here a bhikkhu lives with a certain person [as in §3] ... He should depart from that person that very night or that very day without asking; he should not continue following him.

24. Here a bhikkhu lives with a certain person
~~107~~ [as in §4] ... ~~But~~ the bhikkhu should depart from that person, after weighing the matter, ~~for~~ without asking; he should not go on following ~~him~~ him.

25. Here a bhikkhu lives with a certain person
~~108~~ [as in §5] ... He should continue following that person, after weighing the matter; he should not depart from him.

26. Here a bhikkhu lives with a certain person
~~108~~ [as in §6] ... He should continue following that person as long as life lasts; he should

M. 17

232

depart from him even if told to do so.

that is what

~~the~~ the Blessed One said. The children
were satisfied, and they delighted ⁱⁿ his words.
~~designed~~ ⁱⁿ ~~in~~

PP

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 18 - Madhyavindaka Sutta
(1, 2, 8)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Saka country at Kapilavatthu in Nigrodha's Park

2. Then, it being morning, the Blessed One dressed, and taking his bowl and [outfit] robe, he went into Kapilavatthu for alms. When he had wandered for alms in Kapilavatthu and had returned from his alms round after the meal, he went to the Great Wood ~~to abide~~ the day, ~~when he had gone~~ into the Great Wood, and sat down ~~to abide the day~~ at the root of a bīva sapling.

the Sakyan

3. Dandapani ('Stick-in-head') also went to the Great Wood, walking and wandering for exercise, and when he had gone into the Great Wood, he went to the bīva sapling where the Blessed One was and exchanged greetings with him. When the courteous and amiable talk was finished, he stood at one side leaning on his stick. When he had done so, he asked the Blessed One «What does the monk tell, what does he preach?»

4. «Friend, as one who tells that whereby he quarrels with no one in the world with its gods, its Māras and its Divinity, in this generation with its monks and divines, with its kings by divine right and its men, and who tells that whereby perceptions no more underlie that divine one when he abides dissociated from sensual

desires, undoubting, shorn of worry, rid of craving for any kind of being, so do I tell, friend, so do I preach.

5. When this was said, "Stick-in-hand" the Sakyam ¹⁰⁷ shook his head, ^{shook} his tongue and raised his eyebrows till his fore-head was puffed up in three lines. Then he departed, leaning on his stick.

6. Then when it was evening the Blessed One rose from meditation, and he went to Nigrodha's Park where he sat down on a seat prepared [for him]. When he had done so, he addressed the Bhikkhus ~~there~~ told it the ~~other~~ ¹⁰⁸ Bhikkus, thickness what had taken place. When this was said, a certain Bhikkhu asked the Blessed One «

7. « But, venerable sir, what ~~is~~ the Blessed One tells whereby he has no quarrel with any one in the world with its gods, its Nāras and its Divinity, in this generation with its monks and divines, with its kings by divine right and its men? And, venerable sir, how ~~does~~ ^{is} it that perceptions so more underlie that divine one when he abides dissociated from sensual desires, undoubting, shorn of worry, rid of craving for any kind of being? »

8. « Bhikkus, as to that with which as their source calculations about perceptions of diversification occupy a man: if there is [found to be] nothing there to delight in, to

235

effim
section or to accept, this is the end of under-
lying tendencies to lust, resistance,¹¹⁰ views,
uncertainty, conceit, lust for being, and
ignorance; this is the end of ~~the root of~~ of sticks,
~~the root of~~ weapons, quarrels, brawls, dis-
putes, recriminations, malice, and ~~malice~~
here evil unprofitable ideas cease without
remainder ??.

9. So the Blessed One said, ~~and~~ Having said
this, the sublime One rose from his seat and
went into his dwelling.

10. Then soon after the Blessed One had gone
the bhikkus (^{concluding}) a Nor, friends, the Blessed
One has risen from his seat and gone into his
dwelling after giving a summary in brief without
the detailed meaning, that is to say: "Bhikkus,
as to that ... without remainder". Nor who will
expound ~~the~~ the detailed meaning of this summary
given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding
~~the~~ the detailed meaning? » Then they [con-
sidered] « The venerable Maha Kaccana is
praised and esteemed by the Blessed One
and by companions in the life divine. He is
capable of ^{is doing that} expounding the detailed meaning
of this summary given in brief by the Blessed
One without expounding the detailed meaning.
Suppose we went to him and asked him the
meaning of this? »

11. Then they went to the venerable Maha-
Kaccana and exchanged greetings with him, and
when the courteous and amicable talk was finished,
they sat down at one side. When they had done so,

they told him & what had taken place, and ^{and} they added & he let the venerable Mahā Kaccīna expound it to us".

12. « Friends, it is as though a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, conceived that heartwood should be sought among the branches and leaves of a great tree standing possessed of heart wood, after passing over the root and the trunk. And so it is with you, venerable sirs, that you conceive that we should be asked about the meaning of this, after passing the Blended One by when you were face-to-face with the Master. For, the Blended One knows, knowing, known seeing, the Blended One sees, knowing, he knows, knowing, the Blended One knows; seeing, he sees; he is the eye, he is knowledge, he is the true Idea, he is the divine; the Perfect One is the Sayer, the Proclaimer, ~~the Preacher of good~~ the Elucidator of Meaning, ~~the~~ the Elucidator of Meaning, the Giver of the Deathless. That was the time when you should have asked the Blended One the meaning. As he told you so you should have remembered it ».

13. « Surely, friend Kaccīna, [surely] the Blended One knows; seeing, he sees; [surely] he is the eye, he is knowledge, he is the true Idea, he is the divine; [surely] the Perfect One is the Sayer, the Proclaimer, the Elucidator of Meaning, the Giver of the Deathless. [surely] that was the time

when we should have asked the Blessed One the meaning; and as he told us so we should have remembered it. Yet the venerable Maha Kaccana is praised and esteemed by the Blessed One and by companions in the life Divine. The venerable Maha Kaccana is capable of expounding the detailed meaning of this summary given in brief by the Blessed One without expounding the detailed meaning. Let the venerable Maha Kaccana expound [it] without giving importance [to that].

14. "Then listen, friends, and heed well what I shall say".

"Even so, friend," the bhikkhus replied.
the venerable Maha Kaccana said this:

15. "Friends, when the Blessed One rose from his seat and went into his dwelling after giving a summary in brief without expounding the detailed meaning, that is to say, 'Bhikkhus, as to that with which as their source calculations about perceptions of diversification occupy a man: if there is [found to be] nothing there to delight in, to ^{a few} proceed, or to accept, this is the end of underlying tendencies to lust, resistance, views, uncertainty, conceit, lust for being, and ignorance; this is the end of the use of sticks, the use of weapons, quarrels, boasts, disputes, recrimination, malice, and ^{false} speech; here evil unprofitable ideas pass without remainer; I understand the detailed meaning of it to be thus as follows.

16. Dependent on eye and forms eye con-

M. 18

consciousness arises. The coincidence of the three is contact. With contact as condition there is feeling, what a man feels, that he perceives,^{b2}. What he perceives, that he thinks about. What he thinks about, that he diversifies. With what he has diversified as the source ~~the~~ calculations about perceptions of diversification occupy a man with respect to past, future and present forms cognizable by the eye.

Dependent ~~on~~ on ear and sounds... with respect to past, future and present sounds cognizable by the ear.

Dependent on nose and odours... with respect to past, future and present odours cognizable by the nose.

Dependent on tongue and flavours... with respect to past, future and present flavours cognizable by the tongue.

Dependent on body and tangibles... with respect to tangibles past, future and present tangibles cognizable by the body.

Dependent on mind and ideas... with respect to past, future and present ideas cognizable by the mind.

17. When there is ~~the~~ eye and, form and there is eye consciousness, it is possible that he will ~~describe the notion of~~ ^{describer a:} description of contact. When there is the ~~notion of~~ ^{description of} contact, it is possible that he will ~~describe the notion of~~ ^{describer the} description of feeling. When there is the ~~notion of~~ ^{description of} feeling, it is possible that he will ~~describe the notion of~~ ^{describer the} description of perception. When there is the notion of perception, it is

M. 18

possible that he will ~~despite~~ the bottom of thinking.
When there is the ~~descriptio~~ thinking, it is possible
that he will ~~despite~~ ~~descriptio~~ the bottom of occupation with
calculations about perceptions of diversification.

When there is ear and there is sound and there
is ear consciousness... .

When there is nose and there is odour and
there is nose consciousness... .

When there is tongue and there is flavor
and there is tongue consciousness... .

When there is body and there is tangible
and there is body consciousness... .

When there is mind and there is idea and
there is mind consciousness... . diversification.

18. When there is no eye and there is no form
and there is no eye consciousness, it is impossible
that he will ~~despite~~ any ~~descriptio~~ of contact. When there
is no ~~descriptio~~ of contact, it is impossible that he
will ~~despite~~ any ~~descriptio~~ of feeling. When there is
no ~~descriptio~~ of feeling, it is impossible that he
will ~~despite~~ any ~~descriptio~~ of perception. When there
is no ~~descriptio~~ of perception, it is impossible
that he will ~~despite~~ any ~~descriptio~~ of thinking. When
there is no ~~descriptio~~, it is impossible
that he will ~~despite~~ any ~~descriptio~~ of occupation with
calculations about perceptions of diversification.

When there is no mind and there is no idea
and there is no mind consciousness... .
diversification.

19. Friends, when the Blessed One ¹⁸³ rose from
his seat and went into his dwelling after
giving a summary in brief without opposing

the detailed meaning, that is to say, 'Philosophies, ... without remainder', I understand the detailed meaning of it to be thus.

Now, friends, if you wish, go to the Blessed One and ask him about the meaning of this. As the Blessed One tells you so you should remember it".

20. Then the Thikkus were satisfied, and delighted in the ~~Blessed~~ Venerable Maha Kaccana's words, they rose from their seats and went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, they told him it all that had taken place after the Blessed One had left, and they added "Then, venerable sir, we went to the venerable Maha Kaccana and asked him about the meaning. Venerable sir, the meaning has been expounded to us with these ~~words~~, and ~~these~~ ~~with those~~ ~~words~~ ~~processes~~ and these ~~with those~~ ~~processes~~ syllables".

21. "Maha Kaccana is wise, Thikkus, Maha Kaccana has great understanding. Had you asked me the meaning of this, I should have given you the same answer as Maha Kaccana has given you. Such is the meaning, and so you should you remember it".

22. ~~see the Pali text page~~ When this was said, the venerable Ananda said to the Blessed One a venerable sir, just as if man exhausted by hunger and weakness

291

gave by a sweet morsel, he would, at the course of eating it, find a sweet unadulterated flavor, so too, venerable sir, my able-minded bhikkhu would, in the course of scrutinizing with understanding the meaning of this discourse on the True Idea, find satisfaction and composure of heart. Venerable sir, what is the name of this discourse on the True Idea? »

« As to that, Ananda, you may remember this discourse on the True Idea as the Sweet-Morsel discourse. »

^{That is what} ~~the~~ ^{deemed} Bhagavat said. The venerable Ananda was satisfied, and he delighted ^{joyed with} in the Blessed One's words.

Notes:

§12. Vatta - the 'Sayer' is explained to the Tekā Uṭṭha (vol. ii, p. 63) as 'Catusaccadhammanu-vadati-ti vatta' || cīram saccapatiresham pa-vattento vadati-ti pa-vatta'. There is perhaps a pun with vattati and pa-vattati (to set the wheel rolling forward), see ^{a. 7.} Sutta 12, § 9, etc.

Atthava nivmetā - the ~~being~~ ^{the} Elucidator & meaning': this follows the copy'; but the phrase could also mean 'Bringers of good' or 'guides to the goal'.

§16. 'papāñceti' - 'discipis'. papāñca is this sense of Sutta 11, § 5. papāñca has 3 meanings: (1) abstacle or delay (Vibh. 125th), (2) differences (M.A. i,), (3) diversification (~~as~~ as the function of creating

wrong view and conceit, according to the cong. P.T.S.
dict has missed the point, and 'obsession' is
definitely ~~wrong~~ wrong and unjustified.

The seure here is this: ~~as~~ the coincidence
of eye, ~~form~~, with form and eye consciousness is
called contact, Contact, according to the dependent
origination, is the ~~main~~ principle condition for feeling,
feeling and perception are inseparable (sutta 43,39).
What is perceived ~~is~~ identified as 'this' is thought
about in its differences and is thus diversi-
fied from 'that' and from 'me'. This diversifi-
cation (involving craving for forms, wrong view about
permanence, etc. of forms, and in volving the conceit
'I') leads to preoccupation with calculating the
~~ways to obtain desired future forms~~^{value of} good
and present forms, divisibility of past and present
forms with a view to obtain desirable forms in the
future.

317 phara pannatti pāññā pateti - he will
notify the notion of contact: For the sutta use
of pāññāti see e.g. D. Sutta. The
commentarial theory of pannatti (see Paggala-
pāññāti Cong.) grew up out of this. Pāññāti
is a ~~causative~~ noun from the causative (pāññā-
peti) or passive (pāññayati) of pāññāti
(to understand). The seure is a 'making ~~on~~'
understood' or a 'being understood' and
in that seure it is ~~added to a~~^{the 'notion'} ~~experience~~
by which ~~an~~ ^{described as} ~~an~~ ^{control} extra experience is 'made
understood'; made known; and is thus allied
to a 'name' or a 'concept'. It is of first
importance in this theory of perception.

† Majjhima Nikaya 19. Dredha-vitakka Sutta (12,9)

242

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetas Grove, Anathapindika's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus & said, "Thus?" — "Venerable sir," they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. "A Bhikkhu, before my enlightenment, while I was still only an unenlightened Bodhi-satta (creature dedicated to enlightenment), it occurred to me 'Suppose that I divide my thinking into two classes?' Then I set on one side thinking of sensual desires, thinking of ill-will, and thinking of cruelty, and I set on the other side thinking of renunciation, thinking of non-ill-will, and thinking of non-cruelty.

3. As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, ~~not~~ thinking of sensual desires arose in me. I understood thus 'There is this thinking of sensual desire arisen in me. And that leads to my own affliction, to others' affliction and to the affliction of both; it obstructs understanding, ~~is~~ ^{promptes} ignorance, and leads away from extinction'. When I considered 'This leads to my own affliction', it subsided in me; when I considered 'This leads to others' affliction', it subsided in me; when I considered 'This leads to the affliction of both', it subsided in me; when I considered 'This obstructs understanding, ~~is~~ ^{promptes} ignorance, and leads away from extinction', it subsided in me. Whenever thinking of sensual desire

M. 19

were in me, I abandoned it, ~~removed~~, rejected it, did away with it.

As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, thinking with ill will arose in me... did away with it.

As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, thinking with cruelty arose in me... did away with it.

4. In whatever way ~~is~~ in ~~that~~ a blithely keeps thinking ~~and~~ and pondering, ~~that~~ will affect the inclination of his cognizance accordingly.

5. If he keeps thinking ~~with~~ sensual desire and pondering with sensual desire, he has abandoned thinking with renunciation, ~~and~~ cultivate thinking with sensual desire, and then his cognizance is inclined to thinking with sensual desire.

If he keeps thinking with ~~cruelty~~... to thinking with ~~cruelty~~, ill will.

If he keeps thinking with cruelty... to thinking with cruelty.

6. Just as, in the last month of the Rains, in the Autumn season when the crops thicker, a ~~herdsman~~ would guard his cows [constantly] tapping and poking them on this side and that with a stick to check and curb them; why is that? because he foresees the flogging or imprisonment or loss or blame that could befall him if he let them stray into the crops], so too, I foresees in unprofitable ideas a danger of degradation and defilement, and in profitable ideas a blessing in renunciation. ~~which~~ is on the side of cleansing.

7. ¹¹⁶ As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, thinking with renunciation arose in me. I understood thus 'There is this thinking with renunciation arisen in me. And that does not lead to my own affliction or to others' affliction or to the affliction of both; it aids understanding, ~~does not on the side of vexation and~~ leads to extinction. If I think with that and ponder with that even for a night, even for a day, even for a night and day, I foresee nothing to fear from it: only that with the continuous thinking and pondering I might tire my body, and a tired body ~~disturbs~~ carries cognizance, and ~~a harried~~ disturbed cognizance is far from concentration'. [Accordingly] I settled ~~on~~ cognizance in myself, quieted it, brought it to singleness and concentrated it. Why was that? So that my cognizance should not be disturbed harried.

8. As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, thinking with non-ill-will arose in me. I understood ... should not be disturbed.

As I dwelt thus, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, thinking with non-cruelty arose in me. I understood ... should not be disturbed.

8. In whatever way a bhikkhu keeps thinking and pondering, that will affect the inclination of his cognizance accordingly.

9. If a ~~holder~~ he keeps thinking with renunciation and pondering with renunciation, he has abandoned thinking with sensual desire to cultivate thinking with renunciation, and then his cognizance is inclined to thinking with renunciation.

If he keeps thinking with non-ill-will, on to thinking with non-ill-will.

M. 19

If he keeps thinking with non-cruelty...
to thinking with non-cruelty.

246

10. Just as in the last month of the heat, when all the crops have been brought inside the villages, ¹¹⁷ a ~~considered~~ ^{handsome} world guard his cows while staying it ~~not~~ ^{for} a tree or ~~out~~ in the open since he needs only to be mindful that the cows are there, so too, there was need to see only to be mindful that these ideas were there.
- 11-22. Tireless energy was aroused in me ... [as in India 4 § 22-33] ... this was the third true knowledge ... diligent, ardent and self-controlled.
23. Suppose ~~is~~ ^{was} that in a wooded range there was a great low-lying marsh, near which a big herd of deer lived; and then a man appeared seeking what was not their good, their welfare, their success, ^{and good} of bondage, and he closed the safe path that led to their happiness and ~~put~~ ^{put on a} decoy opened a false path, and ~~set up~~ ^{set up a} dummy, so that later on the big herd of deer might come to loss, ruin and calamity; but suppose some man came seeking their good, their welfare and their success of bondage, and he reopened the safe and good path that led to their happiness and closed the false path, and he ~~warned away~~ ^{warned away} the ~~male~~ decoy and destroyed the dummy, so that later on the big herd of deer might come to growth, increase and fulfillment.

M. 19

24. Bhikkhus, I have given you this simile in
order to ~~introduce~~ ^{make known} a meaning. ¹¹⁸ Now the
meaning here is this: The great low-lying
marsh stands for sensual desires; the big
herd of deer stands for creatures; the man who
sought what was not their good, their happiness
and their successive of bondage, stands for Mara
the Evil One; the false path stands for the wrong
eightfold path, that is to say, wrong view, wrong
intention, wrong speech, wrong action, wrong liveli-
hood, wrong effort, wrong mindfulness, wrong
concentration; the decoy stands for delight
and lust; the dummy stands for ~~helplessness~~^{helplessness}; and
the man seeking their good, their ~~success~~^{success} and
their successive of bondage stands for a Perfect
One, accomplished and fully enlightened; the
safe and good path that led to their happiness
stands for the Noble Eightfold Path, that is to say,
right view, right intention, right speech, right
action, right livelihood, right effort, right
mindfulness, right concentration.

25. So, bhikkhus, the safe and good path
that leads to happiness has been ^{reopened} by
me, the wrong path has been closed, the
decoy ~~carried away~~, and the dummy destroyed

26. What should be done for his disciples
out of pity by a master who seeks their welfare
and has pity [on them], that I have done for you.
~~Bhikkhus~~ There are these roots of trees, these
empty houses. Develop illumination, bhikkhus,
do not delay lest you later regret it. This
is our message to you. ¹¹⁹
~~That is what~~ the Blessed One said. The bhikkus

were ~~got up~~^{decorated}, and they ~~had got~~^{had got} his hands

Notes

§ 7 and 23: Uhanati - to hurry: see also Sutta 36, § 22.

§ 23 'oka carana - decoy' and 'oka carita - decoying': the commentary explains as a ~~male~~ [male] spotted deer and a [female] ~~stayed~~ doe attached ~~to~~ by a long rope; but then the use of the respective verbs ~~means~~ ~~means~~ unexplained, unless Uhanati here has a different meaning to § 7 (which seems very unlikely that such an unusual word should be given two uses in two senses in the same sutta) and is taken as 'to remove'.

§ 6 'bandha - imprisonment': this meaning is not in P.T.S. Dict. 3 cf. vadha bandhana.

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anūgāma Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus & Bhikkhus. — "Venerable Sir" they replied. (1) The Blessed One said this:

2. "Bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu is pursuing the Higher Cognition, five signs can be given attention by him from time to time. What are the five?

3. (i) When, owing to some sign [for concentration] to which sign he is giving attention [in order to develop concentration], there arise in him evil unprofitable thoughts connected with zeal, with hate and with delusion, then some sign other than that sign and connected with what is profitable should be given attention by him. When he ~~desires~~ gives attention to some sign other than that sign and connected with what is profitable, then ~~those~~ any evil unprofitable thoughts connected with zeal, with hate, and with delusion, are abandoned with the abandoning of them. His cognition is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated.

Just as a skilled joiner or his apprentice might knock out, extract and remove a coarse peg by means of a fine one, so too, when, owing to some sign... and concentrated.

4. (ii) If, while he is giving attention to some sign other than that first sign [first mentioned] and connected with what is profitable, there ~~likewise~~ still arise in him evil un-

250

profitable thoughts ~~connected~~^{identifiable} with zeal, with hate and with delusion, then no danger in those thoughts should be scrutinized by him thus. These thoughts are such that they are unprofitable, in that they are reprehensible, that they result in suffering. When he scrutinizes the danger in those thoughts, then any evil unprofitable thoughts ~~connected~~^{identifiable} with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and outside ^{with the abandoning of them} ~~the~~ Cognizance is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated.

Just as a woman - or a man -, young, youthplayfond of ornaments would be horrified humiliated and disgusted if a ~~dangerous~~^{dead} snake or ^{red} snakes or a dog's carcass were hung round her neck, so too, if, while he is giving attention ... and concentrated.

5. (iii) 4, when he scrutinizing the danger in those thoughts, there ~~like unto~~^{still} arise in him evil unprofitable thoughts ~~connected~~^{identifiable} with zeal, with hate and with delusion, ~~then~~ forgetting ~~most~~ of those thoughts and non-attention to them should be tried. When he tries forgetting of those thoughts and non-attention to them, then any evil unprofitable thoughts ~~connected~~^{identifiable} with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him ^{and outside} ~~the~~ Cognizance is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated.

Just as a ~~woman~~ man with (good) eyes, who did not want to see forms that had come within the eye's range, would either shut his eyes or look away, so too, if, when he

scrutinizes... and concentrated.

6. (iv) If, when he tries forgetting those thoughts and non-attention to them, ~~there still arise in him evil unprofitable thoughts connected with~~ ^{connected with} ~~zeal, with hate and with delusion, then settling of thought-determinations should be given attention by him with respect to those thoughts. When he gives attention to settling of thought-determinations with respect to those thoughts, all evil unprofitable thoughts connected with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and subside. With the abandoning of them his cognizance is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated.~~

Just as a man walking fast night [considers] 'Why am I walking fast? What if I walk slowly?', [and] he walked slowly; [and then] he [considers] 'Why am I walking slowly? What if I stand?' [and] he stood; [and then] he [considers] 'Why am I standing? What if I sit?', [and] he sat; [and then] he [considers] 'What am I sitting? What if I lie down?', [and] he lay down; for by so doing he would substitute for each grosser mode of deportment one that was subtler; so too, if, when he tries forgetting... and concentrated.

7. (v) If, while he is giving attention to settling of thought-determinations with respect to those thoughts, ~~there still arise in him evil unprofitable thoughts connected with~~ ^{connected with} ~~zeal, with hate,~~ ^{with} ~~and with delusion, then with his teeth clenched and with his tongue pressed against~~

the roof of his mouth, he should beat down, constrain and crush cognizance with cognizance. ¹²¹ When with his teeth ~~joined~~^{clenched} and his tongue pressed against the roof of his mouth, he beats down, constrains and crushes cognizance with cognizance, then any evil unprofitable thoughts connected with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and subside. With the abandoning of them his cognizance is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated.

Just as a strong man might seize a weaker one by the head or shoulders and beat him down, constrain and crush him, so too, if, while he is giving attention --- and concentrated.

d. Blameless, as soon as, after evil unprofitable thoughts, ^{connected} ~~connected~~ ^{identical} with zeal, with hate and with delusion have arisen in a child, owing to some sign to which sign he was giving attention, ^{from} ~~of~~ evil unprofitable thoughts ^{connected} ~~connected~~ with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and subside, ~~successively~~ when he gives attention to a sign other than that ^{connected} ~~connected~~ with what is profitable, and so his cognizance is settled in himself, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated — and, as soon as, ^{connected} ~~any further~~ evil unprofitable thoughts ^{connected} ~~connected~~ with zeal, with hate and with

delusion are abandoned in him and subside when he scrutinizes the danger in those thoughts, and so with the abandoning of them his cognizance is settled, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated — And [as soon as] any [further] evil unprofitable thoughts ~~concerning~~ ~~with~~ with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and subside when he tries forgetting those thoughts and non-attention to them, and so his cognizance is settled, quieted, brought to ~~both~~ singleness and concentrated — and [as soon as] any [further] evil unprofitable thoughts ~~concerning~~ ~~with~~ with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him and subside when he gives attention to the settling of thought-determinations with respect to those thoughts, and so with the abandoning of them his cognizance is settled, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated — and [as soon as] any [further] evil unprofitable thoughts ~~concerning~~ ~~with~~ with zeal, with hate and with delusion are abandoned in him ^{and subside}, with his teeth clenched and his tongue pressed against the roof of his mouth, he beats down, constrains and crushes cognizance with cognizance, and so with the abandoning of them his cognizance is settled, quieted, brought to singleness and concentrated — Then that ~~shiksha~~ shiksha is called a master of the

courses of thought processes; he will think the thoughts that he wishes, and he will not think the thoughts that he does not wish. He has severed Craving, flung off the fetters, and rightly made an end of suffering with the penetration of conceit».

^{That is what}

~~the~~ the Blessed One said. The bhikkus were ~~delighted~~, and they ~~delighted in~~ his words.

Notes.

§ 2 'adhipitta - the Higher Consciousness' is a term for jhanā (Illumination)

§ 3 for the idiom 'yam nimittani
āgama yam nimittani manasi karoto'
('owing to some sign, to which sign he is giving attention'), cf. A. chakkān. XXVI
§ 8 'yasmāmī saṃvaya bhikkhu yam
nimittani āgama yam nimittani
manasi karoto anantara asavānam
khauso hoti, tati nimittani na jānāti
na parati; tasmin saṃvaya ...'

for nimitta (sign) cf. ~~samadhi~~
samādhi-nimitta at sutta
for upasamihita - 'identifies with' see sutta

7, § 10, note

✓Majjhima Nikāya 21 - Kaccaupama Sutta (1,3,1)

255

1. This I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.

2. Now on that occasion the venerable Moliya Phagguna was associating overmuch with black-khunis.

He was associating so much with black-khunis that if any black khn in his presence spoke dispraise of those bhikkhus, he would be angry and displeased and would rebuke him, and if any bhikkhu in those bhikkhus' presence spoke dispraise of the venerable Moliya Phagguna, they would be angry and displeased and would rebuke him, so much was the venerable Moliya Phagguna associated with black-khunis.

3. Then a certain bhikkhu went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he recounted what was taking place.

4. Then the Blessed One addressed a certain bhikkhu thus & come, bhikkhu, tell the bhikkhu Moliya Phagguna in my name that the Teacher calls him ».

« Yes, venerable sir » the bhikkhu replied, and he went to the venerable Moliya Phagguna and told him « Friend, the Teacher calls you ».

« Yes, friend » he replied, and he went to the Blessed One and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had

done so, the Blessed One asked him:

5. "Phagguna, is it true, as it seems, that you are associating overmuch with bhikkhus, that you are associating so much with bhikkhus that if any bhikkhu in your presence speaks dispraise of those bhikkhus, you are angry and displeased and rebuke him, and that if any bhikkhu in those bhikkhus' presence speaks dispraise of you, they are angry and displeased and rebuke him, so much are you associating, it seems, with bhikkhus?"

"Yes, venerable sir".

- "Phagguna, are you not a clausman who has gone forth out of faith from the home life into homelessness?"

"Yes, venerable sir".

6. "Phagguna, it is not proper for you, who as a clausman gone forth out of faith from the home life into homelessness to associate overmuch with bhikkhus. Therefore if anyone in your presence speaks dispraise of those bhikkhus you should abandon any zeal and any thoughts based on the home life. And herein you should train thus 'My cognizance will be unaffected, and I shall utter no bad words, and I shall abide compassionate for welfare, with cognizance of loving-kindness and no inner hate': you

should train thus, Phagguna.

Therefore if anyone in your presence gives those bhikkus a blow with his hand or a blow with a clod or a blow with a stick or a blow with a knife, you should abandon any greed and any thoughts based on the house life --- you should train thus, Phagguna.

Therefore if anyone in your presence speaks dispraise, you should abandon --- you should train thus, Phagguna.

Therefore if anyone should give you a blow with the hand or a blow with a clod or a blow with a stick or a blow with a knife,¹²⁴ you should abandon --- you should train thus, Phagguna 5).

2. Then the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus:

"Bhikkhus, there was an occasion when the bhikkhus satisfied my mind. I addressed the bhikkhus thus: 'Bhikkhus, I eat food belonging to a single sitting. By so doing I perceive little affliction and little ailment, and also lightness (agility) strength and a comfortable abiding. Some, bhikkhus, eat food belonging to a single sitting. By so doing you will perceive little affliction, little ailment, and also lightness (agility) strength and a comfortable abiding'. But I had no need to keep on instructing those bhikkhus: I had only to arouse mindfulness in them."

Suppose there were a chariot on even ground at the four crossroads, harnessed to thoroughbreds, waiting with whip lying ready, so that a skilled trainer, driver of horses to be trained, might mount, and, taking the reins in his hand, drive out and back by any road in any way he liked, so too I had no need --- mindfulness in them.

8. Therefore, Bikkhus, abandon what is unprofitable and devote yourselves to what is profitable; for that is how you will come to growth, increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and Discipline.

Suppose there were a big Sala-tree grove near a village or town, and it was choked with castor-oil weeds, and some man appeared, seeking its good, its benefit, its sweet cease of bondage, and he cut down and threw out the crooked saplings that rotted the sap, and he cleared up the interior of the grove, and he tended the straight well-formed saplings, so that the sala-tree grove later on came to growth, increase and fulfilment; so too, Bikkhus, abandon what is unprofitable, ... in this True Idea and Discipline.

9. Formerly, Bikkhus, in the same Savatthi there was a housewife called Vedehita. And the good name of Mistress Vedehita had

M. 21

259
spread thus 'Mistress Vedehikā is kind, Mistress vedehikā is gentle, Mistress Vedehikā is demure'.

Now Mistress Vedehikā had a maid called Kālī, who was clever, nimble and neat in her work.

The maid Kālī thought 'My ~~lady's~~ good name has been spread thus "Mistress Vedehikā is kind, Mistress Vedehikā is gentle, Mistress Vedehikā is demure". How is it, now, while she does not show anger, is it nevertheless actually present in herself, or is ~~not~~ ^{about} ~~present~~? Or else is it just because my work is neat that my lady shows no anger though it is actually present in herself? Suppose I test my lady?"

So the maid Kālī got up when it was day. Then Mistress Vedehikā said:

'Hey, Kālī!'

'What is it madam?'

'What is the matter that you get up when it is day?'

'Nothing is the matter, madam.'

'Nothing is the matter, you wicked girl, get up when it is day!' and she was angry and displeased, and she scolded.

Then the maid Kālī [thought] 'The fact is that my lady does not show anger, it is actually present in herself, not absent; and it is just because my work is neat that my lady shows no anger though it is actually present in her.'

self, not absent. Suppose I test my lady a little more?"

So the maid Kali got up when it was later in the day. Then Mistress Vedhika said:

"Hey, Kali!"

"What is it, madam?"

"What is the matter that you get up when it is day?"

"Nothing is the matter, madam."

"Nothing is the matter, you wicked girl, yet you get up when it is day!" and she was angry and displeased, and she spoke words of displeasure.

Then the maid Kali [thought] "The fact is that ^{while} my lady does not show anger, it is actually present in herself, not absent; and it is just because my work is weak that my lady shows no anger though it is actually present in herself, not absent. Suppose I test my lady a little more?"

So the maid Kali got up when it was still later in the day. Then Mistress Vedhika said:

¹²⁶ "Hey, Kali!"

"What is it, madam?"

"What is the matter that you get up when it is day?"

"Nothing is the matter, madam."

"Nothing is the matter, you wicked girl,

M. 21

yet you get up later in the day!' and she was angry and displeased, and she took a rolling-pin and gave her a blow and broke her head.

Then the maid Kali, with blood running from her broken head, denounced [her mistress] to the neighbours 'See, ladies, the Kind One's work! See, ladies, the Gentle One's work! See, ladies, the Demure One's work! See how angry and displeased she was with her only maid for getting up when it was day, and how she took a rolling-pin and gave her a blow on the head!'

Then later on the bad name of Mistress Vedekika spread thus 'Mistress Vedekika is rough, Mistress Vedekika is violent, Mistress Vedekika is merciless'.

10. So too, bhikkhus, some bhikkhu is quite kind, quite gentle, quite demure, so long as no disagreeable words touch him. But it is as soon as disagreeable words touch him that a bhikkhu needs to appear kind and gentle and demure. I do not call a bhikkhu easy to correct, who is only easy to correct by reason of the robes, alms food, resting-place, and requisites of medicine as cure for the sick, that he gets. Why is that? Because that bhikkhu is not easy to correct when he gets no robes, alms food, resting-place, and requisites of medicine as cure for the sick.

262

But ~~when~~ the Bhikkhu ~~is~~ is easy to
correct; ~~since we~~, honours, respects and reveres
only the True Idea, ~~but~~ I call easy to correct.
Therefore, Bhikkhus, you should train thus
'We shall be easy to correct, honouring, re-
pecting and revering only the True Idea'.
you should train thus.

11. Bhikkhus, there are these five courses
of speech that others may use when they
~~speak to you~~ ^{address} correct you: They may be
timely or untimely, truthful or untruth-
ful, mild or harsh, ^{connected with} ~~with~~ good or ~~bad~~ harm,
~~with~~ accompanied by ^{timely} cognizance of lovingkindness or ~~not~~ by
unwise hate.

12 When others ^{address} correct you, their speech
may be timely or untimely; when others
~~address~~ correct you, their speech may be truthful or
untruthful; when others ^{address} correct you, their
speech may be ~~mild~~ or harsh; when others
~~address~~ correct you, their speech may be ~~good~~ or
~~with~~ harm; when others ^{address} correct you, their
speech may be accompanied by cognizance of
lovingkindness or ^{by} unwise hate.)

13 Herein, Bhikkhus, you should train
thus 'Our cognizance will ^{remain} unaffected,
and we shall utter no bad words, and we
shall abide compassionate to welfare with
cognizance of lovingkindness and no unwise
hate. We shall abide with cognizance of loving-

kindness extending to that person, and we shall abide with abundant exalted measureless cognizance of loving kindness, without hostility ~~and~~
 or affection, extending over all ^{the} ~~the~~ ^{entire} ~~entire~~ ^{world} embracing world, supporting ^{of that person} that [person]. You should train thus.

13. Bhikkhus, suppose a man came with a hoe and a basket and said 'I shall make this great earth to be without earth' and he dug here and there and strewed here and there and spelt here and there and relieved himself here and there, saying 'Be without earth, be without earth', how do you conceive this, bhikkhus, would that man make this great earth to be without earth? —

— «No, reverable sir. Why is that? Because this great earth is deep and immense; it cannot possibly be made to be without earth thus. ^{eventually} The man would reap weariness and disappointment,

14. also too, bhikkhus, there are these two causes of speech ... [repeat § 11] ... or by interlocute,

15. Herein, bhikkhus, you should train thus 'Our cognition will be unaffected ... [repeat § 12] ... the all-embracing world supporting that [person]'. You should train thus.

16. Bhikkhus, suppose a man came with lake or turmeric or indigo or carmine ~~and~~ and said 'I shall draw pictures, I shall make pictures appear, on this empty space', how do you conceive this, bhikkhus, would that man draw pictures, would he make pictures appear, on that empty space? — «No, reverable sir. Why is

that? Because that empty space is formless and invisible; he cannot possibly draw pictures, make pictures appear, there ^{thus} ~~thus~~. Eventually the man would reap weariness and disappointment.

- 264
17. "So too, Bhikkhus, there are these five courses of speech... unwholesome.
18. Herein, Bhikkhus, ... you should train thus.
19. Suppose, Bhikkhus, a man came with a burning grass-torch and said 'I shall warm up, I shall heat up, the River Ganges with this burning grass-torch'; how do you conceive this, Bhikkhus, would that man warm up, would he heat up, the River Ganges with the burning grass-torch?" — "No, venerable sir, why not? Because the River Ganges is deep and immense; it cannot possibly be warmed up, heated up, with a burning grass-torch. Eventually the man would reap weariness and disappointment."
20. "So too, Bhikkhus, there are these five courses of speech... unwholesome.
21. Herein, Bhikkhus, ... you should train thus.
22. Bhikkhus, suppose there were a cat'skin bag that was scrubbed, well rubbed, thoroughly well rubbed, soft, silken, rid of rustling, and rid of crackling, and a man came with a stick or a potsherd and said 'There is this

cat [-skin] bag that is rubbed, well rubbed, thoroughly well rubbed, soft, silky, rid of rustling, and rid of crackling; I shall make it rustle, I shall make it crackle, how do you conceive this, blackbeard, would the man make it rustle or make it crackle with the stick or the potsherd?» —

«No, venerable sir. Why is that? Because that cat [-skin] bag, being rubbed, well rubbed thoroughly well rubbed, soft, silky, ~~2~~ rid of rustling, rid of crackling, cannot possibly be made to rustle or made to crackle with the stick or the potsherd. Eventually the man would reap weariness and disappointment.»

23¹ «So too, blackbeard, there are three five courses of speech ¹²⁴... never hate.

24¹ Herein, blackbeard, ... you should train thus.

25. Even ~~if~~^{wife} bandits ~~bitterly~~^{do not} severed limb from limb with a two-handled ears, he who entertained hate ~~in his heart~~ on that account would not be one who carried out my teaching.

26. ~~Herein~~^{Now then in this} blackbeard you should train thus. Our ~~body~~ ^{mind} will be unaffected, and we shall utter no bad words, and we shall abide compassionate for welfare with cognizance of lovingkindness and no ~~inner~~ hate. We shall abide with cognizance of lovingkindness extending to that person, and we shall abide with abundant, exalted, measureless cognizance of lovingkindness, without hostility or affliction, extending over the whole all-embracing world supporting ~~that speech~~^{the body}. You should train thus for its ~~support~~ object.

26. And, Bhikkhus, you should keep this instruction of the Simile of the Saw constantly in mind.

~~27.~~ Bhikkhus, ^{do you see} in the course of speech, trivial or gross, that you would not endorse? ».

« No, venerable sir ».

« Therefore, Bhikkhus, you should keep this instruction of the Simile of the Saw constantly in mind. That will be long for your welfare and happiness ».

That is what the Blessed One said. The Bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words. —

Notes

§7 See Sutta 65, § 2

'Odhasta - lying ready': P.T.S. Dict gives only 'fallen down, scattered' which is wrong in this context and conflicts with the tang. Cf. M. vol. III, 97.

§8 'Tachetvā - cut down': See Sutta 5, § 31.

§9 'Aggulasuci' - rendered here as 'rolling pin' thought might be a bar for a door-fastening.

§13 'yāvad eva sa pana so puris kila maha' - vighatana bhāgi arsa - eventually the man would reap weariness and disappointment': the phrase occurs at M. vol. I, 241 and elsewhere in the suttas. The use of yāvad eva is idiomatic.

§25. 'cora caraka - bandits brutalis'; cf same phrase at Gāṇḍavyūha no. III, 1. Alternative reading: 'Even in common bandits'.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 22 - Alagaddupama Sutta
(1, 3, 2)

1. **130** Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park

Now on that occasion ~~these~~ ^{a pernicious view} had arisen

in a bhikkhu called Ariththa, formerly of the Vulture Killers, ~~the following~~ ^{pernicious view} & As I understand the True Idea taught by the Blessed One, [though certain] ideas [themselves are] called obstructions by the Blessed One [they] are not ^{supposed to be} intended by him or obstructions ~~to~~ ^{of} the actual pumper of them [himself].

3. Many bhikkhus heard * that this was so. Then they went to the bhikkhu Ariththa, formerly of the Vulture Killers, and asked him «Friend, is it true, as it seems, that the following ^{pernicious} view has arisen in you: 'As I understand the True Idea taught by the Blessed One, [though certain] ideas [themselves are] called obstructions by the Blessed One [they] are not intended by him as] obstructions ~~to~~ ^{of} the actual pumper of them [himself]'? ».

«Exactly so, friends. As I understand the True Idea taught by the Blessed One, [though certain] ideas [themselves are] called

M. 22

disappointment

obstructions by the Blessed One [they] are not
intended by him ^{sufficiently so to} ~~any~~ obstructions to the actual
pursuer of them [himself]. >>

268

Then those blackhearts, desiring to
detach him from that ^{perdition}, pressed and
questioned and cross-questioned him thus:
& Friend Aritha, do not say so; do not mis-
represent the Blessed One; it is not good to
misrepresent the Blessed One. ^{in many discourses} The Blessed One
would not ^{speak} ~~say~~ thus. For ~~such~~ ^{certain} ideas
~~[attainment to any]~~ called obstructions by the Blessed
One ~~is~~ ^{sufficiently so} and also intended by ~~him~~ ^{him}
obstructions to the actual pursuer of them [him-
self]. ~~in many discourses~~ The Blessed One
has taken ~~now~~ ^{now} sensual desires provide little
gratification, much suffering and much des-
pair, and ~~the danger in them is great~~ ^{danger in them is great}.
With the simile of the Skeleton... With the
simile of the Piece of Flesh... With the simile of
the gran Torch... With the simile of the Pit
of Coals... With the simile of the Dream...
With the simile of the Borrowed Goods... With
the simile of the Tree and Fruit... With the
simile of the Slaughterhouse... With the
simile of the Sword Stake... With the simile
of the Snake's Head the Blessed One taught
how sensual desires provide little enjoyment,
much suffering and much despair, and how
~~great~~ ^{the danger in them is great}.

Yet although pressed and questioned
and cross-questioned by the blackhearts in this way,

M. 22

263
 The blackclad Aritha, formerly of the Vulture Killers,
 still obstinately, adhered to his ^{own} view and
 insisted upon it, saying « Exactly so, friend;
 am the actual purveyor of them [things] ».

4. Since the blackclads were unable to detect
 him ¹³¹ from that ^{perception} view they went to the Blessed
 One, and after paying homage to him, they sat
 down at one side. When they had done so, they
 told him all that had occurred, and they
 added « ¹³² Venerable Sir, since we have been
 unable to detect the blackclad Aritha, formerly
 of the Vulture Killers, from this ^{perception} view, we
 have reported this matter to the Blessed One ».

5. Then the Blessed One addressed a
 certain blackclad thus « Come, blackclad, tell the
 blackclad Aritha, formerly of the Vulture Killers, in
 my name that the Master calls him ».

¹³² « Even so, venerable Sir » ^{the black}
 replied, and he went to the blackclad Aritha
 and told him « The Master calls you, friend
 Aritha ».

« Even so, friend » he replied, and he
 went to the Blessed One, and after paying
 homage to him, he sat down at one side.
 When he had done so, the Blessed One asked
 him « Aritha, is it true, as it seems, that
 the following ^{perception} has arisen in you 'As I
 understand the True Idea taught by the Blessed
 One, [though certain] ideas [themselves are] called
 abstractions by the Blessed One [they] are not free

sufficiently so to
tended by him as [obstructions] to the actual
purer of them [himself]? ??

270
“Exactly so, venerable Sir. As I under-
stand the True Idea taught by the Blessed
One, [thought, certain] ideas [themselves are]
called obstructions by the Blessed One
[they] are not ~~intended by him as~~ obstruc-
tions to the actual purer of them [him-
self]”.

6. “Misguided man, to whom have you
ever known me teach they True Idea in that way?
~~to many courses, have not~~
Misguided man, ~~have~~ not certain] ideas taken
[themselves] called obstructions by me false
~~as sufficiently so as~~ intended ~~by me as~~ obstructions to the actual
purer of them [himself]. In many other
courses? I have told how sensual desires
provide little ~~gratification~~, much suffering and
much ~~despair~~, and how ~~the danger in them~~
~~is great~~. With the simile of the skeleton

... With the simile of the Piece of Flesh ...
With the simile of the Grass Torch ... With the
simile of the Pit of Coals ... With the sim-
ile of the Dream ... With the simile of
the Borrowed Goods ... With the simile of
the Tree and Fruit ... With the simile of the
Slaughterhouse ... With the simile of the
Sword Stake ... With the simile of the Sack's
Head I have told how sensual desires provide
little enjoyment, much suffering and
despair, and how ~~great~~ ~~the danger in them~~ ~~is~~
~~great~~. But you, misguided man, have

both misrepresented us ~~that~~^{to} that you were wrong,
~~for it~~^{as} grasp ~~and~~ worked your own un-
 doing by storing up much demerit; for this
 will be long for your harm and suffering.

7. Then the Blessed One addressed the
 Bhikkus - thus & Bhikkus, how do you con-
 ceive this: has this Bhikkhu Artha, formerly
 of the Vulture Killers, ^{having} ever ~~understood~~
True Idea and Discipline? ^(of understanding)
 & ^{why should the renounce} ~~How~~ we may put it, no, reverber-
 sit?.

When this was said, the Bhikkus Artha,
 formerly of the Vulture Killers, sat silent, dis-
 mayed, with shoulders drooping and head
 + down, gazing not with nothing to say.

Then knowing ~~it~~ the ~~it~~, the Blessed One
 told him & Misguided man, you will be
~~made~~^{deserted} lesson by this your own ^{persecution} evil view.
 I shall question the Bhikkus on this matter.

8. Then the Blessed One addressed the
 Bhikkus thus & Bhikkus, do you know
 the True Idea taught by me as this
 Bhikkhu Artha, formerly of the Vulture Killers,
 does, ³³ when he both misrepresents us ~~that~~
~~that he~~ his wrong, grasp ~~and~~ works
 his own undoing by storing up much demerit?.

« No, venerable sir. For [whilst certain] ideas [themselves are] called obstructions by the Blessed One [they] are [also intended by him as] obstructions to the actual pursuer of them [himself] in many discourses. The Blessed One has told how sensual desires provide little enjoyment, much suffering and much despair, and how ~~great~~^{great} danger in them is ~~great~~. With the simile of the skeleton ... With the simile of the snake's head the Blessed One has told ... how ~~great~~^{great} the danger in them is ~~great~~.

« Good, bhikkhus, good that you know the True Idea taught by me thus. For [whilst certain] ideas [themselves are] called obstructions by me [they] are [also intended by me as] obstructions to the actual pursuer of them [himself] in many discourses. I have told how sensual sensual desires provide little enjoyment, much suffering and much despair, and how ~~great~~^{great} the danger in them is ~~great~~. With the simile of the skeleton ... With the simile of the snake's head I have told ~~how~~^{now much} the danger in them is ~~great~~. But this his guided man, the bhikkhu Aritha, formerly of the Vulture Killers, has both his reprobated us ~~with a bad brother~~, ~~wrongly grasped~~^{of it} and worked his own undoing by storing up much deavent; for this will be long for his harm and suffering.

Bhikkhus, that [objective] sensual desire can be pursued without [deplement

~~Sensual desire, without perception of sensual desire, without thoughts of sensual desire, that is not possible.~~

The Snake

10. Here, thicklers, some misguided men learn the [Teaching of the] True Idea — <sup>These N
Diss-</sup>
~~August~~, Song, ^{Pre} Exposition, Shāstra, Exclamation,
Saying, Birth-story, Marvel, and Answer
to Question —, [but] having learnt that [Teaching of the] True Idea, they do not examine ^{for} ~~with~~ understanding the purpose of those ideas. Not examining with understanding, ^{carrying away} ~~the purpose of those ideas~~,
~~they have no desire for examining them, and instead they learn the Teaching of the True Idea for the sake of finding~~
~~fault and for the sake of rebuffing~~ criticism. They do not appreciate the purpose for which they learn the [Teaching of the] True Idea. Those ideas being wrongly apprehended by them for long conduct to their harm and suffering. Suppose a man wanted a snake, was seeking a snake, was wandering in search of a snake, and he saw a large snake, and then he grasped its coils or its tail, it turned back on him and bit his hand or his arm or one of his limbs, ¹³⁴ and on that account of that he came to death or deadly

274

suffering — why is that? because of his ~~wrong grasp of~~
~~wrong grasp of~~ the snake — so too, here some men guided men learn the teaching of the True Idea... those ideas being wrongly ~~grasped~~ ^{grasped} ~~by him~~ for long conduct to their harm and suffering.

11 Here, therefore, some clausmen learn the teaching of the True Idea — Discourse, Song, Exposition, Itaaza, Exclamation, Saying, Birth-story, Marvel, and Answer to Question —, and having learnt that Teaching of the True Idea, they examine with understanding the purpose of those other ideas with understanding. Examining the purpose of those ideas with understanding, they like ~~pondering over them~~ ^{pondering over them}, and they do not learn the Teaching of the True Idea for the sake of ~~pride~~ ^{egging} fault and for the sake of rebuked reputation. They appreciate the purpose for which they learn the teaching of the True Idea. Those ideas being rightly grasped by them for long conduct to their welfare and happiness. Suppose a man wanted a snake, was seeking a snake, was wandering in search of a snake, and he saw a large snake, and he caught it with a cleft stick, and having done so, grasped it ^{rightly} ~~wrongly~~ by the neck, thus although the snake might wrap its coils

M. 22

275

round his hand & his arm & his limbs, till
he could not on that account come to death &
deadly suffering - why is that? because of
his ^{right} ~~wrong~~ grasp of the snake — so too, here
some clausmen learn the Teaching of the True
Idea ... those ~~ideas being~~ right
grasped by him for long conduct to his welfare
and happiness.

12. There fore, Bhikkhus, when you know the purpose
of what is spoken by me, ~~and~~ from
your ideas accordingly; and when you do
not know the purpose of what is spoken
by me, then you should question me
about it or else those Bhikkus who are wise.

The Raft

13. Bhikkus, I shall ~~show~~ you ^{how} the Teaching
of the True Idea is ~~similar to~~ ^{like} a ~~comparable~~
a raft, ^{being} for the purpose of crossing over, not
for the purpose of grasping. Listen, and heed
well what I shall say ».

« Even so, venerable Sir » the Bhikkus
replied. The Blessed One said this. ^{the coming}
« Bhikkus, suppose a man who had set
out upon a journey saw a great expanse of
water, whose near shore was dangerous and
fearful and whose further shore was safe
and free from fear, but there was no ferry
boat or bridge ^{going to} ~~to cross over it by~~ ^{to get to the}
further shore ~~off~~; ^{then he thought} ~~then he thought~~ « There
is this great expanse of water, whose near

shore is dangerous and fearful and where further shore is safe and free from fear, but there is no ferry boat or bridge ~~to get to the~~
 farther shore ~~safely~~; what if I collected grass and twigs and branches and leaves and bound them together into a raft and supported by the raft and ~~wading~~ ^{making efforts} with my hands and feet I ~~can~~ got across to the farther shore;
 And then the man collected grass and twigs and branches and leaves and bound them together into a raft and supported by the raft and ~~wading~~ ^{making efforts} with my hands and feet he got across to the farther shore; then, when he had crossed got across and arrived at the other shore, he ~~sang~~ ^{wrote} thus 'This raft has been very helpful to me since I supported by it and ~~wading~~ ^{making efforts} with hands and feet I got across safely to the other shore; what if I (horning it out) by head or loading it on my shoulders?' ~~and~~ Now, Blenkins, how do you conceive this world that man ~~by so doing~~ be doing what should be done with the raft?»

« No, venerable sir. »
 « By doing what would that man be doing what should be done with the raft? Here, Blenkins, when that man had got across and arrived at the other shore, he ~~sang~~ ^{wrote} the night thile thus 'This raft has been very helpful to me since supported by it and ~~wading~~ ^{making efforts} with hands and feet I got across safely to the other shore; what

M. 22

if I went where I desire to go after ~~pulling~~
 it up on to the dry land or set it adrift
 on the water? Now, therefore, ~~how~~ do you
 conceive this by so doing would that man
 be doing what should be done with the raft?
~~over & even so, vacate~~ ^{it &} ~~sink.~~ by so doing
 that man would be doing what should be
 done with ~~the~~ raft. ~~That is to say,~~ I have ~~resemble~~
~~shown you, the~~ teaching of the True Idea ~~as~~
~~expressed by~~ ^{so} ~~set~~ a raft, for the purpose of crossing over,
 not for the purpose of grasping. P

14 Blidduh, ~~when~~ when you know the
 simile of the raft, [then even ~~True~~] ideas
 should be abandoned by you, how much
 more so untrue ideas

15. Standpoints for Vision
 Blidduh, there are ~~are~~ six standpoints for
~~gross~~ views. What are the six? Here, Blid-
 duh, an untangled ordinary man ~~disengaged~~
 Noble One & --- [complete as in Sutta 1, § 3] ---
 undisciplined in good Men's True Idea.

(1) ~~the~~ ^{always} - form thus 'This is mine, this
 is I, this is my self' (2) he always sees failing
 ... perception. ~~determinations~~, (3) he always
 sees ~~determinations~~ thus 'This is mine, this is
 I, this is my self', (4) he always sees what is
 seen, heard, sensed cognized, ~~encountered~~, ~~expected~~,
~~expected~~ meeting ~~the~~ mind, thus 'This is mine, this
 approached with the head', thus 'This is mine, this
 is I, this is my self', (6) and he always sees

278

this standpoint for views, namely, 'this self
is in the world; after death I shall be per-
manent, everlasting, eternal, unchanging
by nature'; ¹³⁶ I shall ~~endure~~ last as long as
eternity', or 'this is mine, this is I, this
is my self'.

16. Bhikkhu, a well-taught noble disciple
~~who~~ has regard for Noble Ones ... [complete
as in Sutta 2, § 8] ... disciplined in ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~one~~
one's true idea.

He ~~always~~ sees from thus & this is not
mine, this is not I, this is not my self;
he ~~always~~ sees feeling... perceptions...
determinations... what is seen, heard, sensed,
ognized, encountered, sought, ~~mentally~~
~~approached~~ by ~~the~~ ^{the} mind... This standpoint for views, namely,
'this self is in the world; after death I shall
be permanent, everlasting, eternal, un-
changing by nature; I shall ~~last as long~~ ^{exist}
as eternity', or 'this is mine, this is I, this
is myself'.

7. When he ~~always~~ sees thus, he has
no ~~anxiety~~ about what is non-existent.

8. When this was said, a certain bhikkhu
asked the Blessed One & Venerable Sir, Can
there be ~~anxiety~~ about what is ~~non-existent~~ | ^{externally} |
externally?».

« There can be, bhikkhu » the Blessed
One said. « Here, bhikkhu, someone ~~said~~

(continues)

said thus 'Alas, I had; alas, I have it no longer! Alas, I might have; alas, I do not get it!'. Then he sorrow, grieves and laments, beating his breast, he weeps and becomes distraught. That is how there is ~~sorcery~~ anguish about what is non-existent externally".

19. «Venerable Sir, can there be ^{not} anguish about what is (~~unconscious~~) non-existent/externally?»

«There can be, bikkhu» the Blessed One said. «Here, bikkhu, someone does not think thus 'Alas, I had; alas, I have it no longer! Alas I might have; alas, I do not get it!', then he does not sorrow, or grieve and lament, he does not, beating his breast, weep and become distraught. That is how ~~there is no~~ anguish about what is ~~not~~/non-existent/externally».

20. «Venerable Sir, can there be anguish about what is (~~unconscious~~) non-existent/in oneself?»

«There can be, bikkhu» the Blessed One said. «Here someone's view is this 'Thisself, this world; after death I shall be permanent, everlasting, eternal, ~~not impermanent from the idea of change~~, ^{change} unchanging by nature, I shall stand ~~as~~ long as eternity'. He hears a Perfect One, or a Perfect One's disciple teaching the True Idea for the elimination of all standpoints, ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~the~~ ^{desiring} ~~desires~~ ^{desires} ~~desires~~, others. For view,

~~for~~, insistence^{regarding} and ~~intens~~ underlying tendency^(views), for the stilling of all determinations, for the relinquishment of all essentials^(of being) of existence, for the exhaustion of craving, for fading away^(of lust), for cessation, for extinction. He ¹³⁷ thinks thus ~~of~~ ~~that~~ 'So I shall be annihilated! So I shall be lost! So I shall be no more!' Then he sorrow, grieves and laments, beating his breast, he weeps and becomes distraught. That is how there is anguish about what is ~~unknowable~~ /non-existent/in oneself».

21. «Venerable sir, can there be no anguish about what is /non-existent/in oneself?»

«There can be, blinks the Blamed One said. Here someone's view is not this: 'This self in the world; after death I shall be permanent, everlasting, eternal, ~~an-~~
~~ceasable from the idea of change,~~
~~standing by nature,~~ I shall endure as long as eternity'. He hears a Perfect One or a Perfect One's disciple teaching the True Idea for the elimination of all standpoints, resolves, obsessions, insistencies, and underlying tendencies, [regarding views,] for the stilling of all determinations, for the relinquishment of all essentials^(of being) of existence, for the exhaustion of craving, for fading away, for cessation, for extinction.

He does not think thus 'So I shall be annihilated! so I shall be lost! so I shall be no more!'. Then he does not sorrow, or grieve and lament, he does not, beating his breast, weep and become distraught. That is how there is no anguish about what is non-existent in oneself.

In permanence and Not-self

22. Bhikkhus, the possession that one might possess, which possession were permanent, everlasting, eternal, ^{not inseparable from the idea of change,} unchanging, ^{changeless} by nature, and might endure as long as eternity; do you see any such possession, children? » — « No, venerable sir ». « Good, ~~such a~~, ~~everlasting~~, ~~eternal~~, ~~unchanging~~ bhikkhus. I too see no ~~such a~~, ~~everlasting~~, ~~eternal~~, ~~unchanging~~ such possession.

23. Bhikkhus, the self-theory clinging whereby one might cling, which self-theory clinging would not arouse sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair in him who might cling thereby: do you see any such self-theory clinging, bhikkhus? » — « No, venerable sir. » — « Good, bhikkhus, I too see no such self-theory clinging.

24. Bhikkhus, the view or support that one might take as support, ~~which~~ ~~view~~

which view as support would not arouse sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair in him who might take it as support: do you see any ~~* such *~~ view as support, Bhikkhus? » — « No, venerable sir » — « Good, Bhikkhus, I too see no ~~* such *~~ view as support ». 158

15. Bhikkhus, ~~there~~^{being} self, there would be my self's property » — « Even so, venerable sir » — « Or ~~if there~~^{there being}, self's property, there would be my self. » — « Even so, venerable sir » — « Bhikkhus, self and self's property being unapprehendable as true and established, then this standpoint for views, namely, 'this self, the world; after death, it shall be permanent, everlasting, eternal, ^{not imperishable} ~~unchanging by nature~~, ^{of change} it shall endure as long as eternity', ^{and so} is it not the pure perfection of a fool's idea? » — « ^{We} ~~however~~ may put it, venerable sir, it ^{would be} the pure perfection of a fool's idea. »

16. Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this: is form permanent or impermanent? » — « Impermanent, venerable sir. » — « Is what is impermanent pleasant or painful or pleasant? » — « Painful, venerable sir. » — « Is what is impermanent, painful,

M. 22

and / inseparable from the idea of change
and changing by nature fit to be always
seen thus 'This is mine, This is I, this is
my self?' » — « No, venerable sir. » —

Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this:
is feeling ...

Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this:
is perception ...

Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this:
are determinations ...

Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this:
is consciousness ... '... this is my self? » —
« No, venerable sir. »

27. Therefore, bhikkhus, any kind of form
whatever, whether past, future or present,
arisen, in oneself or external, ¹³⁹ gross or
subtle, inferior or superior (^{already abandoned}) or
superior (a superior goal), far or near,
all of it should be seen as it is with right
understanding thus 'This is not mine, this
is not I, this is not my self'.

Any kind of feeling whatever ...

Any kind of perception whatever ...

Any kind of determinations whatever ...

Any kind of consciousness whatever ...

... this is not my self'.

28. Seeing thus, bhikkhus, a well-taught
noble disciple becomes dispassionate towards
form, becomes dispassionate towards feeling,

becomes dispassionate towards perception,
becomes dispassionate towards determinations,
becomes dispassionate towards consciousness.

29. Being dispassionate his last fades away. With the fading ~~he is liberated~~
~~when [his cognizance]~~ is liberated. When
liberated there comes is the knowledge
'It is liberated'. He understands 'Birth is
exhausted, the life Divine has been lived,
what was to be done is done, there is no
more of this to come' ^{The instant}.

30. Blitkhan, this blitkhan is such
~~shaft~~ ~~is~~ Lifted ~~the~~ Barrier is such
~~that he is~~ Lifted ~~the~~ Trench ~~is~~ field in such
that ~~I~~ Lifted ~~the~~ Trench ~~is~~ reported
that he is Uprooted Yearning, he is
such that he has no Bar, he is a noble
One whose Banner is lowered, whose Burden
is lowered, who is unfettered.

31. And how does a blitkhan come to
shaft is Lifted ~~the~~ Barrier? Here the blitkhan
has abandoned ignorance, ^{he has} cut it off at
the root, made it like a palm stump,
done away with it, so that its ^{no more} nature to
influence ^{of the} future, ^{is} ~~more~~. That
is how a blitkhan comes to have Lifted
the Barrier.

32. And how does a blitkhan ^{one who} ~~comes~~
Trench ^{is} filled in the Trench? Here the blitkhan
~~comes~~ ^{is} filled in the Trench?

225

has abandoned the round of births which
~~produces him~~
~~and causes him to be again,~~ he has
~~cut it off,~~ ... so that it is no more separable from
~~the heart~~
~~its future~~ ~~is no more.~~ That is how a bhikkhu
comes to have fallen in the French ~~the bhikkhu one whose~~ Yearning ^{to}
33. And how does ~~come to have~~ uprooted?

Yearning? Here the bhikkhu has abandoned
craving, he has cut it off at the root, ... so that
it is no more inseparable from the ^{idea of} future ~~is no~~
its nature to ~~and again~~ ~~in the future is no~~
more. That is how a bhikkhu comes to have
uprooted Yearning.

34. And how does a bhikkhu come to have
no Bar? Here a bhikkhu has abandoned
the five lower fetters, ~~cut them off at the~~
root, ... so that they are no more inseparable
from the idea of future arising ~~is no more~~
more. That is how a bhikkhu comes to have
no Bar.

35. And how does a bhikkhu come to be
a Noble One whose Banner is lowered, whose
Burden is lowered, who is unfettered. Here
a bhikkhu has abandoned the conceit "ah",
he has cut it off at the root, ¹⁴⁰ ... so that it is no
more inseparable from the ^{idea of} future ~~is no~~
its nature to arise ~~in the future is no~~ more. That
is how a bhikkhu comes to be a Noble One
whose Banner is lowered, whose Burden is
lowered, who is unfettered.

36.

Bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu's cognacue

M. 22

226

is thus liberated, the ~~deities~~^{gods} with the Ruler [of Gods]^(God), the ~~deities~~^{gods} with the Divine (Brahmā), and the ~~deities~~^{gods} with the Lord of the Race (Pajapati), do not find him when they seek him, do not find that the consciousnesses of one thus gone (tathata-
gata) ~~do~~ has anything as its support. Why
is that? I say One thus gone is ~~no longer~~
~~knowable~~, free and no
~~and now~~ ~~no longer~~ ~~knowable~~! ~~but~~

No. 100

37. So saying, blithely, so proclaiming,
I have been basely, vainly, falsely
and ~~wantonly~~ wrongly misrepresented
by some ascetics and divines thus: 'The
^{monk} ascetic Gotama is one who leads away [to loss]
he makes known the annihilation, the loss
of an existing creature'. As I am not, as I
do not proclaim, so have I been basely,
vainly, falsely and wrongly misrepresented
by some ascetics and divines thus: 'The
^{monk} ascetic Gotama is one who leads away; he
makes known the annihilation, the loss
of an existing creature that is'.

38. Blithbuss^{6th}, formerly and now ~~there~~
what I have ~~described~~ known is suffering and
the end of suffering. It others ^(one thing gone) abrase, revile
and rail against a Perfect One, ~~of the~~, the
Perfect One (one thus gone) on that account

M. 22

287
 feels annoyance or disappointment or dejection of the heart. If other honour respect, revere and venerate a Perfect One (~~in thus gone~~)^{for that} to the Perfect One (~~in thus gone~~) on that account feels no delight, no joy, no elation of the heart. If other honour, respect, revere and venerate a Perfect One (~~in thus gone~~)^{for that, on the account} to the Perfect One (~~in thus gone~~) [thinks] thus "They perform such acts ~~for on my~~ against for the sake of what ~~in~~, earlier ^{came first} [understood] at time of enlightenment?"

29 Therefore, blithely, if others abuse, revile and rail against you, on that account no annoyance or disappointment or dejection of the heart ^{need} should be entertained by you. And if others honour, respect, revere and venerate you, on that account no delight, no joy, no elation of the heart should be entertained by you. If other honour, respect, revere and venerate you, on that account you ^{can} ^{safely} feel "They do such acts as these for the sake of what ~~in~~ earlier ^{came to be} ^{understood} fully & understood".

Not Yours

30 Therefore, blithely, whatever is not yours, ~~not~~ abandon it; when you have abandoned it, that will be long for your welfare and happiness. What is it that is not yours?

Form is not yours. Abandon it. When you have abandoned it, that will be long for your welfare and happiness. Feeling is not yours, ~~not~~ Perception is not yours... Determinations are not yours... Consciousness is not yours. Abandon it. When you have abandoned it, that will be long for your welfare and happiness.

*1. Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this: if people carried off the grass, sticks, branches and leaves in this Jetā's grove, or burnt them, or did what they liked with them, would you [think] 'People are carrying us off or burning us or doing what they like with us'? — «No, venerable sir. Why not? Because, venerable sir, that is ~~not~~^{neither} our self nor our self's property.» — also too, bhikkhus, whatever is not yours, abandon it; when you have abandoned it, that will be long for your welfare and happiness. What is it that is not yours? Form is not yours... Feeling... Perception... Determinations... Consciousness is not yours. Abandon it. When you have abandoned it, that will be long for your welfare and happiness.

M. 22

In This True Idea

42.

Bhikkhus, the True Idea ~~is thus~~ will be proclaimed by me thus in clear, plain, evident and stripped of padding. In the True Idea well proclaimed by me thus, which is clear, plain, evident and stripped of padding—there is no ~~describing~~ known a [future] round of those bhikkhus who are arahants with caulkers exhausted, who have laid ~~the~~ life, done what ~~is~~ to be done, laid down the burden reached the ~~true~~ goal, destroyed the fetters of being, and ~~thus~~ through right final knowledge are liberated.

43.

Bhikkhus, the True Idea will be proclaimed by me thus... In the True Idea will be proclaimed by me thus ~~which is~~ stripped of padding ~~those~~ all those ^{which are} bhikkhus who have abandoned the five lower fetters (^{will} reappear spontaneously [in the pure Abode]) and there attain extinction without ever returning from that world.

44.

Bhikkhus, the True Idea will be proclaimed by me thus in... In the True Idea will be proclaimed by me thus, which is... stripped of padding ~~those~~ all those bhikkhus who ~~have~~ abandoned the three lower fetters and attenuated lust, hate and delusion.

M. 22

as all Once-returners, returning once to this world to make an end of suffering.

45. Blikkles, the True Idea will proclaimed by me thus is --- In the True Idea will proclaimed by me thus, which is --- stripped of padding, those blikkles who have abandoned ~~the~~ ^{no more important than the other of padding,} ~~three~~ letters are all Stream-enterers, ¹⁴² certain [of rightness] and destined to enlightenment.

46. Blikkles, the True Idea will proclaimed by me thus is --- In the True Idea will proclaimed by me thus, which is --- stripped of padding, those blikkles who are ~~Mature in Faith~~ Mature in the True Idea or Mature in Faith are ~~perfect~~ destined to fall enlightenment.

47. Blikkles, the True Idea will proclaimed by me thus is ^{open, plain,} clear, plain, evident and stripped of padding. In the True Idea well proclaimed by me thus, which is clear, plain, evident and stripped of padding, those who have ^{enough} simple faith in me, ^{enough} love for me, have destined ~~for~~ heaven as their supreme value.

48. ^{That is what} the Blessed One said. The blikkles were satisfied, and they ~~were~~ delighted in his words.

Notes

291

132

§ 10 for expression 'nijjhānaṁ khamanti
 (they like ~~illustrating~~ ~~practising~~ ~~for~~ [them])' cf. Sutta
 95 ~~and~~ § 14. Cf also S. XXV, 1 (3. iii, 225)

§ 15 for expression anuvicaritam nūcañā
 (~~mentally~~ ~~approached~~ ~~with the mind~~) cf. Sutta 5137 and
 140 manopavicāra (~~mentally~~ ~~approached~~) by the
 mind.

§ 25 for expression Kein li no siyā
 (however we may put it) cf. Kathāvalīha
 67. but cf. Sutta 31 § 10.

§ 37 for the meanings of Venayaka from
vineti to lead away (to ~~overcome~~ ~~extinguish~~)
 or to discipline, hence vinaya hence
vinodati = vinodanī in other vinodati
 (to remove e.g. āghatavinaya) or
 meanings are principally to: (1) vineti
 (to lead away) = vinodeti (to remove
 as e.g. āghatavinaya) or vināseti (to
 annihilate) and (2) vineti (to discipline)
 = damati (to tame as in Vinaya Vitaka).

The meaning here is a pun, which is more
 clearly shown at Vin. III - + + .

§ 38 and 39 Instead of 'Tathā me evamīpa
kāra kāryanti' and 'tathā no evamīpa kāra
kāryanti' respectively better read with
 conj. 'tathā 'me (= me) evamīpa kāra
 kāryanti' in both cases.

§ 23 for the emphasis on self-theory clinging
see Sutta II § 8, 9 ff.

§ 46 'Gaddhīmūśārin - mature in faith' and
'dhammānūśārin - mature in the True Idea'
are described in S. XXV, I (S. III, 225)

§ 47 Cf. Sutta 65, § 27

§ 30, 31. Mokkhitapaligga - uposatha in life;
see Su. 622, where all the words associated
with moksas seem to refer to the steps and
ties of human

§ 18 On paitanava = anguish etc. S. III, 18

§ 48 sagga parāyaṇa cf. sambodhi parāyaṇa
in formula of sotāpanna (M. 6). This signifies
the change of orientation in the Sotāpanna is
compared with the ~~taloka~~ good. Ordinary
man.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 23 - Vātavāka Sutta (1, 3, 3)

203

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Reverend One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park. Now on that occasion the venerable Kūmāra Kassapa was living in the Blind Men's grove.

~~They, in the night, being well advanced upon the place set the whole a certain deity of beautiful aspect who illustrated the shade of Jetā's grove, the Blind Men's grove, went to the Reverend Kūmāra Kassapa and stood at one side. And standing, the deity said to the venerable Kūmāra Kassapa thus:~~

2. "Blitklu, blitklu, these ant hill furnaces by night and flames by day."

Thus spoke the Divine 'Delve with the knife, thou Wise One'. Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw a bar: 'A bar, O reverend Sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the bar, and delve with the knife, thou Wise One'. Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw a toad: 'A toad, O reverend Sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the toad; delve with the knife, thou Wise One'. Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw a fork: 'A fork, O reverend Sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the fork; delve with the knife, thou Wise One'. Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw scive: 'A scive, O reverend Sir'.

143 Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the
seive; ~~How wise One~~²⁸⁴ dig delve with the knife,
throw Wise One'. Delving with the knife, the
Wise One saw a tortoise: 'A tortoise, O rever-
able sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the
tortoise; delve with the knife, throw Wise One'.
Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw an
axe and block: 'An axe and block, O rever-
able sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the
axe and block; delve with the knife, throw Wise
One'. Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw
a piece of meat; 'A piece of meat, O venerable
sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Throw out the piece
of meat; delve with the knife, throw Wise One'.
Delving with the knife, the Wise One saw a
Nāga serpent: 'A Nāga serpent, O venerable sir'.

Thus spoke the Divine 'Leave the Nāga Ser-
pent; harm not the Nāga serpent; honour the
Nāga serpent'.

Bhikkhu, you should go to the Blessed
One and ask him about this riddle. As the
Blessed One tells you, so you should remember
it. Bhikkhu, other than a Perfect One, a dis-
ciple of a Perfect One, or one who has learnt
from him, I see no one in this world with it.

225

~~gods~~, its Maras and its Divinities, in this generation with its Monks and Divines, it ~~knows~~ by divine right and its men, whose answers to this riddle might carry conviction»

That is what was said by the deity, who thereupon vanished ~~on the spot~~ at once.

3. Then, when the night was over, the venerable Kumara Kassapa went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he told ~~the~~ the Blessed One what had occurred, and he asked:

«Venerable Sir, ~~last night, when the night was too advanced~~ what is the ant-hill, what the puning by night, what the flaming by day? What is the divine, who the Wise One? What is the knife, what the delving, what the bar, what the toad, what the fork, what the sink, what the tortoise, what the ax and block, what the piece of meat, what the Naga Serpent?»

4. ~~By~~ a Bhikkhu, the ant-hill is a symbol for this body consisting of the four great entities, pro-created by a mother and father, built up out of rice and bread, inseparable from the idea of impermanence, vanquishing and nibbling ^{and} of dissolution and disintegration.

What one thinks and explores by night contingent upon one's acts by day is the puning by night.

What one puts into effect by day as acts of body, speech or mind after thinking and exploring by night is the 'flaming by day'. 226

The 'Divine' is a symbol for a Perfect One, accomplished and fully enlightened.

The 'Wise One' is a symbol for an Initiate.

The 'Knife' is a symbol for the Noble Ones' understanding.

The 'delving' is a symbol for the arousing of energy.

The 'bar' is a symbol for ignorance. Throw out the bar; abandon ignorance. Delve with the knife, throw Wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'load' is a symbol for the despair due to anger. Throw out the load; abandon despair due to anger. Delve with the knife, throw Wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'fork' is a symbol for uncertainty. Throw out the fork; abandon uncertainty. Delve with the knife, throw Wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'seize' is a symbol for the five hindrances — for the hindrance of zeal for sensual desires, the hindrance of ill will, the hindrance of lethargy and drowsiness, the hindrance of agitation and worry, and the hindrance of uncertainty —. Throw out the seize; abandon the five hindrances. Delve with the knife, throw Wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'tortoise' is a symbol for the five aggregates affected by clinging, that is to say, the

form aggregate affected by clinging, the feeling aggregate affected by clinging, the perception aggregate affected by clinging, the determination aggregate affected by clinging, and the conscious-nen aggregate affected by clinging. Throw out the tortoise: abandon the five aggregates affected by clinging. Delve with the knife, throw wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'axe and block' are a symbol for the five cords of sensual desire — forms cognizable by the eye that are wished for, desired, agreeable and likable, connected with sensual desire and provocative of lust; sounds cognizable by the ear, odours cognizable by the nose... flavours cognizable by the tongue... tangibles cognizable by the body that are... provocative of lust... Throw out the axe and block; abandon the five cords of sensual desire. Delve with the knife, throw wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'piece of meat' is a symbol for delight and lust. Throw out the piece of meat; abandon delight and lust. Delve with the knife, throw wise One. This is the meaning.

The 'Nāga Serpent' is a symbol for a being whose caulkers are exhausted. Leave the Nāga serpent, harm not the Nāga serpent, honour the Nāga serpent. This is the meaning??.

M. 23

That is what the Blessed One said.
The Venerable Kāmara Kāmara was satisfied,
and he delighted in the Blessed One's words.

Note

§4 'Rice and bread - odāmo-kutumasa':
according to P.T.S. Did kutumasa = 'curds', but
according to the Vinaya and Coney, it is made of
grain (gava), which suggests ~~bread~~ something
made of dough (bread, say, or hepatitis).
cf sutta 12, §33.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 24 Ratha-vinita sutta

299

(1, 3, 4)

1. Thus I heard.

At one time the Blessed One was living at Rajagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Sanctuary.

2. Then a number of bhikkhus from the land of [the Blessed One's] native land, who had spent the Rains there, went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Blessed One asked them:

— 'Bhikkhus, who is there in [my] native land that is esteemed ~~in their~~ by the bhikkhus of [my] native land, his ~~conscious~~ consciousness in the life of ~~virtue~~, in this way: wanting little ~~with~~ with few wishes himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on fewness of wishes; content himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on contentment; secluded himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on seclusion; ~~disengaged from~~ himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on a ~~difference from~~ ~~disengaged~~; energetic himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on ~~energy~~; virtuous himself, he perfect in virtue himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on perfection of virtue; perfected in concentrated himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on perfection of concentration; perfect in deliverance himself, he talks to the bhikkhus on perfection of deliverance; perfect in ~~the knowledge and~~ ~~of~~ knowledge and ~~of~~ of deliverance himself, he talks to the bhikkhus

on perfection ~~of knowledge~~^{in the know-ing} and ~~of~~^{the} ~~ways~~^{of} deliverance; who advises, and informs, instructs, urges, rouses, and encourages, ¹⁴⁶ his companions in the ~~life~~^{of} ~~justice~~^{truth},?

— 'Venerable Sir, the Venerable Monk
Tāmaputta called Panna is esteemed
in the native land by the Bhikkhus of
the native land, his companions in the
life ~~of~~^{of purity}, in this way: with few
wishes himself, he talks to the Bhikkhus
on fewness of wishes; ... rouses and en-
courages his companions in the life of
~~purity~~, life Divine'.

3. Note ^{on} that the venerable Sariputta was seated near the Blessed One. Then it occurred to the venerable Sariputta: — 'It is gain for the Venerable Pūraṇa Mātāriputta, it is great gain for him that wise companions in the life ^{of} ~~jealousy~~ ^{Divine} praise, point by point in the Master's presence. Now suppose ^{that} sometime or other, we were to meet the venerable Pūraṇa Mātāriputta, ~~and have~~ ^{suppose we} had some conversation with him?'

4. Then, when the Blessed One had stayed at Rājagaha as long as he chose, he set out to go by stages to Sāvatthī. Wandering by stages, he at length arrived at Sāvatthī. There the Blessed One ^{in his robes} lived in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.

M. 24

5. The venerable Punna Mantāniputta heard : - 'The Blessed One, it seems, has arrived at Savatthi and is living in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.' Then the venerable Punna Mantāniputta set his ~~clothe~~ in order, and he took his outer robe and bowl and set out to wander, go by stages to Savatthi. Wandering by stages, he ~~wand~~ at length arrived at Savatthi [and he went] to Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park, to [see] the Blessed One. After paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the Blessed One instructed, urged, roused, and encouraged him with talk on ~~the Dhamma~~. Then, ~~glad and~~ satisfied and ~~delight~~ in the Blessed One's words, the venerable Punna Mantāniputta rose from his seat, and after paying homage to the Blessed One, ~~keeping him out his right~~ he went to the Blind Men's Grove to pass the day.

6. Then a certain bhikkhu went to the venerable Sāriputta and said to him - 'Friend Sāriputta, The Bhikkhu Punna Mantāniputta of whom you always spoke highly has ^{just} been instructed, urged, roused and encouraged by the Blessed One with talk on the ~~Dhamma~~, 147 and after being satisfied and delighted in the Blessed One's words he has risen now.'

from his seat, and after paying homage to him, keeping him on his right, he ~~went~~^{was} going to the Blind Men's Grove to spend the day'.

7. Then the venerable Sāriputta...
hastily ~~to go & come~~^{quickly} picked up a ~~seat~~^{stop} mat and followed ^{stop} behind the Venerable Paṇḍita Mātāñjali, keeping his head in sight. Then the Venerable Paṇḍita Mātāñjali went into the Blind Men's Grove and sat down at the root of a ~~Cotton~~^{other} tree (~~to pass~~^{the day}). And the venerable Sāriputta went into the Blind Men's Grove and sat down at the root of a tree (~~to pass~~^{the day}).

8. Then, when it was evening, the Venerable Sariputta rose from meditation, and he went to the Venerable Punna Mantajivutta and exchanged greetings with him, and when the courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, the Venerable Sāriputta said to the Venerable Punna Mantajivutta: ~~Friend John is a kind Divine~~
9. ~~Friend John is a kind Divine~~ ~~of you are many the life of purity~~
~~under the Blessed One, friend?~~
- "Yes, friend."

M. 24.

203

— 'But ~~now~~, friend, is it for the purpose
of the purification of virtue that the life of
~~friend~~ ^{the} family is lived under the Blessed One?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification of mind & consciousness?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification of view?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification by overcoming doubt?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification by ~~knowledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ what
is the path and what is not the path?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification by ~~knowledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ of
the way?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is it for the purpose of the
purification by ~~knowledge~~ and ~~understanding~~?'

— 'No, friend.'

— When you were asked "But now,
friend, is it for the purpose of the purification
of virtue that the life of ~~family~~ ^{the} family is lived
under the Blessed One?", you replied "No,
friend", and when you were asked "Then is
it for the purpose of the purification of
~~consciousness~~? ", you replied "No, friend", and
when you were asked "Then is it for the

M. 24.

209

purification of view?", you replied "No, friend", and when you were asked "Then is it for the purpose of the purification by overcoming doubt?", you replied "No, friend", and when you were asked "Then is it for the purpose of the purification by knowledge and ~~sight~~? What is the path and what is not the path?", you replied "No, friend", and when asked "Then is it for the purpose of the purification by ~~knowledge~~ and ~~sight~~, of the way?", you replied "No, friend", and when asked "Then is it for the purpose of the purification by ~~knowledge~~ and ~~sight~~? ", you replied "No, friend". For what purpose, then, is the life of ~~purity~~ lived under the Blessed One? 148

10. — 'Friend, it is for the purpose of complete extinction through not clinging that the life of ~~purity~~ is lived under the Blessed One.'

11. — 'But this, friend, is the purification of ~~value~~ complete extinction through not clinging?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is the purification of ^{concerning} friend complete extinction through not clinging?'

— 'No, friend.'

— 'Then is the purification of ^{view} friend complete extinction through not clinging?'

" - 'No, friend.'

- 'Then is the Purification by over-
coming doubt ~~complete~~ extinction through not
clinging?'

- 'No, friend.'

- 'Then is the Purification by ~~know-~~
~~ledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ of what is the path and
what is not the path ~~complete~~ extinction
through not clinging?'

- 'No, friend.'

- 'Then is the Purification by ~~know-~~
~~ledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ of the way ~~complete~~ ex-
tinction through not clinging?'

- 'No, friend.'

- 'Then is the Purification by ~~know-~~
~~ledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ of ~~complete~~ extinction
through not clinging?'

- 'No, friend.'

- 'When asked "But how, friend,
is the purification of virtue ~~complete~~ ex-
tinction through not clinging?", you replied
"No, friend"; and when asked "Then is the
Purification of ~~complete~~ extinction
through not clinging?", you replied "No,
through not clinging";, and when asked "Then is the
friend", and when asked "Then is the
purification of view ~~complete~~ extinction through
not clinging?", you replied "No, friend"; and
when asked "Then is the purification by
overcoming doubt ~~complete~~ extinction through
not clinging?", you replied "No, friend"; and
when asked "Then is the purification by
~~knowledge~~ and ~~understanding~~ of what is the path
and what is not the path ~~complete~~ extinc-
tion through not clinging?", you replied
"No, friend"; and when asked "Then is

The purification by ~~knowledge and seeing~~^{knowing} and ~~seeing~~^{knowing} of the way ~~complete extinction through~~^{knowing} not clinging?" you replied "No, friend", and when asked "Then is the purification by ~~knowledge and seeing~~^{knowing} complete extinction by not clinging?" you replied "No, friend." But how should the meaning of these statements be regarded?"

12. - 'friend, if the Blessed One made known purification of virtue as complete extinction through not clinging, he would make known what is still accompanied by clinging as complete extinction through not clinging. If the Blessed One made known the purification of ~~view~~^{conceit}... the purification of view, the purification by overcoming doubt... the purification by knowing and seeing of what is the path, and what is not the path... the purification by ~~knowledge and seeing~~^{knowing} of the way... the purification by knowing ledge and ~~seeing~~^{knowing} as complete extinction through not clinging; he would make known what is still accompanied by clinging as complete extinction through not clinging. And if what is without these things were complete extinction through not clinging, then ~~in~~^{for} ~~the~~^{one} ~~of~~^{an ad-} ~~knowing~~^{knowing} ~~seeing~~^{seeing} is without these things.

M. 24

307

As stated

13. 'So, friend, I shall give you a simile; for ~~that~~ some wise men ~~understand~~ understand by means of a simile the meaning of what is said. Suppose that King Pascuadi of Kosala had come ~~suddenly~~ ^{with} important business at Saketa¹⁴⁹; of Kosala, his being at Savatthi unexpectedly had some ^{new} business to settle at Saketa, and that between Savatthi and Saketa seven relay coaches were kept ~~in readiness~~ for him; then King Pascuadi of Kosala would ~~leave~~ come out of the inner palace door and would mount in Savatthi and ~~would~~ mounted the first relay coach; ~~He would~~ he would reach the second ~~by~~ ^{day} ~~by~~ by means of the first coach he would arrive at the second ^{day} ~~coach~~; ~~He would~~ dismount from the first coach and mounted the second coach, ~~by~~ by means of the second coach he would arrive at the third coach.... and by means of the third coach he would arrive at the fourth coach... ~~and~~ by means of the fourth coach he would arrive at the fifth coach... ~~by~~ by means of the fifth coach he would arrive at the sixth coach; ~~He would~~ dismount from the fifth coach and mounted the sixth coach; ~~by~~ by means of the sixth coach he would arrive at the seventh coach; ~~He would~~ dismount from the sixth ^{day} ~~coach~~ and mounted the seventh coach, by means of the seventh coach he would arrive at ~~Saketa~~ door of the inner palace door ~~at~~ in Saketa; then, when he

had come to the inner palace door, his friends and acquaintances, his relatives and kin, might ask him "Sire, did you come from Saraththi by means of this coach carriage to the inner palace door in Saketa?" — how should King Pasenadi of Kosala answer in order to answer correctly?

In order to answer correctly, friend, he should answer thus: Here while living at Saraththi I unexpectedly had some urgent business to settle at Saketa. And between Saraththi and Saketa seven relay coaches are kept ~~ready~~ for me. Then I came out of the inner Palace door in Saraththi and mounted the first relay coach, ^{and} by means of the first relay coach I arrived at the second relay coach. I dismounted from the first coach and mounted the second coach ^{and} by means of the second coach I arrived at the third coach ... ^{and} by means of the third coach I arrived at the fourth coach ... ^{and} by means of the fourth coach I arrived at the fifth coach ... ^{and} by means of the fifth coach I arrived at the sixth coach. I dismounted from the fifth coach and mounted the sixth coach, ^{and} by means of the sixth coach I arrived at the seventh coach. I dismounted from the sixth coach and mounted the seventh coach, ^{and} by means of the seventh coach I arrived at the inner palace door.

in Sakkha."—In order to answer correctly he should answer thus.'

14. — 'So too, friend, the purification of virtue has the purification of ~~conduct~~^{conduct} as its goal; the purification of ~~view~~^{view} has the purification of view as its goal; the purification of view has the purification by overcoming doubt as its goal; the purification by overcoming doubt ~~is~~¹⁵⁰ has the purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} is the path and what is not the path as its goal; the purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} is the path and what is not the path has the purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} is the way as its goal. The purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} is the way has the purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} as its goal; the knowledge a purification by ~~know~~^{know} ledge and ~~what~~^{what} has complete extinction through not clinging as its goal. It is for the purpose of extinction through not clinging that the life of purity is lived under the Blessed One.'

15. When this was said, the venerable Sāriputta asked the venerable Paṇḍita Mātāṇiputta — "What is the venerable One's name, and how do his companions in the life of purity know him?"

"My name is Paṇḍita, friend, and companions in the life of purity know me as Mātāṇiputta."

— 'It is wonderful, friend, it is marvellous; each profound question has been answered point by point by the venerable Punna Mantaniputta as a learned disciple who correctly knows the Master's teaching. It is gain for his companions in the life of purity, it is great gain for them, that they have the opportunity to see him and to honour him. And even if it were by carrying the venerable Punna Mantaniputta about on a cushion on their heads that his companions in the life of purity might get the opportunity to see him and to honour him, it would be gain for them, great gain for them. And this is gain ~~great~~ for us, great gain for us, that we have the opportunity of seeing the venerable Punna Mantaniputta and honouring him.'

16. When this was said, the venerable Punna Mantaniputta asked the venerable Sariputta — 'What is the venerable one's name, and how do his companions in the life of purity know him?'

— 'My name is Upatissa, friend, and companions in the life of purity know me as Sariputta.'

— 'Indeed, friend, we did not know that we were talking with ~~the rever-~~
~~able~~ ~~Sariputta~~, the disciple who is

the like of the Master himself. If we had known that it was the venerable Sariputta, we would not have said so much. It is wonderful, friend, it is marvellous; each profound question has been put point by point by the venerable Sariputta as a learned disciple who correctly knows the Master's teaching. ^{as it is} It is gain for his companions in the life ^{Dhamma} if they see him. It is great gain for them, that they have the opportunity to see him and to honour him. And even if it were by carrying the venerable Sariputta about on a cushion, on their heads that his companions in the life ^{Dhamma} might get the opportunity to see him and to honour him, it would be gain for them, great gain for them. ¹ And it is gain for us, great gain for us, that we have the opportunity of seeing the venerable Sariputta and honouring him.

Thus ^{it was first} these two great ^{elephant} ~~elephant~~^{deities} agreed in each other's words agreed with each other's words. ^{good}

Notes

Ex 2 Jatibimalee - from the...
native land: not in P.S.S. Dict.

S9 on 'kappa' what is with
gall? of sulta 98 187, v. 34

Brachy-

Brachy-

Brachy- and now Brachy- found for

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 25 - Nisāya Sutta (1, 3, 5)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anāthapindīka's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus! » « Venerable Sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, a deer-trapper does not lay down bait for a deer herd [intending] thus 'May the deer herd enjoy this bait that I have laid down and so be long-lived and handsome and endure for a long time'; a deer-trapper lays down bait for a deer herd [intending] thus 'The deer herd will unwarily eat food by going right in amongst the bait that I have laid down; by *so doing* they will get intoxicated; when they are intoxicated, they will be negligent; when they are negligent, they can be done with as I like on account of this bait'.

3. Now the deer of a first herd unwarily ate food by going right in amongst the bait that the deer-trapper had laid down; by *so doing* they got intoxicated; when they were intoxicated they were negligent; when they were negligent, they were done with as he liked by the deer-trapper on account of that bait. That is how the deer of a first herd failed to get free from the tools of the deer-trapper's power.

4. Now the deer of a second herd reckoned thus "The deer of that first herd, by acting as they did without precaution^{1/2}, failed to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's power. Suppose we, ^{altogether} burn that bait = food, and so shunning ^{the herd} what brings fear, we go out into the forest-wilds and live there?". And they did so. But in the last months of the hot season when the grass and the water were used up, their bodies were reduced to extreme emaciation; & with that they lost strength and energy; when they lost strength and energy, they returned to that same bait that the deer-trapper had laid down. They ate food unwarily by going right in amongst it. By so doing they got intoxicated; when they were intoxicated, they grew negligent; when they were negligent, they were done with or he liked by the deer-trapper on account of that bait. And that was how the deer of the second herd also failed to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's power.

5. Now the deer of a third herd reckoned thus "The deer of that first herd, by acting as they did without precaution, failed to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's power. And also the deer of that second herd, by reckoning how the deer of the first herd had failed and by planning and acting as they did with the precaution of going to live in the forest-wilds & also failed to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's power. Suppose we make our lair ^{the home we like} within range

of the deer-trapper's bait,¹⁵³] then, having done so,
 we eat food not unwarily, and without going right
 in amongst the bait that the deer-trapper has
 laid down; by so doing we shall not get intoxi-
 cated; when we are not intoxicated, we shall not
 grow negligent; when we are not negligent, we
 shall not be done with as he likes by the deer-
 trapper on account of his bait. And they did
 so.^x. But then the deer-trapper and his following
 [considered] thus. These deer of this third herd are
 unning and crafty as wizards and sorcerers.
 They are the bait laid down without our knowing
 how they come and go. Suppose we have the
 bait that is laid down completely surrounded
 all round over a wide area with thicker bushes,
 then perhaps we might see the third deer herd
~~come to night~~^{long night}, where they go to hide.¹⁵⁴ And they did so,
 and they saw the third deer herd, ~~long night~~^{now}, where
 they went to hide. And that was how the deer
 of the third herd also failed to get free from
 the toils of the deer-trapper's power.

6. Now the deer of a fourth herd reckoned
 thus. The deer of that first herd, by acting as they
 did without precaution, failed to get free from the
 toils of the deer-trapper's power. And also the deer
 of that second herd, by reckoning how the
 deer of the first herd had failed, and by placing
 and acting as they did with the precaution of
 of going to live in the forest wilds, also failed
 to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's
 power. And also the deer of the third herd,
 by reckoning how the deer of the first herd 154

M. 25

and also the deer of the second herd had failed, and by pleasure and acting as they did with the precaution of making their lair within range of the deer-trapper's bait & also failed to get free from the toils of the deer-trapper's power. Suppose we make, ~~the power or not~~, where the deer-trapper and his following cannot go, and by it so doing we eat food not unwarily without going right in amongst the bait that the deer-trapper has laid down; by so doing we shall not get intoxicated; when we are not intoxicated we shall not grow negligent; when we are not negligent, ¹⁵⁵ we shall not be done with as he likes, by the deer-trapper on account of that bait. They did so. And then the deer-trapper and his following [considered] thus "These deer of the fourth herd are as cunning and crafty as wizards and sorcerers; for they are the bait laid down without our knowing how they come and go. Suppose we have the bait that is laid down completely surrounded all round over a wide area with wicker hurdles, then perhaps we might see the fourth deer herd, ^{how they rely on} ~~but~~ where they go to hide?". They did so, but they did not see the fourth deer herd, ^{where they relied on} ~~but~~ where they went to hide. Then the deer-trapper and his following [considered] thus "If we scare the fourth deer herd, they being scared, will scare others, and they too, being scared, will scare others, and so the deer herds will all desert this bait".

M. 25

217
that we have laid down. Suppose we took a
the fourth deer herd with indifference?'. And
they did so. And that was how the deer of
the fourth herd got free from the toils of the
deer-trapper's power.

7. Bhikkhus, I have given you this simile in
order to intimate a meaning. Now the meaning
here is this: 'Bait' is a term for the five cords
of sensual desire; 'deer-trapper' is a term
for Mara the Evil One; 'the deer-trapper's follow-
ing' is a term for Mara's following; 'deer herd'
is a term for monks and divines.

8. Now monks and divines of the first
kind unwarily eat food by going right in
amongst the bait and the material things of
the world that Mara had laid down; ¹⁵⁶ by
so doing they got intoxicated; when they were
intoxicated they grew negligent; when they were
negligent, they were done with as he wished by
Mara on account of that bait and those material
things of the world. That is how monks and divines
of the first kind failed to get free from the toils of
Mara's power. Those monks and divines, I say,
are just like the deer of the first herd.

9. Now monks and divines of the second kind
reckoned thus 'Those monks and divines of the
first kind, by ^{it} acting as they did without precaution,
failed to get free from the toils of Mara's power.
Suppose we altogether shun that bait food and
those material things of the world, and so shunning

"the use of what brings fear, we go on into
the forest wilds and live there?" And they
* did so; and there they were eaters of greens
or millet or wild rice or hide-parings or
moss or rice-bran or rinsings or cassava-
flour or grass or cowdung; they lived on forest
roots and on fruits as feeders on windfalls.
But in the last month of the hot season when
the grass and water were used up, their bodies
were reduced to a state of extreme emaciation;
with that ^{they} lost ^{their} strength and energy; when they lost ^{their} strength and energy, they lost their
deliverance of will; with the loss of their deliverance
of will they returned to that same bait that Mara
had laid down and those material things of the
world; they ate food unwarily by going right
in amongst it; by so doing they got intoxicated;
when they were intoxicated, they grew negligent;
when they were negligent, they were done with as
he liked by Mara on account of that bait and
those material things of the world. That is how
those monks and divines of the second kind
failed to get free from the tools of Mara's power.

157 Those monks and divines, say, are just
like the deer of the second herd.

10. Now monks and divines of the third kind
reckoned thus "Those monks and divines of the
first kind, by acting as they did without fore-
& caution, failed to get free from the tools of Mara's
power. And also those monks and divines of the
second kind, by reckoning how the monks and
divines of the first kind had failed and then
& planning and acting as they did with the prece-
& of going to live in the forest wilds & also failed

to get free from the toils of Māra's power. Suppose we make ^{the home we rely on} our ~~body~~ ^{home} within range of that bait that Māra has laid down and those material things of the world, then & having done so, we eat & not unlawfully and without going right in amongst the bait that Māra has laid down and the material things of the world, by so doing we shall not get intoxicated; when we are not intoxicated, we shall not grow negligent; when we are not negligent, we shall not be done with as he likes by Māra on account of that bait and those material things of the world'. They did so! And then they came to hold views such as 'The world is eternal' and 'the world is not eternal' and 'the world is finite' and 'the world is infinite', and 'The soul is the same as the body' and 'The soul is one and the body another' and 'after death a perfect One is' and 'after death a Perfect One is not' and 'after death a Perfect One both is and is not' and 'after death a Perfect One neither is nor is not'.¹⁵⁸ That is how those ~~monks~~ monks and divines of the third kind failed to get free from the toils of Māra's power. Those monks and divines, I say, are just like the deer of the third herd.

Now monks and divines of the fourth kind reckoned thus 'Those monks and divines of the first kind, by acting as they did without pre-caution,¹⁵⁹ failed to get free from the toils of Māra's power. And those monks and divines of the second kind, by gathering how the monks and divines of the first kind had failed and by planning and acting as they did with the precaution'¹⁶⁰

going to live in the ^{forest} fields, & also failed to get
free from the torts of Mara's power. And also
the monks and divines of the third kind, by
reckoning how the monks and divines of the
first kind and also the monks and divines of
the second kind had failed, and by planning
and acting as they did with the precaution of
making their lair within range of the bait
that Mara had laid down and the material things
of the world & also failed to get free from the
torts of Mara's power. Suppose we make the
^{same} ~~way~~ ^{new way} ~~as~~ ^{where} Mara and his following cannot go,
and, by so doing, we eat food not un-
necessarily and without going right in amongst
the bait that Mara has laid down and the
material things of the world? By so doing it
we shall not get intoxicated; when we are not
intoxicated, we shall not grow negligent; when
we are not negligent, we shall not be done with
it be likes by Mara on account of that bait
and those material things of the world? They
did so ¹³⁹ & that is how those monks and
divines of the fourth kind got free from the torts
of Mara's power. Those monks and divines, I
say, are just like the deer of the fourth herd.

12. And where is it that Mara and his following cannot go?

13. Here quite secluded from sensual
desires, secluded from ^{ideal} susceptible to sensible attractions,
and abides in the first illumination, which

is accompanied by thinking and pondering with happiness and pleasure born of seduction.

This bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Māra, to have become invisible to the evil one by depriving Māra's eye of its opportunity.

14. Again, with the stilling of thinking and pondering a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the second illumination, which has self-confidence and singleness of will without thinking and without pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration.

This bhikkhu is said... opportunity.

15. Again, with the fading as will of happiness a bhikkhu abides in overlooking (equanimity), and mind full and fully aware still feeling pleasure with the body, he enters upon and abides in the third illumination, on account of which noble ones announce 'He has aplessant abiding who is an overlooker (with equanimity) and is mindful'.

This bhikkhu is said... opportunity.

16. Again, with the abandoning of pleasure and pain, and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure, and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to overlooking (equanimity).

This bhikkhu is said... opportunity.

17. Again, with the complete surmounting of perceptions of form, with the disap-

pearance of perceptions of resistance, with not giving attention to perceptions of difference, [aware that] ^{Space is infinite} 'Boundless Space', a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the base consisting of ^{the infinite per-} ~~boundless~~ space.

This bhikkhu is said ... opportunity.

18. Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of ^{the infinite per-} ~~boundless~~ space, & aware ^{that} [consciousness is infinite] ~~Boundless Consciousness~~, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the base consisting of ^{the infinite per-} ~~boundless~~ consciousness.

This bhikkhu is said ... opportunity.

19. Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of ^{the infinite per-} ~~boundless~~ consciousness ¹⁶⁰, [aware that] 'There is nothing', a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the base consisting of nothingness.

This bhikkhu is said ... opportunity.

20. Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of nothingness a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception.

This bhikkhu is said to have blind-folded Mara, to have become invisible to the evil due by depriving Mara's eye of its opportunity.

21. Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of neither-perception-nor-non-perception a bhikkhu enters upon and

M. 25

abides in the cessation of perception and feeling.
And ~~sight~~ ^{the} ~~sight~~ ^{seeing} with understanding;
his caulkers are exhausted.

This thikkhu is said to have blind-
folded Mara, to have become invisible to the
evil One by depriving Mara's eye of its oppor-
tunity, and to have crossed beyond attach-
ment to the world.

So the Blessed One said. The thikkus
were ^{delighted} satisfied, and they ^{were} delighted in his
words.

Notes

§ 5 'yathā te gāhāni gaccheyyañ ti - where
they go and abide' - is this correct? What is
gāhāni here?

§ 5 etc 'ālaya - the home truly as' see also Sutta

26, § 19

The ^{syntaxical} construction of this Sutta is
enormously complicated with its 'quoter within
'quoter' to the third degree by the fourth deer herd,
and the repetitions have been condensed.

the village is situated in
a valley between two hills.
The village consists of a few houses
and a small temple, which is
surrounded by trees and plants.

The people here are mostly
farmers and laborers. They grow
rice, corn, beans, and other crops.
They also keep cattle, sheep, and
pigs.

The village has a small
market where people buy and
sell their produce. There is
also a shop where people can
buy various items.

The people here are very friendly
and hospitable. They are
mostly Hindus and follow
the traditional customs and
rituals.

The village is located near a river
which provides water for
irrigation and drinking purposes.
There is also a small bridge
over the river.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 26 - Paravive Sutta or
Ariya parivesana Sutta (1, 3, 6)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.

2. Then when it was morning, the Blessed One dressed, and taking his bowl and [water] robe, he went into Sāvatthi for alms.

Then many bhikkhus went to the venerable Ananda and said to him "Friend Ananda, it is long since we heard a talk on the True Idea from the Blessed One's own lips. It would be good if we could do so." friend Ananda".

"Then let the venerable ones go to Rāmaṇaka the divine's retreat; perhaps you will hear a talk on the True Idea from the Blessed One's own lips."

"Even so, friend" they replied.

3. Now when the Blessed One had wandered for alms in Sāvatthi and had returned from his alms round after his meal, he addressed the venerable Ananda:

"Ananda, let us go to the Eastern Park, the Palace of Miggara's Mother, to spend the day."

"Even so, venerable sir" the venerable Ananda replied. ¹⁶¹ Then the Blessed One went with the venerable Ananda to the Eastern Park, the Palace of Miggara's Mother, to spend the day.

Now when it was evening, the Blessed One
rose from meditation, and he addressed the
venerable Ananda:

«Ananda, let us go to the Eastern bathing
place and bathe our limbs».

«Even so, venerable sir» the venerable
Ananda replied.

Then the Blessed One went with the Venerable
Ananda to the Eastern bathing place to bathe his
limbs. When he had done so, he came up out
of the water and stood in one robe drying his
limbs. Then the venerable Ananda said:

«Venerable sir, Rāmaka the divine's re-
treat is nearby. That retreat is agreeable
and delightful. Venerable sir, it would be
good if the Blessed One went there out
of pity».

The Blessed One consented in silence.

4. Then the Blessed One went to Rāmaka,
the divine's retreat. Now on that occasion
many bhikkhus had gathered together
~~to~~ there ~~as~~ to discuss the True Idea. The
Blessed One stood outside the door waiting
for the end of their discussion. Then when he
knew that it was finished, he coughed and
knocked. The bhikkhus opened the door to
him. Then he went inside and sat down
on ~~the~~ seat made ready. When he had
done so he addressed the bhikkhus thus:

«Bhikkhus, for what discussion are you
gathered here now? And what was your dis-

cussion meanwhile, which was left unfinished? & Venerable Sir, our discussion which was left unfinished was about the True Idea and it was about the ~~Blind~~ One himself. Then the Blind One arrived.

"Good, bhikkus. It becomes you that, as clausmen who have gone forth from the home-life into homelessness out of faith, you gather together for discussion of the True Idea. When you are gathered together there are two alternatives: discussion of the True Idea, or the Noble One's Silence.

KINDS OF SEARCH

5. to Bhikkus, there are two kinds of search: the noble search and the ignoble search.
And what is the ignoble search?
Here someone, himself inseparable from the idea of birth, ¹⁶² ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and depilement, seeks what is also inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and depilement.
6. And what ^{may} be said to be inseparable from the idea of birth? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of birth, and so are bondswomen and bondsmen, ~~and~~ goats and sheep, fowls and pigs, elephants, cattle, horses and mares, gold and silver. These essentials of existence are inseparable from the idea of birth; and one who, being himself ^{with them} ~~surrounded~~,

~~inseparably committed to them, seeking what is inseparable from these and unwarily committed to them is one who, himself inseparable from the idea of birth, seeks ~~at~~ what inseparable from the idea of birth.~~

7. And what ~~may~~ should be said to be inseparable from the idea of ageing? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of ageing, and so are bonds-women ---, gold and silver. These essentials of existence are inseparable from the idea of ageing; and one who is entangled with these and unwarily committed to them is one who, being himself inseparable from the idea of ageing, seeks ~~at~~ what ~~is~~ inseparable from the idea of ageing.

8. And what ~~may~~ should be said to be inseparable from the idea of ailment? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of ailment, and so are bonds-women and bonds-men, goats and sheep, fowls and pigs, elephants, cattle, horses and mares. These essentials of existence are also inseparable from the idea of ailment.

9. And what ~~may~~ should be said to be inseparable from the idea of death? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of death, and so are bonds-women ---, elephants, cattle, horses and mares. These essentials of ^{existence} becoming inseparable from the idea of death.

10. And what ~~may~~ should be said to be inseparable from the idea of sorrow? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of sorrow, and so

329

are ~~it~~ bondswomen ... [as in §7] ... mares, gold and silver. These essentials of existence are inseparable from the idea of sorrow.

11. And what may be said to be inseparable from the idea of defilement? Wife and children are inseparable from the idea of defilement, and ~~it~~ so are ~~it~~ bondswomen and bondsmen, goats and sheep, fowls and pigs, elephants, cattle, horses and mares, gold and silver. These essentials of existence are inseparable from the idea of defilement; and one also is entangled with these and unwarily committed to them is one who, being himself inseparable from the idea of defilement, seeks ~~only what is~~^{also} inseparable from the idea of defilement.

This is the ignoble search.

12. And what is the noble search?

Here someone, himself inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and defilement, and ~~knows the~~^{knows} danger in these ideas¹⁶³ seeks the unborn unaging, unailing, deathless, sorrowless, undefiled, supreme uncease of bondage, which is extinction

This is the noble search.

THE SEARCH FOR ENLIGHTENMENT

13. Blithely, before my enlightenment, while I was still only an unenlightened ~~being~~^{creature} pledged to enlightenment, I too, being myself inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing ailment, death, sorrow and defilement, sought what was also inseparable.

able from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow and depliment.

I considered thus 'Why, being myself inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow and depliment, do I seek what is also inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and depliment? Suppose that, being myself inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and depliment, ^{knowing the} ~~seeing~~ danger in these ideas; I seek the unborn, unageing, unailing, deathless, sorrowless, undepled, supreme cursease of bondage, which is extinction?

14. Later, while still a ~~young man~~, ^{boy, a blackhaired youth} endowed with the blessing of youth, in the first phase of life, I shaved off my hair and beard — though my mother and father wished otherwise and grieved with tearful faces —, I put on the yellow cloth and went forth from the house-life into homelessness

15. Having gone forth in search of what is profitable, seeking the supreme state of sublime peace, I went to Ålara, Käläma, and I said to him:

"Friend Käläma, I want to lead the life Divine in this True Idea and Discipline."

When this was said, Ålara Käläma replied: "The venerable one may stay here. This True Idea

is such ~~big~~ that in no long time a wise man can enter upon and abide in it, himself realizing through direct knowledge his own teacher's doctrine".

I soon learned the True Idea. I learned that as far as mere lip-reciting and rehearsal of his teaching went I could speak with knowledge and with assurance, and that I knew and saw — and there were others that did likewise.

I [considered] "It is not through mere faith alone that Ālara Kālāma declares his True Idea; [he does so] because he enters upon and abides in it, himself realizing it through direct knowledge. Certainly Ālara Kālāma abides in this True Idea knowing and seeing."

Then I went to Ālara Kālāma, and I said to him a Friend Kālāma, in what way do you declare to have entered upon this True Idea, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge?"

When this was said, he declared the base consisting of nothingness.

I [considered] "Not only Ālara Kālāma has faith; I too have faith. Not only Ālara Kālāma has energy; I too have energy. Not only Ālara Kālāma has mind-power; I too have mind-power. Not only Ālara Kālāma has concentration; I too have concentration. Not only Ālara Kālāma has understanding; I too have understanding.

Suppose I exercise control in order to realize the true Idea that he declares to have entered upon, himself realizing it through direct knowledge?

I soon entered upon and abide in that True Idea, myself realizing through direct knowledge. Then I went to Ālara Kālāma, and I said to him "Friend Kālāma, is it in this way that you declare to have entered upon this True Idea, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge?"

"It is in this way, Friend, that I declare to have entered upon this True Idea, myself realizing it through direct knowledge."

"Friend, I too in this way enter upon and abide in this True Idea, myself realizing it through direct knowledge."

"It is gain for us, friend, it is great gain for us that we have such a venerable one as our companion in the life Divine. So the True Idea that I declare to have entered upon, myself realizing it through direct knowledge, that True Idea you enter upon and abide in, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge. And the **165** True Idea that you enter upon and abide in, yourself realizing it with direct knowledge, that True Idea I declare to have entered upon, myself realizing it through direct knowledge. So you know the True Idea that I know; I know the True Idea that you know. As I am,

11.26

so are you; as you are, so am I. Come, friend,
let us now lead this community together».

Thus Alara Kalamā, my Teacher, placed
me, his pupil, on an equal footing with himself,
and awarded me the highest honour ».

I [considered] "This true Idea does not
lead to dispassion, to fading of lust, to cessation,
to peace, to direct knowledge, to full enlightenment,
to extinction, but only to the base consisting of
nothingness ».

I was not satisfied with that true Idea.
I left it and went away.

16. Still in search of what is profitable,
seeking the supreme state of sublime peace,
I went to Uddaka Rāmaputta, and I said
to him:

"Friend, I want to lead the Life Divine
in this true Idea and Discipline».

When this was said, Uddaka Rāmaputta
replied « The venerable one may stay here. This
true Idea is such that in no long time a
wise man can enter upon and abide in it,
himself realizing through direct knowledge
his own Teacher's doctrine ».

I soon learned the true Idea. I claimed
that as far as mere lip-reciting and rehearsal
of his teaching went I could speak with
knowledge and with assurance, and that
I knew and saw — and there were others that
did likewise.

I [considered] 'It is not through mere faith alone that Rāma declares his true Idea, but (he does so) because he enters upon and abides in it, himself realizing it through direct knowledge. Certainly Rāma abides in this True Idea knowing and seeing.'

Then I went to Uddaka Rāmaputta, and I said to him 'Friend Rāma, in what way do you declare to have entered upon this true Idea yourself realizing it through direct knowledge?'

When this was said, he declared the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

I [considered] 'Not only Rāma has faith; I too have faith. Not only Rāma has energy; I too have energy. Not only Rāma has mindfulness; I too have mindfulness. Not only Rāma has concentration; I too have concentration. Not only Rāma has understanding; I too have understanding. Suppose I exercise control in order to realize the true Idea that he declares to have entered upon, himself realizing it through direct knowledge?'

I soon entered upon and abode in that true Idea, myself realizing it through direct knowledge. Then I went to Uddaka Rāmaputta, and I said to him 'Friend, is it in this way, that you declare to have entered upon the true Idea, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge?'

'It is in this way, friend, that Rāma declares to have entered upon the true Idea, himself realizing it through direct knowledge.'

'Friend, I too in this way enter upon and

M. 26

abide in this true Idea, myself realizing it through direct knowledge».

«It is gain for me, friend, it is great gain to us, that we have such a venerable one for our companion in the life Divine. So the true Idea that Rāma declares to have entered upon, himself realizing it through direct knowledge, that true Idea you enter upon and abide in, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge. And the true Idea that you enter upon and abide in, yourself realizing it through direct knowledge, that true Idea Rāma declares to have entered upon, himself realizing it through direct knowledge. So you know the true Idea that Rāma knows. Rāma knows the true Idea that you know. As Rāma is, so are you; as you are, so is Rāma. Come friend, do you now lead this community».

Thus Uddaka Rāma-putta, my companion in the life Divine, placed me in the Teacher's place and accorded me the highest honour.

I [considered] <This true Idea does not lead to dispassion, to fading of lust, to cessation, to peace, to direct knowledge, to full enlightenment, to extinction, but only to the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception>.

I was not satisfied with that true Idea. I left it and went away.

17. Still in search of what is profitable, seeking the supreme state of sublime peace, I wandered by stages through the Magadhan country, till at length I arrived at Sera-nigama near Uru-

vclā. 167 There I saw an agreeable piece of ground, a delightful grove, a clear-flowing river with pleasant smooth banks, and nearly a village as ales resort. I [considered] & there is this agreeable piece of ground this delightful grove, this clear-flowing river, with pleasant smooth banks, and nearly a village as ales resort. This can further control in a Claus man who seeks control. And I sat down there [thinking] 'This can further control'.

ENLIGHTENMENT

18. ^{Being} My self inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and displeasure, knowing danger in these ideas, seeking the unborn, unaging, unailing, deathless, sorrowless, undefiled supreme success of bondage, I attained the unborn, unaging, unailing, deathless, sorrowless, undefiled supreme success of bondage, which is extinction.

The knowledge and vision arose in me, 'My deliverance is unavoidable. This is my last birth. There is now no renewal of the being'.

19. I [considered] 'This true idea that I have attained is profound, hard to see and hard to discover. It is [the most] peaceful and superior [goal of all], unattainable by [mere] rationalization, subtle, and for the wise to experience. But this generation loves some-

337

thing to rely on, delights in something to rely on,
is glad of something to rely on. It is hard for
such a generation to see this Truth, namely,
specific conditionality, dependent origination.
And it is hard to see this truth, namely,
stilling of all determinations, relinquishing of
all essentials of existence, exhaustion of craving,
fading of lust, cessation, extinction. ¹⁶⁸ And
if I taught the True Idea, others would not un-
derstand me, and that would be a weariness
and a vexation for me'.

In fact there came to me spontaneously
these stanzas never heard before:

^{not}

'Enough, teach ~~not~~^{not} the True Idea
That even I found hard to reach;
For it will never be perceived
By those who live in lust and hate.
Men dyed in lust, and whom a cloud
Of darkness lags, will never see
What goes against the stream, is subtle,
Deep, and hard to see, abstract.'

Considering this, my mind favoured inaction
instead of teaching the True Idea.

20. Then the (Brahmic) Divinity Sahampati
knew in his cognizance the thought in my
cognizance, and he (considered) 'The world
will be lost, the world will be utterly lost,
since the mind of the Perfect One, accomplished
and fully enlightened favours inaction instead
of teaching the true Idea'.

M. 26

238

Then just as soon as a strong man might extend his flexed arm or flex his extended arm, the vanished in Divinity vanished in Divinity Sahampati vanished in the world of the Divinity and appeared before me. Then he arranged his upper robe on one shoulder, and raising his hands palms together towards me, he said 'Venerable sir, let the blessed One teach the true Idea, let the sublime One teach the true Idea. There are crooked ones, ^{a kind with} ~~and little dust on their eyes~~ who are wasting through not hearing the true Idea. Some of them will gain final knowledge of the true Idea.'

The Divinity Sahampati spoke thus, and having done so, he said further: 'In Magadha ~~now~~ ^{dearly till now have been} appeared like an impurefield—, thought out by those still stained. Open the Deathless gateway, let them hear the True Idea the Immortal has found; And, just as one sees all the folk around, who stand upon a solid pile of rock, Survey, O sorrowless all-searing Sage, this human breed engulfed in sorrow, that ^{full} Death has at its mercy, and Old Age.

169 Arise, Victorious Hero, Knowledge-bringer, Free from All Debt, and wander in the world. Proclaim the True Idea; for some, O Blind One, will understand'.

11. 26

21. Then I listened to the divinity's pleading.
Out of compassion for creatures I surveyed the world with the eye of an enlightened One. Surveying the world with the eye of an enlightened One, I saw creatures with little ~~knowledge~~^{consciousness} and with much ~~dark~~^{ignorance} on their eyes, with keen faculties and with dull faculties, with good qualities and with bad qualities, easy to teach and hard to teach, and some that shrank seeing fear in the other world and in blame as well.

Just as in a pond of blue or red or white lotuses some lotuses that are born and grow in the water thrive immersed in the water without coming up out of it, and some other lotuses that are born and grow in the water rest on the water's surface, and some other lotuses that are born and grow in the water come right up out of the water and stand clear, unrooted by it, so too, surveying the world ... and in blame as well.

Then I replied to the divinity Sakampati in stanzas:

"Open are the portals of the deathless;
Let those that hear show faith; ~~But~~ I was minded
to tell not the ~~the~~ sublime Ideal I knew,
'Twas that I saw vexation there, ^{the fallen,} O Brahman,"

Then the divinity Sakampati [thought]
as I have made it possible for the True I see

* To be taught by the Blessed One, and
after paying homage to me, keeping me as
the right the Divinity departed.

22. I [considered] thus « To whom should
I first teach the True Idea? Who will soon
understand this True Idea? »

I [considered] thus « Ālara Kālāma
is wise, learned and discerning. He has
long had little dust on his eyes. Suppose I
taught ¹⁷⁰ the True Idea first to Ālara Kā-
lāma? He will soon understand it ».

Then gods approached me and said
« Venerable sir, Ālara Kālāma died seven
days ago ». And the knowledge and vision
arose in me « Ālara Kālāma died seven
days ago ». I [considered] thus « Ālara
Kālāma's loss is a great one. If he had
heard this True Idea, he would soon have
understood it ».

23. I [considered] thus « To whom should I
first teach the True Idea? Who will understand
this True Idea? »

I [considered] thus « Uddaka Rāmaputta
is wise, learned and discerning. He has long
had little dust on his eyes. Suppose I taught the
True Idea first to Uddaka Rāmaputta? He
will soon understand it ».

Then gods approached me and said
« Venerable sir - Uddaka Rāmaputta died

11.26

last night ». And the knowledge and vision arose in me & Uddaka Ramaputta died last night. I [considered] thus & Uddaka Ramaputta's loss is a great one. If he had heard this True Idea, he would soon have understood it ».

26. I [considered] thus & To whom should I first teach the True Idea? Who will soon understand this True Idea? »

I [considered] thus & The bhikkhus of the group of five, who attended me while I was engaged in the struggle for control were very helpful. Suppose I first taught the True Idea first to them? »

I [considered] thus & Where are the bhikkhus of the group of five living now? » - And with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, I saw that they were living at Benares in the Deer Park at Sicipatana.

THE TEACHING OF THE TRUE IDEA

25. Then when I had stayed at Uruvelā as long as I chose, I set out to go by stages to Benares. Between Gayā and the Place of Enlightenment the monk Upaka saw me on the road. Seeing me, he said to Friend, the colour of your skin is pure and bright. Under whom have you gone forth, friend? Or who is your Teacher? Or where True Ideas do you confess? » ¹⁷¹

When this was said, I replied to the monk Upaka in stages:

M. 26, a transcriber of all-being

an All-Transeender, the All-known.

« I am the Conqueror of all, All-seeing;
Also things before me, all I have renounced,
By cravings' ceasing freed. And this I owe
To my own art; to whom should I concede it? »

I have no teacher, and my like
~~great nowhere~~
Does not exist in all the world
With all its gods, because I have
No person for my counterpart.

I am the Teacher in the world
Without a peer, accomplished, too.
And I alone am quite enlightened,
Anenched, whose pines are quite extinct.
I go to Kāsi's city now
To turn the True Ideal's Wheel
In motion: in a blindfold world
I go to beat the Deathless Drum. »

« By your claims, friend, you ought
to be a Victor Universal ». »

« The Victors like me, Upaka,
Are those whose causes are exhausted,
I vanquished all ideas of evil,
And that is why I am a Victor ». »

When this was said, the monk Upaka
said « May it be so, friend ». Shaking his head,
he took a by-path and departed.

26. Then wandering by stages, I came at length
to Benares, to the Deer Park at Sujata, where
the shikshas of the group of five were.
They saw me coming at a distance, and

They agreed among themselves thus & Friends,
here comes the monk Gotama who turned self-
indulgent, shirked control and reverted to
luxury. We ought not to pay homage to him
or rise up for him or receive his bowl and
robe. But a seat can be prepared for him.
If he likes, he will sit down 27.

However, as soon as I approached, they
found themselves unable to keep their pact.
One came to meet me and took my bowl and
[outer] robe; another prepared a seat, and
another got water ready for my feet; and
they addressed me as ^{by name} "Friend".

27. When this was said, I told them "Bhikkhus,
do not address a Perfect One by name as
'friend'. A Perfect One is accomplished and
fully enlightened. ¹⁷² Listen, bhikkhus, the Death-
less has been attained. I shall instruct you.
I shall teach you the True Idea. By practicing
as you are instructed, you will, by realization,
your selves here and now through direct know-
ledge ~~and~~ enter upon and abide in that supreme
goal of the life Divine on account of which
clan-men rightly go forth from the home-life
into homelessness".

When this was said, the bhikkhus of the
group of five answered me thus "Friend Gotama,
with the behaviour, the way, and the difficult
feats, which you practised you achieved no

11.26

distinction higher than the human idea ^{not} of a noble One's knowledge and vision. Since you have now turned self-indulgent, shirked ~~the~~ control, and reverted to luxury, how will you have achieved any such distinction?»

When this was said, I told them «A Perfect One is not one who has turned self-indulgent, nor has he shirked control and reverted to luxury. A Perfect One is accomplished and fully enlightened. Listen, Bhikkhus! The Deathless has been attained... into homelessness».

A second time the Bhikkhus of the group of five said to me «Friend Gotama, ... how will you have achieved any such distinction?»

A second time I told them «A Perfect ~~one~~ is not one who has turned self-indulgent, ... into homelessness».

A third time the Bhikkhus of the group of five said to me «Friend Gotama, ... how will you have achieved any such distinction?»

Q: When this was said, I asked them «Bhikkhus, have you ever known me speak like this before?»

«No, venerable sir».

«Bhikkhus, a Perfect One is accom-

11. 26

345

lished and fully enlightened. Listen, bikkhus, the Deathless has been attained. I shall instruct you. I shall teach you the True Idea. By practising as you are instructed, you will, by realization yourselves here and now through direct knowledge enter upon and abide in the supreme goal of the life divine on account of which clausiven righteously go forth from the home life into homelessness.

29 173 I was able to convince the bikkhus of the group of five. Sometimes I instructed two bikkhus while three went for alms; and we six lived on what the three brought back from their alms round. Sometimes I instructed three bikkhus while two went for alms; and we six lived on what the two brought back from their alms round.

30. Then the bikkhus of the group of five, thus taught and instructed by me, being themselves inseparable from the idea of birth, ageing, ailment, death, sorrow, and deplorable, knowing the danger in these ideas, seeking the unborn, unageing, unailing deathless, sorrowless, undeplorable supreme surcease of bondage which is extinction, they attained to the unborn, unageing, unailing, deathless, sorrowless, undeplorable supreme surcease of bondage which is extinction.

The knowledge and vision arose in them
& My deliverance is unavailable. This is my

M. 26

last birth. There is ~~so long as this~~
now no renewal of being".

346

SENSUAL DESIRES

31. «Bhikkhus, there are these five cords of sensual desire. What are the five? Forms cognizable by the eye that are wished-for, desired, ~~and~~ agreeable and likable, connected with sensual desire and provocative of lust. Sounds cognizable by the ear ... Odors cognizable by the nose ... Flavours cognizable by the Tongue ... Tangibles cognizable by the body ... provocative of lust. These are the five cords of sensual desire.

32. When any monks and discipines are entangled with and unwholly committed to these five cords of sensual desire and cultivate ~~much~~ ^{cultivate} of them with no vision of the danger in them and no understanding of the escape from them, it may understood of them thus 'They are bound for disaster, bound for ruin, to be done with as he likes by the evil One'.

^{Suppose} ~~If~~ a forest deer were tied to, and lay down on, a mass of snares, it might be understood of him thus 'He is bound for disaster, bound for ruin, to be done with as he likes by the ~~dear~~ ^{hunter} trapped', so too when any monks and discipines ... by the evil One'.
 ↗ missing

Review of
Sutta

33

34. Suppose Just as a forest deer, wandering in the forest wilds, walks without fear, stands without fear, sits without fear, lies without fear — Why is that? Because he is out of the hunter's sight — , so too, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and pondering, with happiness and bliss born of exclusion. And this bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Mara, to have become invisible to the Evil One by depriving Mara's eye of its opportunity.

35. Again, with the stilling of thinking and pondering... second illumination... born of concentration. And this bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Mara, to have become invisible to the Evil One by ~~depriving~~^{removing} Mara's eye of its opportunity.

36. Again, with the fading as well of happiness... third illumination... in mind full. And this bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Mara... opportunity.

37. Again, with the abandoning of pleasure and pain... fourth illumination... due to on-looking (equanimity). And this bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Mara... opportunity.

38. Again, with the complete surmounting of perceptions of form, with the disappearance of perceptions & resistance, with not

giving attention to perceptions of difference,
 [aware that] 'space is infinite', a bikkhu
 enters upon and abides in the base consisting
 of the infiniteness of space. And this bikkhu
 is said to have blindfolded Mara ... oppor-
 tunity.

39. Again, by completely surmounting the
 base consisting of the infiniteness of space,
 [aware that] 'consciousness is infinite', a
 bikkhu enters upon and abides in the base
 consisting of the infiniteness of consciousness.
 And this bikkhu is said to have blindfolded
 Mara ... opportunity.

40. Again, by completely surmounting the base
 consisting of the infiniteness of consciousness, [aware
 that] 'there is nothing', a bikkhu enters upon
 and abides in the base consisting of nothingness.
 And this bikkhu is said to have blindfolded
 Mara ... opportunity.

41. Again, by completely surmounting the
 base consisting of nothingness, a bikkhu en-
 ters upon and abides in the base consisting
 of neither perception nor non-perception.
 And this bikkhu is said to have blind-
 folded Mara ... opportunity.

42. Again, by completely surmounting
 the base consisting of neither perception nor

non-perception a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the cessation of perception and feeling. And his cankers exhausted by his seeing with understanding. And this bhikkhu is said to have blindfolded Mara, to have become invisible to the Evil One by depriving Mara's eye of its opportunity, and to have crossed beyond attachment to the world.

He walks without fear, stands without fear, sits without fear, lies without fear. — Why is that? He is out of the Evil One's sight".

That is what the Blind One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

Notes

§ 19 'Ālaya-reliance': see Sutta 35, § 5

§ 21 'ye sotavanti paññācātu saddhami -

lit those who hear & how faith': a controversial passage. But the usually accepted 'let them renounce their faith' comes from mis-interpreting the word vissajjentu (here = 'put forth' not 'renounce') in the commentary, and ignoring the end of the commentary paragraph 'saddha-bhājanam upanetū' ('let him bring toward the faith-vessel'). Again

the idiom 'saddhami paññūcāti' occurs at Sn. 1146 where it cannot be rendered as 'to renounce faith' (Fausböll has unfortunately confused 'mutta-saddha' here with another idiom saddhā vimutta-sabbe to = one liberated-by-faith - see Sutta 70) but only as 'to show faith' or 'to produce faith'

§ 32 'Adhisayga - lay down': only nom. adhisayga in P.T.S. Dict. and no Pitaka ref.

§ 15 For other references to Āla-ketāna see D. #8

§ 16 For other refs to Uddaka Rāmaputta see

S. IV, § 3

je

§§ 20, 21 appa [clker] (see C.P.D.): made up of appa (-little) + rajas (corruption, dirt) ~~+ suffix -ka~~
~~+ suffix -ka~~ (cf. Slov. rojaska), not from appa + rajas + alddhi (eyes - 'with little dust on their eyes').

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 27 - Culahattipadopama Sutta
(1, 3, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindikas Park.

2. Now on that occasion Tammoni of the Divine caste drove in broad day through Sāvatthi in a chariot drawn by mares, all in white. He saw the Wanderer Pīlōtikā coming. When he saw him he asked him;

« Now where is Master Vacchāyana sir coming from in broad day? »

« Sir, I am coming from the monk Gotama's presence ». »

« How does Master Vacchāyana conceive the monk Gotama's understanding? He is wise, is he not? »

« Sir, who am I to know the monk Gotama's understanding ability? One would surely have to be his equal to know the monk Gotama's understanding ability ». »

« Master Vacchāyana, ^{sir} praises the monk Gotama with high praise indeed! »

« Sir, who am I to praise the monk Gotama? The monk Gotama is praised by the praised — as best among gods and men ». »

« What value does Master Vacchāyana see that he has such confidence in the monk

gotama ??"

3. "Sir, suppose a wise elephant-
woodman went into an elephant-wood,
and he saw in the elephant-wood a
big elephant's footprint ~~176~~¹⁷⁶ long in ex-
tent and broad across; he would conclude
'It is a bull elephant and a big one';
so too, as soon as I saw four footprints
in the monk Gotama, I concluded 'The
Blessed One is fully enlightened, The True
Dharma is well proclaimed, The Community
has entered upon the good way. What are
the four ?'

4. "Sir, I have seen here certain ~~caste~~
~~scholars~~^{-caste scholars} ~~Warrior-nobles~~⁽) that were clever and
knew others' theories as a hair-splitter
(marksman knows archery); one would fancy
they must go about demolishing views with
the understanding that they have. They
hear 'The monk Gotama will visit such and
such a village or town'. They determine
a formulated question thus 'If he is asked
like this he will answer like this, and so
we shall prove his theory wrong; and if
he is asked like this, he will answer like
this, and so again we shall prove his
theory wrong'. They hear 'The monk
Gotama has come to visit such and such a'
'village or town', they go to the monk Gotama.
The monk Gotama in streets, urges, rouses,
and encourages them with a talk on the

True Idea, & After that they do not see much, as ask him the question, so how should they prove his theory wrong? In actual fact they become his disciples. When I saw the first footprint in the monk Gotama, I concluded 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the Community has entered on the good way'.

- 5 Again, I have seen certain divine-caste scholars that were clever ... second footprint ... on the good way
- 6 Again, I have seen certain ~~Brāhmaṇas~~^{householder} scholars that were clever ... third footprint ... on the good way.
- 7 Again, I have seen certain monk scholars that were clever and knew other theories as a hair-splitter [marksmen knows archery]; one would fancy they must go about demolishing views with the understanding that they have. They hear 'The monk Gotama ~~will~~¹⁷ will visit such and such a village or town'. They determine a formulated question 'If he is asked like this, he will answer like this, and so we shall prove his theory wrong; and if he is asked like this, he will answer like this, and so ^{again} we shall prove his theory wrong'. They hear 'The monk Gotama has come to visit such and such a village or town'. They go to the monk Gotama. The monk Gotama instructs, urges, rouses and encourages them with talk on the true Idea. They do not so much as ask him the question, so how should they prove his theory wrong?

An evident fact they ask the monk Gotama to allow them to go forth from the home life into homelessness, and he gives them the going forth. Not long after they have gone forth in this way, dwelling alone and withdrawn, diligent, ardent and self-controlled, by realization themselves with direct knowledge they here and now enter upon and abide in that supreme goal of the life Divine for the sake of which clausives rightly go forth from the home life into homelessness. They say thus 'We were very nearly lost, we were very nearly undone; for formerly we claimed that we were monks though we were not, we claimed that we were divines though we were not, we claimed that we were accomplished though we were not; but now we are monks, now we are divines, now we are accomplished'. When I saw this fourth footprint in the monk Gotama, I concluded 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered on the good way.'

8. As soon as I saw these four footprints in the monk Gotama I concluded 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered on the good way'.

9. When this was said, Tāmavari of the Divine caste got down from his chariot drawn by

355
moves, all in white, and arranging his robes
on shoulder, he raised his hands palms to-
gether towards where the Blessed One was, and
he uttered this exclamation three times « Hon-
our to the Blessed One, accomplished and fully
enlightened! Honour to the Blessed One, accom-
plished and fully enlightened! Honour to the Blessed
One, accomplished and fully enlightened! »
Now suppose that, some time or other, we were
to meet Master Gotama and have some convers-
ation with him? »

10. Then Tāmūsorū of the Divine caste went
to the Blessed One and exchanged greetings
with him, and when the courtesy and amiable
talk was finished, he sat down at one side.
When he had done so, he related to the Blessed
One all his conversation with the Wanderer Pi-
tṛotikā. When this was said, the Blessed One
told him:

11. « At this point, divine, the simile of
the elephant's foot print has not yet been
completed in detail. So listen then how it
is completed in detail and attend carefully
to what I shall say ».

« Yes, sir ». Tāmūsorū of the Divine caste
replied. The Blessed One said this:

12. « Divine, suppose an elephant woods-
man went into an elephant wood, and he
saw in the elephant wood a big elephant's

footprint long in extent and broad across: a wise elephant ^{woodman}, ~~woodman~~ would not yet conclude 'It is a bull elephant and a big one'. Why is that? In an elephant wood there are small cow elephants that leave a big footprint; it might be the footprint of one of those. He follows it. As he does so, he sees in the elephant wood a big elephant's footprint long in extent and broad across and signs of ^{some} scraping high up: a wise elephant woodsman would not yet conclude 'It is a bull elephant and a big one'. Why is that? In an elephant wood there are tall cow elephants with ^{prominent} teeth that leave a big footprint. It might be ~~one of those~~ the footprint of one of those. He follows it. As he does so, he sees in the elephant ^{wood} forest an elephant's footprint long in extent and broad across and signs of ^{some} scraping high up and gashed ~~made~~ by tusks: a wise elephant woodsman would not yet conclude 'It is a bull elephant and a big one'. Why is that? In an elephant wood there are tall cow elephants with tusks that leave a big footprint; it might be one of those. He follows it. As he does so he sees in the elephant wood an elephant's footprint long in extent and broad across and signs of ^{some} scraping high up and gashed made by tusks and broken-off branches, and he sees the bull elephant at the root.

257

on a tree or in the open, walking about or standing or sitting or lying down. He concludes 'This is that great bull elephant'.

13. 179 So too, divine, here a Perfect One appears in the world, accomplished and fully enlightened, perfect in true knowledge and conduct, sublime, knower of worlds, incomparable leader of men to be tamed, teacher of gods and men, enlightened, blessed.

14. He declares this world with its gods, its Māras and its (Brahmā) Divinities, this generation with its mortals and divines, with its kings (by direct) right and the men, which he has himself realized by direct knowledge.

15. He teaches a True Idea good in the beginning, good in the middle, and good in the end, with the Right Meaning and syllables, and he announces a life Divine that is utterly perfect and pure.

16. A householder or householder's son or one born in some clan hears that True Idea. On hearing the True Idea, he acquires faith in the Perfect One. Possessing that faith, he considers thus 'House life is crowded and dirty; life gone forth is wide open. It is not possible, living in a household, to lead the life Divine as utterly perfect and pure as a polished staff. Suppose I shaved off hair and beard, put on the yellow cloth, and went forth from the home'

M. 27

life into homelessness?"

And on another occasion, abandoning perhaps a small, perhaps a large fortune, abandoning perhaps a small, perhaps a large circle of relatives, he shaves off hair and beard, puts on the yellow cloth, and goes forth from the home life into homelessness.

17. Being thus gone forth and possessing the bhikkhus' training and way of life, abandoning killing breathing things, he becomes one who abstains from killing breathing things; with rod and weapon laid aside, gentle and kindly, he abides compassionate to all creatures.

Abandoning taking what is not given, he becomes one who abstains from taking what is not given: taking what is given, expecting what is given, he abides pure in him self by not stealing.

Abandoning what is not the life Divine, he becomes one who lives the life Divine, who lives apart, abstaining from vulgar lechery.

Abandoning false speech, he becomes one who abstains from false speech, speaks truth, cleaves to truth, is trustworthy, reliable and undeceiving of the world.

Abandoning malicious speech, he becomes one who abstains from malicious speech: one who is neither a repeater elsewhere of what is heard here for the purpose of causing division from those, nor a repeater to those of what is heard elsewhere for the purpose of causing division from those, who is thus a reuniter of the divided, a promoter of friend ships, and enjoying concord, rejoicing in concord, delighting in concord, he becomes a speaker of words that promote concord.

Abandoning harsh speech, he becomes one who abstains from harsh speech; he becomes a speaker of such words as innocent, pleasing to the ear and lovable, as go to the heart, are civil, desired of many and dear to many.

180 Abandoning gossip, he becomes one who abstains from gossip: as one who tells in season what is true and beneficial and the Truth and Discipline, he becomes a speaker of timely words, worth recalling, reasoned, measured and connected with good.

He becomes one who abstains from injuring seeds and plants.

He becomes one who eats in only one part of the day, refusing (food) at night and ~~eats~~ late meals.

He becomes one who abstains from seeing dancing, singing, music and shows.

He becomes one who abstains from ~~the use of~~ garlands, ^{mixing with} scents and fragrances, ^{wearing &} with sweet-scented ~~substances~~.

He becomes one who abstains from high and ~~long~~ beds.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting gold and silver.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting raw corn.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting raw meat.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting women and girls.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting bonds-women and bonds-men.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting sheep and goats.

He becomes one who abstains from accepting poultry and pigs.

He becomes one who obtains from accepting
elephants, cattle, horses and mares.

He becomes one who abandons from accepting fields and lands.

He becomes one who abstains from going on errands.

He becomes one who abstains from buying
and selling. not true nor false

and selling. He becomes one who obtains from false weights, false metal and false measures.

He becomes one who abstains from cheating, deceiving, depraving and trickery.

He becomes one who abominates non-murdering, ^{executing}, ~~murdering~~, building, robbery, plunder and violence.

der and violence.
He becomes one who is content with robes
to keep the body, with alms food to keep the belly;
wherever he goes he takes all with him. Just
as whenever a winged bird flies it flies using
its own wings, so too he becomes one who is con-
tent with robes to keep the body, with alms
food to keep the belly; wherever he goes he takes
all with him.

Possessing this store of Noble Rei virtue,
he feels ~~indeed~~ pleasure in himself that is blame-
less.

18. He becomes one who, on seeing a visible form with the eye, ~~too~~ does not apprehend signs and features through which, if he left the eye faculty unguarded, evil unprofitable

ideas of correctness and grief might invade him. He practices the way of its restraint, he guards the eye faculty, ^{and} undertakes the restraint of the eye faculty. On hearing a sound with the ear, ... On smelling an odor with the nose, ... On tasting a flavor with the tongue, ... On touching a tangible with the body, ... On cognizing an idea with the mind, ... restraint of the mind faculty.

Possessing this Noble One's restraint, ^{faculty} of the faculty, he feels pleasure in himself that is blameless.

19. He becomes one who acts in full awareness when moving toward and moving backward, who acts in full awareness when looking towards and looking away, who acts in full awareness ^{when flexing and extending,} ^{when wearing the patched cloak, bowl and robes,} who acts in full awareness when eating, drinking, chewing and tasting, who acts in full awareness when evacuating the bowels and making water, who acts in full awareness when walking, standing, sitting, falling asleep, waking up, talking, and keeping silent.

20. Possessing this store of the Noble One's virtue, and possessing this Noble One's restraint ^{of the faculty,} and possessing this Noble One's mindfulness and full awareness, he resorts to a secluded resting-place — to the forest, the root ^{or} ^{20th} a tree, a rock, a hill cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, a jungle thicket, an open space, a

heap of straw.

21. On return from his abus round after the meal, he sits down, having folded his legs crosswise, sets his body erect, established mindfulness in front of him, abandoning covetousness for the world, he abides with cognizance free from covetousness; he purifies cognizance from covetousness. Abandoning ill will and hatred, he abides without cognizance of ill will, compassionate for the welfare of all breathing beings; he purifies cognizance from ill will and hatred. Abandoning lethargy and drowsiness, he abides with cognizance free from lethargy and drowsiness, peripient of light, mindful and fully aware; he purifies cognizance from lethargy and drowsiness. Abandoning agitation and worry, he abides unagitated with cognizance stilled in himself; he purifies cognizance from agitation and worry. Abandoning ^{that has arisen} uncertainty, he abides with cognizance crossed beyond uncertainty, unquestioning about profitable ideas; he purifies cognizance from uncertainty.
22. Having thus abandoned these five hindrances, ~~impediments~~ of cognizance that weaken understanding, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, he enters upon and abides in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and pondering,

with happiness and pleasure born of seclusion.

23. This is called a footprint of a Perfect One, a ~~scrapping~~^{scrapping something which} of a Perfect One, a ~~sign~~^{mark} of a Perfect One, a taste-gash of a Perfect One; but a noble disciple does not yet conclude 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered upon the good way'.

24. Again, with the stilling of thinking and pondering he enters upon and abides in the second illumination, which has self-cogni-
tence and singleness of cognizance without thinking and without pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration.

25. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One, a ~~scrapping~~^{scrapping} sign of a Perfect One, a taste & gash of a Perfect One; ^{comes} ~~marked by~~ ^{comes} Perfect One; ¹⁸² but a noble dis-
ciple does not yet come to the conclusion 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered upon the good way'.

26. Again, with the fading as well of happiness, he abides in overlooking (equanimity) mindfull and fully aware, feeling pleasure with the body, he enters upon and abides in the third illumination, on account of which the noble ones announce 'He has a pleasant abiding who is an overlooker (with equanimity)'.

27. This also is called a footprint of a

Perfect One, ...

28. Again, with the abandoning of pleasure and pain, and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief, he enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither pain-nor-pleasure, and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to onlooking (equanimity).

29. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One...

30. When ~~the~~ concentrated Cognition is thus purified and bright, unblemished, rid of delusion and become malleable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperturbability, he directs, he inclines, cognition to knowledge of recollection of past life... [as in Sutta 4, § 27]... Thus with its aspects and particulars he reviews his manifold past life.

31. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One...

32 183 When concentrated Cognition is thus purified... and attained to imperturbability, he directs, he inclines, cognition to knowledge of the passing away and reappearance of creatures... [Sutta 4 § 29]... Thus with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, he sees... how creatures pass on according to their actions.

33. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One...

34. When concentrated cognizance is thus purified... and attained to imperturbability, he directs, he inclines, cognition to knowledge of exhaustion ofcaulkers. He understands as it actually is 'This is suffering'... [complete as in Sutta 4, §31] ... He understands as it actually is 'This is the way leading to cessation ofcaulkers'. marked

35. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One, a ~~somewhat unadorned~~^{scrapping sign of}, a Perfect One, a ~~somewhat unadorned~~^{scrapping sign of} a Perfect One; but a noble disciple has not already concluded, but rather is in the act of concluding; the Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered on the good way.

36. knowing thus, seeing thus, his cognizance is liberated from the caulk of sensual desire,¹⁸⁴ from the caulk of being, and from the caulk of ignorance. When liberated, there is the knowledge 'It is liberated'. He understands 'Birth is exhausted, the ~~(Ariya) Divine~~^{Cox} has been lived out, what ~~must~~ be done is done. There is no more of this to come'. marked

37. This also is called a footprint of a Perfect One, a ~~somewhat unadorned~~^{scrapping sign of}, a Perfect One, a ~~somewhat unadorned~~^{scrapping sign of} a Perfect One. It is at this point that a noble disciple has concluded: 'The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the

M. 27

Community has entered upon the good way'.

It is at this point, divine, that the simile of the elephant's footprint has been completed in detail.'

38. When this was said, Janussoṇi of the divine caste said:

'A Magnificent, Master Gotama, ... (as in Sutta 4, §§ 36, 37) ... gone to him for refuge for life'.

Notes

§ 16 'Sambodho gharavāro - house life is crowded': ch. id. 59 'Sambodho gherivāro. bahukucco': perhaps 'restrictive' in the sense of restricting freedom of action and thought would be nearer.

§ 12 Uccākālārikā (Cmty. explains uccā as referring to the large size of the footprint and kālārikā as referring to the prominence of twigs)

§ 2 Ko c'aham bho ko ca samanassa gotamassa pannā-vyappatiyam jāniyam - who am I to know the monk Gotama's understanding?': for this idiom koca...koca of Sutta 96, § and Sutta 136, § 5, etc.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 28 - Mahā Hattupadopama Sutta
(1, 3, 8)

367

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at
Sāvatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anāthapindicas Park.
There the venerable Sāriputta addressed the
Bhikkhus thus & Friends, Bhikkhus 37, + & Friends 33
they replied, the venerable Sāriputta said this:

2. & Friends, just as the footprint of any
breathing thing that walks can be placed within
an an elephant's footprint, and so the elephant's
footprint is declared the chief of them because
of its great size, so too, whatever profitable
ideas there are can all be included in the
four noble truths. So what four?

3. In the Noble Truth of suffering,¹⁸⁵ in the
Noble Truth of the Origin of Suffering, in the Noble
Truth of the cessation of suffering, and in the Noble
Truth of the Way leading to the cessation of suffering.

4. And what is the Noble Truth of suffering?
Birth is suffering, ageing is suffering, death is
suffering; sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief
and despair are suffering; not to get what one wants
is suffering; in short the five aggregates affected
by clinging are suffering.

5. And what are the five aggregates affected
by clinging? They are the form aggregate affected by

clinging, the feeling aggregate affected by clinging up, the perception aggregate affected by clinging, the determination aggregate affected by clinging, and the consciousness aggregate affected by clinging.

1. And what is the form aggregate affected by clinging? It is the four great entities and any form ~~accurred upon~~^{derived upon} to the four great entities.

2. And what are the four great entities? They are the earth element, the water element, the fire element, and the air element.

3. And what is the earth element? The earth element is either in oneself or external.

What is the ^{earth} element in oneself? Whatever ~~is~~ in oneself, ~~which~~ ^{belongs to oneself}, is solid, solidified and clung-to, that is to say, head-hair, body-hair, teeth, nails, skin, flesh, sinews, bones, bone-marrow, kidneys, heart, liver, midriff, spleen, lungs, bowels, entrails, gorge, dung, or whatever else ~~there is~~ in oneself, belonging to oneself, ~~that~~ is solid, solidified and clung-to: this is called the earth element in one self.

Now both the earth element in oneself and the external earth element are simply earth element. And that should be ^{seen} regarded as it actually is with right understanding thus: 'This is not mine, this is not I, this is not myself'. When a man sees it with right under-

standing as it actually is thus, he becomes dis-passionate towards the earth element, and ~~but for the earth element~~ out of his cognizance.

9. Now there is the occasion when the external earth element is disturbed, and then the external earth element vanishes. For even this external element, great as it is, is describable as impermanent, ~~and~~ inseparable from the idea of ~~of~~ fall, and inseparable from the idea of change, so what of this body, which is clinging to by ~~over~~ always lasts but a while? There can be no [considering] that as 'I' or 'mine' or 'am'.

10. So then, [having seen this element as it actually is, thus], if others abuse and scold and curse and ~~treat~~ a thikklu, he understands thus 'This painful feeling born of car contact has arisen in me. That is dependent, not independent. Dependent on what? ¹⁸⁶ Dependent on contact'. Then he sees that contact is impermanent, that feeling is impermanent, that perception is impermanent, that determination are impermanent, and that consciousness ^{which has} is impermanent. And ~~out~~ his cognizance, ~~is~~ already ^{made} an element [constituent of the form aggregate] ~~as~~ its objective support, it enters into that [new objective support now contemplated] ^{and aggregate} ^{gradually} confidence and decision, and attains a liberation.

11. Now if others attack that thikklu with the unwished-for, undesired and disagreeable contact

of fists, clods, sticks or knives, he under-
stands thus ~~that is~~ ^{in an entity such} "this body, that contact of
fists, clods, sticks, knives takes place in it".
But this has been said by the Blessed One
in his discourse on the Simile of the Saw: "Even
if bandits brutally severed limb from limb
with a two-handled saw, he who entertained
hatred in his heart on that account would
not be one who carried out my teaching".
So tireless energy shall be aroused in me
and unceasing mindfulness established, my
body shall be tranquil and unexcited, my
cognizance shall be concentrated and uni-
fied. And now let contact with fists, clods,
sticks and knives take place in this body;
for this ^{is} when the enlightened One's mes-
sage is put into effect".

13. If, when he thus recollects the En-
lightened One, the True Idea, and the Com-
munity, overlooking (equanimity) does not per-
sist in him with the profitable as its support,
then he arouses a sense of urgency thus
"It is loss for me, it is no gain for me, it is
bad for me, it is no good for me, that
when I recollect the enlightened One, the True
Idea and the Community thus, overlooking
(equanimity) does not persist in me with
the profitable as its support? Just as when
a daughter-in-law sees her father-in-law,
she has a sense of urgency, so too, if a
bhikkhu ... profitable as its support".
14. But if ^{always} a bhikkhu recollects the enlightened

One and the True Idea and the Community, then, overlooking (egregiousness) becomes established in him with what is profitable as its support, ¹⁸⁷ then he is satisfied. And at that point, friend, much has been done by the teacher.

15. What is the water element? The water element can be in one self or external.

What is the water element in oneself?

Whatever in oneself, belonging to oneself in water, watery, and clinging-to, that is to say, bile, phlegm, pus, blood, sweat, fat, tears, grease, spittoon, sput, oil-of-the-joints, wine, or whatever else in oneself, belonging to oneself, in water, watery, and clinging-to: this is called the water element in oneself.

Now both the water element in oneself and the external water element are simply water element. That should be seen with right understanding as it actually is. Thus 'This is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self'. When a man sees it thus with right understanding as it actually is, he becomes dispassionate towards the water element, he fades out for the water element out of his cognizance.

16. How there is an occasion when the water element is disturbed. It carries away village, town, city, district, and country. At times there is an occasion when the water in the great ocean sink down a hundred leagues

two hundred leagues, three hundred leagues,
four hundred leagues, five hundred leagues,
six hundred leagues, seven hundred leagues.

There is an occasion when the water in the great ocean stands seven palm trees deep, six palm trees deep, five ... four ... then ... two palm trees deep, only a palm tree deep. There is an occasion when the waters in the great ocean stand seven fathoms deep, six ... five ... four ... three ... two fathoms deep, only a fathom deep. There is an occasion when the waters in the great ocean stand half a fathom deep, only waist deep, only knee deep, only ankle deep. There is an occasion when the waters in the great ocean are not enough to wet even the joint of a finger.

17. For this external water element, greater it is ^{even} ~~is~~ 188 in describable as impermeable, inseparable from the idea of ~~obstruction~~
fall, and inseparable from the idea of change, so what of this body which is cleavable by craving and lasts but a while? There can be no [considering] that as 'I' or 'mine' or 'am'

18. - 20. ^{so they, having seen this element as it} ~~At one of others attack of speech~~
~~actually is, thus], if others abuse ... [re-~~
~~peat §§ 16.- 17.] ... much has been done~~
by that blockader.

21. What is the fire element? The fire element can be in oneself or external.

And what is the fire element in oneself? Whatever in oneself, belonging to oneself, fire, fiery, and clinging-to, that is to say, that whereby one is warmed, ages, and is consumed, and that whereby what is eaten, drunk, chewed and tasted gets completely digested, or whatever else in oneself, belonging to oneself, is fire, fiery, and clinging-to; this is called the fire element in oneself.

Now both the fire element in oneself and the external fire element are simply fire element. That should be seen with right understanding as it actually is thus 'this is not mine, this is not I, this is not myself'. When a man sees it thus with right understanding as it actually is, he becomes dispassionate towards the fire element, he fades out for the fire element out of his cognizance.

22. There is an occasion when the external fire element is disturbed. It burns up village, town, city, district, and country. It only goes out when it comes to green grass, or to a road or to a rock or to water or a fair open space, for want of fuel. There is an occasion when they seek to make a fire even with towls' claws and hide-pierings.

11.28

274

23. For even this external air element, great as it is, is describable as impermanent, inseparable from the idea of fall, inseparable from the idea of change, so what of this body, which is clung-to by craving and lasts but a while? There can be no [considering] that as 'I' or 'mine' or 'am'.

24.-28. So then, I having seen this element as it actually is, thus, if others abuse ... [repeat 3316-17] ... much has been done by that babbler.

29. What is the air element? The air element can be in oneself or external.

What is the air element in oneself? Whatever in oneself, belonging to oneself, is air, airy, and clung-to, that is to say, up-going winds (forces), down-going winds (forces), winds (forces) in the belly, winds (forces) in the bowels, winds (that course ~~through~~ all the limbs, in-breath and out-breath, or whatever else in oneself, belonging to oneself, is air, airy, and clung-to; this is called the air element in oneself.

Now both the air element in oneself and the external air element are simply air element. And that should be seen as it actually is with right understanding thus 'this is not mine, this is not', this is not myself'. When a man sees it

thus with right understanding as it actually is, he becomes dispassionate towards the air element, he ~~subdues~~ ^{subdues} ~~loses~~ ^{loses} lust for the air element out of his cognizance.

30. ¹⁸⁹ There is an occasion when the external air element is disturbed. It sweeps away village, town, city, district, and country. There is an occasion when in the last month of the hot season they seek wind by means of a fan or bellows, and even the strands of straw in the drip-fringe of the thatch do not stir.

30. For even this external air element, great as it is, is describable as impermanent, inseparable from the idea of fall, inseparable from the idea of change, so what of this body, which is clung-to and lasts but a while? There can be no [considering] that as 'I' or 'mine' or 'am'.

32.-35 Dashed, [having seen this element as it actually is, thus,] if others abuse ...
[repeat §§ 11-14] ... much has been done by the beldam.

36. Just as, when a space ~~is established~~ ^{equipped} with timber and creepers and grass and clay, there comes to be the term 'house', so too, when a space is ~~established~~ ^{equipped} with bones and sinews and flesh and skin, there comes to

be the term 'form'.

36. If the eye in oneself were intact but no external forms came to the horizon and there were no appropriate [conscious] ^{engagement} ~~selection~~, then there would be no manifestation of the appropriate class of consciousness. If the eye in oneself were intact and external forms came to the horizon, but there were no appropriate [conscious] ^{engagement} ~~selection~~, there would be no manifestation of the appropriate class of consciousness. But it is owing to the eye in oneself being intact and that external forms come to the horizon, and that there is the appropriate [conscious] engagement, that there is manifestation of the appropriate class of consciousness.

37. Any form in ~~the~~ ^{as} ~~so~~ ~~entity~~ such an entity is included in the form aggregate affected by clinging, any feeling in such an entity is included in the feeling aggregate affected by clinging. Any perception in such an entity is included in the percept. Any determination aggregate affected by clinging. Any consciousness in such an entity is included in the consciousness aggregate affected by clinging.

He understands in this ~~way~~ "this,

it ~~has~~ seems, is how there comes to be ~~the~~ inclusion gathering and amassing into these five aggregates effected by clinging. Now this has been said by the Blessed One "He who sees ¹⁹¹ dependent origination sees the True Idea; he who sees the True Idea sees dependent origination" And those five aggregate effected by clinging are dependently arisen. The goal for, reliance on, approval or acceptance of, these five aggregates effected by clinging is the origin of suffering. The removal of zeal and lust, the abandoning of zeal and lust, for ~~&~~ them ^{is} in the cessation of suffering. And at this point too, friends, much has been done by the bhikkhu.

38-40. If the ear in oneself were intact but no external sounds come to the horizon ...
 [as in § 36-7] ... much has been done by the bhikkhu.

40-1. If the nose in oneself were intact but no external ^{smells} sounds come to the horizon ... much has been done by the bhikkhu.

42-3. If the tongue in oneself were intact but no external ^{tastes} sounds came to the horizon ... much has been done by the bhikkhu.

45-5. If the body in oneself were intact but no external tangible came to the horizon ... much has been done by the bhikkhu.

48-8. If the mind in oneself were intact but no external ideas came to the horizon ... much has been done by the bhikkhu?

That is what the venerable Sāriputta said.
The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted
in his words.

Notes

§ 19 'hearth but a while - matta-thalca': thalca
is not in P.T.S. Dict. The word occurs at V. 6.,
19, 66 and 75 in the form tetrathalca (that
remains where it is).

§ 30 'Vidhūpana - bellows': properly a 'fan
for fanning a fire' (Cogn.)

'Techati - to stir, to move' is not in P.T.S.
Dict., but see aticchati.

§ 37 'Samavaya - amassing' is given as
Pitaka ref. in P.T.S. Dict.

§ 38, etc. 'upādīna-clung-to' given as
pitaka ref. in P.T.S. Dict.; repeated in Suttas
62 and 140.

§ 39 'Ussavane pi tivāni naicchati -
even the straws [hanging] in the dry fringe
of the thatch do not stir'; the sentence has
been misread. The Sinhalese translation has
been followed here.

§ 40 'daddula - hide & wings': see Sutta 12, § 45

§ 41 'Kharigata - solidified': not in P.T.S. Dict.

§ 39 'Samaṇāhara - (concerning) engagement':
apparently the only sutta ref.

Majjhima Nikāya 28 - Mahāśāraṇa sutta
(1, 39)

M. 24

320

twigs and leaves and took them away thinking
it was heartwood; then a man with ^{good eyes} seeing
him ~~would say~~ ^{say} "you good man surely don't
~~not recognize~~ ^{inner} heartwood or sapwood ~~or bark~~
~~or~~ ^{outer} bark, for twigs and leaves; and so this
good man finding heartwood, seeking heart-
wood, wandering in search of heartwood ^{has} come
to ^{to} a great tree standing possessed of heartwood,
and passing over its heart wood and its sap-
wood and ^{inner} ~~its~~ bark and ^{outer} bark ~~is~~, has cut to
twigs and leaves and ~~taking~~ ^{this} ~~away~~ ^{away}, thinking they
were heartwood; and "So whatever it was ~~he~~ he had
to make with heartwood, his purpose will
not be served." So too, thickhus, here some
clansman ^{out} of faith goes forth ... 193 lives in
suffering.

This thickhus is called one who ^{has} taken
the twigs and leaves of the life ^{Dignity} ~~Dignity~~
and stopped short with that.

3. "Here, thickhus, some clansman out
of faith goes forth from the home life into
homeless ness, ^{complaining} thickhus "I am the victim
of birth, ageing and death, of sorrows, lamenta-
tions, pains, griefs and ^{sorrows} woes, I am a victim of
suffering, a prey to suffering. Surely the an-
ending of this whole ^{spiritual} mass of suffering is
~~known~~ ^{known}." When he has gone forth thus, he
acquires great gain, honors and renown. He is
not satisfied with that gain, honor and renown
and his thoughts are not waxed full. He does
nothing.

not, on account of that gain, honour and renown, lands himself and disparages others. He does with that gain, honour and renown ~~as an~~ ^{as an} intoxicant, he does not intoxicate himself ^{and}, ~~when he is~~ ^{when he is} ~~intoxication does not make him~~ negligent; ^{when he is} diligent he attains perfect virtue. He ^{is pleased} ~~is contented~~ with that, ~~perfection of virtue~~, and his ~~is~~ ^{is} mind full. On account of that ~~perfection of virtue~~ he lands himself and disparages others: "I am virtuous, fine natured, but these ~~are~~ ^{are} blemishes ~~we~~ ^{we} unvirtuous, ~~unpassable~~ ^{unpassing} ~~for the~~ ^{for} ~~edge of evil~~ ^{edge of evil} ~~which~~ ^{which} that perfection of virtue ~~as an~~ ^{as an} intoxicant, he in intoxicates himself, ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~neglect~~ ^{neglect} makes him negligent; ~~when he is~~ ^{when he is} negligent, he lives in suffering.

Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood and its ^{inner} bark, he cut its ^{outer} bark and took it away thinking it was heartwood. Then a man, with ^{good} ~~good~~ ^{right} ~~right~~ ^{mind} ~~mind~~ seeing him, said ^{say} "This good man surely did not recognize heartwood or sapwood or bark or scales or leaves or twigs and leaves; and so this good man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood and its ^{inner} bark, has cut its scales and outer bark and taken it away thinking it was heartwood and "So whatever it was ^{this good man} he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served." So too, blikkhus, here some class-

man out of faith goes forth... ~~and~~ lives in suffering.

74² This bhikkhu is called one who, ^{has} taken the outer bark of the life ~~fringe~~ and stopped short with that.

4. Here, thickhus, some clausman out of faith goes forth from the home life into home-less ness ^{or} ~~thorough~~ "I am the victim of birth, ... is ~~such~~ human." When he has gone forth thus, he acquires great gain, honour and re-nown. He is not ~~satisfied~~ ^{pleased} with that gain, honour and renown, and his ~~thoughts~~ ^{intention} are not waxed full. He does not, on account of ~~that~~ gain, hon-our and renown, land himself and disparage others. With that gain, honour and renown he is not intoxicated, he does not intoxicate him-self, ^{and} ~~negligent~~. Does not make him negligent, ^{when he is} diligent, he attains perfect vir-tue. He is ~~not~~ ^{intoxicated} with that, perfection of virtue, but his ~~thoughts~~ ^{intention} are not waxed full. He does not, on account of ~~that~~ perfection of virtue, land himself and disparage others, with that perfection of virtue ^{as an} ~~intoxicated~~ he does not intoxicate himself ^{and} ~~negligent~~, he does not intoxicate himself ^{and} ~~negligent~~; ^{when he is} diligent, he attains perfection of con-centration. He is ~~negligent~~ with that per-fec-tion of virtue concentration, and his ~~thoughts~~ ^{intention} are waxed full. On account of ~~that~~ perfection of concentration he lands himself and dis-parages others: "I am concentrated, my ^{concentra-tion} is unified, but these other bhikkhus are

unconcentrated, ^{with consequences} their ~~hands~~ are "astray." With that perfection of concentration ~~he is~~ intoxicates, he intoxicates himself and ~~intoxication weaker him~~, ~~more~~ negligent, ~~whereas~~ negligent, he lives in suffering.

"Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood, he cut its inner bark and took it away, thinking it was heartwood; then a man ^{with blue eyes} came up, ^{thinking} ~~and~~ observing his action and saying, ~~He is a good man~~ surely did not recognize

~~heart wood, or sapwood or inner bark or outer bark or twigs and leaves, and so this good man, needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood, has cut its inner bark and taken it away, thinking it was heartwood, and so whatever it was, he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served.~~ 194

So too, bhikkhus, here some clausman out of faith goes forth ... lives in suffering. 195

"This bhikkhu is called one who has taken the inner bark of the life of purity and stopped short with that."

5. "Here, bhikkhus, some clausman out of faith goes forth from the home life into homelessness, (if truthfully) "I am the victim of birth, ... is made known". When he has gone forth, he acquires great gain, honor and renown. He

is not ~~satisfied~~... ~~when he is~~ diligent, he attains perfect virtue, ~~he is~~ ~~not~~ ~~intoxicated~~ ~~with that~~ ~~perfection of virtue, but his thoughts are not upon full perfection of virtue.~~ ~~He~~ Being diligent, he attains perfect concentration. He is ~~not satisfied~~ with that perfection of concentration, but his thoughts are not upon full. He does not ~~on account of that~~ ~~intoxication of concentration~~ land himself and disparages others. With that perfection of concentration ~~he is~~ ~~not~~ ~~intoxicant~~, he does not intoxicate himself, ~~intoxicant~~, ~~does not make~~ ~~him~~ negligent, when being diligent he attains knowledge and vision. He is ~~satisfied~~ with that knowledge and vision, and his thoughts are ~~not~~ ~~intoxicated~~ ~~with that knowledge and vision~~ land himself and disparages others: "I live ~~knowingly~~ and ~~seeing~~, but these other blithes live ~~in that~~ ~~knowledge and vision~~ and ~~unseeing~~." With that knowledge and vision ~~he is~~ ~~intoxicant~~, he intoxicates himself, ~~and~~ ~~grasps~~ ~~intoxicant makes him~~ negligent; ~~when he is~~ negligent, he lives in suffering,

'Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, ~~came to~~ ^{at} a tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood, he cut its sapwood, and took it away, thinking it was heartwood; then a man with good sight ^{might} ~~not~~ ~~see~~ ~~it~~ seeing him, ~~should say~~. ~~So it is~~ ~~a~~ ~~tree~~ ~~which~~ ~~had~~ ~~good~~ ~~looks~~ ~~surely~~ did not recognize heartwood or sapwood or inner bark at

outer bark or twigs and leaves; and so that good man needing heart wood, starting heartwood wandering in search of heart wood, [came to] a tree standing possessed of heart wood, and passing over its heart wood he has cut its sapwood and taken it away, thinking it was heartwood; and "So what ever it was he had to make with heart wood; his purpose will not be served." 196
 So too, blithibus, here some clausman out of faith goes forth ... lives in suffering.

* This blithibus is called one who has taken the sapwood of the life ~~of purity~~ and stopped short with that.

6. Here, blithibus, some clausman out of faith goes forth ... he acquires great gain, honor and renown. He is not ~~filled with~~
~~and~~ ... being diligent, he attains perfect virtue. He is not satisfied ... being diligent he acquires perfect concentration. He is not satisfied ... being diligent, he acquires knowledge and vision. He is not satisfied with that knowledge and vision, and his thoughts are not ~~dark~~ full. On account of that knowledge and vision he does not laud himself and disparage others. With that knowledge and vision he is not intoxicated, he does not intoxicate himself, intoxication does not make him negligent; being diligent he attains pleased with that ~~gain~~, ~~intoxication is~~ honor and renown, and his thoughts are not ~~washed~~ full ... being diligent, he attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that ~~perfection~~ virtue, but his thoughts are not washed full...

M. 29

386

~~who is~~ diligent, he attains perfect concentration. He is pleased with that perfection of concentration, but his ~~thoughts~~ are not wised full ... ~~even if it~~ diligent, he attains knowledge and vision. He is pleased with that knowledge and vision, but his ~~thoughts~~ are not yet wised full. He does not, on account ~~of that know-~~ ledge and vision, laud himself and disparage others. With that knowledge and vision ~~he is not intoxicated~~, he does not intoxicate himself, ~~intoxication does not make him~~ negligent, ~~being~~ diligent, he attains temporary deliverance. But it is possible ~~that~~ that ~~misfortune might~~ lose that temporary deliverance.

Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [came to] a ~~great~~^{great} tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over it cutting only its heartwood, he took it away, knowing that it was heartwood; Then a man with ~~long~~^{long} sight seeing him, ~~said~~^{said}, "This good man surely recognises heartwood and sapwood, and inner bark and outer bark and twigs and leaves; and so this good man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood,¹⁹⁷ [has come to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and cutting only its heartwood, he has taken it away,
~~it~~ knowing that it is heartwood; had

M. 29

287
"So ^{this good man} whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will be served." So too, blikkhus, here some clausman out of faith goes forth ... he acquires great gain, honour and renown. He is not pleased with ~~that gain, honour, and renown~~, and his ~~intention is~~ are not waked full ... ~~then he is~~ diligent, he attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that ~~perfection of virtue~~, but his ~~thoughts are~~ not waked full ... ~~then he is~~ diligent, he attains perfect concentration. He is pleased with that ~~perfection of concentration~~, but his ~~thoughts are~~ not waked full ... ~~then he is~~ diligent, he attains knowledge and vision. He is pleased with that ~~knowledge and vision~~, but his ~~intention is~~ are not waked full. He does not, on account of ~~that~~ ~~knowledge and vision~~, laud himself and disparage others. With that knowledge and vision ~~he is not~~ ^{and now} intonicated, he does not intoxicate himself, ~~and now~~ does not make him negligent; ~~when he is~~ diligent, he attains ^{non-temporary} ~~present~~ ~~liberation~~. And it is impossible ~~that~~ that blikkhus ~~will~~ close that ^{non-temporary} ~~present~~ deliberation.

8 So this life of purity does not have gain, honour and renown for its ~~some~~ reward, or perfection of virtue for its reward, or perfection of concentration for its reward, or knowledge and vision for its reward. But it is this unshakable ~~second~~-deliverance, that is the ^{aim} ~~goal~~ of this life of purity, its heartwood, and its end!

So the Blessed One said. The blikkhus were ^{substantially satisfied} glad ~~joyfully~~ by his words.

36 Knowledge and vision in this sutta
and the next signifies the five kinds
of ~~six~~ mundane direct knowledge -
see Commentary.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 30 - Culasāropanasutta
(1, 3, 10)

1. ~~197~~ Thus I heard.

On one ~~time~~^{occassion} the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindīka's Park.

2. Then the brahman Rūgala koccha went to

the Blessed One and exchanged greetings with him, and when this courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the Blessed One —

'Master Gotama, there are there ascetics and brahmins, each with his order, with his group, leading a group, each a renowned and famous philosopher and reckoned by many as a saint.'

— I mean Purāna Kassapa, Makkhali Gosala, Ajita Kesakambalin, Pakṣipattha Kaccayana, Sañjaya Belathiputta, and the Niganthas (Jain) Nigaṇṭha nath —; have they all had direct knowledge, as they claim, or have none of them had direct knowledge, or have some had direct knowledge and some not?'

— 'Enough, ~~brahman~~; whether they have all had direct knowledge, as they claim, or ~~none~~ of them have had direct knowledge, or some have had direct knowledge and some not, let that be. I shall teach you the ^{truth}, ~~the~~ ^{true} ~~idea~~ ^{idea} ~~truth~~; ~~truth~~ and ~~ideas~~ are ~~perpetual~~ ^{fixed} ~~not~~ what I shall say.'

— 'Even so, sir,' the brahman Rūgala-koccha ^{the divine} replied to the ~~Blessed One~~ the Blessed One said this:

3. — 'Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood;

M. 30

250

[came to] a tree standing possessed of heartwood,
and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood
and its inner bark and its outer bark, he cut
its twigs and leaves and took them away, thinking they were heartwood.
Then a man with good sight ^{good sight} seeing him, ^{it might operate his}
~~actions and say~~ ^{say} ~~say~~ ^{say} did not recognize heartwood
sapwood or inner bark or outer bark or twigs
and leaves; and so this good man needing heart-
wood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search
of heartwood [has come] to a great tree stand-
ing possessed of heart wood, and passing over its
heartwood and its sapwood and its inner bark
and its outer bark, he has cut its twigs and
leaves, and taken them away, thinking they
were heartwood; and "So whatever it was, ^{this good man} he had
to make with heart wood, his purpose will not
be served."

4. Suppose a man needing heart wood, seek-
ing heart wood, wandering in search of heart wood,
[came to] a great tree standing possessed of
heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and
its sapwood ¹⁷⁹ and its inner bark, he cut its
outer bark and took it away, thinking it was
heart wood; then a man with ^{good sight}, seeing him,
~~actions and say~~ ^{say} ~~say~~ ^{say} did not
recognize heart wood or sapwood or inner
bark or outer bark or twigs and leaves; and so
this good man needing heartwood, seeking heart-
wood, wandering in search of heart wood [has
come to] a great tree standing possessed of heart-
wood, and passing over its heart wood and

~~its sapwood and its inner bark, he has cut its outer bark and taken it away, thinking it was heartwood; and so whatever it was ^{this good man} had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served."~~

5. "Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood wandering in search of heartwood, [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood, and its sapwood, he cut its inner bark and took it away thinking it was heart wood; ~~then a man with good goat~~ ^{it might observe his actions and say} seeing him, ~~good goat~~ ^{he said} ~~man good in his country~~ ~~did not recognize~~ ~~heartwood or sapwood in inner bark or outer~~ ~~sapwood and inner bark and outer bark on top~~ and leaves; and so this good man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [has come to] a great tree standing possessed of heart wood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood, he has cut its inner bark and taken it away thinking it was ~~heart wood~~ ^{good goat} ~~so whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served."~~

6. "Suppose a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heart wood, [came to] a great tree standing possessed of heart wood, and passing over its heart wood, he cut its sapwood and took it away thinking it was heart wood; ~~then a man with good goat~~ ^{good goat} ~~seeing him, said~~ ^{he said} ~~man good in his country~~ ~~did not recognize~~ ~~heartwood or sapwood in inner bark or outer~~

41.30

23

~~back or twigs and leaves, and so this good man, keeping heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood [has come to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood, he has cut its sap wood and taken it away, thinking it was heartwood; and "So whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served."~~

8. So too, ~~that man~~, here some clausur
out of faith goes forth from the home life into
homelessness, [^{and then} ~~becoming~~] "I am the victim of

of birth, ageing and death, of sorrows and lamentations, pains, griefs and ~~sorrows~~, I am a victim of suffering, a prey to suffering. Surely the end of this mass of suffering is ~~not~~ known?" When he has gone forth thus, he acquires great gain, honor and renown. He is pleased with that ~~giving power and reason~~, and his ~~strength~~ is exalted full. On account of ~~that~~ gain, honor and renown he lauds other himself and disparages others thus "I have gain, I have renown, but these other ~~chitthas~~, are unknown, I ~~am~~ a guest". He proues us ~~lucky~~ last, he ~~wishes~~ ~~not~~ ~~to~~ rule, for the realization of ~~things~~ ~~that~~ other ~~things~~ ~~are~~ ~~superior~~ higher than "that gain, honour and own, and superior to ~~those~~ ~~that~~ ~~finer~~ ~~and~~ ~~more~~" Suppose I say that this person is like a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood [who comes to] a tree a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood and its inner bark and its outer bark and he cuts its twigs and leaves and latters them away thinking they are heartwood; and so whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served.

9. ~~Read~~ Here some clausman out of faith goes forth from the home life into homelessness, [thinking] "I am a victim of birth, ageing and death, of sorrows and lamentations, rains, griefs and woes; I am a victim of suffering, a prey to suffering. Surely the ending of this whole

^{aggregatiō} "Man of suffering is ~~a~~ ^{desirably?} known?" When he has gone forth thus, he acquires great gain, honour and renown, ~~but~~ ^{intention is} he is not pleased with that gain, ~~honour and renown~~ and his ~~thoughts are not~~ waned full. He does not, on account of that gain, ~~honour and renown~~, land himself and ~~disparage~~ others. He arouses ~~desire~~ ^{for} ~~bark~~ and ~~make effort~~ for the realization of other ~~things~~ ^{desires} that are higher than that gain, honor and renown and so on. To that, he does not hang back and ~~slack~~ ^{and} ~~slacken~~ ^{participate}. He attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that perfection of virtue and his ~~intention~~ ^{is} are waned full. On account of that ~~perfection~~ ^{of} ~~actions of virtue~~ he lands himself and disparages others: "I am virtuous, fine-natured, but these other blikkus are unvirtuous, evil-natured." So he arouses no ~~desire~~ ^{intention} ~~bark~~, he ~~does not strive~~, for the realization of other ~~things~~ ^{desires} that are higher than that ^{perfection} ²⁰¹ of virtue, he hangs back and slacks. ~~He is please~~

'I say that this person is like a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [who comes to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sap-wood and its inner bark, he cuts its outer bark and takes it away, thinking it is heartwood; and so whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served.

M. 30

10 m "But here some claus-man out of faith goes forth from the home life into homelessness, [counting] "I am the victim of birth, ageing and death, of sorrows and lamentations, pains, griefs and ~~disgusts~~; I am a victim of suffering, a prey to suffering. Surely the ending of this whole series of suffering is ~~dangerous~~?". When he has gone forth, he acquires great gain, honour and renown. He is not pleased with that gain, honour and renown and his ~~entertainment~~ is not waned full. He does not, on account of that gain, honour and renown laud himself and disparage others. He arouses ~~desire~~ ~~desire~~ not, and he ~~claims~~, for the realization of other ~~things~~ ~~that~~ are higher than that gain, honour and ~~renown~~ and superior to that. He does not hang back and slack. He attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that perfection of virtue; but his ~~enter~~ ~~entertainment~~ is not waned full. He does not, on account of that ~~perfection~~ ~~of~~ ~~virtue~~, laud himself and disparage others. He arouses ~~desire~~ ~~desire~~ not, and he ~~claims~~, for the realization of other ~~things~~ ~~that~~ are higher than that ~~perfection~~ ~~of~~ ~~virtue~~. He does not hang back and slack. He attains perfect concentration. He is pleased with that ~~perfection~~ ~~of~~ ~~concentration~~ and his ~~entertainment~~ is not waned full. On account of that ~~perfection~~ ~~of~~ ~~concentration~~ he lauds himself and disparages others: "I am concentrated, my ~~body~~ is unfried, but these ~~two~~ ~~bhikkhus~~ are unconcentrated, they ~~are~~ ~~stray~~" So he worries no ~~one~~ ~~but~~ ~~himself~~, he ~~worries~~ ~~nothing~~, for the realization of other ~~things~~ ~~that~~ are higher

than that perfection of concentration, he hangs back and slacks.

I say that this person is like a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [who comes to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood and its sapwood, he cuts its inner bark and takes it away, thinking it is ~~not~~ heartwood; and so whatever it was that he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served.

11. ~~If~~ there some claveman out of faith goes forth from the home-life into homelessness, [~~knowing~~] "I am a victim of ~~ageing~~ birth, ²⁰² ageing and death, of sorrows and lamentations, pains, griefs and ~~desires~~. I am a victim of suffering; a prey to suffering... surely the culling of this whole ~~pleasure~~ of suffering is ~~desire~~?" When he has gone forth thus, he acquires great gain, honour and renown. He is not pleased with that gain, honour and renown, and his thoughts are not waxed full. He does not, on account of that gain, honour and renown, land himself and disparage others. He arouses desire to out, and he ~~wishes~~, for the realization of ~~them~~ that are higher than that gain, honour and renown and superior to that, he does not hang back and slack? He attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that perfection of virtue, but his thoughts are not waxed full. He does not, on account of that perfection of virtue, land himself and disparage others. He arouses

zeal

~~zeal~~ tract, and he strives, for the realization of ~~things~~ ^{water effect} that are higher than that ~~perfection~~, ~~of~~ ~~virtue~~ ~~and~~ ~~renown~~ and superior to that. He does not hang back and slack. He attains perfect ~~concentration~~ ^{intention} and ~~concentration~~, but his ~~intention~~ is not ~~waxed full~~. He does not, on account of ~~that~~ ^{zeal} ~~perfection~~ of ~~concentration~~, and himself and disparages others. He arouses ~~desire~~ ^{zeal} to act, and he ~~serves~~ ^{makes} ~~for~~, for the realization of ~~ideas~~ ^{water effect} that are higher than that ~~perfection~~ of ~~concentration~~ and superior to that. He does not hang back and slack. He attains knowledge and vision. He is pleased with ~~that knowledge and~~ ^{intention} ~~vision~~, and his ~~intention~~ is ~~waxed full~~. On account of ~~that knowledge and vision~~ he lauds himself and disparages others: "I live knowing and seeing, but these other shirkers live un-knowing and unseeing". So he ~~wishes~~ ^{wants} ~~to realize~~ ^{water effect} ~~to act~~, for the realization of things other ~~things~~ ^{water effect} that are higher than that ~~perfect~~ knowledge and vision. He hangs back and slack.

"I say that this person is like a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wandering in search of heartwood, [who comes to] a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and passing over its heartwood, he cuts its capwood and takes it away, thinking it is heartwood; and so whatever it was he had to make with heartwood, his purpose will not be served."

12. "First there some mean out of faith goes forth from the home life into homelessness
... [as above.] ... He acquires great gain,

honour and renown. He is not pleased with that gain, honor and renown, and his ~~intention is~~ is not willed full ... He attains perfect virtue. He is pleased with that perfection of virtue, ~~and~~ his ~~intention is~~ is not willed full ... He attains perfect concentration. He is pleased with that perfection of concentration, but his ~~intention is~~ is not willed full ... He attains knowledge and vision. He is pleased with that knowledge and vision, but his ~~intention is~~ is not willed full. He does not, on account of that knowledge and vision, laud himself and disparage others. He arouses ~~desire~~ ~~to act~~, and he ~~wishes~~ ^{makes effort} for the realization of other ~~ideas~~ ^{that are} higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that. He does not hang back and slack.

'But what are the ~~ideas~~ ^{ideas} that are higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that?

13. Here, ~~brave~~, ^{lascivious}, ~~quiet~~, secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ~~things~~ ^{ideas}, he enters upon and abides in the first ~~approaching illumination~~ ^{stage}, which is accompanied by ~~griefs~~ ^{pains} and ~~distress~~ ^{enduring} of thought with loss of happiness and bliss ~~born~~ ^{free} of ~~seclusion~~.

'This ^{can be any idea} ~~is a thing~~ that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

14. Again, with the ~~subduing~~ ^{stilling} of ~~apples~~ ^{thinking} and ~~body~~ ^{thought} he enters upon and abides in the second ~~approach~~ ^{stage}, which has illumination.

self-confidence ~~and singleness~~ and singleness of ~~mind~~^{habit} and is without ~~effused~~^{thought} thought and without ~~ponderous~~^{thought} thought with ~~less~~^{more} happiness and ~~more~~^{less} pleasure born of concentration.

'This ~~too can be an end~~, that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

'Again, with the fading ~~as well~~ of happiness he abides in ~~outward~~^{equanimity} mindful and fully aware, ~~feeling pleasure with the body~~ which he enters upon and abides in ~~sight~~^{as well}, or ~~as a matter~~ ~~of the third~~^{the third}, where the noble ones ~~accuse~~ abide there. He ~~was a pleasant abiding~~^{is an abiding} in ~~the second~~^{the second} equality, and is mindful ²⁰⁴ that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

'Again, with the abandoning of ~~body~~ pleasure ~~bliss~~ and pain, and with the previous disappearance of ~~mental~~ joy and grief he enters upon and abides in the fourth ~~desire~~^{desire}, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure and the purity of ~~mind~~^{whose} fulness due to ~~(equanimity)~~^{as well}. This ~~too can be an end~~ that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

'Again, with the complete surrounding of perception of ~~that~~^{that}, with the disappearance of ~~the~~ perceptions of ~~space~~^{space} compact with not bringing to mind perceptions of ~~infinity~~^{infinity}, [aware ~~that~~^{that}] ~~exterior~~^{exterior} space, he enters upon and abides in the base consisting of ~~exterior~~^{exterior} space.

'This ~~too, is a thing~~^{can be an end} that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

'Again, with by completely surrounding the base consisting of ~~exterior~~^{exterior} space, aware

that] "Unknowable ~~is infinite~~ ^{is infinite} of all Consciousness", he enters upon and abides in the base consisting of boundless consciousness.

"This too ~~can be known~~ ^{is a thing} that is higher than that knowledge and a superior vision and superior to that.

Again, with this by completely surmounting the base consisting of boundless consciousness, knowing that]: "There is nothing", he enters upon and abides in the base consisting of nothingness.

"This too ~~can be known~~ ^{is a thing} that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of nothingness he enters upon and abides in the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception.

"This too ~~can be known~~ ^{is a thing} that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

Again, by completely surmounting the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception he enters upon and abides in the cessation of perception and feeling. And ~~then~~ ^{and} he has soon ~~with understanding~~ ^{in an instant} his cankers are destroyed ~~by his sorrow~~ ^{in an instant}.

"This too ~~can be known~~ ^{is a thing} that is higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

"These are the ~~ideas~~ ^{things} that are higher than that knowledge and vision and superior to that.

"I say that this person is like a man needing heartwood, seeking heartwood, wander-

11. 30.

ing in search of heartwood, who comes to a great tree standing possessed of heartwood, and cutting its heartwood, he takes it away, knowing that it is heartwood; and so whether it was he had come with heartwood, his purpose will be served.

(So this life ~~present~~ ^{Divine} does not have gain, honour and renown for its reward, or perfection of virtue for its reward, or perfection of concentration for its reward, or knowledge and vision for its reward. But it is this ~~unattainable~~ mind ^{of its self} ~~itself~~ ^{aim} deliverance that is the purpose of this life of ~~Divine~~, its heartwood, and its end.)

When this ~~the~~ was said, the Brahman Pingala Kocchha ^{the divine} said to the Blessed One. — 'Magnificent, Master Gotama, Magnificent! ... From today let Master Gotama accept me as a follower who has gone to him for refuge for life.'

Notes

§.13 f 'This can be ~~a thing~~ ^{an idea} still higher.' The sense demands 'can be' rather than 'is' because the ~~glories~~ ^{abstentions} ('*samadhi*') and the 5 kinds of ~~mundane~~ direct knowledge ('*nāmādarsana*') have already been attained as 'inner bark' or 'sap wood'. But the ~~glories~~ ^{abstentions} come in again here as 'heartwood' because they are made the basis for 'cessation' which (as elsewhere explained) is only attainable by Non-returners and Arahanthus. (See Commentary) here the words 'his causers are destroyed'

802

三

403

Majjhima Nikaya 21 - Cula-gosiṅga Sutta

(1, 4, 1)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Nādika in the Jinjaka house.

2. Now on that occasion the venerable

Anuruddha, the venerable Nandiga and the venerable Kūbilā were living in the ~~gosiṅga~~
~~(cow's horn)~~ ^{part of the} gosiṅga (cow's horn) Sāla-tree Wood.

3. When it was evening the Blessed One rose from meditation and went to the ^{part of the} gosiṅga Sāla-tree wood. The park-keeper saw the Blessed One coming. He told him «Do not come into this park, monk. There are three clausures here seeking their own good. Do not disturb them ».

4. The venerable Anuruddha heard the park-keeper speaking to the Blessed One. He told him «Friend park-keeper, do not keep the Blessed One out. It is our master, the Blessed One, who has come ».

The venerable Anuruddha went to the venerable Nandiga and the venerable Kūbilā and said «Come out, venerable sir, come out; our master ²⁰⁰ has come ».

5. Then all three went to meet the Blessed One. One took his bowl and outer robe, one

prepared a seat, and one placed water for washing the feet. The Blessed One sat down on the seat prepared, and having done so, he washed his feet. Then they paid homage to him and sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Blessed One said to them:

« I hope that you are all progressing, Anuruddha, that you are all comfortable, and that you have no trouble on account of alms food ».

« We are progressing, Blessed One, we are comfortable, and we have no trouble on account of alms food ». and agreement

6. « I hope that you all live in concord, Anuruddha, as friendly and undisputing as mice with water, viewing each other with kindly eyes ».

« Surely we do, venerable sir ».

7. « But, Anuruddha, how do you live thus? »

« Venerable sir, as to that, I think this is gain for me, it is great gain for me here that I am living with such companions in the life Divine. I maintain bodily, verbal and mental acts of loving-kindness towards these venerable ones both in public and in private. I think 'Why should I not set aside what I am minded to do

and do only what they are minded to do ??
And I act * accordingly. * We are different
in body, venerable sir, but only one in mind,
I think ??.

The reverend Vanaja and the reverend
Kimbila * each spoke likewise. They added * 207
« That is how we live in concord, venerable sir,
as friendly and undisputing as milk and
water, viewing each other with kindly eyes ».

8. « good, good, Anuruddha. I hope that
you all dwell diligent, ardent and self-con-
trolled ».

« Surely we * do so, reverend sir ».

9. « But, Anuruddha, how do you dwell
thus *? »

« Venerable sir, as to that, whichever of
us returns first from the village with alms
food, sets out the water for drinking and for
washing and puts the refuse bucket in its
place. Whichever of us returns last sets any
food leftover, if he wishes; otherwise he
throws it away where there is no green or
drops it into water where there is no life. He
puts away the seats and the water for drink-
ing and for washing. He puts away the
refuse bucket after washing it, and he sweeps
out the refectory. Whoever notices that the pots
of drinking water or washing water or water
for the privy are low or empty sees to them.

If they are too heavy for him, he calls some one else by a sign of the hand and they move it by joining hands. We do not speak for that purpose. But every five days we sit out the night together in talk on the true idea. That is how we dwell diligent, reverent and self-controlled.

10 a good, good, Anuruddha; but while dwelling diligent, reverent and self-controlled in this way, have you attained any distinction worthy of a noble One's knowledge and vision, higher than the human idea? ~~to a comfortable abiding~~ P >>

« Why not, venerable sir? Here whenever we ~~want~~^{want}, quite excluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, we enter upon and abide in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of seclusion. Venerable sir, this is a distinction worthy of a noble One's knowledge and vision, higher than the human idea, ~~pathetic~~^{uncomfortable abiding} we have attained while dwelling diligent, reverent and self-controlled.

11. a good, good, Anuruddha. But is there any other distinction worthy of a noble One's knowledge and vision, higher than the human idea, which you have attained after a comfortable abiding by surmounting that abiding,

407 by 208 tranquillizing that abiding? »

« Why not, venerable sir? Here whenever we want, with the stilling of thinking... second illumination... self-controlled ».

412. « Good, ... by tranquillizing that abiding? »

« Why not, venerable sir? Here whenever we want, with the fading as well of happiness... third illumination... self-controlled ».

13. « Good, ... by tranquillizing that abiding? »

« Why not, venerable sir? Here whenever we want, with the abandoning... fourth illumination... self-controlled ».

14. « Good, ... by tranquillizing that abiding? »

« Why not, venerable sir, before whenever we want, with the complete serenity of perceptions of form... base consisting of ²⁰⁹ infinite space

15. ... base consisting of infinite causation... »

16. ... base consisting of nothing new... »

17. ... base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception... ».

18. « Good, good, Anuruddha. But is there any other distinction worthy of a noble One's knowledge and vision, higher than the human idea, which you have attained as a comfortable abiding by surmounting that abiding, by tranquillizing that abiding? »

« Why not, venerable sir? Here whenever we want, by completely surmounting the base consisting of neither perception nor non-perception

we enter upon and abide in the cessation of perception and feeling. And since we see ~~truth understanding~~, our cankers are exhausted ^{by our seeing}. Venerable Sir, that is a distinction worthy of a noble One's knowledge and vision, higher than the human idea, which we have attained as a comfortable abiding by ^{such or} removing that [former] abiding, by tranquillising that [former] abiding >>.

19. "Good, good, Aruvuddha. There is no comfortable abiding more sublime than that >>.

20. Then, when the Blest One had instructed, urged, roused and encouraged the venerable Aruvuddha, the venerable Nandiya and the venerable Kimbila with a talk on the true Idea, he rose from his seat and departed.

21. Now when they had accompanied the Blest One a little on his way and turned back again, the venerable ~~810~~ Nandiya asked the venerable Aruvuddha and the venerable Kimbila "Have we ever ~~had~~ ^{announced to} the venerable Aruvuddha ^{out that we had obtained} such and such abodings and attainments that he proclaims ^{them} in the Blest One's presence up to the exhaustion of cankers? >>

103
 « The venerable ones have never announced to me their obtaining of such and such abidings and attainments. Yet by encompassing the venerable ones' minds with my mind it is known to me that they have obtained such and such abidings and attainments. Besides deities have told me the fact ~~that~~ [saying] 'These venerable ones have obtained such and such abidings and attainments'. Then I declared it when directly questioned by the Blessed one ».

22. Then the spirit Digha the Sorcerer went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he stood at one side. When he had done so, he said:

« It is gain for the Vajjians, venerable sir, it is great gain for the Vajjians, where the Perfect One dwells, accomplished and fully enlightened, and these three clausines, the venerable Anumaddha, the venerable Nandija and the venerable Kumbila! »

And ~~then~~ on hearing the voice of the spirit Digha the Sorcerer the Earth Deities responded « It is gain ... and the venerable Kumbila! »

And on hearing the voice of the Earth Deities the Deities of the Four Kings responded « It is gain ...

... The Deities of the Thirty-three...

... The Deities who have gone to Bliss...

... The Contented Deities...

... The Deities who Delight in Creating...

And on hearing the voice of the Deities who Delight in Creating, the Deities who Hold Power over Others' Creations responded & It is gain... and the venerable Kumbila²².

And on hearing the voice of the Deities of the Retinue of the Divinity (Brahmā) who Hold Power over Others' Creations, the Deities of the Retinue of the Divinity (Brahmā) responded & It is gain for the Sages, it is great gain for the Sages, where the Perfect One dwells, accomplished and fully enlightened, and these three Clansmen, the venerable Anuruddha, the venerable Nandija and the venerable Kumbila²³.

23. So it is, Dīgha, so it is. And if the clan from which those three clansmen went forth from their home life into homelessness should remember them with confident heart, that would be long for the welfare and happiness of that clan. And if the retainers of the clan from which those three clansmen went forth²⁴ ... the village from which ... the town from which ... the city from which ... And if the country from which those three clansmen went

forth from the home life into homelessness
 should remember them with confident heart,
 that would be long for the welfare and hap-
 piness of that country. If all, ^{of the} Warrior noble
 caste ... If all of the Divine caste ... If all
 of the Brigher caste ... If all of the Artisan
 Caste should remember them with confident
 heart, that would be long for the welfare and
 happiness of the Artisan cast. If the world
 with its gods, its Maras and its Divinity
 (Brahma), the generation with its Monks
 and Divines, with its Kings by divine right
 and its Queen should remember them with
 confident heart, that would be long for the
 welfare and happiness of the world. See,
 Digha, how ~~far~~^{far} those three classes
 are practicing the way of the welfare, and
 happiness ~~and~~ of the many out of pity for
 the world, for the ^{benefit} good, the welfare and
 the happiness of gods and men! ??

^{that is what}
 As the Bleund One said, the spirit
 Digha the Sorceror was ^{delighted} ~~satisfied~~, and he
^{and with} delighted in the Bleund One's words.

Note

§5 For plural form of name 'Anuruddha'
 cf Suttas 68 and 128. The form is used

412

is used in the Vinaya, i.e. 'Sāriputta', by the Buddha when addressing the two Chief Disciples together. It is thus plain that this is an idiom - using the use of the name of ^{only} the senior member of the group in the plural as a plural vocative for the whole group.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 32 Maha Gosiṅga Sutta (1, 4, 2)

1. ~~212~~ Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living
in the ^{Part 1 No.} Gosiṅga Sala-Tree Grove, ^{together}, with many
very well ~~known~~ ^{experienced} elder disciples. — The venerable
Sāriputta, the venerable Maha Moggallāna, the
venerable Maha Kassapa, the venerable Anuruddha,
the venerable Revata, the venerable Ānanda, and
others very well ^{experienced} ~~known~~ elder disciples.

2. Then when it was evening the venerable
Maha Moggallāna rose from meditation, and he
went to the venerable Maha Kassapa and said
to him « Friend Kassapa, let us go to the ven-
erable Sāriputta ^{to} listen to the True Idea. » — « Even so, friend » the Venerable Maha Kass-
apa replied.

Then the venerable Maha Moggallāna and
the venerable Maha Kassapa and the venerable
Anuruddha went to the venerable Sāriputta to
listen to the True Idea.

3. The venerable Ānanda saw them ^{as they were} going
to the venerable Sāriputta to listen to the True Idea. When he saw them,
he went to the venerable Revata and said to
him « Friend Revata, these true men are going
to the venerable Sāriputta to listen to the
True Idea. Let us go to the venerable Sāriputta
too to listen to the True Idea ». — « Even
so, friend » the venerable Revata replied.

Then the venerable Revata and the vesi-
erable Ānanda went to the venerable Sāriputta.

to listen to the true Idea

4. The venerable Samputta saw the venerable Revata and the venerable Aranya coming. When he saw them, he said to the venerable Aranya "Let the venerable Aranya come, welcome to the venerable Aranya, the Blessed One's attendant [redacted] who is always near to the Blessed One".

- A here friend ²¹⁸ sariyutta, a bhikkhu
has learnt ^(had) much, remembers what he has
learnt, and consolidates what he has learnt; such ideas as are good in the beginning, the
middle and the end with the [right] perception
and syllables and ~~as~~^{as} ~~affection~~^{affection} a life Divine
that is utterly perfect and pure, ~~as~~^{as} he has
learnt much ^{is}, consolidated by word of mouth, look-
ed over by the mind, will penetrated by [right]
view, and he teaches the True Idea to the four
~~assemblies~~^{and assemblies} communities with phrases well rounded and un-
hesitant for the abolishment of underlying ten-
dencies. That ~~is~~ ^{kind} of bhikkhu would be,
~~not be~~ ^{do} credit to the Gosvāga Sāla-
tree gone to Wood??.

5. When this was said, the venerable Sariputta addressed the venerable Revata thus:

a Friend Revata, the venerable Ananda has spoken
as it occurs to him. Now we ask the
venerable Revata: Friend Revata, the gossiga
Sala-tree ~~Wood~~ is delightful, the night is moonlit,
the Sala-trees are all in bloom, and the ^{scents} abroad
abroad seem to savour of heaven: what ~~kind~~
of blikkha ~~is~~, then, ~~that he may~~ do credit to
the gossiga Sala-tree ~~Wood~~? »

« Here, friend Sāriputta, ^{a bhikkhu} delights in meditation,
takes delight in meditation, in himself ⁱⁿ de-
voted to ^{acquainted with} serenity of mind, unmeasured of illumination,
acquainted with insight, and a frequenter of
places that are ~~empty~~ void. That ~~is~~ kind of blikkha
would ~~be~~, ~~that he may~~ do credit to the gossiga
Sala-tree ~~Wood~~. »

6. When this was said, the venerable Sāriputta
addressed the venerable Anuruddha thus: A friend
Anuruddha, the venerable Revata has declared it
as it occurs to him. Now we ask the venerable
Anuruddha: Friend Anuruddha, the gossiga...
credit to the gossiga Sala-tree ~~Wood~~? »

« Here, friend Sāriputta, a blikkha sur-
veys a thousand worlds with the divine eye,
which is purified and surpasses the human.
Just as a man with [good] eyes ~~sight~~ surveys
when he has gone to the balcony of the upper
palace might survey a thousand wheel river,
so too, a blikkha surveys a thousand worlds
with the divine eye, which is purified and sur-
passes the human. That ~~is~~ kind of blikkha
would ~~be~~, ~~that he may~~ do credit to the gossiga
Sala-tree ~~Wood~~. »

7. When this was said, the Venerable Sāriputta addressed the Venerable Mahā Kassapa thus: "Friend Kassapa, the reverable Anumodha has ^{spoken} declared it as it occurs to him. Now we ask the Venerable Mahā Kassapa; Friend Kassapa, the Gosinga ~~sala tree~~ ^{tree} credit to the Gosinga sala-tree ~~tree~~ ^{tree} wood?"

416

"Here, friend Sāriputta, a bhikkhu is a forest-dweller himself and a commander of forest-dwelling, he is an alms-food-eater himself and a commander of alms-food-eating, he is a refuse-rag-wearer himself and a commander of refuse-rag-wearing, he is a triple-robe-wearer ^{himself} and a commander of triple-robe-wearing, he has few wishes himself and a commander of fewness of wishes, he is contented himself and a commander of contentment, he is secluded himself and a commander of seclusion, he is disjoined [from society] himself and a commander of disjunction [from society], he is energetic himself and a commander of energy, he is perfect in virtue himself and a commander of perfection of virtue, he is perfect in concentration himself and a commander of perfection of concentration, he is perfect in understanding himself and a commander of perfection of understanding, he is perfect in deliverance himself and a commander of perfection of deliverance, he is perfect in know-

ledge and vision of deliverance himself and a commander of perfection of knowledge and vision of deliverance. That kind of bhikkhus should ~~be~~, ~~that he may~~ do credit to the Gosinga Sāla-Tre ~~Tree~~ Wood ??.

8. When this was said, the venerable Sāriputta addressed the venerable Maha Moggallāna thus " Friend Moggallāna, the venerable Maha Kassapa has spoken as it occurs to him. Now we ask the venerable Maha-Moggallāna: Friend Moggallāna, the Gosinga ~~delightfully~~ ~~as a hedge especially~~... credit to the Gosinga Sāla-Tre ~~Tree~~ Wood ??

" Here, friend Sāriputta, two bhikkhus engage in talk on the Higher Idea, and they question each other, and each being questioned by the other answers without ~~overrunning~~
~~overrunning~~ making him ~~overrunning~~, and their talk rolls on in accordance with the True Idea: That kind of bhikkhu would ~~do credit~~
~~be~~, ~~that he may~~ do credit to the Gosinga Sāla-Tre Wood ??.

9. When this was said, the venerable Maha Moggallāna addressed the venerable Sāriputta thus " Friend Sāriputta, we have ^{all} spoken as it occurs to us. Now we ask the venerable Sāriputta: Friend Sāriputta, the Gosinga Sāla-Tre Wood is delightful, the night is moonlit, the Sāla trees are all in bloom, ^{and} the scents abroad seem to savour of heaven: what kind of bhikkhu ~~be~~, ~~the~~, ~~that he would~~ do credit to the Gosinga Sāla-Tre Wood ??

a Here, friend Moggallana, a bhikkhu
 holds mastery over his mind, he does not let the
 mind ~~with~~⁹¹⁸ mastery; he abides in the morning
 in whatever abiding or attainment ~~that~~²¹⁵ he wants
 to abide in ~~in~~^{the} the morning; ~~he~~²¹⁵ he abides at
 midday in whatever abiding or attainment he
 wants to abide ~~in~~^{at} midday; he abides in
 the evening in whatever abiding or attainment
~~that~~²¹⁵ he wants to abide ~~in~~ⁱⁿ the evening. ~~say~~²¹⁵
 Suppose a king or a king's minister had a
 clothes chest full of variously coloured ~~garments~~^{garments},
 and he put on in the morning whatever pair of
 garments he wanted to put on in the morning,
 he put on at midday whatever pair of gar-
 ments he wanted to put on at midday, and
 he put on in the evening whatever pair of
 garments he ~~wanted~~²¹⁵ to put on in the evening;
 so too, a bhikkhu holds... that he wants
 to abide in ~~in~~^{the} the evening. That ~~it~~²¹⁵ kind of
 bhikkhu should ~~be~~²¹⁵ ~~he may do credit to~~²¹⁵
 the Gosunga Sāla-Tree Wood >>

10. Then the Venerable Sariputta addressed
 those Venerable ones thus « Friends, we have all
 spoken as it occurs to each of us. Let us go
 to the Blessed One and tell him this. As the
 Blessed One answers, so let us remember it ».
 — « Even so, friend » they replied.

Then they went to the Blessed One, and
 after paying homage to him, they sat down at
 one side. When they had done so, the Venerable

Sāriputta said to the Blind One:

"A Venerable sir, the venerable Revata and the venerable Ananda came to me to listen to the True Idea. I saw them coming, and when I saw them,²¹⁶⁾ said to the venerable Ananda 'Let the venerable Ananda come, welcome to the venerable Ananda, the Blind One's attendant who is always near to the Blind One. friend Ananda, the gosiṅga Sāla-Tree Wood is delightful, the night is moonlit, the Sāla trees are all in blossom, and their scents abroad seem to savour of heaven: what ~~good~~^{kind} of bhikkhu he, ~~they~~, that would do credit to the gosiṅga Sāla-Tree Wood?'

When that was said, venerable sir, the venerable Ananda spoke thus 'Here, friend Sāriputta, a bhikkhu has learnt much, remembers what he has learnt, and consolidates what he has learnt; such ideas as are good in the beginning, the middle and the end with the [right] meaning and syllables and as recommended a life divine that is utterly perfect and pure, such as ~~they~~ he has learnt much of, remembered, consolidated by word of mouth, looked over by the mind, and well penetrated by [right] view; and he teaches the true Idea to the four ~~consecutives~~^{and syllables} with phrases, well rounded and unhesitant for the absence want of underlying tendencies. That kind of bhikkhu should be, that he may do credit to the gosiṅga Sāla-Tree Wood'."

"Good, good, Sāriputta. Ananda speak-

ing rightly should speak just as he did ~~does~~; for he has learnt much, remembers what he has learnt, and consolidates what he has learnt; such ideas as are good in the beginning, the middle and the end with the [right] meaning and syllables, and as recommended a life ^{Divine} that is utterly perfect and pure, such ^{as} ~~as~~ those he has learnt much of, remembered, consolidated by word of mouth, looked over with the mind, and well penetrated with [right] view; and he teaches the True Idea to the four ~~communities~~ assemblies with phrases and syllables well rounded, and unhesitant for the abatement of underlying tendencies».

12. « When that was said, reverable sir, I addressed the reverable Revata thus 'Friend Revata ... [as in § 5] ... credit to the Goyunga Sāla-trū Wood?'. When that was said, reverable sir, the Reverable Revata spoke to me thus 'Here, friend Sāriputta, a bhikkhu delights in meditation ... [as in § 5] ... credit to the Goyunga Sāla-nu wood' ».

« Good, good, Sāriputta. Revata speaking rightly should speak just he did; for he delights in meditation, takes delight in meditation, is in himself devoted to serenity of will, is un neglectful of illumination, endowed with insight and a frequenter of homes that are void ».

13. ²¹⁷ « When that was said, reverable sir,

I addressed the venerable Anuruddha thus 'Friend Anuruddha, ... [as in § 6] ... credit to the ^{go}siṅga Sala-Tree Wood ?'. When that was said, venerable sir, the venerable Revata spoke to me thus 'Friend Sāriputta, a bhikkhu surveys ... [as in § 6] ... credit to the ^{go}siṅga Sala-tree Wood' ».

« Good, good, Sāriputta. Anuruddha speaking rightly should speak just as he did; for Anuruddha surveys a thousand worlds with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human ».

14. « When that was said, venerable sir, I addressed the venerable Maha Kassapa thus 'Friend Kassapa ... [as in § 7] ... credit to the ^{go}siṅga Sala-tree Wood'. When that was said, venerable sir, the venerable Maha Kassapa spoke to me thus 'Here, friend Sāriputta, a bhikkhu is a forest-dweller ... [as in § 7] ... credit to the ^{go}siṅga 218 Sala-tree Wood' ».

« Good, good, Sāriputta. Kassapa speaking rightly should speak just as he did; for Kassapa is a forest-dweller himself and a commander of forest-dwelling ... he is perfect in knowledge and vision of deliverance and a commander of perfection in knowledge and vision of deliverance ».

15. « When that was said, venerable sir, I addressed the venerable Maha Moggallana thus 'Friend Moggallana, ... [as in § 8] ...

[as in § 8] ... credit to the Gosinga Sāla-tree Wood?". When that was said, venerable sir, the venerable Maka Moggallāna spoke to me thus 'Here, friend Sāriputta, ... [as in § 8] ... credit to the Gosinga Sāla-tree Wood'.

422
A good, good, Sāriputta. Moggallāna speaking rightly should speak just as he did; for Moggallāna is one to talk on the True Idea'.

16 When that was said, the venerable Maka Moggallāna told the Blessed One & then, venerable sir, I addressed the venerable Sāriputta thus 'Friend Sāriputta, ... [as in § 9] ... credit to the Gosinga Sāla-tree Wood?'. When that was said, venerable sir, the venerable Sāriputta spoke to me thus 'Here, friend Moggallāna, ~~the~~ ... [as in § 9] ... credit to the Sāla-tree Wood'.

A good, good, Moggallāna. Sāriputta speaking rightly should speak just as he did, for Sāriputta wields mastery over his mind; he does not let the mind wield mastery: he abides in the morning in whatever abiding or attainment ~~that~~²¹⁹ he wants to abide in the morning; he abides at midday in whatever abiding or attainment he wants to abide in at midday; he abides in the evening in whatever abiding or attainment he wants to abide in in the

evening ??.

42
17. When this was said, the reverable Sāriputta asked the Blind One & Venerable sir, which has spoken well ?? — « All have spoken well, Sāriputta, each in his own way. ^{He who} also ^{from} me what (of) bhikkhu should ~~be~~, ^{that} ~~he~~ ^{may} do credit to the Gosīrīga Sāla-tree Wood: Here, Sāriputta, when a bhikkhu has returned from his alms round after his meal, he sits down, ~~and~~ folding his legs crosswise, and he establishes mindfulness before him, [resolving] 'I shall not break this session till my cognizance is liberated from caubers with the arising of knowledge'. That kind of bhikkhu would do credit to the Gosīrīga Sāla-tree Wood ??.

So the Blind One said. The reverable ones were ^{delighted} satisfied, and they ^{agreed with} delighted in his words.

Notes

§ 4 'dōśinā - moonlit': the word is explained in the Eng. ^{by} ~~as~~ dōśāpagaṭa (pa from jāñhā). P.T.S. Dict. derives from Skr. jyotiṣṇā from which also Pali jūñhā. It dōśinā is taken via Skr. as the adj. form from jūñhā (= yojotshā) the connexion is only apparent (if correct) through Skr. But it is one of the tenets of the commentator

924

not Sanskrit,
that Pāli¹⁴ is the 'mūla-thrā (root-speech)'
(Vi. ch. XIV, §25; VbhA. 387). This is not the place
to criticise that stand-point or to enquire whether
a claim on behalf of Sanskrit for the status of
mūla-thrā is or is not justified, though Eng.-
eán philology rather ~~suggests~~ it answers it.
Much could doubtless be argued on both sides.
However, it follows rather from the stand-point
adopted by the commentaries that any clarification
of a Sutta Pāli word from Sanskrit would ~~be~~
~~be~~ scarcely be in order.

§4 for another form of the sentence - yet to
Thermaia ādikalyāna ... paṇisuddhaṁ
brahma cariyai abhiṣadanti cf Sutta 27, §15
so Thermaia deseti ādikalyāna ... paṇi-
suddhaṁ brahma cariyai pakāseti.

§4 the 'four assemblies' are the bhikkhus,
bhikkhunīs, lay men and lay women followers.

§4 'appabaddha-unhesitant': neither the
neg. nor pos. form in P.T.S. Dict.

§6 'cakkaṭādesati' - 'nemi-mandala - wheel-men';
reference is to the Cakkaṭāla's construction.

§8 'sainsādenti' - 'sober founder' causative form
sainsādati - see Sutta 143, §17; but used as action

§8 'Aññhauma' - the 'Higher Idea'; the Abhi-
Thermaia in its A.-Pitaka sense is probably in-
appropriate at this stage.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 33 - Maha-gopala Sutta (P, 4, 3)

1. ~~320~~ Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetas Grove, Anathapindikas Park. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus, "O Bhikkhus! — A venerable sir?" they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. "O Bhikkhus, when a herdsman is endowed with eleven factors, he is incapable of rearing and keeping a herd of cattle. What are the eleven? Here a herdsman has no knowledge of form, he is unskilled in characteristics, he fails to ~~pick out~~ ^{cover up} flies' eggs, he fails to treat wounds, he fails to smoke out [the byres], he does not know watering places, he does not know what have drunk, he does not know the roads, he is unskilled in pastures, and as a milker he leaves ~~none~~ things in the udders, and he makes no extra offerings to those bulls who are the fathers and leaders of the herd. When a herdsman is endowed with these eleven factors, he is incapable of rearing and keeping a herd of cattle.

3. So too, when a bhikkhu is endowed with eleven ~~factors~~ ^{ideals}, he is incapable of growth and fulfillment in this True Idea and Discipline. With increase in this True Idea and Discipline, with what are the eleven? Here a bhikkhu has no knowledge of form, he is unskilled in characteristics, he fails to ~~remove~~ ^{pick out} flies' eggs,

264

he fails to ~~cover up~~ wounds, he fails to smoke at [the byres], he does not know the ~~watery place~~, he does not know which have drunk, he does not know the road, he ~~does not~~ is unskilled in pastures, as a mother he leaves ~~now~~, ~~for the calving~~, and he makes no extra offerings to the elder blikkles of long-standing knowledge ^{and long gone with}, who are the fathers and leaders of the community.

4. How has a blikkle no knowledge of form? Here a blikkle fails to understand ~~whatever kind of form it may be~~ any kind of [form] as it actually is thus 'All form of whatever kind consists of the four great entities and ~~any~~ form accessory to the four great entities'. That is how a blikkle has no knowledge of forms.

5. How ~~is~~ a blikkle unskilled in characteristics? Here a blikkle fails to understand [a characteristic] as it actually is thus 'A fool ~~has~~ ^{is characterized by his action} action for his characteristics', ~~thus~~ a wise man ~~has~~ ^{is characterized by his action} action for his characteristics. That is how a blikkle ~~is~~ unskilled in characteristics.

6. How does a blikkle fail to ~~pick out~~ his eggs? Here when thinking with sensual desire has arisen, a blikkle ^{causes it to} does not abandon it, we move it, do away with ~~it~~ and annihilate it. When thinking with ill-will his anger, ... when thinking with cruelty his an-

a blitchele endures it, he does not abandon it, remove it, do away with and annihilate it. When evil unprofitable ideas have arisen, a blitchele endures them, ²²¹ he does not abandon them, remove them, do away with and annihilate them. That is how a blitchele fails to pick out flies' eggs.

? How does a blitchele fail to cover up wounds? Here, a ~~blitchele~~ on seeing a form with the eye, a blitchele apprehends signs and features through which, if he leaves the eye faculty unguarded, evil unprofitable ideas of covetousness and grief might invade him, he does not practise the way of restraint, he does not guard the eye faculty, does not undertake the restraint of the eye faculty. On hearing a sound with the ear, ... On smelling an odour with the nose, ... On tasting a flavour with the tongue, ... On touching a tangible with the body, ... On cognizing an idea with the mind, he apprehends ... ~~He~~ does not undertake the restraint of the mind faculty. That is how a blitchele fails to pick out flies' eggs. COVER UP WOUNDS.

8. How does a blitchele fail to smoke out [the tyres]? Here a blitchele does not teach others in detail the True Idea as learned and mastered [by him]. That is how a blitchele fails to smoke out [the tyres].

9. How does a blitchele not know the ~~watering place~~? Here a blitchele does not go from time to time

to ~~to ask~~ questions of such blikkus as ~~have~~⁹¹² have learned much, as are versed in script
 tures, as remember the True Idea, as remember
 X ~~the Discipline~~, as remember the Codes,~~and~~
~~my~~ ~~enquire~~ and ask questions of them thus
 "How is this, venerable sir? What is the meaning
 of this?" More reverable ones do not ~~ask~~
 reveal the unrevealed to him, make evident
 the inadvertent, or remove his doubts about
 the many kinds of ideas that give rise to ~~doubt~~.
 Doubt. That is how a blikkha does not know
 the ~~watering~~ watering-place.

10. How does a blikkha not know what to
 have drunk? Here ~~a blikkha~~ does not find
 when the True Idea and Discipline proclaiming
 by the Perfect One is being taught, a blikkha
~~finds~~ does not find inspiration in the meaning,
 he does not find inspiration in the idea,^{it is} ~~and~~ he does
 not find gladness ^{connected with} ~~for the application of the~~ ~~idea~~. That is how a blikkha does not know what
 it is to have drunk.

11. How does a blikkha not know the road? Here, a blikkha does not understand the
 Noble Eightfold Path as it actually is. That is
 how a blikkha does not know the road.

12. How is a blikkha unskilled in pastures? Here a blikkha does not understand the four
 foundations of mindfulness as they actually are.
 That is how ²²² a blikkha is unskilled in pastures.

13. How does a bhikkhu as a milker leave none? Here faithful householders invite a bhikkhu, with robes, almsfood, resting place, and the requisite of medicine as cure for the sick, to take as much as he likes. The bhikkhu does not know the right amount in accepting. That is how a bhikkhu as a milker leaves none.
14. How does a bhikkhu make no extra offerings to those elder bhikkhus of long-standing knowledge and long gone forth, who are the fathers and leaders of the community? Here, a bhikkhu does not maintain in public and in private towards it such & elder bhikkhus acts of lovingkindness by body, speech and mind. That is how a bhikkhu makes no extra offerings to those elder bhikkhus of long-standing knowledge and long gone forth, who are the fathers and leaders of the community. When a bhikkhu is endowed with these eleven ideas, he is incapable of growth, increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and Discipline.
15. Bhikkhus, when a herdsman is endowed with eleven factors, he is capable of rearing and keeping a herd of cattle. What are the eleven? Here a herdsman has knowledge of form, he is skilled in characteristics, he picks out flies' eggs, he covers up wounds, he snakes out [the bores], he knows the birth, he (Watering place,

430

knows what it is to have drunk, he knows the road, he is skilled in pastures, as a milker he leaves some, and he makes extra offerings to those bulls who are the fathers and leaders of the herd. When a herdsman is endowed with these eleven factors, he is capable of securing and keeping a herd of cattle.

16. So too, when a bhikkhu is endowed with eleven ideas, he is capable of growth, and increase and fulfilment in this True Idea and discipline. With what eleven? Here a bhikkhu has knowledge of form, he is skilled in characteristics, he picks out flies' eggs, he covers up wounds, he ^{finds} ~~smokes~~ out [the byres], he knows the ~~food~~, he knows what it is to have drunk, he knows the road, he is ~~skilled~~ in pastures, as a milker he leaves some, and he makes extra offerings to those elder bhikkhus of long-standing knowledge and long gone forth who are the fathers and leaders of the community.

17. How does a bhikkhu have knowledge of form? Here a bhikkhu understands [form] as it actually is thus 'All form of whatever kind consists of the four great entities and any form accessory to the four great entities'. That is how a bhikkhu has knowledge of form.

18. How is a bhikkhu skilled in characteristics? Here a bhikkhu understands [characteristics]

acteristic] as it actually is thus 'A fool ~~is~~ is characterized by his acts; a wise man is characterized by his characteristic; a wise man is characterized by his acts' [his characteristic]. That is how a bliddeh is skilled in characteristics.

19. How does a bliddeh pick out flies' eggs?

~~Here, when an animal thought affected, he abandons it, removes it, does away with and annihilates it. He does not bring an animal thought affected, when they come into his well, and when, or arises thought affected with cruelty fear aversion, ... he does not produce any such evil unprofitable ideas to his vision, a bliddeh does not endure them; he abandons them, removes them, does away with and annihilates them. That is how a bliddeh picks out flies' eggs.~~

20. How does a bliddeh cover up wounds?

~~Here on seeing a form with the eye, a bliddeh apprehends signs and features through which, if he leaves the eye faculty unguarded, evil, unprofitable ideas of covetousness and grief might invade him, he practices the way of its restraint, he guards the eye faculty, undertakes the restraint of the eye faculty. ... On hearing a sound with the ear, ... on smelling an odour with the nose, ... on tasting a flavour with the tongue, ... on touching a tangible with the body, ... On cognizing an idea with the mind, ... undertakes the restraint of the mind faculty. That is how a bliddeh covers up wounds.~~

21. How does a bliddeh smoke out flies' eggs?

~~Here a bliddeh teaches others in detail the True Idea as learnt and mastered by him]. That~~

- is how a bhikkhu ~~sawas~~ ^{watery place} at the bryg [bryg].
22. How does a bhikkhu know ~~the bryg~~ ^{watery place}? Here a bhikkhu goes from time to time to such bhikkhus as have learnt much, as are versed in scriptures, as remember the True Idea, as remember the Discipline, as remember the Codes, and he enquires and asks questions of them thus 'How is this, venerable sir? What is the meaning of this?'. Those venerable ones ~~do~~ reveal the unrevealed, make evident the inadvertent, and remove his doubts about the many kinds of ~~these~~ ideas that give rise to doubt. That is how a bhikkhu knows ^{watery place} the ~~bryg~~.
23. How ²²⁴ does a bhikkhu know what it is to have drunk? Here when the True Idea and Discipline proclaimed by the Perfect One is being taught, a bhikkhu finds inspiration in the meaning, he finds inspiration in the idea, and he finds gladness ^{connected with} in the application of the idea. That is how a bhikkhu knows what it is to have drunk.
24. How does a bhikkhu know the road? Here a bhikkhu understands the Noble Eightfold Path as it actually is. That is how a bhikkhu knows the road.
25. How is a bhikkhu skilled in pictures? Here a bhikkhu understands the four foundations of mindfulness as they

M. 33

actually are. That is how a bhikkhu is skilled in pastures.

26. How does a bhikkhu as a milker leave some? Here faithful house holders invite a bhikkhu, with robes, alms food, resting place, and the requisite of medicine as cure for the sick, to take as much as he likes. The bhikkhu knows the right amount in accepting. That is how a bhikkhu as a milker leaves some.

27. How does a bhikkhu make extra offerings to those elder bhikkhus of long standing knowledge and long gone forth, who are the fathers and leaders of the community? Here a bhikkhu maintains in public and in private towards such elder bhikkhus acts of lovingkindness by body, speech and mind. That is how a bhikkhu makes extra offerings to those elder bhikkhus of long-standing knowledge and long gone forth, who are the fathers and leaders of the community.

When a bhikkhu is endowed with these eleven ideas, he is capable of growth, increase and fulfilment in this true Idea and Discipline.

So the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words. delighted agreed with

Notes

§ 13 'abhibhātthūni parāceti - invite ~~to~~^{one}
... to take as much as he ~~wants~~^{wants} likes': P.T.S.
Takes abhibhātthūni as a gerund, but its form
is infinitive, Comp. says 'abhibhātivā parā-
ceti'; but the verb's form is infinitive, and from the context, to
be that they invite (parāceti) him, with
requisites (parikkharī), to take (what he
likes) ^(abhibhātthūni); one who knows the right
amount leaves some, but one who does
not takes it all. This phrase occurs in the
Vinaya (Nissaggiya Pacittiya no. 7):

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 34 - Cūla Gopala Sutta (1, 4, 8)

135

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Sāgāra country at Ukkacalā on the banks of River Ganges. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus! » — « Venerable Sir? » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkus, ~~there was once~~^{it has happened that} a Magadhan herdsman ~~was~~^{by nature} lacked understanding, ~~and~~ in the last month of the Rains, in the Autumn time, omitting to examine the near shore of the Ganges river or its further shore, he drove his cattle in where ~~there was no ford~~ to cross over to the other shore here in the Videhan country. Then the cattle bunches together in mid-stream in the Ganges River, and they came to disaster. Why was that? Because the ^{Magadhan} herdsman ~~by~~ nature lacked understanding, and in the last month of the Rains, in the Autumn time, omitting to examining the near shore of the Ganges River or its further shore, he drove his cattle in where ~~there was no ford~~ to cross over to the other shore here in the Videhan country.

3. So too, when monks or divines are unskilled in this world and the other world, unskilled in what belongs to Māra and what does not belong to him, ^{and} are killed in what belongs to Death and what does not belong to

him, it will be long for the harm and suffering of those who shall conceive them as fit to be heard and fit to place faith in.

436

^{it has happened that}
Whikhus, ~~there was once~~ a Magadhan herdsman who by nature had understanding, and in the last month of the Rains, in the Autumn time, after examining the near shore of the Ganges River and its further shore, he drove his cattle in where there was a ford to cross over to the other shore here in the Vidhan country. ~~first~~ He ~~crossed~~ made the bulls, the fathers and leaders of the herd, cross first and they breasted the stream of the Ganges and got safely across to the further shore. ~~Next~~ He made the strong cattle cross next and the cattle to be tamed cross over next, and they too breasted the stream of the Ganges and got safely across to the further shore. He made the heifers and young oxen cross over next, and they too breasted the stream of the Ganges and got safely across to the further shore. He made the calves and the feeble cattle cross over next; and they too breasted the stream of the Ganges and got safely across to the further shore. ~~It has happened that a~~ young tender calf just born, and being urged only by the mother's lowing, ~~he~~ ^{also} breasted the stream of the Ganges and got safely across

437

to the further shore. Why was that? Because the Magadhan ^{22.2} herdsman by nature had understanding, and in the last month of the Rains, in the Autumn time, after examining the near shore of the Ganges River and its further shore he drove his cattle in where there was a ford to cross over to the other shore ~~near~~ ^{near} in the Nidhan Country.

5. So too, when monks or divines are skilled in this world and the other world, skilled in what belongs to Mara and what does not belong to him, and skilled in what belongs to Death and what does not belong to him, it will be long for the welfare and happiness of those who shall conceive them as fit to be heard and fit to place faith in.
6. Blikkus, just as the bulls, the fathers and leaders of the herd, ~~were~~ crossed over, took breast of ^{Ganga} stream and got safely across to the further shore, so too, those blikkus who are arahants with cankers destroyed exhausted, who have lived the life, done what was to be done, laid down the burden, reached the highest peak, destroyed the fetters of being, and also through right final know ^{ledge} are liberated, have, by crossing Mara's stream, and got safely across to the further shore.
7. Just as the strong cattle and the cattle to be tamed crossed the stream ~~the Ganges~~ and got safely across to the other side further shore, so too, those blikkus who with the destruction of the five lower fetters ^{will} reappear upon

438

taneously in the Pure Abode) and then attain complete extinction without ever returning from that world, ~~will also, by~~ ^{will also, by} breast-feeding Mara's stream, ~~will get~~ ^{get} safely across to the further shore.

8. Just as the heifers and young oxen also breast Ganges' stream and got safely across to the further shore, so too, those blikkhus who with ^{the destruction of} three fetters, and with the attenuation of lust, hate and delusion, become once-returners, returning once to this world to help an end of suffering ~~to get~~ ^{with} also by breast-feeding Mara's stream ~~will get~~ ^{get} safely across to the further shore.

9. Just as the calves and the feeble cattle also breast Ganges' stream and got safely across to the further shore, so too, those blikkhus who with the destruction of three fetters have become ^{are} stream-enterers, no more inseparable from the idea of perdition, certain [of eighteen], and headed for full enlightenment, ~~will~~ ^{will} also, by breast-feeding Mara's stream, get ~~to~~ ^{get} safely across to the further shore.

10. Just as that tender calf just born, which being urged on by the mother's lowing, also breast Ganges' stream and got safely across to the further shore, so too, those blikkhus who are mature in the True Idea, Mature in faith, by ~~breast-feeding~~ will also by breast-feeding Mara's stream, get ~~to~~ ^{get} safely across to the further shore.

11. Bhikkhus, I am skilled in ~~227~~ this world and the next world, skilled in what belongs to Māra and what does not belong to him, and skilled in what belongs to Death and what does not belong to him. It will be long for the welfare and happiness of those who shall conceive me as fit to be heard and fit to place faith in.

12. So the Blessed One said. When the Sublime One had said that, the Master said further:

Both this world and the world beyond
Are well described by ~~the~~ ^{One} ~~that~~ ^{He} Knows,
And what is still in Māra's reach
And what is out of reach of Death.
Knowing directly all the world,
The Wakened One who understands
Opened the deathless Gate, whereby
Extinction may be safely reached;
For Māra's stream is broken [now]
And nullified, its seeds removed;
Rejoice then, bhikkhus, mighty,
And set your hearts where safety lies.

— x —

Vita

§ 90 See Samyutta XXV 1 (S. iii, 225) for further details

it is hard not to feel
that it is better to have the
right for robbery than with the right
to a robbery that is better than,
it is a robbery without the right
to have it, but if you do not do
the robbery you do not have the right
to do it, and if you do not have
the right, you do not have
the right to do it, and if you do not
have the right to do it,

you do not have the right
to do it, and if you do not have
the right to do it, you do not
have the right to do it.

You do not have the right
to do it, and if you do not have
the right to do it, you do not
have the right to do it,
and if you do not have
the right to do it, you do not
have the right to do it,
and if you do not have
the right to do it, you do not
have the right to do it.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 35 Cula-saccaka Sutta
(1, 4, 5)

1. Thus I heard.

At one ~~time~~^{occuring} the Blessed One was living at Vesali in the Great Wood in the Hall with a gabled ~~porch~~^{overland} Roof.

2. Now on that ~~occuring~~^{occurred} Saccaka the Nigantha's son was staying at Vesali, a debater and a clever speaker ~~was~~ regarded by many ^{as a saint}. He spoke these words ~~before an~~^{work} ~~unwillingly~~^{unwillingly} in Vesali: "I see no ^{work} ascetic or ^{duress} Brahman, the head of ^{a community}, head of a sect, teacher of a sect, even if he claims to be ^{world} enlightened and fully enlightened, who ^{would not} shake and shiver and tremble and sweat under the arms pits ~~on~~ on being engaged in argument with me. Even if I engaged a senseless post in argument it would shake and shiver and tremble on being engaged in argument with me, so what shall I say of a human being?"

3. Then the venerable Arahi ²²⁸ it being morning, the venerable Arahi dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe, he went into Vesali for alms. As Saccaka the Nigantha's son was walking and wandering for exercise in Vesali, he saw the venerable Arahi coming in the distance. When he saw him, he went up to him and greeted him, exchanged greetings with him, and when the courteous and ^{amiable} talk was finished, he stood at one side. Then the Saccaka the Nigantha's son

said to the venerable Arahi:

4. - 'How does the ~~Master~~ Gotama discipline, ~~the~~ disciples, Master Arahi; and in what way is the ~~Master~~ Gotama's teaching instruction ~~usually~~ presented among ~~the~~ disciples?'

'This is how the Blessed One disciplines ~~the~~ ^{good} disciples, Aggivessana; and in this way the ~~Master~~ Gotama's instruction is ~~usually~~ presented among ~~the~~ ^{good} disciples: ^{Materiality} is impermanent (^{Materiality}, ^{feeling}, ^{perception}, ^{determination}, ^{consciousness} are impermanent, ^{form}, ^{feeling}, ^{perception}, ^{determination}, ^{consciousness} are impermanent; ^{Materiality} is impermanent; ^{Materiality} is not self, ^{feeling} is not self, ^{perception} is not self, ^{determination} is not self, ^{consciousness} is not self; ^{form}, ^{feeling}, ^{perception}, ^{determination}, ^{consciousness} are all impermanent, ^{form}, ^{feeling}, ^{perception}, ^{determination}, ^{consciousness} are all not self. That is the way the ~~Master~~ Gotama disciplines ~~the~~ ^{good} disciples; and in this way the ~~Master~~ Gotama's instruction is ~~usually~~ presented among ~~the~~ ^{good} disciples.'

'It is ~~what~~ ^{this} ~~is~~ ^{that} the ~~Master~~ Gotama preaches asserts, this we hear what is indeed ill hearing. Now suppose, sometime or other, we were to meet Master Gotama, suppose we had some conversation with

him? Suppose we were to distract him from
that ~~present~~ view?

5. Now at that time five-hundred
licchavis had met together in an assembly
hall for some business or other. Then Saccaka
the Nigantha's son went to their ~~assembly~~
and he said - 'Come forth, Licchavis,
this, come forth. Today there will be
~~conversed~~ between me and the ~~one~~
Gotama. If the ~~weak~~ Gotama ~~can~~ ~~sustains~~
what was maintained ~~by~~ by one of
his famous pupils, the ~~thiefish~~ called
Asaji, I will drag ~~them~~ ~~from~~ ~~the~~ ~~ground~~
and round about, with a strong man
as a strong man might seize
a long-haired ram by the hair and
drag him ~~to~~ ~~down~~ ~~from~~ ~~the~~ ~~earth~~ and round
about. I will drag the monk Gotama to
back and forth and round about, with
meat, as a strong brewer's workman might
just a big brewer's ~~seat~~ ^{gave} into a deep ^{water} ~~pool~~,
up water, and ~~lifted~~ it by the corners,
drag it to and fro and round about. 229 I so
will shake the ~~monk~~ Gotama down and
I will pull him up and ~~turn~~ him
as a strong ~~man~~ might take
a strainer by the corners and ~~shake~~
it up and ~~shake~~ it down and ~~turn~~ it.
And just as a sixty-year old elephant
might go down into a pond and have great
sport in hemp washing, so I shall have
(the game)

great spot, I fancy, in the game & the ~~hemp~~ Gotama! Once forth, Licchavis, Sirs, come forth. (Today) there will be conversation between me and the ~~Great~~ Gotama.'

6. Thereupon some Licchavis said - 'Now will the ~~Great~~ Gotama ^{prove} ~~the~~ (wrong) assertions of Saccaka the Nigantha's son'; or, will Saccaka the Nigantha's son ^{prove} ~~the~~ (wrong) assertions of the ~~Great~~ Gotama?'; And some Licchavis said - 'How, will Saccaka the Nigantha's son ^{more} ~~except~~ the ~~Great~~ Gotama's assertions or the contrary the ~~Great~~ Gotama will ~~show~~ ^{prove} the Saccaka the Nigantha's son's assertions wrong'.

Then Saccaka the Nigantha's son ^{son} went with the five-hundred Licchavis to the Hall with the ^{Peafowl} ~~Gated~~ Room in the Great Wood.

7. Now on that occasion many blithelys were walking up and down in the open. Then Saccaka the Nigantha's son went up to them ~~blithelys~~ and said asked - 'Where is Master Gotama living now, Sirs? We want to see Master Gotama.' - 'The Blessed One has gone into the Great Wood, Aggivessana, and is sitting at the root of a tree to pass the day.'

8. Then Saccaka the Nigantha's son

went

Together with a large following of Licchavis, went into the great Wood to where the Blessed One was, and after exchanged greetings with him, and after the courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. And some of the Licchavis paid homage to the Blessed One and sat down at one side; some exchanged greetings with him and when this courteous and amiable talk was finished, they sat down at one side; some raised their hands palms together in salutation and sat down at one side; some pronounced their name and dwelt in the Blessed One's presence and sat down at one side; some kept silence and sat down at one side.

9. When Saccaka the Nigantha's son had sat down, he said to the Blessed One — 'I would question Master Gotama on a certain point, if Master Gotama would grant me the favour of answer to the question?'

— 'Ask what you like, Aggivessana.' ²³⁰

10. — 'How does the ^{Master} Gotama discipline his disciples; and in what way is the Master Gotama's instruction mostly usually presented among the disciples?' ^(lay away)

— 'This is how I discipline ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~my~~ ^{the} disciples, Aggivessana; and this is the way ² my instruction is usually presented among ~~the~~ ^{the} ~~my~~ ^{the} disciples: Mortality is impermanent, feeling is impermanent, per-

ception is impermanent, ~~formations~~^{determinations} are impermanent, consciousness is impermanent; ~~mater~~^{form}ality is not self, feeling is not self, perception is not self, ~~de-~~^{deter-}
~~terminations~~^{minations} are not self, consciousness is not self; ~~all formations~~^{all determinations} are impermanent; ~~ideas~~^{all ideas} are not self. That is the way I discipline ~~the~~^{is the} disciples; and in that way my instruction is usually presented among disciples.'

10. — 'A simile occurs to me, Master Gotama.'

— 'Let it occur to you, Aggivesvara,
the Blessed One said.

— 'Just as when seeds and plants, whatever their kind, ~~that~~ reach growth, increase and ~~to~~ maturity ~~and do so~~ in dependence on earth, based upon earth; and just as (the kinds of work ~~that~~ to be done by the strong ~~that are done~~ are all done in dependence on earth, based upon earth — so too, Master Gotama, a man has ~~mater~~^{form}ality as self; he produces merit or demerit based on ~~mater~~^{form}ality. He has feeling as self; he produces merit or demerit based on feeling; he has perception as self; he produces merit or demerit based on perception; he has ~~formations~~^{determinations} as self; he produces merit

or demerit based on ~~determination~~. He has consciousness as self; he produces merit or demerit based on consciousness.' ^{determination}

11. — 'Aggivessana, are you not ~~saying~~:
Materiality ^{is my} self, feeling ^{in my} self, perception ^{in my} self, ~~determination~~ ^{are} my self, consciousness ^{is my} self?'

— 'So I, ^{and thus}, Master Gotama: Materiality in my self, feeling in myself, perception in my self, ~~determination~~ are my self, consciousness is my self. And so does this great multitude.'

— 'What has this great multitude to do with you, Aggivessana? Please ^{concerning your} untangle ^{your} own assertion. ^{alone}'

— 'Then I say thus, Master Gotama: Mental ^{form} is my self, feeling is my self, perception in my self, ~~determination~~ are my self, consciousness is my self.'

12. — 'In that case, Aggivessana, I shall ask you a question in return. Answer it as you like. ²³¹ ~~How~~ Do you ^{concerning this} think, Aggivessana, would ^{and} unappointed ^{king} ^{warned} ^{rebel} king have the power in his own ^{kingdom} to execute those who should be executed, to fine those who should be fined, to banish those who should be banished, for example, King Pasenadi of Kosala, or King Ajatasatru Vedehiputta of Magadha?'

head-

- A ~~king~~ ^{reality} anointed king (Master Gotama,) would have the power in his own ~~kingdom~~
to execute those who should be executed, to fine those who should be fined, to banish those who should be banished, for example, King Pasenadi of Kosala, or King Ajāta-sattu Vedehiputta of Magadha. For even 18. these ^{Polyarchical} communities and societies, such as the Vajjians and the Mallians, have the power in their own realm to execute those who should be executed, to fine those who should be fined, to banish those who should be banished, so all the more so an anointed warrior king, such as King Pasenadi of Kosala or King Ajātasattu Vedehiputta of Magadha. He would have it, Master Gotama, and he would be worthy to have it.'

13. - 'What do you ^{conquer the} think Aggivessana;

When you say thus "Materiality in my self", have you power over that materiality as thus "Let my materiality be thus; let my materiality be not thus".'

When this was said, Saceaka the Nigantha's son was silent.

A second time the Blessed One said to him - 'What do you ^{conquer the} think, Aggivessana; when you say thus "Materiality in my self", have you power over that materiality as thus "Let my materiality be thus; let my materiality be not thus"?'

A second time Saccaka, Nigantuha's son was silent.

— Then the Blessed One said to him —
 Answer now Aggivessana, now is not the time to be silent. If anyone ~~does~~^{does} not answer when asked a lawful question by a Perfect One (up to the third time) his head would split into seven pieces there and then?

14. Now ~~on~~^{again} that ~~was~~^{was} a spirit with a thunderbolt in his hand thunderbolt-wielding spirit with an iron bolt in his hand, burning, blazing glowing, appeared in the air above Saccaka the Nigantuha's son: 'If this Saccaka the Nigantuha's son does not answer when asked a lawful question up to the third time I shall split his head into seven pieces ~~there~~^{then} and ~~now~~^{now}'. However, Saccaka the Nigantuha's son saw the thunderbolt-wielding spirit and so did Saccaka the Nigantuha's son. Then Saccaka the Nigantuha's son was frightened, terrified, and his hair stood on end ~~232~~ and wanting to seeking to make the Blessed One his shelter, ^{his} asylum and refuge, he said — 'Ask me, Master Gotama; I will answer.'

15. — What do you say, Aggivessana, when you say ^{again this} "Materiality is my self", have you power over the ~~materiality~~^{your materiality}? "Let my ^{own} materiality be thus; let my ^{own} materiality be not thus"?

16. — No, Master Gotama.
 — Pay attention, Aggivessana, ~~pay~~^{pay} ~~the~~^{the} care

~~attention~~ how you reply. What you said before does not agree with what you said after, or what you said after with what you said before. ~~What do you~~ ^{concern this} Aggivessana; when you say thus "Feeling is my self", have you ^{any such} power over that feeling? Let my feeling be thus; let my feeling be not thus"?

- 'No, Master Gotama.'

17. - ~~Pay attention~~, Aggivessana, ~~pay~~ ^{attention} how you reply. What you said before does not agree with what you said after nor what you said after with what you said before. ~~What do you~~ ^{concern this} Aggivessana, when you say thus "Perception is my self", have you ^{any such} power over that feeling? Let my feeling be thus; let my feeling be not thus"?

- 'No, Master Gotama.'

18. - ~~Pay attention~~, Aggivessana, ~~pay~~ ^{attention} how you reply. What you said before does not agree with what you said after, or what you said after with what you said before. ~~What do you~~ ^{concern this} Aggivessana, when you say thus "~~determinations~~ are my self", have you ^{any such} power over those determinations? "Let my ~~determinations~~ be thus; let my determinations be not thus"?

- 'No, Master Gotama.'

19. - ~~Pay attention~~, Aggivessana, ~~pay~~ ^{attention}

~~attention~~, how you reply. What do you think, Aggi-vessana, what you said before does not agree with what you said after, or what you said after with what you said before. ~~What~~ do you ~~concerning this~~, Aggi-vessana, when you say thus "Consciousness is my self", have you ~~such~~ power over that consciousness? Let my consciousness be thus; let my consciousness not thus?"?

- 'No, Master Gotama.'

20. - ~~Pay attention~~, Aggi-vessana, ~~pay~~ ~~attention~~ how you reply. What you said before does not agree with what you said after, or what you said after with what you said before. ~~What~~ do you ~~think~~, Aggi-vessana, is ~~sustaining force~~ permanent or impermanent?

- 'Impermanent, Master Gotama.'

- 'Not is what is impermanent painful or pleasant?'

- 'Painful, Master Gotama.'

- 'Not is what is permanent, painful, and ~~appearance to gain~~ change fit to be regarded as "This is mine, this is I, this is my self"? * 2.33

- 'No, Master Gotama.'

21. - ~~What~~ do you ~~think~~, Aggi-vessana, is feeling permanent or impermanent?'

22. - ~~What~~ do you ~~think~~, Aggi-vessana, is perception permanent or impermanent?'

23. - ~~What~~ do you ~~think~~, Aggi-vessana, is determination permanent or impermanent?'

24. - 'What do you think, Aggivessana,
is consciousness permanent or impermanent?'
- 'Impermanent, Master Gotama.'
- 'Now is what is impermanent pain-
ful or pleasant?'
- 'Painful, Master Gotama.'
- 'Now is what is impermanent, pain-
ful and ~~unpleasant from the idea of~~ fit to be regarded
as "this is mine, this is I, this is my self"?'
- 'No, Master Gotama.'
25. - 'What do you ^{conceive this} think, Aggivessana,
when a man ~~adheres to suffering,~~ ^{accepts} ~~has to~~
~~comes to suffering, so committed to suffering,~~
~~always sees suffering as~~ "this is mine, this ~~are~~
is I, this is my self", would he himself
ever fully ~~understand~~ ^{know} suffering or ~~fully~~ ^{fully}
~~suffering quite destroyed?~~ ^{destroyed?}
- 'How could the Master Gotama? No, ~~from me not put it~~
Master Gotama.'

- * - 'What do you ^{conceive this} think, Aggivessana,
that being so, do you not adhere to suffer-
ing, do you not have ^{right} ~~accept~~ ^{accept} ~~cause~~ to suffering,
do you not ^{always} ~~committ~~ ^{committ} to suffering, do
you not see suffering as "this is mine,
this is I, this is my self"?'
- 'How could it not be, Master Gotama?
Yes, Master Gotama.' *
26. - 'It is as though a man needing
heart wood, seeking heart wood, wandering in
search of heart wood, took a sharp ~~knife~~ ^{axe} and
went into a wood; and there he
saw a large plantain trunk, straight,

P.T.S. Dict says not measure
is a ladder - length = crowns.
It's a long one.

young, with no fruit bud. Then he cut off the root, and having cut off the root he cut off the crown, and having cut off the crown, he unrolled the leaf sheaths; but as he went on unrolling the leaf sheaths he would ~~never~~ ^{ever} come to any sap wood, let alone heart wood; so too, Aggicessana, when you are pressed and questioned and cross-questioned by me about your own profession, you are empty, vacant and defeated! But these words of yours were spoken before this assembly — "I see no monk or layman, ... so what shall I say of a human being?" Now ~~then~~ many drops of sweat are on your forehead and they have soaked through your upper robe and fallen on the ground. But there is no sweat on my body now.'

And the Blessed One uncovered his golden-coloured body before the assembly. When this was said, Saccaka the Nigantha's son sat silent, dismayed, with shoulders drooping and head down, glum, and with nothing to say.

27. Then Dummkha the son of the Licchavis, seeing Saccaka the Nigantha's son & thus, said to the Blessed One — 'A simile occurs to me, Master Gotama.'

— 'Let it occur to you, Dummkha.'

— 'Venerable sir, it is as if suppose there were suppose, Venerable sir, not far from a village or a town there were pond with a crab in it. And then a party of boys or girls went out from the town or village to

went into the water and the pond, and they pulled the crab out of the water and put it on dry land. And whenever the crab extended a leg, they cut it off, broke it, smashed it with sticks and stones so that the crab with all its legs cut off, broken and smashed would be unable to get back to the pond as before — so too, all Saccaka the Nigantha's son's distortions, paradoxes and traistries have been broken cut off, broken and smashed by the Blessed One; and now he cannot get near the Blessed One ~~even as the~~^{as} ~~paying~~^{way} ~~attention~~^{of} to his words!

28. — 'When this was said, Saccaka the Nigantha's son told him — 'Wait, Dhamma, wait & we are not ~~treatizing~~ with you; here we are ~~treatizing~~ with Master Gotama.'

[Then he said —] 'Let that be, Master Gotama; ~~that talk of ours~~ told that of us many a monk and ~~monk~~, ~~now~~ it was [just] ~~now~~ words, ~~now~~ I ~~had~~ ~~done~~. But in what way ~~is~~ not ~~anyone~~ a disciple of the Ascetic Gotama, ~~carrying~~ ~~with~~ ~~him~~ ~~now~~, ~~now~~ beyond uncertainty, behind, lost his doubts, ~~and~~ gains perfect confidence, and becomes independent of others in the Master's teaching?'

'Here, Aggivessana, any kind of materiality, whatever, whether past, future or present, ~~inner~~^(inside) or external, ~~inner~~^{own} or ~~outer~~^{other} of food, inferior or superior, far or near — all

materiality ~~the~~^{as it actually is} ~~is~~^{is} a disciple of mine sees all ~~materiality~~
materiality ~~the~~^{as it actually is} ~~is~~^{is} right
understanding thus "This is not mine, this
 is not I, this is not my self"³⁵ Any kind
 of feeling whatever, ... any kind of perception
 whatever, ... any kind of ~~determination~~
 whatever, ... any kind of consciousness whatever,
 whether past, future or present, ~~inference~~
 or external ~~opposite~~^{a ~~superior~~ ~~inferior~~} or ~~satta~~^{a ~~superior~~ ~~inferior~~} in ~~inference~~
 superiority, far or near ~~he sees~~^{he sees} all consciousness
 he sees ~~correctly~~^{as} (with right understanding
 and actuality)
thus "This is not mine, this is not I,
 this is not my self". ~~it is in this~~^{it is}
~~that~~^{that} A disciple of mine responds to in-
 struction, leaves uncertainty behind,
 loses his doubts, gains perfect confidence,
 and becomes independent of others in
 the Master's teaching'

19. — 'In what way' Master Gotama, ~~that~~^{who does}
 had a bhikkhu become~~d~~ an arahant with
 ankers ~~extinguished~~, who has lived the life,
 done what was to be done, laid down the
 burden, reached the highest ~~good~~ⁱⁿ; destroyed
 the factors of becoming, and who through
 right ~~knowledge~~^{knowledge} is liberated?

— 'Here, Aggivessana, any kind of
materiality ~~the~~^{as it actually is} whatever, whether past, future
 or present, ~~inference~~^{as it actually is} or external ~~opposite~~
 or ~~satta~~^{a ~~superior~~ ~~inferior~~}, ~~inference~~^{a ~~superior~~ ~~inferior~~} or ~~near~~
 — all ~~materiality~~^{a bhikkhu} having seen all ~~materiality~~^{understanding}
materiality ~~the~~^{as it actually is} ~~is~~^{is} right under-
 standing thus "This is not mine, this is
 not I, this is not my self", through not

clinging he is liberated. Any kind of falling whatever, ... any kind of perception whatever, ... any kind of ~~determination~~ ^{formulas} whatever, ... Any kind of consciousness whatever, whether past, future or present, ^{in ~~present~~} ^{abst. law} internal or external, gross or ^{subtle} ^{in ~~abst. law~~} inferior or superior, far or near — having seen all material consciousness ^{and actually is} ~~correctly with~~ right understanding thus "This is not mine, this is not I, this is not my self", through not clinging he is liberated. It is in this way that a ^{in his} ~~exhausted~~ bhikkhu becomes an arahant with caulkers destroyed, who has lived the life, done what was to be done, laid down the burden, reached the ^{true} ~~highest~~ ^{goal}, destroyed the fetters of becoming, and who through right ^{total} knowledge is liberated.

30. When a bhikkhu is thus liberated, he possesses three unsurpassabilities: unsurpassability in mind, unsurpassability in practice, and unsurpassability in ~~liberation~~ deliverance. When a bhikkhu is thus liberated, he honours, respects, reveres, and venerates only the Perfect One: The Blessed One is enlightened and teaches the ~~Dhamma~~ ^{True Idea} by enlightenment. The Blessed One is controlled and he teaches the ~~Dhamma~~ ^{True Idea} by control. The Blessed One is serene and he teaches the ~~Dhamma~~ ^{True Idea} by serenity.

The Blessed One has crossed over and he teach the ~~Dhamma~~^{True Idea} by having crossed over. The Blessed One has attained ~~complete~~^{True Idea} extinction and he teaches the Dhamma by having attained ~~complete~~^{True Idea} extinction.

31. — When this was said, Saccaka the Nigantha's son ^{replied} ~~said~~ to the Blessed One — 'Master Gotama, it is we were bold and forward in ~~concerning~~ ^{imagining} that Master Gotama could be ~~wounded~~^{attacked} ~~no~~^{not} attackable argument. A man might be such that he could with impunity attack a mad elephant, yet he could not attack Master Gotama with impunity. A man might be such that he could with impunity attack a blazing mass of fire, yet he could not attack Master Gotama with impunity. A man might be such that he could ~~attack~~ a terrible poisonous serpent with impunity attack a terrible poisonous serpent, yet he could not attack Master Gotama with impunity. We were bold and forward in ~~concerning~~ ^{imagining} that Master Gotama ~~could~~ be attackable by argument. Let the Blessed One

32. — 'Let the Blessed One accept tomorrow together with the community of Bhikkhus, accept tomorrow's meal from me.'

The Blessed One accepted in silence.

33. — Then, ^{knowing} that the Blessed One had accepted, he addressed the Bhikkus — 'Hear me, Bhikkus; the ~~whole~~ Gotama, together with the community of Bhikkhus has

been invited by me for tomorrow's meal.
You may bring to me what ^{one} good you think
is proper for him.'

34. Then when the night was ended, the ~~poor man~~ brought five-hundred ~~various~~ dishes
~~of null rice~~ gifts of food. Then Saccaka the Niganthas
son had good food of various kinds prep-
ared in his own house, and he had the
time announced to the Blessed One - 'It
is time, Master Gotama, the meal is ready.'

35. Then, it being morning, the Blessed
One dressed, and taking his bowl and
outer robe, he went to Saccaka the Nig-
anthas son's house together with the com-
munity of Bhikkhus to ~~the~~ Saccaka the
Niganthas son's house, and he sat down
on the seat made ready. Then, with his
own hands, Saccaka the Niganthas son
served and satisfied the community of
Bhikkhus headed by the enlightened One
with ^{the} various kinds of good food. Then,
when the Blessed One had eaten ^{no longer} and had
~~relinquished the bowl from his hand~~, Sa-
ccaka the Niganthas son took a low seat
and sat down ~~beside him~~. When he had
done so, the Blessed One he said to the
Blessed One - 'Master Gotama, ^{whether} the
merit and the ^{magnitude} of the merit in this
gift, ^{may it} be for the ^{happiness} of the givers.'
— 'Agivessana, ^{such} [merit] which

are
in the way, you take

comes of giving [giving] 5) is due to one fit for offerings like you, who are not without greed, hate and delusion 237 will be for the givers. ~~as comes of giving~~ ~~from them in the way~~ [merit] which is one fit for offerings like ~~such I am, I being~~ without greed, hate and delusion, will be for you.

* punānacī as the "expected greater in the nature (māhesakkhaṭa) due from the merit"

balance ment of a mere act of giving provided firstly by the purity of the givers & secondly by the purity of the recipient - see M. Sutta 142.

Notes:

* § 35 "Dwell with suffering quite destroyed dukkham vā pariññepetra vikāryya": pariññepeti seems to be a caus. of khayati (khayati) and not of khipati. Not in P.T.S. Dict.

The second half of this para marked * is not in all texts.

* § 35 "The merit and the ~~greater~~ ^{balance} after merit - punānca punānacī ca": māhe in this peculiar sense is not in P.T.S. Dict. The meaning is explained according to the

* § 2 "Sādhusammata regarded... as a saint" might mean "well-regarded" but see D. ii, 150 where it is used of Purāṇa Kanapa & others.

* § 34 Thalipaka dish of mille-rice: see M. ii, 154 where listed as one of 4 sorts of ceremonial food offerings.

* § 25 for kiñci no sīga- see Sutta

22 § 7 + 25

* § 5. 'Sondikā-kilañja - brewer's scire': ki-
lañja is usually rendered meat, but Cogn.
indicates a possible rendering by 'scire'.

'Sondikā-dhutta - brewer's mix or': this
sense of the word 'dhutta', ^(a potter) not in P.T.S. Dict.,
is clear from the words of odhunneyya
• niddhunneyya ('jolt down and jolt up'),
which immediately follow.

'Vata - a strainer': not in this sense
in P.T.S. Dict.; Cogn. glosses with
parivaranā.

¶: 'vineti - discipline': lit. 'lead away' or 'lead
out of' - dukkha and samsara.

* § 26 'akukkukañjatām -

461
Majjhima Nikaya 36 - Maha-Saccaka sutta
(#, 1, 4, 6)

1. Thus I heard.
~~At one time~~ the Blessed One was living at Vesali in the Great Wood in the Hall with the ~~gilded~~ upper chamber.
2. ~~Now on~~ But at that time, it being morning, the Blessed One had finished dressing and had taken his bowl and outer robe, being desirous of going into Vesali for alms.
3. Then as Saccaka the Nigantha's son was walking and wandering for exercise he came to the Great Wood, to the Hall with the ~~gilded~~ upper chamber. The Venerable Ananda saw him coming in the distance; when he saw him, he said to the Blessed One — 'Venerable sir, here comes Saccaka the Nigantha's son; he is a clever speaker, debater, a clever speaker, and well regarded by many. He wants to decry the Enlightened One, to decry the ^{True Idea} Law, and to decry the Community. It would be good if the Blessed One would sit down for a while out of compassion.'

The Blessed One sat down on the seat made ready. Then Saccaka the Nigantha's son went up to him, and exchanged greetings with him, and after this courteous and ^{amicable} talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the Blessed One:

4. ~~monks~~ Master Gotama, there are some ascetics and brahmans who abide devoted to ^{in pursuit of} divers

maintaining

~~developing~~ the ~~body~~ in being

?

the practice of developing the body, without developing the mind. They are liable to develop ~~of~~ ~~the~~ mind. They undergo bodily painful feeling. It ~~will~~ have happened that ~~there~~ a man ~~undergoes~~ bodily painful feeling, ~~he~~ got a paralysis of the thigh or his heart bursts or hot blood gushed from his mouth, or he ~~goes~~ mad, ~~and~~ ~~comes~~ out of his mind. So then the mind ~~is~~ ^{took up its necessity from the} body, it ~~is~~ in the body ~~itself~~. Why is that?

238 Because the mind is not developed.

But there are some ~~masters~~ and ~~disciples~~ who ~~abide in purity~~ devoted to the practice of developing the mind, ~~without~~ developing the body. They ~~undergo~~ ~~bodily~~ painful feeling. It will have happened that ~~there~~ a man ~~the~~ touched by ~~mental~~ ~~mental~~ ~~paraphit~~ ~~largest~~ ~~bodily~~ ~~painful~~ ~~feeling~~, ~~also~~ ~~got~~ a paralysis of the thigh or his heart bursts, or hot blood gushed from his mouth, or he ~~went~~ mad, out of his mind. So then the body ~~is~~ ^{took up its necessity from the} mind, it ~~is~~ in the body ~~itself~~. Why is that?

Because the body was not developed. It has occurred to me: ~~that~~ Master Gotama! Surely Master Gotama's disciples abide in ~~in pursuit of~~ the practice of developing the mind, ~~without~~ developing the body?"

5. — 'How to But Aggivessana, how has development of body been learnt by you?' Will

— '(There) are, for example, Nanda Vaccha,

across a threshold, across a stick, across a pool,

kisa Sankicca, Makkhali Gosila. They go naked, rejecting conventions, likeing their hands, not coming when asked, not stopping when asked; they do not accept anything brought, or anything specially made, or an invitation; they receive nothing from out of a pot, from out of a bowl, from two eating together, from a woman with child, from a woman giving suck, from a woman lying with a man, from where food is being distributed, from where a dog is waiting, from where flies are buzzing; they accept no fish or meat, they drink no wine or spirits or fermented liquor. They keep to one house, to one morsel; they keep to two houses, to two morsels; ... they keep to seven houses, to seven morsels. They live on one saucerful, on two saucerfuls, ... on seven saucerfuls, a day. They take food once each day, once each two days, ~~each~~ ... once each seven days; and so upto once each fortnight, they dwell devoted to such practice of taking food at stated intervals.'

6. - 'But do they ~~always~~ ^{always submit} ~~carry~~ ^{always maintain themselves}, like that. Aggivessana?'

- 'No, Master Gotama, sometimes they chew good hard food, taste good soft eat good soft food, taste good relishes, drink good drinks. With that they pick up strength and get fat.' ~~gather together~~

- 'What they ~~formally~~ ^{once} ~~abandoned~~, Aggivessana, they ~~subsequently~~ ^{later} ~~again~~ ^{again}. So there ~~not a few them~~ amassing and dispersal of their body. Now how has development of mind been learnt

by you?' 239

When Saceaka the Nigantha's son was asked by the Blessed One about development of mind, he was ~~un~~able to answer.

7. Then the Blessed One told to him

'What you have just spoken of as development of body, Aggivessana, is not ~~the true debt~~ ~~lawful bodily~~ developing the body in the Noble Discipline. You do not ^{even} know what developing the body is, so how should you know what developing ~~the~~ ^{means} the mind is? Nevertheless, Aggivessana, hear how a man is undeveloped in body and undeveloped in mind, and how he is developed in body and developed in mind, and attend carefully to what I shall say.'

'Even so, Sir,' Saceaka the Nigantha's son replied to the Blessed One. The Blessed One said this:

8. — 'How is a man undeveloped in mind body and undeveloped in mind?

'Here, Aggivessana, pleasant feeling arises in an untaught ~~consciousness~~. Touched by that pleasant feeling, he lusts after that pleasant feeling, and he ^{keeps} ~~continues~~ ^{continues} lusty after that pleasant feeling. That pleasant feeling of his arises. With the cessation of the pleasant feeling painful feeling ^{state} arises. Touched by that painful feeling, he sorrows, grieves and laments, beating his breast, he weeps and becomes

distraught. When that pleasant ^{feeling} arises in him, it ~~takes~~ ~~invades~~ ~~total~~ ~~possession~~ of the mind and remains because ~~of~~ the body is not developed. And when that painful feeling is arisen in him, it ~~takes~~ ~~invades~~ ~~total~~ ~~possession~~ of his mind and remains because the mind is not developed. Anyone in whom, in this double manner, pleasant feeling arisen ~~takes~~ ~~invades~~ ~~pos-~~ ~~sion~~ of the mind and remains because ~~of~~ the body is not developed, and painful feeling arisen ~~takes~~ ~~invades~~ ~~possession~~ of the mind and remains because the mind is not developed, is thus undeveloped in ~~mind~~ ~~and~~ body and undeveloped in mind.

9. And how is a man developed in body and developed in mind?

Here, Aggivessana, pleasant feeling arises in a well-taught noble disciple. Touched by that pleasant feeling, he does not lust after that pleasant feeling, he does not ~~livel~~ upon lusty after that pleasant feeling. That pleasant feeling of his ceases. With the ~~ceasing~~ of cessation of the pleasant feeling painful feeling [later] arises. Touched by that painful feeling, he does not sorrow, ~~or~~ lament grieve or lament, he does not, beating his breast, weep and become distraught. When that pleasant feeling is arisen in him, it does not ~~take~~ ~~invade~~ ~~pos-~~ ~~sion~~ of his mind and remain because the body is developed. And when that painful feeling is arisen in him, it does

466

not take possession of his mind and remain because the mind has been developed. Anyone in whom in this double manner, ²⁴⁰ pleasant feeling arisen does not ~~take possession~~ ^{invade the} of the mind and remain because the body is developed, and painful feeling arisen does not ~~take possession~~ ^{invade} of the mind and remain because the mind is developed, in thus developed in mind and developed in body.

10. — 'I have ~~with~~ confidence in Master Gotama ~~that I have~~; he is developed in body and developed in mind.'

— 'Surely, Aggivessana, the words you have spoken are ~~a~~ ^{directly} personal attack. Never the less, I shall answer you. Since I shaved off my hair and beard, put on the yellow cloth ~~cloth~~, and went forth from the home life into homelessness pleasant feeling arisen might ~~take possession~~ ^{invade} of my mind and remain, that is not possible.'

11. — 'Has ~~there~~ ^{perhaps never} arisen in Master Gotama ~~such~~ ^a pleasant feeling, ~~such that~~ ^{so pleasant} it might ~~take possession~~ ^{invade} of his mind and remain? Has ~~there~~ ^{perhaps never} arisen in Master Gotama painful feeling, ~~such that~~ ^{so painful} it might ~~take possession~~ ^{invade} of his mind and remain?' (This is a question)
 X How could there not, Aggivessana?
12. ← Here, Aggivessana, before my ear

(^{consequent}
and it is a place
of dirt;) M. 36.

lightenment, while I was still only an un-
enlightened Bodhisatta. I thought "House
life is ~~un~~ ^{not} ~~and~~ ^{but} ~~dirty~~ ^{clean} life gone forth is
wide open. It is not ~~possible~~ ^{possible} ~~to live~~ ^{to live} in ^a house
to lead a life of purity ~~as~~ ^{as} ~~perfect~~ ^{pure} perfect
and completely pure, like a polished shell.
~~Suppose~~ If I shaved off my hair and beard,
put on the yellow cloths, and went forth
from the home life into homelessness?

13.-16. Later, while still ~~young~~, a young man, black-haired, endowed with the blessing of youth, in the first phase of life - though my mother and father ... [and so on as in M 26, § 14 - ^{up to} 17] ... There is this agreeable piece of ground, this delightful grove, this clear-flowing river with pleasant smooth banks, and near by a village as always resort. This will serve for the ~~endeavor~~^{endeavor} of a clausman who seeks the ~~endeavor~~^{endeavor}. And I sat down there ^(thinking) ~~knowing~~ ^{endeavoring}. This it will serve for the ~~endeavor~~^{endeavor}.

Now three similes occurred to me spontaneously, never heard before.

Suppose there were a wet, sappy piece of wood lying in water, and a man came with an upper fire-stick, thinking "I shall light a fire, I shall produce heat"; ~~that~~ do you ^{concerning the} Aggivessana, would the man light a fire and produce heat by taking the upper fire-stick and rubbing the wet, sappy piece of wood lying in water with it? — No, Master Gotama. Why not? Because

it is a wet, sappy piece of wood, ~~lying in~~²⁴¹ water and besides it is lying in water. So the man would reap weariness and disappointment.

So, Aggivessana, while an ascetic or ^{divine} ~~bodily~~^{and mentally not} ascetic withdraws still from sensual desires, and while his ~~desire~~^{affection}, passion, thirst, and fever, for sensual desires are not quite abandoned and quieted within him, then, ~~even~~^{if} the good ascetic or ^{divine} ascetic feels painful, racking, piercing feelings due to striving, he is incapable of knowledge and vision and the supreme enlightenment, and even if the good ascetic or ^{divine} ascetic does not feel painful, racking, piercing feelings due to striving, he is incapable of knowledge and vision and the supreme enlightenment. This was the first simile that occurred to me spontaneously, never heard before.

18. Again suppose there were a wet, sappy piece of wood lying on dry land far from water, and a man came with an upper fire-stick, thinking "I shall light a fire, ^{How do you call this Aggivessana,} I shall produce heat", would the man light a fire and produce heat by taking the upper fire-stick and rubbing the wet, sappy piece of wood lying on dry land with it?

No, Master Gotama. Why not? Because it is a wet, sappy piece of wood, though

it is lying on dry land far from water. So the man would repeat weariness and disappointment?

So, Tygiressana, while ~~a monk~~^{a divine} or Buddha lives still ~~only~~^{only} bodily withdrawn from sensual desires, and while his ~~lust~~^{desire}, affection, passion, thirst, and fever, for sensual desires are not quite abandoned and quieted within him, then, even if the good ascetic or Buddha feels painful, racking, piercing feelings due to striving, he is incapable of knowledge and vision and the supreme enlightenment. And even if the good ascetic or Buddha does not feel painful, racking, piercing feelings due to striving he is incapable of knowledge and vision and the supreme enlightenment. This was the second simile that occurred to me spontaneously, never heard before.⁴⁴²

19. Again suppose there were a dry, sapless piece of wood lying on dry land far from water, and a man came with an upper fire-stick, thinking "I shall light a fire, I shall produce heat"; ~~that~~^{do you} ~~know~~^{conceive} Tygiressana, would the man light a fire and produce heat by rubbing the dry, sapless piece of wood lying on dry land with far from water with it? Yes, Master Gotama. Why so? Because it is a dry, sapless piece of wood, and besides, it is lying on dry land far from water.
- ← - 'So, Tygiressana, while an ascetic

47

or ~~divine~~^{divine} lives both bodily and mentally
withdrawn from sensual desires, and while his
~~heat~~, affection, passion, thirst, and fever, for
sensual desires are quite abandoned and quieted
within him, then, even if the good ascetic
or ~~divine~~^{divine} feels painful, racking, pierc-
ing feelings due to striving, he is cap-
able of knowledge and vision and the su-
preme enlightenment, and even if the
good ascetic or ~~divine~~^{divine} does not feel
painful, racking, piercing, feelings due
to striving, he is capable of
knowledge and vision and the supreme
enlightenment. This was the third simile
that occurred to me spontaneously, never
heard before.

These were the three similes that
occurred to me spontaneously, never heard
before.

80. "I thought: "Suppose, with my teeth
clenched and my tongue pressed against
the roof of my mouth, I beat down, ~~so~~
~~as~~ constrain and crush my
mind with my mind?" So, with my teeth
clenched and my tongue pressed against the
roof of my mouth, I beat down, constrained
and crushed ~~my mind~~ with ~~my mind~~,
while I ~~* did so~~^{just as}, sweat ran from my arm-
pits. ~~As~~ a strong man might seize a weaker
~~one~~ by the head or shoulders and beat
him down, constrain and crush him, so ^{too},
while forth with my teeth clenched and my tongue

471

pressed against the roof of my mouth, I beat down, constrained and crushed ~~the wind~~^{the mind} with ~~my mind~~, ~~I did so~~^{and} sweat ran from my armpits. ~~I thought~~ But although tireless energy was aroused in me and un-remitting fulness was established, ²⁴³ yet my body was overwrought and uncalm because I was exhausted by the painful effort. But such painful feeling as arose in me did not take possession of my mind and remain.

illumination

21. ^{I thought:} "Suppose I practise ~~the~~ ^{abortion} ~~that~~ ^{that} is without breathing?" So I stopped the in-breathes and out-breathes in my mouth and nose. While I did so, there was a loud sound of winds coming from my ear holes. Just as there is a loud sound when a smith's bellows are blown, so too, while I stopped the in-breathes and out-breathes in my nose and ears, there was a loud sound of winds coming from my ear holes.
 'But although tireless energy was aroused in me ... and remain.

illumination ~~abortion~~

22. ^{I thought:} "Suppose I practise ~~the~~ ^{abortion} ~~that~~ ^{that} is ~~with~~ ^{without} breathing?" So I stopped the in-breathes and out-breathes in my mouth, nose and ears. While I did so, ^{sharp} violent winds ^{harried} sacked my head. Just as though a man were splitting my head open with a sharp sword, so too, while I stopped the in-breathes and out-breathes in my mouth, nose and ears, violent winds sacked my head.
 'But although tireless ... and remain.

23. I thought: "Suppose I practice the ~~flesh~~^{immunization} that is without breathing?" So I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my mouth, nose and ears. While I did so*, there were violent pains in my head. Just as if a strong man ~~were~~²⁴⁴ were tightening a tough leather strap round my head as a head band, so too, while I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my mouth, nose and ears there were violent pains in my head.

^{Colloquiation}
But although tireless... and remain.

24. I thought: "Suppose I practice the ~~flesh~~^{immunization} without breathing?" So I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my mouth, nose and ears. While I did so*, violent winds carved up my belly. Just as a clever butcher or his apprentice carves up an ox's belly with a sharp knife, so too, while I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my mouth, nose and ears, violent winds carved up my belly.

But although tireless... and remain.

25. I thought: "Suppose I practice the ~~flesh~~^{immunization} that is without breathing?" So I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my mouth, nose and ears. While I did so*, there was a violent burning in my body. Just as if two strong men had seized a weaker ~~man~~⁼ by both armpits and were roasting him over a pit of hot coals, so too, while I stopped the in-breaths and out-breaths in my ^{mouth,} nose and ears, there was a violent burn-

ing in my body.

"But though tickles ... and remain.

26. "Now, ~~245~~²⁴⁵ when deities saw me, they said "The ~~dear~~ Gotama is dead". Other deities said "The ~~dear~~ Gotama is not dead, he is dying." Other deities said "The ~~dear~~ Gotama is neither dead nor dying; he is an Arahant, for such is the way of Arahants."

27. "I thought - "Suppose I entirely cut off food?" Then deities came to me and said "Good sir, do not entirely cut off food. If you do so, we shall inject divine food into your pores and you will live on that." I thought - "If I claim to be completely fasting and these deities inject divine food into my pores and I live on that, then I shall be lying." I dismissed those deities, saying - "There is no need."

28. "I thought - "Suppose I take very little food, say, a handful each time, whether it is bean soup or lentil soup or pea soup?" ~~lentil~~, ^{very} soup or pea soup? ~~I did so~~.^{I * did so *}.

So I took very little food, say, a handful each time, whether it was bean soup or lentil soup or ~~pea~~^{lentil} soup or pea soup. While I * did so *, my body reached a state of extreme emaciation. ^{Because} ~~Because~~ eating so little my limbs became like the jointed segments of vine stems or bamboo stems. Because of eating so little my back side became like a camel's hoof. Because of eating so little the projections on my spine stood forth like corded beads. Because

974

of eating so little. My ribs jutted out ~~like~~
as gaunt as the crazy rafters of an old
roofless barn. Because of eating so little.
The gleam of my eyes sunk far down in
their sockets looked like the gleam of
water sunk far down in a deep well. Be-
cause of eating so little ²⁴⁶ my scalp shriv-
elled and withered as a green gourd shriv-
els and withers in the wind and sun. Be-
cause of eating so little, if I touched my
belly skin, I encountered my backbone too;
if I touched my backbone, I encountered
my belly skin too. Because of eating so little,
if I made water or evacuated my bowels, I
fell over on my face there ~~etc.~~. Because of
eating so little, if I tried to ease my
body by rubbing my limbs with my hands,
the hair, rotted at its roots, fell away from
my body as I rubbed. ~~because of eating so~~
~~little~~

29. Now when humans ^{beings} saw me, they
said - "The ~~white~~ Gotama is a black man."
Other humans ^{beings} said - "The ~~white~~ Gotama is
not a black man, he is a brown man."
Other humans ^{beings} said - "The ~~white~~ Gotama is
neither a black nor a brown man, he is a
fair-skinned man." So much had the
clear bright colour of my skin deteriorated
through eating so little.

30. ^{thought} "I thought - "Whenever an ~~ascetic~~ or
human ^{being} has felt in the past has felt

painful, racking, piercing feelings due to stirring, it can equal this but not exceed it. And whenever an ~~ascetic~~^{spiritual} or ~~divine~~^{divine} in the future will feel painful, racking, piercing feelings due to stirring, it can equal this but not exceed it. And whenever an ~~ascetic~~^{spiritual} or ~~divine~~^{divine} at present feels painful, racking, piercing feelings due to stirring, it can equal this but not exceed it. But by this gaudy pleasure I have attained no distinction higher than the human ~~state~~^{state} worthy of The Noble One's knowledge and vision. Might there be another ^{way} to enlightenment?"

31. "I thought - "I had," while my Sakyan father was busy, the experience of while I was sitting in the shade of a rose apple tree. I had the experience of quite secluded from sensual desires, excluded from unprofitable things, I had the ~~direct~~^{inner} knowledge of entering upon and abiding in the first ~~abortion~~^{abortion} illumination, which is accompanied by happiness and ~~pleasure~~^{pleasure}, thought with ~~the~~ happiness and ~~the~~^{the} born of seclusion. Might that be the way to enlightenment?" Then, following on that memory, I knew that this was the way to enlightenment came the recognition - "This is the way to enlightenment."

32. "I thought - "Why ²⁴ am I afraid of that figure, since it is ~~figure~~^{figure} that has nothing to do with sensual desires and unprofitable things."

"I thought - "I am not afraid of that figure, since it has nothing to do with sensual desires."

desires and unprofitable "things."

33. I thought - "It is not possible to attain that pleasure with a body so extremely emaciated. Suppose I ate some solid food, ~~such~~ - some boiled rice and ~~such~~?". And I ate some solid food + some boiled rice and ~~such~~ bread. But at that time five bhikkhus were waiting upon me, thinking - "If the ~~Buddha~~ Gotama achieves something he will tell us. As soon as I ate the boiled rice and ~~bread~~, the five bhikkhus were disgusted and left me:- "The ~~Buddha~~ Gotama has turned self-indulgent; he has given up the ~~four~~ and reverted to luxury."

34. Now when I had eaten solid food and ~~had~~ regained strength, I excluded from unprofitable things sensual desires, excluded from unprofitable ~~things~~, I entered upon and ~~sat~~ in the first ~~stage~~ of illumination, which is accompanied by ~~thinking~~ thoughts and ~~pondering~~ thoughts with ~~such~~ happiness and ~~such~~ born of seclusion. But such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not ~~invade~~ ~~take possession of~~ my mind.

35. With the ~~continuing~~ of ~~thinking~~ and ~~pondering~~ tained thoughts ... second ~~stage~~ of illumination. Such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not ~~take~~ ~~invade~~ ~~possess~~ my mind.

36. 'With the fading away ^{or will} of happiness...
Third ~~state~~ illumination...'

'But such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not take ^{possession} of my mind and remain.'

37. 'With the abandoning of bodily pleasure... in fourth ~~state~~ illumination...'

'But such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not take ^{possession} of my mind and remain.'

38. 'When my concentrated ^{mind} was thus purified, ^{clear}, unblurred, rid of imperturbation, and had become malleable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperceptability ²⁴ I directed my ^{conscious} to the knowledge of recollection of past life... [as in M. 4, § 27]... thus with details and particulars I recollect my manifold past life.'

39. 'This was the first ^{true knowledge} attained by me in the first watch of the night. Ignorance was banished and ^{true knowledge} arose; darkness was banished and light arose; as [happens] in one who abides diligent, ardent and resolute self-exerting.'

'But such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not take ^{possession} of my mind and remain.'

40. 'When my concentrated ^{mind} was thus purified, ... I directed my ^{mind} to the knowledge of the passing away and reappearance of ^{creation} ... [as in M. 4. § 29] ... thus with the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, ~~so called~~. I saw ... how ^{creatures} pass according to their ^{actions}.

41. 'This was the second ^{true knowledge} attained by me in the second watch of the night. Ig-

ignorance was banished and ~~true knowledge~~^{consciousness} arose; darkness was banished and light arose; as [happens] in one who dwells diligent, ardent and ~~absolute self~~^{conscious} endeavouring.

'But such pleasant feeling as arose in my ~~mind~~^{imagination} me did not take ~~immediate~~^{impartial} possession of my mind and remain.

42-43. 'When my concentrated ~~mind~~^{consciousness} was thus purified, ... I directed my ~~conscious~~^{conscious} to the knowledge of ~~construction~~^{extinction} of Crakers. I had direct knowledge ~~of~~^{of it actually} : This is satisfying ... [as in M. 4 §-31] § 31-2] ... There is no more of this to come.'

44. 'This was the third ~~conscious~~^{true knowledge} attained by me in the third watch of the night. Ignorance was banished and ~~true knowledge~~^{consciousness} arose; darkness was banished and light arose; as happens to one who dwells diligent, ardent and ~~absolute self~~^{conscious} endeavouring.

'But such pleasant feeling as arose in me did not take ~~immediate~~^{impartial} possession of my mind and remain.

45.2. 'I have had ~~experience~~^{direct knowledge} of preaching the ~~Truth~~^{True Idea} to an assembly of many hundreds. perhaps some one or other has imagined "The ~~foolish~~^{foolish} Gotama is preaching the ~~Truth~~^{True Idea} at me". But it should not be regarded ~~this~~^{so}: ~~the~~^a Perfect One preaches the ~~Dharma~~^{Truth} to others ~~only~~^{to} to give them knowledge.
~~True Idea~~

(believable
[as a statement])

U. 36.

[quiet &]
and con-
centrality

When the talk is finished, Aggivessana, then I internally ~~say again in myself and try to concentrate~~ say mind on that same sign for concentration as before, in which I constantly abide.

(That is the method of the Master. Gotama's since he is accomplished and fully enlightened. But ~~has~~ Master Gotama had ~~the~~ direct knowledge of sleeping by day?'

46. 'In the last month of the hot season, Aggivessana, on returning from the alms round after the meal, I have had ~~direct~~ ^{knowledge} of laying out my cloak of patches folded in four, lying down on the right side and falling asleep, mindful and fully aware.'

'Some ~~may~~ and ~~desires~~ call ~~the idea of a deluded man~~, Master Gotama! ~~that~~ ~~Liberation~~ living by delusion or not living in delusion does not happen in that way. Aggivessana a deluded man abiding, Master Gotama.'

47. ~~240~~ - 'It is not in that way that a man is deluded or ~~not~~ deluded, Aggivessana. Listen rather how a man is deluded and not deluded, and ~~attend~~ ^{attend} carefully to what I shall say.'

- Even so, Sir', Saccaka the Riganthis son replied. ~~A the Blessed One. The~~ The Blessed One said this:

48. - 'Him I call deluded, Aggivessana, in whom there are ~~no~~ ^{no} ~~any~~ ~~bad~~ ~~ones~~ ~~cankers~~ ~~caulkers~~ ~~producing~~ ~~such~~ ~~rewards~~ ~~being~~ that defile, ~~lead to future becoming~~, result in future suffering, and lead to birth, ageing

~~are abandoned for it is with the cakers~~
 and death. Him I call undeluded, in whom the cankers that defile, produce, further becoming, result in future suffering, and lead to birth, ageing and death, are abandoned.

~~are abandoned~~ and death; for it is with the abandoning of cankers that a man is ~~undeluded~~.
 Him I call undeluded in whom ~~such~~, cankers ~~that~~ defile, produce ~~general being~~, ~~such~~ suffering, and ~~lead to~~ birth, ageing and death, are abandoned, for it with the abandoning of cankers that a man is undeluded.

In the Perfect One ~~the~~ cankers ~~that~~ defile, as produced ~~general being~~, as ~~result~~ good trouble, as ~~injurious~~ bringing ~~future~~ suffering, and ~~lead to~~ birth, ageing and death, are abandoned, cut off, cut off at the root, made like a palm stump, ~~made up-existent, rest not yet to~~ to arise ~~in no more~~ in the future. Just as a palm tree with its top cut off is incapable of growing, so too, in the Perfect One the cankers that defile, produce ~~general being~~, result in future suffering, and lead to birth, ageing and death are abandoned, cut off, cut off at the root, made like a palm stump, ~~done away with so that their~~ nature to arise in the future is no more.

49. When this was said, Saccaka the Viganthai son said - 'It is wonderful, Master Gotama, it is marvellous, how,

When Master Gotama is continually attacked again and again, with personal remarks directed at him, the colour of his skin brightens and thus, the colour of his face clears, as it happens in one who is accomplished and fully enlightened! I have had ^{direct knowledge} experience of engaging in argument Purana Kassapa in argument, and then he prevaricated, led the talk aside, and showed anger, hate and surliness. But when Master Gotama is again attacked (again and again) with personal remarks, ^{directed at him} thus, the colour of his skin brightens and the colour of his face clears as it happens in one who is accomplished and fully enlightened. I have had the experience of engaging Nakkhali Gotala ...

Agita Koakambalin ... Pakusha Kaccayana ... Sanjaya Belatthiputta ... the Nigantha Natta ^{putta} in argument, and then he prevaricated, led the talk aside, and showed anger, hate and surliness. But when Master Gotama ^{has} been attacked again and again with personal remarks, thus, the colour of his skin brightens, the colour of his face clears, as it happens in one who is accomplished and fully enlightened. And now, Master Gotama, we depart; we are busy and have much to do.

- It is time now to do as you think fit, Aggivessana.

Then Saccaka the Nigantha son

M. 36 is developed by
detachment from body

was satisfied, and ~~rejoicing~~^{diligently} at the Blessed
One's words, he got up from his seat and
departed. ⁴⁸²
~~33~~ ³³ is developed by referring from Kāraṇa Sutta
§ 47 Uttaṇī upper fire stick. Note P.T.S. Dict. See M. 93 § 13
§ 33 for Kūmara as ~~boy~~^{broad} see M. 23 note
§ 45E for sign of concentration (samādhi nimitta)
See M. 122, note to § 15.

Note 8 ⑦. uttarārāni - an upper fire
stick". ~~the~~ = uttara + rāni: rāni is given
in P.T.S. Dict. but not quite in this sense.

§ 17 - 19 I have taken the readings
in the three similes as "kāyena c'eva
cittena ca kāmehi arūpakathā" (p. 241, l. 3),
"kayene li kha (kāyen'eva kha?)", ^{"kāmehi rūpakathā"}
(p. 241, l. 26), and "kayene c'eva cittena ca
kāmehi rūpakathā" (p. 242, l. 11) which the
sense demands; see variant readings.

§ 17. The expression "dukkha tippā
katukā vedanā (painful, piercing or deep
feelings)" occurs in many places (e.g. M. i, 74).
Here, however it is preceded by the word
"opakāmika (due to stroking)" which refers
particularly to self-mortification.

§ 29 it is clear from M. 79 (ii, 33)
where the three words "kāla, cāma and
mangura cchavi ~~are~~ ^{are} app. ("black", "brown", and
"fair-skinned") are applied to a "country beauty"
(jana puda kalyāni) "that they must refer to three
accepted types of complexion. It is not clear on what
authority". P.T.S. Dict. says "gold coloured".
§ 30 ⁵³⁰ stava-parama lit. "not much at the
most" (cf. sta parama at M. i, 339). stava not in P.T.S. Dict.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 87 - Cula Takkī-Saṅkaya Sutta
(1, 4, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sarathī in the Eastern Park, the Palace of Migrā's Mother.

2. Then Sakka, Ruler of Gods, went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he stood at one side. When he had done so, he asked:

"Venerable sir, briefly in what way has a blin-
khow the Freedom due to Craving's utter extinction
so that the goal is unquestionably his, that the
supreme success of bondage is unquestionably his,
that the life divine is unquestionably his, that
the end is unquestionably his, and that he is
freest of gods and men?"

3. "Now, Ruler of gods, a blin-
khow that ideas are all not worth insisting upon.
If a blin-
khow has heard that all ideas are all not
worth insisting upon, he directly knows [every]
idea; by directly knowing every idea he fully-
knows every idea; by fully knowing every idea,
whatever he feels, whether pleasure or pain or
neither-pain-nor-pleasure, in those feelings
he abides contemplating impermanence,
contemplating fading away of lust, contemplat-
ing cessation, contemplating relinquishment;
~~and so doing~~ ~~in contemplation these feelings~~
~~when he does not cling to anything in the~~
though & so doing;

world; when he does not cling to anything in the world, he has no anguish, he attains to extinction [actually] for himself; ²⁵² he understands 'Birth is exhausted, the life Divine has been lived out, what was to be done is

140

484

'done, there is no more of this to come'. Briefly it is in that way, Ruler of Gods, that a bhikkhu has the freedom due to Craving's utter Extermination so that the goal is unquestionably his, ^{and} the supreme succour of bondage is unquestionably his, that the life Divine is unquestionably his, and that he is foremost of gods and men.'.

~~gods and men~~

4. Then Balaka, Ruler of Gods, was satisfied, and ~~agreeing with~~ the Blessed One's words, he paid homage to the Blessed One, and then keeping him on his right, he vanished ^{at once} ~~on the spot~~.

5. Now on that occasion the venerable Mahā Mogallāna was sitting not far from the Blessed One. Then he [considered] this ^[the meaning of] ~~that~~ spirit, delighted ⁱⁿ the Blessed One's words, did he penetrate to ^{soon as} their meaning or did he not? and agreed, or had he not? Suppose I found out whether he did or not?

6. Then just as a strong man might extend his flexed arm or flex his extended arm, ^{soon as} the venerable Mahā Mogallāna vanished ⁱⁿ the Palace of Migrā's Mother and

49

83

appeared among the gods of the Thirty Three.

7. Now on that occasion Sakka, Ruler of Gods,
 was furnished and invested with the five fold
 music by the hundred was sounding in a hundred
 fold with heavenly music of the five sorts, and
 he was enjoying it in the Pleasure Park of
 the Single Totus. He saw the venerable Maha
 Moggallana coming. Seeing him, he dismissed
 the hundred fold heavenly music of the five
 sorts, and he went to the venerable Maha
 Moggallana and said to him ~~with great respect~~
~~Moggallana~~, 'Come, good sir Moggallana, well-
 come, good sir Moggallana; it is long, good
 sir Moggallana, since you made an occasion to
 come here; sit down, good sir Moggallana; on
 this seat ^{ready} prepared'. ~~the~~

The venerable Maha Moggallana sat
 down on the seat made ready, and Sakka,
 Ruler of Gods, took another, lower, seat and
 sat down at one side. When he had done so, the
 venerable Maha Moggallana said to him:

8. ~~to Kosaya, how did the Blessed One state
 the freedom of all life due to prayings, fasts,
 to you his Disciple? Due to prayings, fasts,
 in brief? It would be good if we might share in
 the hearing of that statement.~~

9. ~~to you his Disciple? Due to prayings, fasts,
 in brief? It would be good if we might share in
 the hearing of that statement.~~

a good sir, Moggallana, we are ^{so} busy,
 with much to do, we have ^{so} much business, ~~instead~~
 with our own business but, with the business of
 the gods of the Thirty three. Besides, good sir
 Moggallana, ~~what is~~ ^{that is} well heard, well apprehended;

624

well kept is attended to, well remembered, doo
~~she is not suddenly~~, doo not vanish all of
a sudden. ~~It has happened~~, good sir Moggal-
lina, it has happened that war broke out
between the Gods and the demons. In that war
the Gods won, good sir Moggallina, and the
demons were defeated. When I had won the
war, good sir Moggallina, and returned from
it as a conqueror in war, I had the Vejayanta
Palace built. Good sir Moggallina, the Ve-
jayanta Palace has a hundred towers, and
each tower has seven hundred upper cham-
bers, and each upper chamber has seven
~~deacies~~^{nymphs}, and each ~~dancing~~^{nymph} girl has
~~madd~~^{hands} ~~attendants~~^{loveliness}. Good sir Moggallina,
should you like to see the ~~beauties~~ of the
Vejayanta Palace, good sir Moggallina? »
The Maha Moggallina con-

10 Then Sakka, Ruler of Gods and
the [divine] King ~~Vesavara~~^{the venerable} went to the
Vejayanta Palace, giving precedence to the
venerable Maha Moggallana. The ~~devas~~^{mahis}
~~successor~~^{successor} of Sakka, Ruler of gods, saw the
venerable Maha Moggallana coming, and
when they saw him, they were conscience-
stricken and ashamed and ~~went~~^{they} went each
into their own rooms. Just as ~~a~~^{an} daughter-in-law | c 28
is conscience-stricken and ashamed on seeing
her father-in-law, so too, when the

~~the maidens~~ of Sakka, Ruler of Gods, saw the venerable Maha Moggallana coming, they were conscience-stricken and ashamed, and ^{each} went into their own rooms.

11 Then Sakka, Ruler of Gods and the [Divine] King Versavasa had the venerable Maha Moggallana walk ^{off over} ~~into~~ ^{explore} ~~in~~ the Vajayanta Palace : « See, good sir Moggallana, this loveliness of the Vajayanta Palace, and see, good sir Moggallana, this loveliness of the Vajayanta Palace ! »

12. It does the venerable Kasiya credit ^{as one who} that he formerly made merit; and whenever human beings see anything lovely, they say « It does credit to the gods of the Thirty-three ! » It does the venerable Kasiya credit ^{as one who} that he has formerly made merit ».

13. Then the venerable Maha Moggallana [considered] thus « This spirit living in his negligence in a very silly way. What if I stirred up a sense of urgency in him ? »

14. Then the venerable Maha Moggallana determined ^{on a foot} a determination ^{success with the point of his toe} (of supernatural powers) such that he made the Vajayanta Palace shake and quiver and tremble. ^{the number of} Then Sakka, Ruler of Gods, and the [Divine] King Versavasa and the gods of those thirty-three, were filled with wonder and marvelling « Sirs, it is wonderful, it is

marvellous, that ~~mighty~~^{mighty} and ~~powerful~~^{mighty} the monk has, that with the point of his toe he makes the heavenly region shake and quiver and tremble!» Then when the Venerable Maha Moggallana ~~saw~~^{the} that Sakeha, Ruler of Gods, was stirred to a sense of urgency, with his hair standing on end, he told him:

15. « Kasiya, how did the Blessed One state to you ~~the freedom due to the disappearance of Craving's exhaustion of Craving~~? It would be good if we might share in the hearing of that statement ».

16. « Good sir Moggallana, I went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, I stood at one side. When I had done so, I said 'Venerable sir, ... [as in § 2] ... of gods and men'. When this was said, good sir Moggallana, the Blessed One told me 'Here, Ruler of Gods, ... [as in § 3] ... of gods and men' that is how the Blessed one stated ~~the freedom due to the disappearance of Craving's exhaustion of Craving~~, good sir Moggallana.

17. Then ~~the venerable Maha Moggallana~~ delighted ~~in~~ⁱⁿ the words of Sakeha, Ruler of gods, and agreed, and, just as a strong man might extend his flexed arm or flex his extended arm, he vanished among

the gods of the Thirty-three and appeared in the
eastern ~~part~~^{part} in the Palace of Niśārī's Mother.

18. Then soon after the venerable Maha
Moggallana had gone, ~~attendant upon~~^{attendant upon} release
Sakka, Ruler of gods, asked him "Good sir,
was that your ~~elder~~ Teacher, ~~With~~ the Blind
One?" — "No, good sir, that was not my
teacher, the Blind One. That was one of their com-
panions in the life divine, the Venerable Maha
Moggallana." — "Good sir, it is gain for
you that your companion in the life divine
has such ~~merit~~^{merit} and power, and so how
much more so that the Blind One is your
teacher!"

19. Then the venerable Maha Moggallana went
to the Blind One, and after paying homage
to him, he sat down at one side. When he had
done so, he asked him "Venerable sir, has the
Blind One had the experience of telling the
deliverance by ~~Exhaustion of~~^{praying} ~~of~~^{to} ~~anyone~~^{anyone} in brief
to a certain one of the renowned spirits with
a great following?"

20. ~~at that place~~, I have had experience thus,
telling the deliverance by exhaustion of creating
Moggallana: Here Sakka, Ruler of gods, came to
me, and after paying homage to me, he stood
at one side. When he had done so, he asked
"Venerable sir, --- [as in § 2] --- of gods and

men?'. When this was said, I told him 'One, Ruler of gods, ... [as in § 3] ... 256 of gods and men'. That is how I had ^{the} experience of telling off ^{the} freedom due ^a cravings ^{full} Deliverance, exhaustion of creating a brief to Sakka, Ruler of gods ».

So the Blind One said. The venerable Mikà Mozzatane was satisfied, and he delighted in the Blind One's words.

Notes.

§7 'Marisa - good sir'; a mode of address used apparently only in these heavens.

§ 8 'Kosiyā': what is the origin of this name
for Sabla?

3, 19 The reading is not clear. See both the
garage quoted at MA. II, 124 and the reading
o. annat. atomatarana given at MA. II, 304.

§ 3 see A. koliv, 88 = A. VII, 58

General note: The bhikkhu Sati states the wrong view that consciousness passes on from life ~~to life~~ independent of conditions. The Buddha proves this wrong by Dependent Origination. The whole discourse is consequently an exposition of ~~the~~ conditionality in all components of conscious existence. To drive this home Dependent Origination (or the structure of conditionality) is approached ~~xxxx~~ and converged upon from several different successive points. The construction of the Sutta is as follows:

I. SETTING: the bhikkhu Sati states his view that consciousness passes on from life to life independent of conditions, and he is rebuked.

General

II. DISCOURSE PROPER

on Being

that it is

A. Exposition of the 6 kinds of consciousness.

B. Questionnaire: do you understand ~~what actually is, and~~ arising through ~~conditions~~, and how ~~arising~~ ceases? Are you free from doubts about this? Do you cling to this purified view of yours?

C. First approach to Dependent Origination; from the problem of nutriment (nutriment), which is indispensable to conscious existence = condition.

1. Exposition of the 4 kinds of nutriment. (condition).

2. The source of nutriment is craving, and craving's source is feeling... traced backwards to ignorance by arising through desire.

D. Simple exposition of Dependent Arising (arising) arrived at in C as the structure of conscious-existence (being).

1.a. Simple exposition of Dependent arising forwards as arising.

1.b. Retracing backwards as arising in form of questionnaire.

1.c. Agreement that conditionality as arising is a general principle.

1.d. Repetition of D.1.a.

2.a. Simple exposition of dependent Origination forwards as cessation.

2.b. Retracing backwards as cessation in form of questionnaire.

2.c. Agreement that conditionality as cessation is a general principle.

2.d. Repetition of D.2.a.

E. Questionnaire to drive ~~home~~ so far taught ~~xxxx~~ and to ensure that it has been understood. Have you any doubts? Do you speak only from your own knowledge?

E.4. Application of Dependent Origination to conscious existence: approach from the 'conception' (described in acceptable common usage) of a conscious being in the womb. (This refers back indirectly to the wrong view originally expressed), his birth, and development into an ordinary man.

492

2.a. With his senses matured he ~~knows~~ pursues sensual desires.

2.b. His mind being limited (by ignorance and craving), he is attracted and repelled by the objects of the six kinds of consciousness (see A.1.). He seeks or resists (loves or hates) the feelings of pleasure or pain associated with any of the six kinds of consciousness of those objects, and thus lust arises in him, which is the arising of clinging; clinging conditions ~~being~~ becoming (becoming), and so on with the rest of Dependent Origination (see C.1.a.) forwards as arising (thus laying up kamma for future rebirth).

(desire)-

3.a. With the appearance of a Perfect One in the world, who teaches the Dhamma (the True Idea), the ordinary man whose conception was described in E) ^{heavily} ~~hears~~ the teaching and in consequence leave home life to practise virtue (as renunciation) and concentration (~~settadana~~ ~~for~~ ~~sensual~~).

3.b. His mind not being limited owing to the suppression, temporarily, of craving, he ~~knows~~ is not attracted or repelled by the objects of the six kinds of consciousness. He neither seeks nor resists (neither loves nor hates) the feelings of pleasure or pain associated with any of the six kinds of consciousness of those objects, and thus lust ceases in him, which is the cessation of clinging; with the cessation of clinging being (becoming) ceases, and so on with the rest of Dependent Origination forwards as cessation (thus laying no kamma for rebirth).

Conclusion.

The use of words here in this sutta is of first importance; see ^{the} one of bhūta, abheresin, pathera, sambharanti, ^{heav.} etc., etc.; misuse or misapprehension of these will ruin the whole ~~ontology~~ peculiarly important ontological structure.

Paticca samuppada ref.: M. Sutta 9; D. Sutta

S. samyutta XII. A. Tika n. 61.

Majjhima Nikāya 38 - Maka Puthasankhaya Sutta

(1. 4. 8)

423

I SETTING

1. Thus I heard
On one occasion the Blind One was living at
Savatthi in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park.
2. Now on that occasion there had arisen in a
bhikkhu called Sati, son of a fisherman, the follow-
ing ^{thus} pernicious view, < As I understand the True
Idea taught by the Blind One, it is this same
consciousness that travels and traverses
(the round of rebirths) >.

3. Many bhikkhus heard it that this was so,
then they went to the bhikkhu Sati, son of a
fisherman, and they asked him & Friend, is it
true, and seems, that the following pernicious
view has arisen in you: < As I understand the
True Idea taught by the Blind One, it is this same
consciousness that travels and traverses (the
round of rebirths) >??

< Exactly so, friends. As I understand the
^{thus} True Idea taught by the Blind One, it is this same
consciousness that travels and traverses (the
round of rebirths) >.

Then the bhikkhus, desiring to detach him
from that pernicious view, pressed and questioned
and cross-questioned him thus & Friend Sati,
do not say thus, do not misrepresent the Blind
One, it is not good to misrepresent the Blind
One. The Blind One would not ^{speak} thus; for
consciousness has been stated in many di-
courses by the Blind One to be dependent,

~~arising, without the condition [for it] there is no coming to be of consciousness nor has no actual being.~~

Yet although pressed and questioned and cross-questioned by them in this way, the Bhikkhu Sati, son of a fisherman, still obstinately misapprehended according to his pernicious view and insisted upon it, saying exactly so, friend; as I understand the One I do taughtly the Blessed One, it is this same consciousness that travels and traverses [the round of rebirths] ».

Since the bhikkhus were unable to detach him from the pernicious view, they wrote to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, they told him all that had occurred, and they added « A Venerable sir, since we have been unable to detach the Bhikkhu Sati, son of a fisherman, from this pernicious view, we have reported this matter to the Blessed One ».

Then the Blessed One addressed a certain bhikkhu thus « Come, bhikkhu, tell the Bhikkhu Sati, son of a fisherman, in my name that the Master calls him ».

« Even so, venerable sir » he replied, and he went to the Bhikkhu Sati and told him « The Master calls you, Friend Sati ».

« Even so, friend » he replied, and he went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he

had done so, the Blind One asked him
 « Sati, is it true, as it seems, that the following
 pernicious view has arisen in you? As I understand
 stand the True Idea taught by the Blind One,
 it is this same consciousness that travels and
 traverses [the round of rebirths]? »

« Exactly so, venerable sir. As I understand
 stand the True Idea taught by the Blind One,
 it is this same consciousness that travels and
 traverses [the round of rebirths]. »

« What is that consciousness, Sati? »

« Venerable sir, it is what speaks and
 feels and experiences here and there the
 ripening of good and evil actions. »

6. « Misguided man, whom have you ever
 heard me teach the True Idea to in that way?
 Misguided man, has not consciousness been
 stated by me in many discourses to be depend-
 ently-arisen, ^{since} without the condition [for it]
 consciousness has no actual being? But you,
 misguided man, have both misrepresented us
 by your wrong grasp [of it] and worked your
 undoing by storing up much demerit; for this
 will be long for your harm and suffering. »

7. Then the Blind One addressed the black-
 blues thus « Bhikkhus, how do you conceive
 this: has this blackblues ^{Sati}, son of a fisherman,
 kindled [himself] even a spark [of under-
 standing] in this True Idea and Discipline? »

« Why should he, venerable sir? No, venu-
 able sir. »

435

When this was said, the bhikkhu Sati, son of a fisherman, sat silent, dismayed, with shoulders drooping and head down, glancing and with nothing to say, without response.

Then knowing & that, the Blessed One told him a misguided man, you will be described by this your own pernicious view. I shall question the bhikkhus on this matter.

Q. Then the Blessed One addressed the bhikkus thus a Bhikkhus, do you know the True Idea taught by me as this bhikkhu Sati, son of a fisherman, does when he both misrepresents us by his wrong grasp (of it) and works his own undoing by storing up much demerit? »

« No, venerable sir; for consciousness has been stated by the Blessed One in many discourses to be dependently arisen, since without the condition [for it] consciousness has no actual being ».

« Good, bhikkhus, good that you know the True Idea taught by me thus; for consciousness has been stated by me in many discourses to be dependently arisen, since without the condition [for it] consciousness has no ^{possible} actual being. But this misguided man Sati, son of a fisherman, both misrepresents us by his wrong grasp [of it] and works his own undoing by storing up much demerit; for this will belong to his harm and suffering. »

II. A DESCRIPTION OF CONSCIOUSNESS

497
 9. a Bhikkhus, consciousness is calculable only by the condition dependent on which it arises: when consciousness arises dependent on eye and forms, it is calculable only as eye consciousness; when consciousness arises dependent on ear and sounds, it is calculable only as ear consciousness; when consciousness arises dependent on nose and odours, it is calculable only as nose consciousness; when consciousness arises dependent on tongue and flavours it is calculable only as tongue consciousness, when consciousness arises dependent on body and tangibles, it is calculable only as body consciousness, when consciousness arises dependent on mind and ideas it is calculable only as mind consciousness.

Just as fire is calculable only by the condition dependent on which it arises: when fire burns dependent on logs it is calculable only as log fire, when fire burns dependent on faggots, it is calculable only as faggot fire, when fire burns dependent on grass it is calculable only as grass fire, when fire burns dependent on cow dung it is calculable only as cow dung fire, when fire burns dependent on chaff it is calculable only as chaff fire, when fire burns dependent on rubbish, it is calculable only as rubbish fire — so too, consciousness is calculable only by the condition dependent on which it arises: when consciousness arises dependent on eye and forms it is calculable only as eye

consciousness, when . . . 260 conscious ness arises dependent on mind and ideas it is calculable only as mind consciousness.

II. B. GENERAL QUESTIONNAIRE ON BEING

10. a 'This[entity] is': bhikkhus, is this how you see? — «Yes, venerable sir». — «Its coming to positive being is due to its nutriment': bhikkhus, is this how you see? — «Yes, venerable sir». — «'Whatever [the entity, that] is, with the cessation of its nutriment it becomes inseparable from the idea of cessation': bhikkhus, is this how you see? — «Yes, venerable sir».
11. «'This[entity] is, is not?': bhikkhus, does uncertainty arise in one who doubts in that way? — «Yes, venerable sir». — «Is its coming to positive being due to its nutriment, or is it not?': bhikkhus, does uncertainty arise in one who doubts in that way? — «Yes, venerable sir». — «'Whatever [the entity, that] is, with the cessation of its nutriment does it become inseparable from the idea of change, or does it not?': bhikkhus, does uncertainty arise in one who doubts in that way? — «Yes, venerable sir».
12. «This[entity] is': bhikkhus, is uncertainty abandoned in one who sees it ^{thus} as it actually is with right understanding? — «Yes, venerable

^{a thing}
ainly abandoned in one who sees [that] or, it actually
is with right understanding?» — «Yes, venerable
sir». — «⁵ Its ^{coming to} positive being is due to its nu-
triment'; thickness, is uncertainty abandoned
in one who sees ^{it thus} [that] as it actually is with
right understanding?» — «Yes, venerable
sir». — «Whatever [the entity, that] is, with the
cessation of its nutrient it [becomes] insepa-
rable from the idea of cessation': thickness, is
uncertainty abandoned in one who sees ^{it thus} [that]
as it actually is with right understanding?»
— «Yes, venerable sir».

13. «'This [entity,] is'; thickness, are you
such that you are free from uncertainty here?^{comes}»
— «Yes, venerable sir». — «⁶ Its positive being
is due to its nutrient'; thickness, are you
such that you are free from uncertainty
here?» — «Yes, venerable sir». — «Whatever
[the entity, that] is, with the cessation of its nu-
trient it [becomes] inseparable from the
idea of cessation': thickness, are you
such that you are free from uncertainty
here?» — «Yes, venerable sir».

14. «⁷ This [entity,] is': thickness, is [that] well
viewed^{as} it actually is with right understanding?»
— «Yes, venerable sir». — «⁸ Its ^{coming to} positive
being is due to its nutrient'; thickness,
is [that] well viewed^{as} it actually is with
right understanding?» — «Yes, venerable
sir». — «Whatever [the entity, that] is, with

500

the cessation of its nutriment it becomes dispensable from the idea of cessation'; Bhikkhus, in that you ~~well~~^{viewed thus} as it actually is with right understanding?» — «Yes, venerable sir».

15. «Bhikkhus, purified and bright as this view is, were you to adhere to it, cherish it, treasure it, and call it your own, would you then understand the True Idea that has been taught as similar to a raft, being for the purpose of crossing over, not for the purpose of grasping?» — «No, venerable sir».— «Bhikkhus, purified and bright as this view is,²⁶¹ were you not to adhere to it, cherish it, treasure it, and call it your own, would you then understand the True Idea that has been taught as similar to a raft, being for the purpose of crossing over, not for the purpose of grasping?» — «Yes, venerable sir».

II C. NUTRIMENT = Conditions for Being

16. Bhikkhus, there are these four kinds of nutriment for the maintenance of creatures that are [already entities] ~~and~~^{and} for the assistance of those seeking positive being. What are the four? They are physical food as nutrient appetitive gross or subtle, contact as the second, ~~passing~~^{passing, strong}, volition about [the state of] mind as the third, and consciousness as the fourth.

II-C. 2. Being & Nutriment > Dependent Existence

17. a Now these four kinds of nutriment have what as their source, have what as their origin, what brings them birth, what brings them ~~being~~. These four kinds of nutriment have craving as their source, have craving as their origin, craving ~~being~~, therefore, provides ~~being~~ them. It being makes them full, craving ~~being~~ from it being makes them full.

18. a And this craving has what as its source...? Craving has feeling as its source,...

" And this feeling has what as its source, ...? Feeling has contact as its source, ...

" And this contact has what as its source, ...? Contact has the six fold base as its source, ...

" And this six fold base has what as its source, ...? The six fold base has name-and-form as its source, ...

" And this name-and-form has what as its source, ...? Name-and-form has consciousness as its source, ...

" And this consciousness has what as its source, ...? Consciousness has determinations as its source, ...

" And these determinations have what as their source, have what as their origin, what brings them birth, what brings them ~~being~~. Determinations have ignorance as their source, have ignorance as their origin, ignorance ~~being~~, therefore birth, ignorance ~~being~~ then provides them with their being.

II D. 1. a Dependent Arising

19. a So, children, it is with ignorance as condition that determination [base ~~is~~ positive-being]; with determination as condition, consciousness; with consciousness as condition, name-and-form; with name-and-form as condition, the six-fold base; with the six-fold base as condition, contact; with contact as condition, feeling; with feeling as condition, craving; with craving as condition, clinging; with clinging as condition, being; with being as condition, birth; it is with birth as condition that ageing and death [base ~~is~~ positive-being], and (also) sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair; that is how there is an origin to this whole aggregate-mass of suffering.

II D. 1. b

20. a 'With birth as condition, ageing and death': so it was said. Now is it that [concret], or not, or how [does it appear] in this case? — «With birth as condition, ageing and death, venerable sir; so [it appears] to us in this case; with birth as condition ageing and death».

a 'With being as condition, birth': so it was said... ²⁶²

«'With clinging as condition, being'...»

50

“With craving as condition, clinging”: ...
 “With feeling as condition, craving”: ...
 “With contact as condition, feeling”: ...
 “With the six-fold base as condition, contact”: ...
 “With name-and-form as condition, the six-fold base”: ...
 “With consciousness as condition, name-and-form”: ...
 “With determinations as condition, consciousness”: ...
 “With ignorance as condition, determination”: so it was said. Now is it that [is correct], or not, or how [does it appear] in this case? — & With ignorance as condition, determinations, venerable sir; so [it appears] to us in this case: with ignorance as condition determinations.

II D. 1. c.-d.

24 a Good, bhikkhus. So you say thus, and I also say ^{that} thus: When this is, that is; ²⁶³ with the arising of this, that arises; that is to say: It is with ignorance as condition ~~that~~ determinations [does the positive being]; with determinations as condition consciousness; with consciousness as condition, name-and-form; with name-and-form as condition, the six-fold base; with the six-fold base as condition, contact; with contact as condition, feeling; with feeling as condition, craving; with craving as condition, clinging; with clinging as

condition, being; with being as condition, birth; it is with birth as condition that ageing and death have positive being, and (also) sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair; that is how there is an origin to this whole aggregate-man of suffering.

22 II. D. 2.0

Dependent Cessation

"With the remainderless fading and ceasing of ignorance only [there is] cessation of determinations; with cessation of determinations, cessation of consciousness; with cessation of consciousness, cessation of name-and-form; with cessation of name-and-form, cessation of the sixfold base; with cessation of the sixfold base, cessation of contact; with cessation of contact, cessation of feeling; with cessation of feeling, cessation of craving; with cessation of craving, cessation of clinging; with cessation of clinging, cessation of being; with cessation of being, cessation of birth; with cessation of birth, ageing and death cease, and (also) sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair; that is how there is a cessation to this whole aggregate-man of suffering.

II. D. 2.6

23. "With cessation of birth, cessation of ageing and death": so it was said. Now is that ^{in this case} [correct], or not, or how [does it appear]?"

— «With cessation of birth, cessation of ageing and death, venerable sir; so [it appears] to us in this case: with cessation of birth, cessation of ageing and death».

«'With cessation of being, cessation of birth': ...

«'With cessation of clinging, cessation of being': ...

«'With cessation of craving, cessation of clinging': ...

«'With cessation of feeling, cessation of craving': ...

«'With cessation of contact, cessation of feeling': ... ²⁶⁴

«'With cessation of the six-fold base, cessation of contact': ...

«'With cessation of name-and-form, cessation of the six-fold base': ...

«'With cessation of consciousness, cessation of name-and-form': ...

«'With cessation of determinations, cessation of consciousness': ...

«'With cessation of ignorance, cessation of determinations': so it was said. Now is ~~it~~ that ~~is~~ [correct], or not, or how [does it appear] in this case?»

— «With cessation of ignorance, cessation of determinations, venerable sir; so [it appears] to us in this case: with cessation of ignorance, cessation of determinations.»

I.D. 2 cont.

24. «Good, bhikkhus. So you say thus, and I also say thus: [When this is not that is not]; with the cessation of this; ~~(that ceases)~~, that is to say:

with cessation of ignorance [otherwise] cessation of determinations; with cessation of determinations, cessation of consciousness; with cessation of consciousness, cessation of name-and-form; with cessation of name-and-form, cessation of the six-fold base; with cessation of the six-fold base, cessation of contact; with cessation of contact, cessation of feeling; with cessation of feeling, cessation of craving; with cessation of craving, cessation of clinging; with cessation of clinging, cessation of being; with cessation of being, cessation of birth; with cessation of birth, ageing and death cease, and also sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair; that is how there is a cessation to this whole aggregate-man of suffering.

THE "Have you seen for yourself?"

25. a Bhikkhus, knowing and seeing in
265 this way, would you run back to the past thus: "Were we in ~~the~~ past ^{extent} ~~on the~~ path?"
Were we not in the ^{extent} ~~past~~? What were we in the ^{extent} ~~past~~? How were we in the past ^{extent}? Having been what, what were we in the ^{extent} ~~past~~?'" — & No, venerable sir. — "knowing and seeing this way, would you run forward to the future thus: "Shall we be in the ^{extent} ~~future~~? Shall we not be in the future?"

507

What shall we be in the future? How shall we be in the future? Having been what, what shall we be in the future?" — « No, venerable sir ». — « Knowing and seeing ~~this~~ in this way, would you be doubtful about ~~yourself~~ in the present in yourselves now thus: 'Am I? Am I not? What am I? How am I? Whence will this creature have come? Whether ^{will} it be borned?' » — « No, venerable sir ».

26. « Blitharus, knowing and seeing ~~this~~ in this way, would you speak thus: 'The Teacher is respected by us: we speak [as we do] out of respect for the Teacher' ? » — « No, venerable sir ». — « Knowing and seeing in this way, would you speak thus: 'A monk told us, and [other] monks [did too]; but we do not speak thus' ? » — « No, venerable sir ». — « Knowing and seeing ⁱⁿ ~~this~~, would you ~~acknowledge~~ acknowledge another teacher? » — « No, venerable sir ». — « Knowing and seeing ⁱⁿ ~~this~~, would you return to the duties, cleanings and ceremonial of ordinary monks and divines as having a core [of truth]? » — « No, venerable sir ». — « Do you speak only of what you have yourselves known, seen and experienced? » — « Yes, venerable sir ».

27. " a good, blitharus. So you have been guided by me with a true idea ~~with yourself~~
~~and myself, with effect~~ with me and now, not delayed, which inviting inspection, is inward-leading, and directly experienceable by the wise. For it was with reference to this that

it has, said 'Bhikkhus, this time I do [has effect] visible here and now, ^{so far as I have} not delayed, it invites inspection, is onward-leading, and is directly experienceable by the wise'.

508

I. F. I Conception or Common Knowledge

28. Bhikkhus, precipitation $\frac{2}{3}$ of an embryo [in a womb] comes about with the concurrence of three [things]: Here there is concurrence of the mother and the father, but it is not the mother's season, and no creature to be reborn ^{is ready} has appeared, in which case there is ~~not~~ no precipitation in the womb. Here there is concurrence of the mother and the father, and it is the mother's season, but no creature to be reborn ^{is ready} has appeared, in which case there is no precipitation in the womb. But owing to the fact that there is concurrence of the mother and the father, and it is the mother's season, and a creature to be reborn ^{is ready} has appeared, there thus comes about precipitation $\frac{2}{3}$ of an embryo [in a womb] with the concurrence of three [things].
29. The mother then carries the embryo in the womb for nine or ten months, with much anxiety as a great ~~responsibility~~ burden. Then at the end of nine or ten months the mother gives birth with much anxiety as a great burden. Then when it is born, she nourishes it with her own blood; for the mother's breast-milk is called blood in the Noble Ones' Discipline.

30. ~~(the child grows and his faculties, ~~such~~)~~ Necessitated by his growth and necessitated by the maturity of his faculties, ~~such~~

he plays with childish games as a toy plough, 'tipcat', turning somersaults, a toy windmill, a toy measure, a toy cart, a toy bow and arrow.

II F. 2. a Maturity

~~necessitated by his growth and necessitated by the maturing of his faculties~~

31. And ~~as~~ the boy grows and his faculties mature, when the ~~body~~ ^{begins} furnished and invested with the five cords of sensual desire, he enjoys them, namely; forms cognizable by the eye that are ~~sight~~ ^{visible}, desired, agreeable, and likable, ~~and~~ ^{connected} associated comparable with sensual desire, and provocative of lust; sounds cognizable by the ear... Odours cognizable by the nose... Flavours cognizable by the tongue... Tangible cognizable ^{through} by the body... provocative of lust.

II F. 2. b The Ordinary Man & Dignified One with

82. On seeing a form with the eye, he beats after it, if it is ~~a~~ likable ~~one~~; he has ill will towards it, if it is ~~an~~ unlikable ~~one~~; he dwells with mindfulness of ~~the~~ body unstablished and ~~with~~ ^{single-hearted} confidence ^{without} ~~any~~ ~~understanding~~ how limited wills and ~~they~~ ^{next} do not understand ~~them~~ as they actually are, the deliverance of will and deliverance of understanding wherein those evil unprofitable ideas cease without remainder. Being engaged ^{as before} in favoring and opposing, when whatever he feels ~~is~~ ^{to be} agreeable, whether pleasant or painful or neither-painful-nor-pleasant,

510

~~he delights in that feeling, affirms it and accepts it.~~ When he ~~does~~ ^{has} those feelings is clinging. With his clinging as condition, being; with being as condition, birth; with birth as condition ageing and death have positive being, and also sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair. That is how there is an origin to this whole aggregate-mean of suffering.

a On hearing a sound with the ear, ...

a On smelling an odour with the nose, ...

a On tasting a flavor with the tongue, ...

a On touching a tangible with the body, ...

a On recognizing an idea with the mind, ... ²⁷

aggregate-mean of suffering.

II. F. 3, a. The Perfect One appears

33.-4. a Here, thickness, a Perfect one appears in the world, accomplished and fully enlightened ... [except Sutta 27, §§ 13-21] ... ²⁸ he purifies his cognizance from uncertainty.

35-38. Having abandoned these five hindrances, defilements of the will that weaken understanding, quite exalted from sensual desire, secluded from imperitable ideas, he enters upon and abides in the first illumination ... [as in Sutta 4, §§ 23-26] ... second illumination ... third illumination ... fourth illumination. ... the

58
purity of whose mindfulness is due to overlooking
(equanimity).

II. E. 3. 4. The Descriptions of the Dependent Origination.

39. On seeing a form with the eye, he does not lust after it, if it is likeable, ~~or~~, he has no ill will towards it, if it is ~~an~~ ^{ugly} ~~unlikeable~~. ~~or~~. He dwells with mindfulness of body established and ~~measurable~~ ^{measurements being compared with} the understandings, as they actually are, the deliverance of will and deliverance of understanding wherein those evil unprofitable ideas cease without remainder. Having thus abandoned favouring and opposing, when he feels any feeling, whether pleasant or painful or neither-painful-nor-pleasant, he does not ~~allow~~ ^{it to remain standing} that feeling or affliction ~~to remain standing~~, ^{is passing away}. When he ~~is~~ ^{does not do that} delight ~~in~~ ⁱⁿ those feelings ceases. With cessation of his ~~being~~ ^{desires} cessation of clinging; with cessation of clinging, cessation of being; with cessation of being, cessation of birth; with cessation of birth ageing and death cease, and (also) sorrow and lamentation, pain, grief and despair; that is how there is a cessation to the whole aggregate-mass of suffering.

On hearing a sound with the ear, ...

On smelling an odour with the nose, ...

On tasting a flavour with the tongue, ...

On touching a tangible with the body, ...

On cognizing an idea with the mind, ... aggregate-mass of suffering.

III Conclusion

40. "Bhikkhus, remember this ^{Freedom due to} ~~action~~.
Craving, full ^{in itself} ~~in itself~~ of ~~Exhaustion of~~ ^{avastha} (death) is brief
so long as ~~Exhaustion of~~ ^{avastha} (death) is brief
 by me. In brief that the Bhikkhus ²⁷¹ it
so long as But the Bhikkhu Sati, son of a
 fisherman, is caught up in Craving, ~~and~~
so long as Craving's trammel ^{avastha}.

So the blind One said. The Bhikkhus
 were satisfied, and they ~~up & come~~ ^{up & come} in his
 words.

Note 39 deals with the absolute contingency of ~~consciousness~~
ontological nothing.
 § 10. is general in purport and deals with the
 absolute conditional or contingency of ~~existing~~ ^{being} being.
 The use of the derivative of this is the key here e.g.
 § 15. for the simile of the Raft see Sutta 22, § 13
 § 16. 'Nutriment' or 'element' (dhara) is a synonym
 for 'condition' (paccaya), though a difference is
 ignored on them in the Abhidhamma (the 24 conditions).
 'positive-being' (sambhava) is reflected in the 'have
 positive-being' (sambhavati) of § 19, etc.

§ 28 The description of conception is repeated in
 Sutta 93, § 20 (M. ii, 157) where it rather seems to
 be a description current among Brahmins, to.
 The context then shows the meaning of the word
granthita ('creature to be reborn') quite clearly and
 makes the interpretation of a spirit § 'said to me,
 side of re-conception' completely wrong.

§ 10 For Bhikshu Jaim see S. ii, 48

53
Majjhima Nikaya 39. Maha-Assapura Sutta (1,4,9)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Anga Country. There is a town of the Angas' called Assapura. There the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus: « Bhikkhus ». — « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Monks, Monks, bhikkhus, that is how people perceive you. And when you are asked 'What are you?', you claim that you are Monks. Since that is how you are reputed and how you claim, you should train thus: « We shall undertake to live up to such ideas as constitute the Monk and constitute the Divine, so that our reputations may be true and our claims ~~may~~ represent what actually is, and so that the acts of those whose robes, alms food, resting-place, and requisite of medicine as cure for the sick we use will ~~bring them~~ furnish them great fruit and benefit in ~~the~~, and so that our going forth shall be not in vain but fruitful and fertile ».

3. « What ideas constitute the Monk and constitute the Divine? you should train thus « We shall be possessed of conscience and shame ». // Now, bhikkhus, it may be that you [consider] thus « We are possessed of conscience

and shame: ~~with that~~ much it is enough, ^{with} that much it is done, and the Monk's goal has been reached; there is nothing more for us to do' & and that you are content with that much. Bhikkhus, I tell you, I declare to you: You who seek the Monk's status, do not ~~ever~~^{ever fall short of} the Monk's goal; ~~for~~ there is ~~more~~ more to be done.

4. "What more is to be done? You should train thus 'Our ²⁷² bodily conduct will be frank and open, not inconsistent but restrained, and we shall not land our selves and disparage others on account of that purified bodily conduct' // Now, bhikkhus, it may be that you [consider] thus 'We are possessed of ^{scale} of conscience and shame, and of purified ⁱⁿ bodily conduct: with that much it is enough, with that much it is done, ~~and~~ the Monk's goal has been reached, and there is nothing more for us to do', and that you are content with that much. Bhikkhus, I tell you, I declare to you: You who seek the Monk's status, do not ~~ever~~^{ever fall short of} the Monk's goal; for there is more to be done.

5. "What more is to be done? You ... ~~material~~ conduct ... more to be done.

6. "What more is to be done? You ... ~~material~~ conduct ... // ^{Now, bhikkhus,} more to be done.

7. "What more is to be done? You ... live-
lihood ... ²⁷³ ~~more to be done~~.
(Now, bhikkhus ... more to be done.)

11.49

8

"What more is to be done? You should train thus 'We shall keep the doors of the faculties guarded. On seeing a form with the eye, we shall not apprehend signs and features through which, if we leave the eye door unguarded, evil imposable ideas of covetousness and grief might intrude; we shall practise the way of restraint, we shall guard the eye faculty, undertake restraint of the eye faculty. On hearing a sound with the ear...

On smelling an odour with the ~~nose~~ ... On tasting a flavour with the tongue ... On touching a tangible with the body ... On cognizing an idea with the mind ... undertake restraint of the mind faculty

Now, Bhikkhus, it may be that you consider thus 'We are possessed of conscience and shame, and we are purified in bodily conduct, and we are purified in verbal conduct, and we are purified in mental conduct, and we are guarded in ~~the~~ ~~three~~ doors of our faculties: with that much it is enough, with that much it is done, the Monk's goal has been reached, and there is nothing more for us to do', and that you rest content with that much. Bhikkhus, I tell you, I declare to you: You who seek the Monk's status, do not ~~fall short of~~ ~~reach the~~ the Monk's goal; for there is more to be done.

9. "What more is to be done? You should train thus 'We shall know the right amount in eating. Reflecting reasoningly, we shall nourish ourselves with nutrient neither for amusement nor for vanity (of intoxication) nor for

smartening nor for embellishment, but only for the endurance and continuance of this body, for the ending of discomfort, and for cherishing the life Divine, I consider) & thus I shall, ~~freeing~~ old feelings and ~~arose~~ ~~so are~~ without arousing new feelings, and I shall be healthy and ~~blameless~~ and shall live in comfort healthy and blameless".

"Now children, it may be that you [consider] thus 'We are possessed of conscience and shame, and we are purified in bodily conduct, and we are purified in verbal conduct, and we are purified in mental conduct, and we are guarded in the doors of our faculties and we know the [right] amount in eating; with that much it is enough...'. Do then no more to be done.

10. "What more is to be done? You should train thus 'We shall be devoted to wakefulness. By day we shall purify cognizance while walking and sitting. We shall purify cognizance of ideas pro obstructive ideas. In the first watch of the night while walking and sitting we shall purify cognizance of obstructive ideas. In the middle watch of the night we shall lie down on the right side in the lion's sleeping pose with one foot overlapping the other, mind full and fully aware, after noting ~~that~~ in our cognizance the time for ~~rising~~ rising. After rising, in the third watch of the night while walking and sitting we shall

517
purity cognizance of ~~the~~ obstructive ideas

Now, bikkhus it may be that you [consider] thus 'We are possessed of conscience and shame, ... and we know the right amount in eating, and we are devoted to wakefulness; with that much it is enough ... ; for there is more to be done.'

11. « What more is to be done? You should train thus 'We shall be possessed of mindfulness and full-awareness. We shall act in full-awareness when moving forward and moving backward; we shall act in full-awareness when looking towards and looking away; we shall act in full-awareness when flexing and extending; we shall act in full-awareness when wearing the patched cloak, bowl and robes; we shall act in full-awareness when eating, drinking, chewing and tasting; we shall act in full-awareness when evacuating the bowels and making water; we shall act in full-awareness when walking, standing, sitting, falling asleep, waking up, talking and keeping silent'.

Now, bikkhus, it may be that you [consider] thus 'We are possessed of conscience and shame, ... and we are devoted to wakefulness, and we are possessed of mindfulness and full-awareness; with that much it is enough ... ; for there is more to be done.'

12. « What more is to be done? Now, bikkhus, a bikkhu resorts to a secluded resting place: to the forest, the root of a tree, a rock, a hill,

cleft, a mountain cave, a charnel ground, a jungle-thicket, an open space, or a heap of straw.

13. On return from his alms round after his meal, he sits down; having folded his legs cross-wise, set his body erect, established mind-fulness in front of him. Abandoning covetousness ~~and the world~~, he abides with his cognition free from covetousness, he purifies his cognition of covetousness. Abandoning ill will and hatred, he abides with his cognition free from ill will, with gatly for all creatures breathing cutties, ³⁷⁵ he purifies his cognition of ill will and hatred. Abandoning ~~lethargy~~ ^{lessness} and drowsiness, he abides free from ~~lethargy~~ ^{lessness} and drowsiness, perceptual of light and mindful and fully-aware, he purifies his cognition of ~~lethargy~~ ^{lessness} and drowsiness. Abandoning agitation and worry, he abides with cognition unagitated with cognition calmed in himself, he purifies cognition of agitation and worry. Abandoning uncertainty, he abides with uncertainty crossed over, undoubting about profitable ideas, he purifies cognition of uncertainty.

14. Bhikkhus, suppose a man borrowed a loan and undertake works, and the works succeeded, so that he repaid ^{all} the money of the old loan and there remained over some extra for his wife and children, then, it is

513

considering that, & he was glad on that account and found joy on that account; or suppose a man was afflicted, suffering and greatly ill and his food did not sustain him and his body had no strength, but later he recovered from the affliction and his food sustained him and his body regained strength, then & on considering that, he was glad on that account and found joy on that account; or suppose a man were imprisoned in a prison-house, but later he was ~~freed from~~
~~released from the imprisonment with~~ safe and ~~sound~~ independent ~~without any loss to~~ his property, sufficing
~~long~~ then & on considering that, & he was glad on that account and found joy on that account; or suppose a man were a slave, not dependent on himself, but dependent on others, and unable to go where he wanted, but later on he was released from that slavery, self-dependent, independent of others, a freed man ~~too~~ able to go where he wanted, and then & on considering that,
276 he was glad on that account and found joy on that account; or suppose a man with property and goods entered in a desert, ~~road across~~ but later on he crossed over the desert safe and sound without loss to his property, then & on considering that, & he was glad on that account and found joy on that account; — so too, blickhees, ~~a blickhee~~ when these five hindrances are abandoned in himself, a blickhee sees them as a debt, a disease, a prison-house, ~~an imprisonment~~, and a road across a desert; and when these five hindrances are abandoned ~~and~~ ~~abandoned~~

in himself, he sees that as unindebtedness,
detached healthiness, release from prison,
freedom from slavery, and a land of safety.

15. Having abandoned these five hindrances,
defilements of cognizance that weaken under-
standing, quite secluded from sensual desires,
secluded from unprofitable ideas he enters
upon and abides in the first illumination,
which is accompanied by thinking and pen-
itencing with happiness and pleasure born of
seclusion.

He makes happiness and pleasure
born of seclusion drench, steep, fill, and
extend throughout his whole body, so that
there is nothing of his whole body to which the
happiness and pleasure born of seclusion do
not extend. Just as a skilled bath-men
or bath maid apprentice keeps bath powder
in a metal basin, and, sprinkling it grad-
ually with water, kneads it up till the
moisture gets to his ball of bath powder, soles
it, and extends over it within and without
though it does not itself become liquid, so
too, a skilled maker makes happiness and
pleasure born of seclusion drench, steep,
fill, and extend throughout his ~~whole~~ body,
so that there is nothing of his whole body to
which the happiness and pleasure born of
seclusion do not extend.

16. Again, with the stilling of thinking
and pondering he enters upon and abides
in the second illumination, which has all-

521

confidence and singleness of ^{mind} will, without thinking and without pondering, with happiness and pleasure born of concentration.

He makes happiness and pleasure born of concentration drench, steep, fill, and extend throughout this body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which the happiness and pleasure born of concentration do not extend. Just as though there were a lake²⁷⁷ whose waters rolled up [from below], having no inflow from East, West, North, or South, nor yet replenished from time to time by ~~down~~ the skies with showers, then the cool fount of water welling up in the lake would make the cool water drench, steep, fill, and extend throughout the lake, and there would be nothing of the whole lake to which the cool water did not extend, so too, the blinkle makes happiness and pleasure born of concentration steep, drench, fill, and extend throughout, this body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which the happiness and pleasure born of concentration do not extend.

17. Again, with the fading as well of happiness he abides in onlooking (egregiority) and mindful and fully-aware, still feeling pleasure with the body, he enters upon and abides in the third illumination, on account of which the Noble Ones announce 'The less pleasant abiding who is an onlooker (with

equanimity) and is mindfull'.

He makes pleasure divested of happiness drench, steep, fill, and extend throughout this body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which the pleasure divested of happiness does not extend. Just as, in a lily pond or a white lotus pond or a red lotus pond some lilies or white lotuses or red lotuses are born under the water, grow under the water, do not stand up out of the water, flourish immersed under the water, and cool water drenches, steeps, fills, and extends throughout them, to their tips and to their roots, and there is nothing of the whole of these lilies, those white lotuses, those red lotuses, to which the cool water does not extend, so too, the bhikkhu makes pleasure divested of happiness drench, steep, fill, and extend throughout, this body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which pleasure divested of happiness does not extend.

Again, with the abandoning of ~~existing~~ pleasure and pain, and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief, he abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure, and the jowry of whose mindfulness is due to overlooking (equanimity).

He sits with pure bright cognizance extending over his body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which the pure

bright cognizance does not extend. Just as though a man were sitting clothed from head to foot in white cloth, and there was nothing ~~of~~¹⁷⁸ of his whole body to which the white cloth did not extend, so too, the thikkha sits with pure bright cognizance extending over this ~~whole~~ body, and there is nothing of his whole body to which the pure bright cognizance does not extend.

19. When this concentrated cognition is thus pure and bright, unblemished, rid of ~~defilements~~^{impurities}, and become malleable, wieldy, steady, and ¹, attained to imperturbability, he directs his inclines, ~~the~~ cognition to knowledge of recollection of past life. He recollects his manifold past life, ... [as in Sutta 4, § 27] Thus with ~~details~~^{in one} and particulars he recollects his manifold past life.

Just as though a man went from village to another village, and then he went from that village to another village, and then he went back again to his own village and he thought 'I went from my own village to that village, and then such was the way I stood, such the day I sat, such the way I spoke, such the way I was silent; and from that village I went on to that village, and then such was the way I stood, such the way I spoke, such the way I was silent, and from that village I came back again to ~~my~~^{his} own village'; so too, a bhikkhu, ^{recollecting} his manifold past life, ... thus with details and particulars he recollects his manifold past life.

20. When ~~the~~ concentrated cognizance is thus pure and bright, unblemished, rid of imperfection, and become malleable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperturbability, he directs, ~~this~~ cognizance he inclines, cognizance to ~~this~~ knowledge of the passing away and reappearance of creatures. With the divine eye, which is purified and surpasses the human, he sees creatures ^{as in Sutta 4, § 32} passing away and reappearing, ... ²⁷⁹ ~~there~~ ^{now} he understands how creatures pass on according to their actions.

524

Just as though there were two houses with doors and a man with good eyes standing between them in between ~~the~~ saw men entering the houses and coming out and going to and fro; so too, with the divine eye, ... he understands how creatures pass on according to their actions.

21. When ~~the~~ concentrated cognizance is thus pure and bright, unblemished, rid of imperfection, and become malleable, wieldy, steady, and attained to imperturbability, he directs, he inclines cognizance to the knowledge of the exhaustion of causes. He understands as it actually is, that 'this is suffering', ... [as in Sutta 4, § 31, substituting 'he understands' for 'I had direct knowledge'] ... There is no more of this to come'.

Just as if there were a lake in a mountain recess, clear, liquid and turbid, so that a man with good eyes, standing there on the bank, saw shells, gravel and

pebbles, and also shoals of fish swimming about and resting; so too, right think 'There is this lake, clear, limpid and turbid, and ~~so~~ there are these shells, gravel and pebbles, and also, these shoals of fish swimming about and resting'; so too, the bhikkhu understands, ^{who} it actually is, that 'This is suffering'... There is no more of this to come'.

22. Bhikkhus, it is one such as this ~~that~~^{who} is called a 'Monk', who is called a 'Divine', who is called '~~playful~~', who is called ~~clever~~^{wise} in ~~Knowledge~~, who is called 'Attained to Knowledge', who is called '~~wise~~' ^{in Knowledge}', who is called '~~Noble~~', who is called '~~Accomplished~~' called 'Accomplished'.
23. And how is a bhikkhu a 'Monk' (Samana)? He has quieted (samita) evil unprofitable ideas that ~~are~~ ^{are} deeply ~~rooted~~ ^{rooted} ~~revered~~^{revered} ~~being~~^{being}, bring misery, riven at ^{the} offering, and produce future birth, ageing and death. That is how a bhikkhu is a 'Monk'.
24. And how is a bhikkhu a 'Divine' (~~that~~^{who}) (Brahman)? He has divided himself (bhava) from evil unprofitable ideas ... ageing and death. That is how a bhikkhu is a 'Divine'.
25. And how is a bhikkhu '~~washed~~'? He has washed off evil unprofitable ideas ... ageing and death. That is how a ^{fully} ~~bhikkhu~~ is 'Washed'.
26. And how is ^{attained to} ~~washed~~ ^{to} ~~know~~ ^{to} ~~know~~ 'knowledge'? He has known evil unprofitable ideas, ... ageing and death ... That is how a bhikkhu 'Attained to knowledge'.

27 And how is a bhikkhu a Noble? (Sotthija)? He is a bhikkhu in (monk) His He has let the evil unprofitable ideas that defile, renew being, bring misery, ripen as pain, and give future birth, aging and death. That is how a bhikkhu is 'In the Stream'.

28 And how is a bhikkhu 'In the Stream' (Sotthija)? He has let the evil unprofitable ideas that defile, renew being, bring misery, ripen as pain, and give future birth, aging and death, stream away (nivarta) from him. That is how a bhikkhu is 'In the Stream'.

29 And how is a bhikkhu 'Noble' (arija)? evil unprofitable ideas that defile, renew being, bring misery, ripen as pain, and give future birth, aging and death, are far (araka) from him. That is how a bhikkhu is a 'Noble'.

30 And how is a bhikkhu 'Accomplished' (arahant)? evil unprofitable ideas that defile, renew being, bring misery, ripen as pain, and give future birth, aging and death, are far (araka) from him. That is how a bhikkhu is 'Accomplished'.

So that is what the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they de-lighted in his words.

Notes

§ 14

'mūla - money': see Sutta 96, § 5.

'acchādeti, chadeti' - to sustain (life)':
not in this sense in P.T.S. Dict.

'baddha - imprisoned': not in this sense in
P.T.S. Dict. see Sutta 19, § 6 (bandha).

'bandhana - imprisonment': not in this
sense in P.T.S. Dict. cf. Sutta 129, § 10
(transl. p. 10).

528

The following notes were taken
from a copy of the "Cyclopedia of
American Birds" by G. R. D. and
A. H. Howell, published by the
American Museum of Natural History,
New York, 1928.

~~✓~~ Majjhima Nikaya 40 Cula Assapura Sutta (1, 4, 10)

520

1. ~~28~~ Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living in the Angan Country. There is a town of the Angans called Assapura. There the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus a bhikkhus — a venerable sir, they ~~said~~ replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. «Monks, Monks' bhikkhus, that is how people perceive you. And when you are asked 'What are you?', you claim that you are Monks. Since that is how you are reputed and how you claim, you should train thus. ~~We shall try to practice the way of Monkhood proper to~~ ~~and live up to~~ ~~Monks as constituting the Monk, and constitute the Dhamma,~~ so that our reputations and our claims ~~may~~ represent what actually is, and so that the acts of those whose robes, alms food, resting place, and requisite of medicine as cure for the sick we use will furnish them great fruit and benefit in it, and so that our going forth shall not be in vain but fruitful and fertile».

3. How does a bhikkhu practise the way ~~that is proper to the Monk?~~ For so long as a ~~covert~~ ^{who is coveting} bhikkhu ~~has not abandoned covetousness,~~ ~~is a bhikkhu with cognizance of ill will has not abandoned ill will, also a bhikkhu is angry~~ ~~bhikkhu has not abandoned anger, also is~~ ~~inimical bhikkhu has not abandoned ~~enmity~~ revenge~~

who is contentious ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned contentious, who is domineering ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned domineering who is envious ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned envy, who is avaricious ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned avarice, who is deceitful ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned deceit, who is fraudulent ~~thikkha~~ has not abandoned fraud, who is ~~thikkha~~ ~~of~~ civil wishes has not abandoned evil wishes, ~~thikkha~~ ~~of~~ wrong view has not abandoned wrong view, so long he does not practice the way proper to the Monk, I say, because of his failure to abandon these stains for the Monk, these faults for the Monk, these drugs for the Monk, which are grounds for rebirth in] a state of depression and [where ripening in] experienceable in ~~the~~ an unhappy destination // Suppose ~~the~~

4. ~~keep~~ ~~up~~ ~~as~~ called ~~a~~ a weapon such as is called a metta, well whetted on both edges, were enclosed and encased in a patchwork sheath, I say that such a thikkha's going forth is comparable to that.

5. I do not say that the Monk's status comes about ~~in~~ in a patchwork-clot ~~wear~~ ^{among} ~~wear~~ ~~about~~ the mere wearing of the patchwork [cloak] of I do not say that the state ~~is~~ a [cloak] of Nor ⁱⁿ ~~in~~ ~~the state~~ a naked Ascetic ~~was~~ about through mere nakedness, nor ⁱⁿ ~~in~~ ~~the life~~ of dust and dirt through mere dust and dirt, nor ~~that~~ ~~was~~ ~~washed~~ ~~in~~ water through mere washing in water, nor ⁱⁿ ~~in~~ ~~the root~~ dwelling through mere dwelling at the root of a tree, nor ⁱⁿ ~~in~~ dwelling in the open through mere dwelling in the open, nor ~~the~~

531

~~in states & a Practiser of Continuous Standing through~~
~~there continuous standing, now in the status of~~
~~a ^{a taken of body} ^{take food} ^{the body}~~
~~the Guru, at Stated Intervals through mere eating~~
~~X at stated intervals, nor the status of an Illustr-~~
~~rator of incantations, though more illustrative of~~
~~incantations, nor the status of Matted-Hair though~~
~~were wearing of the hair matted comes about in~~
~~or a Matted-Hair Ascetic though the were wearing~~
~~of the hair matted.~~

6. Bhikkhus, if by the mere wearing of the patchwork cloak a Patchwork-cloak Wearer who was covetous abandoned covetousness, also Patchwork had cognizance of ill will abandoned ill will, ... who had wrong view abandoned wrong view, then his friends and companions, his relatives and kins, would make him a patchwork-cloak Wearer as soon as he was born and have him undertake the Patchwork-cloak Wearing thus 'Come, my dear, blest you, and be a Patch-work-cloak Wearer, so that, as a Patchwork-cloak Wearer, when you covetous you will abandon covetousness, when you have cognizance of ill will you will abandon ill will, ... when you have wrong view you will abandon wrong view'. But I see here a Patchwork-cloak Wearer who is covetous, who has cognizance of ill will, ... who has wrong view; and ~~seen that~~ is why I do not say that the Monk's status comes about in a Patchwork-Cloak Wearer through the mere wearing of the Patchwork cloak.

7. It though were naked non a Naked Ascetic who was covetous abandoned covetousness ... It though mere dust and dirt.

If through mere washing in water...
 If through mere dwelling at the root of a tree...
 If through mere dwelling in the open...
 If through mere continuous standing...
 If through mere taking food at stated intervals...
 If through mere illustrating of incantations...
 If through mere wearing of matted hair...²⁷³
 Through the mere wearing of matted hair.

P. How does a ~~black~~ black practitioner ~~teach~~ way proper
 to the Monk? When any covetous ~~black~~ ~~black~~ has abandoned
 all covetousness, ~~any~~ who had cognizance of ill will
 has abandoned ill will, who was angry has abandoned
 anger, who was inimical has abandoned enmity,
 envying, who was contemptuous has abandoned domineering. Who
 who was envious has abandoned envy, who was avaricious
 has abandoned avarice, who has deceitful has
 abandoned deceit, who was fraudulent has abandoned
 fraud, who had evil wishes has abandoned
 evil wishes, who had wrong view has abandoned
 wrong view, then he practices the way proper to the ~~Monk~~,
 Monk, I say, because ~~of~~ his abandoning these ~~stains~~
 stains for the Monk, these faults for the Monk, these ~~stains~~
 stains for the Monk, which are grounds for [rebirth in]
 a state of deprivation and [whose ripening is] exper-
 ienceable in an unhappy destination. ~~Reappearance~~

D. He sees himself purified of all these evil
 unprofitable ideas, he sees himself liberated from
 them. When he does that, gladness ^{a born} ~~springs~~ up
 in him. When he is glad, happiness is born in him.
 When he is happy in mind, his body, his body be-

comes tranquillized. When his body is tranquil, he feels pleasure. When he feels pleasure, his cognizance becomes concentrated.

9. He abides extending over one quarter with ~~cognizance~~ cognition endowed with lovingkindness, likewise the second quarter, ~~the~~ the third quarter, and the fourth quarter; so above, below, and around; the abides extending over the entire world everywhere and equally with cognition endowed with lovingkindness, abundant, exalted, measureless, free from hostility and affliction.
10. He abides extending over one quarter with cognition endowed with compassion, ...
11. He abides extending over one quarter with cognition endowed with gladness ...
12. He abides extending over one quarter with cognition endowed with overlooking/egregiousness, ... free from hostility and affliction.
13. Suppose there were a pond with clear, agreeable cool water, transparent, with smooth banks and delightful, 284 and if a man came from the East, scorched and exhausted ^{not yet fully}, weary, parched and thirsty came by ^{2 seat}, or from the west, or from the North or from the South, or ~~from~~ from where you will, he would come to the pond and quenched his thirst for water and his hot-weather fever; so too, if anyone from a Warrior-Voh-Casti clan from the home-life

into homelessness, and after encountering the True Idea and Discipline proclaimed by a Perfect One, he develops loving-kindness, compassion, gladness, and unloosing (sagacity), and thereby gains quiet in himself, then he practices the way proper to the Monk, I say, because of the quiet in himself. And if anyone goes forth from a Divine-Caste clan... If anyone goes forth from a Burgher-Caste clan... If anyone goes forth from an Artisan-Caste clan... because of the quiet in himself.

14. And if any one goes forth from a Warrior-Knoble-Caste clan from the home-life into homelessness, and, by realization himself with direct-knowledge he here and now enters upon and abides in the deliverance of cognizance and deliverance of understanding that are cocker-free with exhaustion of cockers, then he is already a Monk, because of the exhaustion of cockers. And if any one goes forth from a Divine-Caste clan... If anyone goes forth from a Burgher-Caste clan... If anyone goes forth from an Artisan-Caste clan... because of the exhaustion of cockers.

That is what the Blessed One said. The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 41 - Sāleyyaka Sutta (1,5,1)

535

285

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was wandering in the Kosalan country with a large community of bhikkhus, and eventually he arrived at a Kosalan divine-caste village called Sāla.

2. The Divine-caste householders of Sāla heard of a monk called Gotama, it seems, a son of the Sakya who went forth from a Sakyan deer, has been wandering in the Kosalan country with a large community of bhikkhus and has come to Sāla. Now a good report of Master Gotama has been spread to this effect "that Blessed One is such since he is accomplished and fully enlightened perfect in true knowledge and conduct, sublime, knower of worlds, incomparable teacher of men to be tamed, teacher of gods and men, enlightened, blessed. He describes this world with its gods, its Maras, and its (Brahmā) Divinities, this generation with its rulers and divines, with its ~~princes by divine right~~ ^{by divine appointment}, and its men, which he has himself realized through direct knowledge. He teaches a True Idea that is good in the beginning, ^{good in} the middle and ^{good in} the end with ~~the highest~~ ^{the highest} meaning and ^{highest} utility, and he explains the Dhamma that is utterly perfect and pure". Now it is good to see such accomplished One".

3. Then the divine-caste householders of

Sāti went to the Blessed One; and some paid homage to the Blessed One and sat down at one side; some exchanged greetings with him, and, when the courteous and agreeable talk was finished, sat down at one side; some raised their head, palms together in salutation to the Blessed One and sat down at one side; some pronounced their name and clan in the Blessed One's presence and sat down at one side; some kept silence and sat down at one side.

4. When they were seated, they said to the Blessed One « Master Gotama, what is the reason, what is the condition, why some creatures here, on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear in states of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, even in hell; and what is the reason, what is the condition, why some creatures here on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world? »

5. « Householders, it is by reason of conduct not in accordance with the true Idea, by reason of unrighteous conduct, that some creatures here on the dissolution of the body, after death, reappear in states of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, even in hell. It is by reason of conduct in accordance with the true Idea, by reason of righteous conduct, that some creatures here on the dissolution of the body, after death,

reappear in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world ».

6. 286 « We do not understand the detailed mean-
ing of this utterance of Master Gotama's spoken in
brief without expounding the detailed meaning. It
would be good if Master Gotama taught us the
true Idea so that we might understand the detailed
meaning of Master Gotama's utterance spoken in
brief without expounding the detailed meaning »

« Then, householders, listen and attend care-
fully to what I shall say ».

« Yes, venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed
One said this:

7. « Householders, there are three kinds of
bodily conduct not in accordance with the True
Idea, unrighteous conduct. There are four kinds
of verbal conduct not in accordance with the
true Idea, unrighteous conduct. There are three
kinds of mental conduct not in accordance with
the True Idea, unrighteous conduct.

8. And how are these three kinds of bodily con-
duct not in accordance with the true Idea, unright-
eous conduct? Here someone is a killer of breathing
things: he is murderous, bloody-handed, given to
blows and violence, ^{and} merciless to all breathing things.
He is a talker of what is not given: he takes as a
thief another's chattels and property in the village
or in the forest. He is given over to misconduct
in sensual desires: he has intercourse with such
[women] as are protected by the mother, ^{father,} ^{son,}
and father, ^{and} mother, sister, relatives, or have a

husband, as entail a penalty, and also with those that are garlanded in token of betrothal. That is how there are three kinds of bodily conduct not in accordance with the true Idea, unrighteous conduct.

9. And now are there four kinds of verbal conduct not in accordance with the true Idea, unrighteous conduct? Here come one species falsehood: when summoned to a court or to a meeting, or to his relatives' presence, or to his guild, or to the royal family's presence, and questioned as a witness thus 'So, good man, tell what you know', then, not knowing, he says 'I know'; or knowing, he says 'I do not know', not seeing, he says 'I see', or seeing, he says 'I do not see'; in full awareness he speaks falsehood for his own ends or for another's ends, or for some trifling worldly end, & speaks maliciously: he is a repeater elsewhere of what is heard here for the purpose of causing division from those, or he is a repeater to those of what is heard elsewhere for the purpose of causing division from those, and he is thus a divider of the United, a creator of divisions, who enjoys discord, rejoices in discord, delights in discord, he is a speaker of words that create discord. He speaks harshly: he utters such words as are rough, hard, hurtful to others, censorious of others, bordering on anger ²⁸⁷ and un conducive to concentration. He is a gossiper: ~~as one who tells that~~, ^{with impudent}

that which is not, that which not good, that which is not the True Idea, that which is not the Discipline, and he speaks out of lesser speech, not worth recording, which is unreasoned, indefinite, and unconnected with good. That is how there are three kinds of verbal conduct not in accordance with the True Idea, unrighteous conduct.

10. And now are there three kinds of mental conduct not in accordance with the True Idea, unrighteous conduct? Here someone is covetous: he is a coveter of another's chattels and property, thus 'Oh, that what is another's were mine!'. Or he has cognizance of ill will, with the intention of a mind affected by hate thus 'May these creatures be slain and slaughtered, may they be cut off, perish, or be annihilated!'. Or he has wrong view, distorted vision, thus 'There is nothing given, nothing offered, nothing sacrificed, no fruit or ripening of good and bad actions, no this world, no other world, no mother, no father, no oppositional creatures, no good and virtuous monks and divines that have themselves realized by direct knowledge and declare this world and the other world'. That is how there are three kinds of mental conduct not in accordance with the True Idea, unrighteous conduct.

So, householders, it is by reason of conduct not in accordance with the True Idea, by reason of unrighteous conduct, that some creatures here, on

the dissolution of the body, after death, reappears in states of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, even in hell.

11. Householders, there are three kinds of bodily conduct in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct. There are four kinds of ~~bad~~ conduct in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct. There are three kinds of mental conduct conduct ~~not~~ in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct.

12. And how are there three kinds of bodily conduct in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct? Here someone, abandoning the killing of breathing things, becomes one who abstains from killing breathing things: with rod and weapon laid aside, gentle and kindly, he abides compassionate to all breathing ~~things~~ beings. Abandoning the taking of what is not given, he becomes one who abstains from taking what is not given: he does not take as a thief another's chattels and property in the village or in the forest. Abandoning misconduct in sensual desires, he becomes one who abstains from misconduct in sensual desires: he does not have intercourse with such women as are protected by the mother, father, [mother and father], brother, sister, relatives, as here a husband, as entail a penalty, and also those

that are gauded in token of betrothal. That
is how there are three kinds of bodily conduct in
accordance with the true Idea, righteous bodily
conduct.

13. ~~επειδή~~ And how are there four kinds of verbal
conduct in accordance with the true Idea, right-
eous conduct? Here someone, abandoning false
speech, abstains becomes one who abstains from
false speech: when summoned to a court or to a
meeting up to his relative's presence or to his
guild or to the royal family's presence, and
questioned as a witness thus 'So, good man,
tell what you know'; not knowing, he says 'I
do not know', ~~or~~ ~~not seeing, he says 'I do not see'~~,
~~or~~ ~~seeing~~ knowing, he says 'I know', not seeing,
he says 'I do not see', or seeing, he says 'I
see'; he does not in full awareness speak
falsehood for his own ends or for another's
ends or for some trifling worldly end. Aban-
doning malicious speech, he becomes one who
abstains from malicious speech: as one who is
neither a repeater elsewhere of what is heard
here for the purpose of causing division from
there, nor a repeater to there of what is heard
elsewhere for the purpose of causing division
from those, who is thus a reuniter of the di-
vided, a promoter of friendships, enjoying concord,
rejoicing in concord, delighting in concord, he
becomes a speaker of words that promote con-
cord. Abandoning harsh speech, he becomes one who
abstains from harsh speech: he becomes a speaker
of such words as are innocent, pleasing to the

ear and lovable, as go to the heart, are said, desired of many and dear to many. Abandoning gossip, he becomes one who abstains from gossip: as one who tells that which is reasonable, that which is good, that which is good, that which is the true Idea, that which is in the Discipline, he speaks in season ~~and~~ speech worth recording, which is measured, definite and connected with good. That is how there are four kinds of verbal conduct in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct.

Ks. And how are there three kinds of mental conduct in accordance with the true Idea, righteous conduct? Here someone is not covetous: he is not a coveter of another's chattels and property thus 'Oh, what is in another's wife?', He has no ~~any~~ cognizance of ill will, ~~with~~ with the intention of a mind unaffected by hate thus 'May these creatures be free from enmity, affliction and anxiety, may they live happily'. He has right view, undistorted vision, thus 'There is what is given and what is offered and what is sacrificed, and there is fruit and ripening of good and bad actions, and there is this world and the other world and mother and father and uperitorial creatures and good and virtuous monks and divines that have themselves realized by direct knowledge and declared this ^{three kinds of} other world'. That is how there are three kinds of mental

conduct in accordance with the True Idea,
righteous conduct.

So, householders, it is by reason of
conduct in accordance with the True Idea,
by reason of righteous conduct, that some peo-
ples here, on the dissolution of the body after
death, reappear in a happy destination, even
in the heavenly world.

15. ^{2.87} If a householder who observes conduct
in accordance with the True Idea, righteous
conduct, should wish 'Oh that on the dissolution
of the body, after death, I might reappear in the
company of the Warrior-knights of great property',
it is possible that on the dissolution of the
body, after death, he may do so. Why is
that? Because he observes conduct that is
in accordance with the true idea, righteous conduct.
16. If a householder who observes conduct
in accordance with the True Idea, righteous con-
duct, should wish 'Oh that on the dissolution
of the body, after death, I might reappear in
the company of the Divines of great property',
it is possible...
17. If ... in the company of householders
of great property...
18. If a householder who observes conduct
in accordance with the True Idea, righteous con-
duct, should wish 'Oh that on the dissolution of
the body, after death, I might reappear in the com-
pany of the ^{catergāma & jīva} Gods of the Four Kings',
it is possible that on the dissolution of the

dissolution of the body, after death, he may do so. Why is that? Because... righteous conduct.

19. ... of the gods of ~~the Thirty-three~~^{Tavatimsa},¹ of the Realm of the Thirty-Three...
20. ... of the Yama gods, the gods that have gone to Bliss...
21. ... of the Tusita, the Contented, gods...
22. ... of the Nihamanarati gods, the gods that delight in ~~others' creation~~ creating...
23. ... of the Paranimmitavasavatti gods, the gods that ~~delight in others~~ wield power over others' creations...
24. ... of the gods in the (Brahmā) Divinity; Radiance...
25. ... of the Abha, the Radiant, Gods...
26. ... of the Paritabha gods, the gods of limited radiance...
27. ... of the Appamānabha gods, the gods of measureless radiance...
28. ... of the Abhassara ~~deities~~,² the gods, the gods of streaming radiance...
29. ... of the Lubha, the Glorious, gods...
30. ... of the Paritta lubha gods, the gods of limited glory...
31. ... of the Appamānabha ^{su} gods, the gods of measureless glory...
32. ... of the Lubhakīra gods, the

- 9th
Dities of Repugnant Glory, ... very.
33. . . . of the Sheppala, ~~nesting~~ the ~~the~~
~~opposed~~ fruitful, ~~deities~~ gods...
34. . . . of the 4 vital ^{9th} Deities, the ~~2~~ gods
Bathed in their own prosperity,
35. . . . of the Atappa, the Ilustrous,
Deities gods...
36. . . . of the Sudassa, the Fair-to-
see, ~~deities~~ gods...
37. . . . of the Sudassi, the Fair-seeing,
Deities gods...
38. . . . of the Akamitha ^{9th} Deities, the ~~Deities~~
~~whose~~ Junior to none...
39. . . . of the ^{9th} Deities of the base consisting
of the impermanence of space...
40. . . . of the ^{9th} Deities of the base consisting
of the impermanence Consciousness...
41. . . . of the ^{9th} Deities of the base consisting
of nothingness...
42. If a householder who observes righteous
conduct ^{in accordance with the true Dharma, etc.} conduct, should wish "Oh
that, on the break-up of the body, after
death, I might reappear in the company
of the ^{9th} Deities of the base consisting in
neither perception nor non-perception!", it
is possible that, on the ^{disintegration} of the body,
~~he may reappear in the company~~
~~of the Deities of the base consisting of neither~~
~~perception nor non-perception/poor conduct.~~
43. If a householder who observes ~~righteous~~

conduct, ~~proper~~ conduct, should wish "Oh that by realization myself with direct knowledge, I may here and now enter upon and attain in the ~~mind~~^{cognizance} deliverance, and understanding-deliverance^{of understanding}, that are cancer-free with destruction of cancers!". It is possible that, by realization himself with direct knowledge, he may here and now enter upon and attain in the mind-deliverance^{cognizance}, and understanding-deliverance^{of understanding}, that are cancer-free with ~~exhaustion~~^{cessation} of cancers. Why is this? Because he observes ~~right~~^{right} conduct ~~in accordance with the true idea~~, ~~even~~ ^{in accordance with the true idea,} ~~proper~~ conduct. 270

47. When this was said, the Brahman house-holders of Sāla said to the Blessed One:
- "Magnificent, Master Gotama! Magnificent, Master Gotama! The ~~Truth~~^{true idea} has been made clear in many ways by Master Gotama, as though he were lighting the overthrown, revealing the hidden, showing the way to one who was lost, holding up a lamp in the darkness for those with eyes to see ~~steep~~^{tough} objects."

48. "We go to Master Gotama for refuge, and to the ~~Brahman~~^{one idea (law)}, and to the ~~community~~^{Master} (community). From today let Master Gotama accept us as followers who have gone to him for refuge for life."

Note

The renderings of the various Gods' names are based on the commentary to the Hadaya Vibhang.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 42 - Veranijaka sutta -

1) Thus I heard.

At one ~~occasiōn~~^{occasiōn} the Blessed One was living at Savatthi, in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park. [Not at that ~~occasiōn~~^{occasiōn} some ~~Divine~~^{Divine}-~~caste~~^{caste}] 2) householders of Veranīja were on a visit to Savatthi for some business or other.

3) - 44. The ~~Brāhmaṇa~~^{Divine-caste} householders of Veranīja heard — 'The monk Gotama ... [as in 41 but substitute "because of being conduct-ed not in accordance with the true idea, even conduct-ed in a guilty, unrighteous, wrong, wrong conduct for conduct in accordance with the true idea, even conduct-ed in a faultless, upright, right conduct, and substitute Veranīja" for "Sāla"] ... as followers who have gone to him for refuge for life.

able of the same.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 43 - Mahā Vedalla Sutta (145, 3)

1. 272 Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anūthapīṇḍika's park.

Then when it was evening, the venerable Mahā Kothitā rose from meditation, and he went to the venerable Sāriputta and exchanged greetings with him; when this courteous and amiable talk was finished, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he said to the venerable Sāriputta:

UNDERSTANDING

2. «'Without understanding, without understanding' is said, friend. With reference to what is 'that' is said?»

«'Does not understand, does not understand', friend, that is why 'Without understanding' is said, Does not understand what? Does not understand 'This is suffering', does not understand 'This is the origin of suffering', does not understand 'This is the cessation of suffering', does not understand 'This is the way leading to the cessation of suffering'. 'Does not understand, does not understand', that is why 'Without understanding' is said.»

Saying a good, friend, the venerable Mahā Kothitā delighted his, the venerable Sāriputta's

words, and, after agreeing, he asked him a further question:

3. « Possessed of understanding, possessed of understanding is said, friend. With reference to what is 'that' said? »

« 'Understands, understands', friend. That is why 'possessed of understanding' is said. Understands what? Understands 'this is suffering', understands 'this is the origin of suffering' understands 'this is the cessation of suffering', understands 'this is the way leading to the cessation of suffering'. 'Understands, understands', that is why 'possessed of understanding' is said. »

CONSCIOUSNESS

4. « 'Consciousness, consciousness' is said, friend. With reference to what is 'consciousness' said? »

« 'Cognizes, cognizes', friend, that is why 'consciousness' is said. Cognizes what? Cognizes '[this is] pleasant', cognizes '[this is] painful', cognizes '[this is] neither-painful-nor-pleasant'. Cognizes, that is why 'consciousness' is said. »

5. « This understanding and this consciousness, friend: are these ideas conjoined or disjoined? And is it possible to separate each from each, in order to describe their different potentialities, ~~Especially,~~ between them? »

« This understanding and this consciousness, friend: these ideas are conjoined, not disjoined, and it is impossible to separate each from each in order to describe their different potentialities [separately]; for what one understands, that one cognizes, and what one cognizes, that one understands.³⁹³ That is why these ideas are conjoined, not disjoined, and why it is impossible to separate each from each in order to describe their different potentialities [sep. ~~Especially~~] between them. »

6. « This understanding and this consciousness, friend, that are conjoined, not disjoined: what are their different potentialities? »

« This understanding and this consciousness, friend, that are conjoined, not disjoined: their different potentialities are these, namely, understanding can be maintained in being, while consciousness can be fully known. »

FEELING

7. « 'Feeling, feeling' is said, friend. With reference to what is 'that' said? »

552

«'Feels, feels', friend, that is why 'feeling' is said. Feels what? Feels pleasure and feels pain and feels neither-pain-nor pleasure. 'Feels, feels', that is why 'feeling' is said».

PERCEPTION

8. «Perception, perception», friend, is said. With reference to what is 'perception' said».

«'Perceives, perceives', friend, that is why 'perception' is said: Perceives what? Perceives blue and perceives yellow and perceives red and perceives white. 'Perceives, perceives', that is why 'perception' is said».

9. «This feeling and this perception and this consciousness, friend: are these ideas conjoined or disjoined? And is it possible to separate each from each in order to describe their different potentialities [separately]?»

«This feeling and this perception and this consciousness, friend, these ideas are conjoined, not disjoined, and it is impossible to separate each from each in order to describe their different potentialities [separately]; for what one feels, that one perceives, and what one perceives, that one cognizes. That is why these ideas are conjoined, not disjoined, and why it is impossible to separate each from each in

order to describe their different ~~potentials~~,
~~especially~~ between them ».

KNOWABLE BY MIND ALONE

10. « Friend what can be known by pure mind. Consciousness disjoined from the five faculties? »
 « Friend, by pure mind-consciousness disjoined from the five faculties, ^{the base consisting of} infiniteness of space can be known thus 'Infinite space'; ^{the base consisting of} infiniteness of consciousness can be known thus 'Infinite consciousness', and nothingness can be known thus 'There is nothing at all' ».
11. « Friend, with what does one understand a knowable idea? »
 « A knowable idea, friend, one understands with the eye of understanding ».
12. « Friend, what does understanding have for its purpose? »
 « Understanding, friend, has direct knowledge for its purpose; it has full-knowledge for its purpose, and it has abandoning for its purpose ».

RIGHT VIEW

13. 294 « Friend, how many conditions are there for the arising of right view? »

«Friend, there are two conditions for the arising of right view: another's voice and reasoned attention. These are the two conditions for the arising of right view».

14. «Friend, how many factors is right view assisted by when it has deliverance of cognizance for its fruit, deliverance of cognizance for its benefit, and has deliverance of understanding for its fruit, deliverance of understanding for its benefit?»

«Friend, right view is assisted by five factors when it has deliverance of cognizance for its fruit, deliverance of cognizance for its benefit, and has deliverance of understanding for its fruit, deliverance of understanding for its benefit. Here right view is assisted by virtue, by learning, by converse, by peace, and by insight. Right view assisted by these five factors has deliverance of cognizance for its fruit, deliverance of cognizance for its benefit, and has deliverance of understanding for its fruit, deliverance of understanding for its benefit».

BEING

15. «Friend, how many kinds of being are there?»

«There are three kinds of being, friend: being with sensual desire, being with form,

and being without form».

16. «Friend, how is renewed being in the future generated?».

«Friend, renewed being in the future is generated for creatures who, shut in by ignorance and pestered by craving, delight in this and that.»

17. «Friend, how is renewed being in the future not generated?»

«Friend, with the fading of ignorance, with the arising of true knowledge, and with the cessation of craving renewed being in the future is thus not generated».

THE 1st ILLUMINATION

18. «Friend, what is the first illumination?»

«Here, friend, quite secluded from sensual desires, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a bhikkhu enters upon and abides in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and exploring, with happiness and pleasure born of reclusion. This is called the first illumination».

19. «Friend, how many factors has the first illumination?»

«Friend, the first illumination has five factors. Here in a bhikkhu who has entered upon the first illumination there is the occurrence of thinking and exploring and happiness and pleasure and unification of cogni-

nigance. That is how the first illumination has five factors».

20. «Friend, how many factors does the first illumination abandon and how many does it possess?»

«Friend, the first illumination abandons five factors and possesses five factors. Here in a bhikkhu who has entered upon the first illumination zeal for sensual desires is abandoned, ill will is abandoned, lethargy and drowsiness are abandoned, agitation and worry are abandoned, and uncertainty is abandoned; and there is the occurrence of thinking and exploring and and happiness and pleasure and anticipation of cognizance. That is how the first illumination abandons five factors and has five factors».

THE 5 FACULTIES

21. «Friend, [There are] there five faculties, each with a separate field, a separate resort, ~~exp[loiting] for its own~~ and no one of them ~~[being] associated with~~ another's field and resort, that is to say, the eye faculty, ear faculty, nose faculty, tongue faculty and body faculty. Now what do these five faculties, each with a separate field, a separate resort, and no one of them ~~exp[loiting] for its own~~ another's field and resort; ~~associated with~~ what is their dwelling-place, what ~~associated~~ expects in it, being their fields and resorts?»

257
 « Friend, [there are] these five faculties each with a separate field, a separate resort; no one of them ~~[being]~~ ^{expediting for its being} co-essential with another's field and resort, that is to say, the eye faculty, ear faculty, nose faculty, tongue faculty, and body faculty. Now these five faculties each with a separate field, a separate resort, no one of them ~~co-essential~~ ^{exploiting at its being} with another's field and resort, have mind as their ^{exploit for its being} home^{ing} place, mind ~~is co-essential~~ with their fields and resorts ».

22. « Friend, [there are] these five faculties, that is to say, the eye faculty, ear faculty, nose faculty, tongue faculty, and body faculty; these five faculties persist depending on what? »

« Friend, [there are] these five faculties, that is to say, the eye faculty, ear faculty, nose faculty, tongue faculty, and body faculty; these five faculties persist depending on life-span ».

... « Life-span, friend, persists depending on what? »

« Life-span persists depending on heat ».

24. « Heat, friend, persists depending on what? »

« Heat persists depending on life-span ».

"Just now, friend, we understood the venerable Sāriputta to say 'Life-span persists depending on heat', and now again we understand him to say 'Heat persists depending on life-span'. How should the meaning of these statements be regarded?"

"In that case, friend, I shall give you a simile; for some wise men understand by means of a simile the meaning of a statement. Just as, when an oil lamp is burning, its radiance is described as depending on the flame, and its flame is described as depending on the radiance, so too life-span persists depending on heat, and heat persists depending on life-span."

LIFE-SPAN DETERMINATIONS

"~~the~~ Life-span determinations, friend, are the ideas that can be felt? Or are ~~the~~ life-span determinations one and ideas that can be felt another?"

296 "Life-span determinations, friend, are not ideas that can be felt. Were

life-span formations ideas that can be felt, then when a bhikkhu had entered upon the cessation of perception and feeling, his emergence could not be made known. And it is because life-span determinations are one and ideas that can be felt are another that when a bhikkhu has entered upon ~~the~~ cessation of

perception and feeling, his emergence can be made known».

24. «Friend, when ~~this body is bereft of~~
~~how many ideas~~ is it, ^{again} dropped and forsaken,
[so that] it lies senseless like a log?»

a Friend, when ~~this body is bereft of~~
three ideas withdrawn from this body, that is to
say, life, heat, and consciousness, it is then
dropped and forsaken [so that] it lies sense-
less like a log».

25. «Friend, ~~a bhikkhu~~, who is dead, ^{one} who
has completed his time, and a bhikkhu who
has entered upon the cessation of perception
and feeling: what is the difference between them?»

«Friend, [in the case of] one who is dead,
who has completed his time, his bodily deter-
minations have ceased and are tranquil, his
verbal determinations have ceased and are
tranquil, his mental determinations have
ceased and are tranquil, his life-span
is exhausted, his heat has subsided, and
his faculties are quite broken up. [In the case
of] a bhikkhu who has entered upon the ces-
sation of perception and feeling, his bodily
determinations have ceased and are tranquil,
his verbal determinations have ceased and
are tranquil; his mental determinations
have ceased and are tranquil, his life-span

is unexhausted, his heat has not subsided, and his faculties are intact. One who is dead, who has completed his time, and a thikkhu who has entered upon the cessation of perception and feeling: the difference between them is this".

DELIVERANCE OF COGNIZANCE

26. «Friend, how many conditions are there for the attainment of deliverance of cognizance that is neither-painful-nor-pleasant?»

«Friend, there are four conditions for the attainment of deliverance of cognizance that is neither-painful-nor-pleasant: here with the abandoning of pleasure and pain and with the previous disappearance of joy and grief, a thikkhu enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination, which has neither-pain-nor-pleasure and the purity of whose mind fulness is due to overlooking (equanimity). These are the four conditions for the attainment of the deliverance of cognizance that is neither-painful-nor-pleasant».

27. «Friend, how many conditions are there for attainment of deliverance of cognizance that is signless?»

«Friend, there are two conditions for attainment of deliverance of cognizance that is signless: non-attention to all signs, and attention to the signless element. These are the two conditions for attainment of deliverance of cognizance that is signless».

28. «Friend, how many conditions are there for persistence of deliverance of cognizance that is signless?»

«Friend, there are three conditions for persistence of deliverance of cognizance that is signless: ~~277~~ non-attention to all signs, attention to the signless element, and the prior determination [of the length of the persistence]. These are the three conditions for persistence of deliverance of cognizance that is signless».

29. «Friend, how many conditions are there for emergence from deliverance of cognizance that is signless?»

«Friend, there are two conditions for emergence from deliverance of cognizance that is signless: attention to all signs, and non-attention to the signless element. These are the two conditions for emergence from deliverance of cognizance that is signless.

30. "Friend, ~~the~~ deliverance of cognizance ~~which~~ which is measureless and that which is nothingness and that which is voidness and that which is signless: are these ideas different in meaning and different in the letter, or are they one in meaning and only the letter is different?"

"Friend, deliverance of cognizance which is measureless and that which is nothingness and that which is voidness and that which is signless: there is a way in which these ideas are different in meaning and different in the letter, and there is a way in which they are one in meaning and ~~different~~ only in the letter ~~is different~~.

It is what is the way in which they are different in meaning and different in the letter? Here a bhikkhu abides with cognizance endued with lovingkindness extending over one quarter, likewise the second, likewise the third, likewise the fourth, and so above, below, around, and everywhere, and to all as to himself; he abides with abundant, exalted, measureless cognizance of lovingkindness without hostility or affliction extending over the all-embracing world. ~~He is called~~ ~~deliver-~~
~~ance of cognizance that is~~ ~~measureless~~
~~and~~ ~~what is~~ ~~below~~ He abides with cognizance endued with compassion . . .

He abides with cognizance endued with gladness
 ... He abides with cognizance endued with on-
 looking (equanimity) ... the all-embracing
 world. This is called deliverance of cognizance
 that is measureless.

32. "And what is deliverance of cognizance
 that is nothingness?" Here with the com-
 plete surmounting of the base consisting of
 in-purities of consciousness [a monk that] "there
 is nothing", a bhikkhu enters upon and ab-
 ides in the base consisting of nothingness.
 This is called deliverance of cognizance that is
 nothingness (as non-owning).

33. "And what is deliverance of cognizance
 that is voidness? Here a bhikkhu, gone to the
 forest or to the root of a tree or to a house that
 is void, considers thus 'This is void of self or
 of what belongs to self'. ²⁹⁸ This is called de-
 liverance of cognizance that is voidness.

34. "And what is deliverance of cognizance
 that is signless? Here with non-attention to
 all signs a bhikkhu enters upon and abides
 in signless concentration of cognizance. This is
 called deliverance of cognizance that is sign-
 less.

This is the way in which these ideas are
 different in meaning and different in the
 letter.

35. And what is the way in which they are one in meaning and only the letter is different?

Lust is a making of measurements, hate is a making of measurements, delusion is a making of measurements. In a bhikkhu whose centers are exhausted, these are abandoned, made like a palm stump, done away with so that they are no more inseparable from the idea of arising. Of [all] the kinds of ~~unassailable~~ deliverance of cognizance, the unassailable deliverance of cognizance is pronounced the best. ~~It is~~
Now the unassailable deliverance of cognizance is void of lust, void of hate, and void of delusion.

36. Lust is an owning, hate is an owning, delusion is an owning. In a bhikkhu whose centers are exhausted, these are abandoned, made like a palm stump, done away with so that they are no more inseparable from the idea of arising. Of [all] the kinds of deliverance of cognizance that are unassailed [as non-owning], the unassailable deliverance of cognizance is the best. Now the unassailable deliverance of cognizance is void of lust, void of hate, and void of delusion.

37. Lust is a making of signs, hate is

M. 43

a making of signs, delusion is a making of signs. In one whose ^{there are gradations} cankers are exhausted, made like a palm stump, done away with so that they are no more inseparable from the idea of future arising. Of (all) the kinds of deliverance of cognizance that are singular, the unassailable deliverance of cognizance is pronounced the best. Now that unassailable deliverance of cognizance is void of lust, void of hate, and void of delusion.

"That is the way in which these ideas are one in meaning and only the letter is different".

That is what the venerable Sāriputta said. The venerable Mahā Kolihi was satisfied, and he delighted in the venerable Sāriputta's words.

Note

§35 and §36 It is plain from §30 that the expression 'nānacaraya' simply means 'difference between' (lit. 'making a difference').

§21 : See DīpA. p. 71 : "Etesam hi nipparamanādāni gocaravayo nāna tāni manena pañānubhāvayantāni pi nipparamanādāni gocaravayo yevā ti ayam atthi Siddho".

3321-25 On the faculties, etc.: All this must be regarded as describing faculties, etc., seen in, and predicated of, someone else, i.e. externally, excluding the more purely subjective viewpoint of the Saṅkhyatana.

§21. *pracīnabboli* - ^{exploits for its being -} ~~in co-essential with~~; cf. Sutta 49, § 314f., 'anamuttanā - is not coessential with' (Pāṇav repeated at S. V. 217-8) *'kim pati sarana* - what is their homeing-place?': The word *sarana* (see e.g. Sutta 4, § 37) has been rendered by 'refuge'. *Pati-sarana*, however, is better rendered by ^{in the sense of 'that which things flow back'} *pati-satik* - upstream) or 'sourcing from' (cf. use at Sutta 46, § 32 at S. ³ the tree where birds return to roost). It is thus opposed in a sense to *samo-sarana* ('confluence'), as e.g. *Vedanā-samo-sarana* ~~sabbe dhammā~~ ³, 'all ideas meet in feeling'; A. ³, and in the sense that craving & feeling are confluent, as joining streams are.

This connects the word *Pati-sarana* here with *sarati* 'to flow'; but possibly there is also a connexion with *sarati* 'to remember', as well.

567

Majjhima Nikāya 44 - Cula Vedalla Sutta (1,5,4)

1. 49 Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Rajagaha in the Bamboo Grove, the Squirrels' Sanctuary.

Then the lay follower Visākha went to the bhikkhuni Dhammadinā, and after paying homage to her, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he asked:

2. "Lady, 'embodiment, embodiment' is said. What is called embodiment by the Blessed One?"

"Friend Visākha, these five aggregates affected by clinging are ^{called} embodiment by the Blessed One, that is to say: the form aggregate affected by clinging, the feeling aggregate affected by clinging, the perception aggregate affected by clinging, the determinations aggregate affected by clinging, and the consciousness aggregate affected by clinging. These five aggregates affected by clinging are called embodiment by the Blessed One."

Saying "Good, lady", the lay follower Visākha delighted in the bhikkhuni Dhammadinā's words, and after agreeing, he asked her a further question:

3. «Lady, 'origin of embodiment, origin of embodiment' is said. What is called the origin of embodiment by the Blessed One?»

«Friend Viññaka, it is that craving which renews being, and accompanied by delight and lust, ~~it~~ delights in this and that, that is to say: craving for sensual desires, craving for being, craving for non-being. This is called the origin of embodiment by the Blessed One».

4. «Lady, 'cessation of embodiment, cessation of embodiment' is said. What is called the cessation of embodiment by the Blessed One?»

«Friend Viññaka, it is the senseless fading and ceasing, the giving up, relinquishing, letting go, and rejecting, of that same craving. This is called cessation of embodiment by the Blessed One»

5. «Lady, 'the way leading to the cessation of embodiment, the way leading to the cessation of embodiment' is said. What is called the way leading to the cessation of embodiment by the Blessed One?»

«Friend Viññaka, it is this noble eightfold path, that is to say: right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindfulness, right concentration».

6. « lady, is that clinging the same as these five aggregates affected by clinging, or is the clinging something apart from these five aggregates affected by clinging? »

« Friend Visākha, that clinging is neither the same as these five aggregates affected by clinging, nor is it something apart from these five aggregates affected by clinging. It is the greed and lust comprised in these five aggregates affected by clinging that is the clinging there ». ³⁰⁰

THE EMBODIMENT VIEW

7. « Lady, how does there come to be the embodiment view? »

« Here, friend Visākha, the untaught ordinary man who has no regard for Noble Ones and is unconversant with their true Idea and undisciplined in it, who has no regard for the men and is unconversant with their true Idea and undisciplined in it, sees form as self or self possessed of form or form in self or self in form. He sees feeling as self or self as possessed of feeling or feeling in self or self in feeling. He sees perception as self or self as possessed of perception or perception in self or self in perception. He sees determinations as self or self as possessed of determinations or determinations

in self or self in determinations. He sees consciousness as self or self as possessed of consciousness or consciousness in self or self in consciousness. That is how there comes to be the embodiment view».

8. «Lady, how does there not come to be the embodiment view?»

“Here, friend Visattha, the well-taught Noble disciple who has regard for Noble Ones and is conversant with their True Idea and disciplined in it, who has regard for True Mind and is conversant with their True Idea and disciplined in it, does not see form as self or self as possessed of form or form in self or self in form. He does not see feeling as self or self as possessed of feeling or feeling in self or self in feeling. He does not see perception as self or self as possessed of perception or perception in self or self in perception. He does not see determinations as self or self as possessed of determinations or determinations as self or self as determinations. He does not see consciousness as self or self as possessed of consciousness or consciousness in self or self in consciousness. That is how there does not come to be the embodiment view».

THE 8-FOLD PATH

9. « lady, what is the Noble Eightfold Path? »
 « Friend Visālīka, it is just this noble Eightfold Path, namely: right view, right intention, right speech, right action, right livelihood, right effort, right mindfulness, right concentration ».
10. « lady, is the Noble Eightfold Path determined or undetermined? »
 « Friend Visālīka, the Noble Eightfold Path **3ay** is determined ».
11. « Are the three ~~Catayana~~ Aggregates included by the Noble Eightfold Path, lady, or is the Noble Eightfold Path included by the three ~~Catayana~~ Aggregates? »
 « The three ~~Catayana~~ Aggregates are not included by the Noble Eightfold Path, friend Visālīka, but the Noble Eightfold Path is included by the three ~~Catayana~~ Aggregates. Any right speech, any right action, any right livelihood: these ideas are included in the Virtue Aggregate. Any right effort, any right mindfulness, any right concentration: these ideas are included in the Concentration Aggregate. Any right view, any right intention: these ideas are included in the Understanding Aggregate ».

CONCENTRATION

12. «What is concentration, lady, what is the sign of concentration, what is the equipment of concentration, what is the maintaining of concentration in being?»

«Any unification of cognizance is concentration, friend; The four foundations of mindfulness are the sign of concentration; the four right endeavours to control are the equipment of concentration, the repetition, maintenance in being, and development of those same ideas are the maintenance of concentration in being, thereafter.»

DETERMINATIONS

13. «How many determinations are there, lady?»

«There are these three determinations, friend Visakha; ~~the~~ bodily determination, verbal determination, and mental determination.»

14. «But, lady, what is a bodily determination, what is a verbal determination, what is a mental determination?»

«In-breaths and out-breaths are a bodily determination, friend Visakha, think-

ing and exploring are a verbal determination,
feeling and perception are a mental determina-
tion».

15. «But why are in-breath and out-breath,
a bodily determination, lady, why are think-
ing and exploring a verbal determination, they
are ^{perception} ~~feeling~~ and ~~perception~~ a mental determina-
ation?»

«Friend Virākha, in-breath and out-breath,
belong to a body; ^{are} these ideas ~~are~~ bound up with
a body, that is why in-breath and out-breath
are a bodily determination. Having previously
thought and explored, subsequently one breaks into
speech, that is why thinking and exploring are
a verbal determination. Perception and feel-
ing belong to cognizance; ^{are} these ideas ~~are~~ bound up
with cognizance, that is why perception and feel-
ing are a mental determination».

CESSATION ATTAINMENT

16. «Lady, how does there come to be the ^{attainment of}
cessation of perception and feeling?»

«Friend Virākha, ^{when} a blither ~~is~~ in
a training cessation of perception and feeling,
it does not [occur] to him 'I shall attain the
cessation of perception and feeling' or 'I am

attaining the cessation of perception and feeling' or 'I have attained the cessation of perception and feeling'; but rather his cognizance has previously been maintained in being in such wise that it induces that state».

17. ³⁰² «Lady, when a bhikkhu is attaining the cessation of perception and feeling, which ideas cease first in him: the bodily determination or the verbal determination or the mental determination?»

«Friend Visākha, when a bhikkhu is attaining the cessation of perception and feeling, first his verbal determination ceases, then his bodily determination, then his mental determination».

18. «Lady, how does there come to be the emergence from the cessation of perception and feeling?»

«Friend Visākha, when a bhikkhu is emerging from the attainment of the cessation of perception and feeling, it does not (occur) to him 'I shall emerge from the attainment of the cessation of perception and feeling' or 'I am emerging from the attainment of the cessation of perception and feeling' or 'I have emerged from the attainment of the cessation of perception and

feeling; but rather his cognizance has previously been maintained in being in such wise that it induces that state».

19. «Lady, when a bhikkhu is emerging from the cessation of perception and feeling, which ideas arise first in him: the bodily determination or the verbal determination or the mental determination?»

«Friend Viśākha, when a bhikkhu is emerging from the attainment of cessation of perception and feeling, first his mental determination arises, then his bodily determination, arises then his verbal determination».

20. «Lady, when a bhikkhu has emerged from the attainment of cessation of perception and feeling how many kinds of contact touch him?»

«Friend Viśākha, when a bhikkhu has emerged from the attainment of cessation of perception and feeling, three kinds of contact touch him: void contact, signless contact and desireless contact».

21. «Lady, when a bhikkhu has emerged from the attainment of cessation of perception and feeling, to what does his cognizance incline, lean and tend?»

«Friend Viśākha, when a bhikkhu has emerged from the attainment of cessation of perception and feeling, his cognizance ~~less~~, inclines, leaves and tends to seclusion».

FEELING

22. «Lady, how many kinds of feeling are there?»

«Friend Viśākha, there are three kinds of feeling; pleasant feeling, painful feeling, neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling».

23. «But, lady, what is pleasant feeling, what is painful feeling, what is neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling?»

«Friend Viśākha, whatever is felt bodily or mentally ^{as} pleasant and agreeable is pleasant feeling. Whatever is felt bodily or mentally ^{as} painful and disagreeable is painful feeling. Whatever is ^{neither} ^{as} agreeable nor disagreeable ³⁰³ is neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling».

24. «Lady, what is pleasant feeling pleasant in virtue of and painful in virtue of? What is painful feeling painful in virtue of and pleasant in virtue of? What is neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling pleasant?

577
 , and in virtue of and painful in virtue of ?»
 « Friend Viatka, pleasant feeling is pleasant in virtue of presence and painful in virtue of change. Painful feeling is painful in virtue of presence and pleasant in virtue of change. Neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling is pleasant in virtue of knowledge [of it] and painful in virtue of want of knowledge [of it] ».

UNDERLYING TENDENCY

25 «Lady, the underlying tendency to what underlies ^{in the case of} pleasant feeling? The underlying tendency to what underlies ^{in the case of} painful feeling? The underlying tendency to what underlies neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling? » ^{in the case of}

« Friend Viatka, the underlying tendency to last underlies ^{in the case of} pleasant feeling. The underlying tendency to ~~last~~ ^{ignorance} underlies ^{in the case of} painful feeling. The underlying tendency to e.g. ignorance underlies ^{in the case of} neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling ».

26. «Lady, does the underlying tendency to last underlie all pleasant feeling? Does the underlying tendency to resistance underlie ^{in the case of} painful feeling? Does the underlying tendency to ignorance underlie all neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling? »

"Friend Visākha, the inherent tendency to lust does not underlie ^{in the case of} all pleasant feeling. The inherent tendency to resistance does not underlie ^{in the case of} all painful feeling. The inherent tendency to ignorance does not underlie ^{in the case of} all neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling".

27. "Lady, what is ~~the~~ abandoneable in the case of pleasant feeling? What is ~~the~~ abandoneable in the case of painful feeling? What is ~~the~~ abandoneable in the case of neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling?"

"Friend Visākha, the inherent tendency to lust is abandoneable in the case of pleasant feeling. The inherent tendency to resistance is abandoneable in the case of painful feeling. The inherent tendency to ignorance is abandoneable in the case of neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling".

28. "Lady, is ~~the~~ the underlying tendency to lust ^{either and]} abandoneable in the case of all pleasant feeling? Is the inherent tendency to resistance ^{either and]} abandoneable in the case of all painful feeling? Is the inherent tendency to ignorance ^{either and]} abandoneable in the case of all neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling?"

"Friend Visākha, the inherent tendency to lust is ~~[not there and so]~~ not abandoneable in the

« Friends Vizitka, it is not in the case of all pleasant feeling that the underlying tendency to lust is there [and so] abandonable, it is not in the case of all painful feeling that the underlying tendency to resistance is there [and so] abandonable, it is not in the case of all neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling that the underlying tendency to ignorance is there [and so] abandonable.

« Here, quite exiled from sensual leaves, secluded from unprofitable ideas, a blikkhu enters upon and abides in the first illumination, which is accompanied by thinking and exploring, with happiness and pleasure born of exclusion; with that he abandons³⁰³ and no underlying tendency to lust underlies that

« Here a blikkhu considers thus 'When shall I enter upon and abide in that base which the noble One^{now} enters upon and abides in', and as he builds up love for the supreme liberations³⁰⁴ in this way, grief with that love as its condition; but no underlying tendency to resistance underlies that. With that he abandons resistance and no underlying tendency to resistance underlies that.

« Here with the abandoning of pleasure and pain and with the previous disappearance of mental joy and grief, a blikkhu enters upon and abides in the fourth illumination,

which has neither-pain-no-pleasure and the purity of whose mindfulness is due to overlooking (equanimity). With that he abandons ignorance, and the underlying tendency to ignorance does not underlie that»

COUNTERPARTS

29. «What is a counterpart of pleasant feeling, lady?»
 «Friend Visākha, painful feeling is a counterpart of pleasant feeling».
- «What is a counterpart of painful feeling, lady?»
 «Friend Visākha, pleasant feeling is a counterpart of painful feeling».
- «What is a counterpart of neither-painful-nor-pleasant feeling, lady?»
 «Friend Visākha, ignorance is a counterpart of neither-painful-no-pleasant feeling».
- «What is a counterpart of ignorance, lady?»
 «Friend Visākha, true knowledge is a counterpart of ignorance».
- «What is a counterpart of true knowledge, lady?»
 «Friend Visākha, deliverance is a counterpart of true knowledge».

"What is a counterpart of deliverance, lady?"

"Friend Viākha, extinction is a counterpart of deliverance".

"What is a counterpart of extinction, lady?"

"Friend Viākha, you have pushed this line of questioning too far. You cannot find a conclusion to this ~~space~~^{that} line of questioning; for the ~~it will~~ life Divine merges in extinction, leads to extinction. If you like, you may go to the Blessed One and ask him the meaning of this. As he answers, so you should remember it".

CONCLUSION

30 Then the lay follower Viākha delighted in the bhikkhuni Dhammādīnā's words, and after agreeing, he rose from his seat, and after paying homage, keeping her on his right, he [departed and] went to the Blessed One. After paying homage to him, he sat down at one side. When he had done so, he recounted to the Blessed One all his conversation with the bhikkhuni Dhammādīnā. When this was said, the Blessed One told him:

31. "The bhikkhuni Dhammādīnā is wise, Viākha, the bhikkhuni Dhammādīnā has great understanding. Had you asked me the meaning of this, I should have given you the same reply." ³⁰⁵ As the bhikkhuni Dhammā-

582

has answered you, such is the meaning, and
so you should remember it".

That is what the Blessed One said.
The lay follower Viñākha was satisfied, and
he delighted in the Blessed One's words.

Note

§15 'Vācīm ~~blād~~ bhinneati' = breaks into speech;
this idea and meaning of bhinneati not in
P.T.S. Dict. (but see under Vācā)

§23 cf S. XXXVI 20 na klo araso bhagavā
sukhainyeva vedanai sandhaya sukhanīni
paññāpeti, tathā yathā araso sukhanī
upalabbhati, yamū yamū sukhanī tere
tam tathāgato sukhanīni paññāpeti (S. id. 229)
cf M.

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 45 - Cula-Dhamma-Samadana Sutta
(1, 5, 5)

1. This I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetas Grove, Anathapindika's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus: « Bhikkhus! - « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkus there are four ways of giving effect to ideas. What four? There is a way of giving effect to ideas that has ~~presently~~ ^{now} pleasure ^{in the future} as pain. There is a way of giving effect to ideas that has ~~presently~~ ^{now} pain and ripens ^{in the future} as pleasure. There is a way of giving effect to ideas that ~~is~~ ^{has presently again} pain and ripens in the future as pleasure. There is a way of giving effect to ideas that ~~is~~ ^{has presently again} pleasure ^{in the future} as pain. »

3. « What is the way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain? »

« Bhikkus, there are certain monks and divines whose theory and view is that 'There is no harm in sensual desires', and they ~~get them~~ ^{are} ~~to~~ ^{on} take to gulping down sensual desires. They divert themselves with turbanned women wanderers. They say

thus 'What do these good works and divine
 vines, ^{fruits} See in sensual desires to be afraid
 of, ^{for the future} that they speak of abandoning sensual
 desires and describe ^{further} an full knowledge of
 sensual desires? The contact of this roman
 Wanderer's tender soft downy arm is pleasant',
 and they take to quelling down
 sensual desires. Having done so, on the
 dissolution of the body, after death, they
 reappear in an unhappy destination, in
 states of deprivation, in perdition, even
 in hell. There they feel painful racking
 piercing feelings. They say thus 'This
 is what those good works and divine
 vines they see in sensual desires to be
 afraid of for the future that they speak of
 abandoning sensual desires and des-
 erive ~~a~~ ^{an} [further] full knowledge
 of sensual desires; for it is by reason of
 sensual, ^{desires} owing to sensual desires, ³⁰⁶
 that we are (now) feeling painful rack-
 ing piercing feelings'.

4. ^{at Bhikkus,} suppose that in the last
 month of the summer a Mālūvā-creeper
 pod burst open and a Mālūvā-creeper
 seed fell at the root of a Sāla tree; and
 then a deity living in that tree was alarmed
 and suspicious and fearful; but the
 deity's friends and companions, relatives and

525

kin - garden deities, park deities, tree deities, deities inhabiting medicinal herbs, grass and forest-monarch trees —, gathered and met together, and they soothed that deity thus ' Have no fear, good sir, have no fear. Perhaps a peacock will swallow the malava-creeper seed or a wild animal will eat it or a forest fire will burn it or woods-men will carry it off or white ants will devour it, or it may even not be a seed'; and then no peacock swallowed that seed, no wild animal ate it, no forest fire burnt it, no woods-men carried it off, no white ants devoured it, and it actually was a seed, and then, being rained on by the clouds of the Raining Season, it sprouted in due course, and the tender soft downy malava-creeper tendril wound itself round the sala tree; and then the deity living in the sala tree [thought] 'What did those friends and acquaintances, those relatives and kin — those garden deities, park deities, tree deities, deities inhabiting medicinal herbs, grass and forest-monarch trees —, fearing they saw in the malava-creeper seed to be afraid of for the future that they gathered and met together and soothed [me] as they did? See contact of this malava-creeper's tender soft downy tendril is pleasant'; and then the creeper enfolded the sala tree, and ^{after that} ~~leaving~~ ^{after that} folded it, it made a canopy over it, and ~~leaving~~ ^{after that} made

~~seeing a deity, it draped a curtain all round it, and having draped a curtain all round it,~~ 586
 the main branches of the sala tree broke, and then the deity who lived in that sala tree thought 'This is what those friends and acquaintances, those relatives and kin — — —, fancied they saw in the malava creeper used to be afraid of for the future that they gathered and met together and soothed [one] * as they did *'.
 [one] * as they did *.

307 So too, bhikkhus, there are certain monks and divines whose theory and view is thus 'There is no harm in sensual desires... pain-pul racking piercing feelings.'

This is called a way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain.

5. And what is a way of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pain?

Here, bhikkhus, someone goes naked, ... [as in sutta 54, 55] ... and goes to each ~~to~~ 308 he dwells pursuing the practice of bathing in water for the third time by nightfall. In this way he dwells pursuing the practice of self-mortification in its many aspects. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears in an unhappy destination in the states of deprivation, in perdition, even in hell.

This is called a way of giving effect to

ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pain.

6. And what is a way of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in ~~pain~~ the future as pleasure?

Here, thickius, someone is by nature much given to lust, and he constantly experiences pain and grief ~~consequent upon~~ of lust; he is by nature much given to hate, and he constantly experiences pain and grief ~~due to hate~~ consequent upon hate; he is ^{by nature} much given to delusion, and he constantly experiences pain and grief consequent upon delusion; yet in pain and grief, and with tears on his face and weeping, he leads the (life) Divine in perfect purity. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world.

This is called a way of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pleasure.

7. And what is a way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure?

Here, thickius, someone is not by nature much given to lust, and he does not constantly experience pain and grief consequent upon lust; he is not by nature much given to hate, ... to delusion, ³⁰⁹ and he does not constantly experience pain and

grief consequent upon delusion. Quite excluded from sensual desires, ... [as in Sutta 47] ... he enters upon and abides in the first illumination ... the second ... the third ... the fourth illumination ... the purity of whose mindfulness is due to on looking (equanimity). On the dissolution of the body after death, he reappears in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world.

This is called a way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure.

These, bhikkhus, are four ways of giving effect to ideas.

That is what the Blessed One said.
The bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

Note. Otherwise, taking pātabyatām as from root pat (to pull) the rendering "kāmarūpātām apāpī" might be "they by plunging into sensual desire".

§ 4. 'Vitabhi (or vitapi) according to the P.T.S. Dict. is a fork or branch of a tree; but according to the commentary it is an umbrella-like canopy (which the sense demands).

§ 3 'Pātabyatā - gulping': ^{according to Canopy} from root pāpāti to drink, not from pātāy as P.T.S. Dict. wrongly has it. Rep. A. i, 266 & Vbh. 499 (Vth. 368) should carry the same rendering as here. See M.A. ii, 276 & Vbh. 499; ^{but see also} Vin. IV, 34 X

X bhikkus āvāya tātaśānti
where mātāpīśānti

583
✓ Majjhima Nikaya 46 - Mahā Bhūmisaṃadāna-
Sutta (5, 5, 6)

1. 309 Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthī in Jetā's Grove, Anathapindika's Park. There he addressed the bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus! ». — « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this.

2. « Bhikkhus, for the most part creatures' desire, ~~and~~ zeal and purpose is to this intent 'If only un-wished-for, undesired disagreeable ideas would diminish and wished-for desired agreeable ideas would increase!'. Yet while these creatures' desire, zeal and purpose is to this intent, nevertheless ^{their} un-wished-for un-desired disagreeable ideas increase ~~to them~~ and ^{their} wished-for desired agreeable ideas diminish. Now, bhikkhus, to what do you attribute ~~that?~~ »

3. « Venerable sir, our ideas are rooted in the Blessed One, ³¹⁰ the Blessed One is their guide and their home. It is good that the meaning of their words should occur to the Blessed One. Having heard it from the Blessed One, the bhikkhus will remember it ».

« Then listen, bhikkhus, and attend carefully what I shall say ».

« Yes, venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this :

4. « Here, bhikkhus, an untaught ordinary man ... [as in Sutta 1, §3] ... and undisciplined in it, does not know what ideas should be cultivated and what ideas should not be cultivated, he does not know what ideas should be frequented and what ideas should not be frequented. Not knowing ^{* * *} this, he cultivates ideas that should not be cultivated and does not cultivate ideas that should be cultivated, he frequents ideas that should ^{not} be frequented and does not frequent ideas that should be frequented. ^{* * *} When he does this, ^{* * *} that his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas increase and his wished-for desired agreeable ideas diminish. Why is that? It is what happens to one who does not see.

5. The well-taught noble disciple ... [as in Sutta 2, §8] ... and disciplined in it, knows what ideas should be cultivated and what ideas should not be cultivated, and he knows what ideas should be frequented and what ideas should not be frequented. Knowing ^{* * *} this, ^{* * *} he cultivates ideas that should be cultivated and does

not cultivate ideas that should not be cultivated, he frequents ideas that should be frequent and does not frequent ideas that should not be frequented. When he does this, the his wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas diminish and his wished-for, desired agreeable ideas increase. Why is that? It is what happens to one who sees.

6. Bhikkhus, there are four ways of giving effect to ideas. What are the four? There is a way of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pain. There is **311** a way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain. There is a way of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pleasure. There is a way of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure.

7. (1) Now, bhikkhus, one who is ignorant in not knowing this way herein of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pain, does not understand it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is painful now and ripens in the future as pain'. Being ignorant in not knowing that, not understanding it as it actually

is, he cultivates it instead of avoiding it. When he ~~it~~ does that, ~~it~~ his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas increase and his wished-for desired agreeable ideas diminish. Why is that? It is what happens to one who does not see.

S. (2) Now, thikklesus, one who is ignorant in not knowing this way herein of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain, does not understand it as it actually is thus 'this way of giving effect to ideas is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain'. Being ignorant in not knowing that, not understanding it as it actually is, he cultivates it instead of avoiding it. When he ~~it~~ does that, ~~it~~ ... does not see.

Q. (3) Now, thikklesus, one who is ignorant in not knowing this way herein of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pleasure, does not understand it as it actually is thus 'this way of giving effect to ideas is painful now and ripens in the future as pleasure'. Being ignorant in not knowing that, not understanding it as it actually is, instead of cultivating it he avoids it. When he ~~it~~ does that, ~~it~~ his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable

ideas increase and his wished-for desired agreeable ideas diminish. Why is that? It is what happens to one who does not see.

10. (4) Now, blikkhus, one who is ignorant in not knowing this way herein of giving effect to ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure, does not understand it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure'. Being ignorant in not knowing the, understanding it as it actually is, instead of cultivating it he avoids it. When he ~~does that,~~³¹² his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas increase and his wished-for desired and agreeable ideas diminish. Why is that? It is what happens to one who does not see.

11. (1) Now, blikkhus one who has true knowledge in knowing this way herein of giving effect to ideas that is painful now and ripens in the future as pain, understands it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is painful now and ripens in the future as pain'. Having true knowledge of that, understanding it as it actually is, instead of cultivating it he

529

avoids it. When he ~~is~~ does that, ~~is~~ his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas diminish and his wished-for desired agreeable ideas increase. Why is that? It is what happens to one who sees.

12. (2) Now, bikkulenus, one who has true knowledge in knowing this way herein that is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain, understands it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pain'; ^{Having true knowledge,} ~~when~~... one who sees.

13. (3) Now, bikkulenus, one who has true knowledge in knowing this way herein that is pain, but now and ripens in the future as pleasure, understands it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is painful now and ripens in the future as pleasure'. Having true knowledge of that, understanding it as it actually is, he cultivates it instead of avoiding it. When ~~that~~ he ~~is~~ does that, ~~is~~ his un-wished-for undesired disagreeable ideas diminish and his wished-for desired agreeable ideas increase. Why is that? It is what happens to one who sees.

14. (4) Now, bikkulenus, one who has true knowledge in knowing this way herein that is ~~pleasant~~ now and ripens in the future as pleasure, understands it as it actually is thus 'This way of giving effect to ideas is pleasant now and ripens in the future as pleasure'. Having true knowledge ... one who sees.

~~things future pleasure. Not being so to see who~~

15. 313 (1) What is ~~the~~³¹³ way of giving effect to ~~the~~^{happening} ideas that is painful now and ~~future~~^{as} future pain?

Here someone in pain and grief kills breathing things, and he experiences the pain and grief that have killing of breathing things as condition. In pain and grief he takes that is not given, ... he is misconduct in sensual desires, ... he is falsely spoken, ... he is maliciously spoken, ... he is harshly spoken, ... he gossips, ... he is covetous, ... he has cognizance of ill will, ... In pain and grief he has wrong view, and he experiences the pain and grief that have wrong view as condition. After dissolution of the body, after death, he ~~reappears in state of deprivation & unwholesomeness in penden~~, over this is called ~~the~~³¹⁴ way of giving effect to ~~the~~^{happening} ideas that is painful now and ~~future~~^{as} future pain.

16. (2) What is ~~the~~³¹⁴ way of giving effect to ~~the~~^{ideas} that is pleasure now and ~~future~~^{as} future pain?

Here someone in pleasure and joy kills breathing things, and he experiences the pleasure and joy that have killing of breathings as condition. In pleasure and joy he takes what is not given, ... In pleasure and joy he has wrong view, and he experiences the pleasure

and joy that have wrong view as condition. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears in a state of deprivation, in an unhappy destination, in perdition, even in hell.

This is called ~~the~~ way of giving effect to ~~the~~ idea that is pleasant now and ~~unpleasant~~ in the future, pain.

17. (3) What is ~~the~~ way of giving effect to ~~the~~ idea that is painful now and ~~pleasant~~ in the future, pleasure?

Here someone in pain and grief ab. stains from killing breathing things and he experiences pain and grief with abstention from killing breathing things as condition. In pain and grief he abstains from taking what is not-given, ... in pain and grief he abstains from misconduct in sensual desire, ... in pain and grief he abstains from false speech, ... in pain and grief he abstains from malicious speech, ... In pain and grief he abstains from harsh speech, ... in pain and grief he abstains from gossip, ... in pain and grief he is uncorrected, ... in pain and grief he has no cognizance of ill will, ... in pain ³¹⁵ and grief he has right view and he experiences pain and grief with right view as condition. On the dust-

ution of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world.

This is called ~~the way~~ of giving effect to ~~the~~ ^{even} Time Ideas that is pleasant now and ~~ripens~~ ⁱⁿ future pleasure.

18. (4) What is ~~the way~~ of giving effect to ~~the~~ Time Ideas that is pleasant now and ripens ⁱⁿ future pleasure?

Here some one in pleasure and joy abstains from killing breathing things and he experiences pleasure and joy with abstraction from killing breathing things as condition. In pleasure and joy he abstains from taking that is not given, ... In pleasure and joy he has right view, and he experiences pleasure and joy with right view as condition. On the dissolution of the body, after death, he reappears in a happy destination, even in the heavenly world.

This is called ~~the way~~ of giving effect to ~~the~~ Time Ideas that is pleasant now and ripens ⁱⁿ future pleasure.

19. (1) Suppose there were a bitter gourd ^{contaminated} with poison, and a man came who wanted to live, not to die, who wanted pleasure and recoiled from pain, and they told him 'Good man, this bitter gourd is ^{contaminated} with poison; drink it if you want, 316 but if you drink it, it will not sustain you with color or smell or

test, and after drinking ^{from} it you will come to death or deadly suffering'. Then he drank ^{from} it without reflecting and still not give it up relinquish it. As he drank from it, it did not sustain him with colour or smell or taste, and after drinking ^{from} it he came to death or deadly suffering. Similar to that, I say, is the ^{way of} giving effect to the ~~the~~ ^{ideas that is} painful now and ripens ⁱⁿ future ^{as} pain.

(2) Suppose there were a bronze cup 20 of beverage possessing colour, smell and taste, but it was ^{conjoined} with poison, and a man who wanted to live, not die, who wanted pleasure and recoiled from pain, and they told him 'Good man, this bronze cup of beverage possessing colour, smell and taste, ^{but it is conjoined} with poison. Drink from it if you want, and ^{as} you drink from it it will sustain you with colour, smell and taste, but after drinking it you will come to death or deadly suffering'. Then he drank from it without reflecting and would not relinquish it. As he drank from it it sustained him with colour, smell and taste, but after drinking from it he came to death or deadly suffering. Similar to that, I say, is the ^{way of} giving effect to the ~~the~~ ^{ideas that is} pleasant now and ripens ⁱⁿ future ^{as} pain.

21. (3) Suppose there were fermented wine mixed with various medicines, and a man came sick with jaundice, and they told him 'Good man, this fermented wine is mixed with various kinds of medicine, drink it if you want, and mixed with various kinds of medicine, if you drink it, it will not sustain you with color, smell or taste, but after drinking it you will be well, happy'. Then he drank it after reflecting and did not relinquish it. As he drank it, it did not sustain him with color, smell or taste, but after drinking it he was ~~well~~^{very} well. Similar to that, I say, is the giving effect to the ~~one~~ ideas that is painful now and ~~rejoices~~ⁱⁿ future pleasure.

22. (4) Suppose there were curd and honey and ghee and molasses conjoined together, and a man with a bloody flux came, and they told him 'Good man, ³¹⁷ this is curd and honey and ghee and molasses conjoined together. drink it if you want, and as you drink it, it will sustain you with color, smell and taste, and after drinking it you will be well', then he drank it after reflecting and did not relinquish it. As he drank from it, it sustained him with color, smell and taste, and after drinking it he was well. Similar to that, I say, is the giving effect to the ~~one~~ ideas that is pleasant now and ~~rejoices~~ⁱⁿ future pleasure.

23. Just as, ~~etc.~~, in the last month of the

600

Rains, in the Autumn season, when the ~~sky~~^{heavens} are clear and cloudless, when the sun rides in the ~~sky~~^{firmament}, dispelling all, and bearing and bearing ~~dispelets~~ all gloom from the sky, so too, this ~~dispelling~~^{dispels} of the two ideas that is pleasant now and ripens in the future pleasure, with its shining and bearing and bearing ~~dispelets~~ any other ~~doctrine~~^{of} ordinary world and dismels theory whatever it is.

That is what the Blessed One said.
The bhikkhus were satisfied and thus delighted in his words.

§ 3 'patiravaṇa - cintendū': ~~the~~^{having its home in} scattered house ('uttarā & sādhyā' ^{erupt}). Patiravaṇa see note to 'uttarā 43, § 21'

✓ Majjhima Nikaya 47 - Vimamsaka Sutta (1, 5, 7)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Savatthi in Jetas Grove, Malla's Park. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus « Bhikkhus ». — « Venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

2. « Bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu who is an inquirer ^{also known} knows ^{measure} the manner of another's cognizance, research should be made by him with respect to a Perfect One for the sake of knowing whether he is ^{completely enlightened} ~~fully enlightened~~ or not ^{or rooted in}. ~~they are given by~~ ~~for their root~~ ~~they are captured in~~ ~~the Blessed One to their stage~~ ~~their grade~~, the Blessed One to their stage.

3. « Venerable sir, our ideas have the Blessed One ^{they are given by}, the Blessed One, ~~for their root~~, the Blessed One to ~~their stage~~ ~~they are captured in~~ ~~their grade~~, the Blessed One to ~~their stage~~. It is good that the meaning of these words should occur to the Blessed One. Having heard it from the Blessed One, the Bhikkhus will remember it ».

« Then listen, Bhikkus, and hear well what I shall say ». — « Even so, venerable sir » they replied. The Blessed One said this:

4. « Bhikkhus, when a bhikkhu who is an inquirer ^{also known} knows ^{measure} the manner of another's cognizance, a Perfect One should be searched with respect to two kinds of ideas: with respect to ideas cognizable through the eye and through the ear thus 'Are ideas cognizable through the eye and through the ear that are depicted ^{form} known'

in a Perfect One, or not?'. When he searches, he comes to know ^{found} that they are not.

5. With that ^{4. 4.} he makes a further search thus 'Are ideas cognizable through the eye and through the ear that are mixed ^{found} in a Perfect One, or not?'. When he searches, he comes to know ^{found} that they are not.

6. With that ^{4. 4.} he makes a further search thus 'Are ideas cognizable through the eye and through the ear that are cleared ^{found} in a Perfect One, or not?'. When he searches, he comes to know ^{found} that they are not.

7. With that ^{4. 4.} he makes a further search thus 'Has this venerable one long perfected this praiseworthy idea, or recently perfected it?'. When he searches, he comes to know ^{found} that it has been long, not recently, perfected.

8. With that ^{4. 4.} he makes a further search thus 'Has this venerable one acquired renown, has he reached fame? Are certain dangers known in him ^{found} in this connexion known in him?'; for, although, as long as asceticism has not acquired renown a reader finds certain dangers in this connexion are not known in him, but as soon as he ^{has} ^{found} them ^{are} ^{4. 4.} When he searches, he comes to know ^{found} that he has and they are not.

9. With that ^{4. 4. 319} he makes a further search thus 'Does this venerable one ~~such that he is~~ fearlessly restrained ~~he~~ did not restrain out of fear, and ~~when~~ ^{when} ~~he~~ does not indulge in sensual desires ~~it~~ because he is without

lust, because of the exhaustion of lust?'. When he
searches, he comes to know that his restraint is
not out of fear and his non-indulgence in
sensual desire is because of exhaustion of lust.

10. Now if others should ask, that bikkhus (What are the
~~evidence~~ and ~~what necessary does~~ ^{where} ~~causes~~ and ~~inferences~~) the venerable one ~~said~~ that
he speaks ~~that~~ as he does of that venerable one? Then ^{answering rightly} ~~rightly~~ ^{answering} he would answer thus
That venerable one dwells in the community or
alone, ~~because~~ while there may be ^{some} ~~there~~
~~who are well behaved~~, and ~~there~~ who are ill behaved
~~and those who teach a group~~, and ~~some~~ who
show themselves fit for material things, and some
who are unsoiled by material things, still that
venerable one does not compare ~~the~~ one unfavorably at ~~the~~ another's expense. And I have
heard and learnt from that Blessed One own
lips, namely "I am fearlessly restrained and
not restrained out of fear, and I do not in-
dulge in sensual desires because I am without
lust, because of the exhaustion of lust".

11. On that, bikkhus, a Perfect one should
be questioned further thus 'Are ideas cognizable
through the eye and through the ear that are de-
filed ^{from} reason in a Perfect One, or not?', then,
answering, he would answer that they are not.
~~Is the question right?~~

12. [To the question] 'Are ideas cognizable
through the eye and through the ear that are
mixed ^{from} reason in a Perfect One, or not?', then
answering, he would answer that they are not.

13. [to the question] 'Are ideas cognizable through the eye and through the ear that are cleansed known in a Perfect One, or not?', answering, he would answer ~~it~~ that they are ^{it}.

14. [He would also say] 'I have that for my use and for my pasture. I remain aloof from it'.

15. The teacher who speaks thus is fit for a disciple to approach for the sake of hearing the True Idea. The Teacher shows him the True Idea at each higher level, at each superior [stage], with bright, dark and bright, counterpart. According as ~~the teacher~~, ^{the} teacher shows the True Idea to ~~the~~ bliskler in this way, so (the bliskler), having directly knowing some idea here in that True Idea, ³²⁰ reaches the ~~great~~ ^{great} ~~intention~~ culmination in True ideas. He has confidence in the Teacher thus 'The Blund One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the Community has entered on the good way'.

16. Now if others should ask ~~that~~ bliskler (~~what~~ ^{confidence} ~~is positive~~ ^{is given to him} ~~and~~ ^{and} ~~and necessary~~ ^{and necessary} ~~has~~ the venerable one ~~found~~ ^{found} that he speaks ^{it} as he does ^{it}?'). Then, answering rightly, he would answer thus 'Here, friends, I approached that Blund One for the sake of hearing the True Idea.

The Teacher showed me the True Idea at each higher [level], at each superior [stage], with the dark and bright counterparts. According as ~~she~~ he did so^{to}, I came to direct-knowledge here and now of a certain idea (namely a path) among the ideas (namely, the four paths) ~~lying~~ in that True Idea, and I reached [my] goal. I had confidence in the Teacher thus "The Blessed One is fully enlightened, the True Idea is well proclaimed, the community has entered on the good way".

see SIS

17. Bhikkhus when ^{played} someone's faith in a Perfect One is ^{wanted} /interested upon/, rooted and established with these evidences, these phrases and these syllables, then his faith is called supported by evidence, rooted in vision, ^{right sound} ~~present~~ and invincible by work or divine or Mara or Divinity or anyone in the world. That is how research with respect to a Perfect One is according to the True Idea, and that is how a Perfect One is well sought in accordance with the True Idea"

That is what the Blessed One said. The Bhikkhus were satisfied, and they delighted in his words.

Notes

- § 8 'nāttajjhepsana - has required reason':
natta not in P.T.S. Dict.
- 314 'No tammayā - aloof': see note to Sutta

, 113, §20 on etammayata = sloppiness.

316 The treatment of the ~~most~~ intricate use of the word 'dharma' (idea) here is guided by the Tīkā.

317 For 'saddhā nivṛtti' cf. Sutta 95, §20
saddhām nivesati

607

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 48 - Kosambiya Sutta (1, 5, 8)

1. Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Kosambi in Ghosita's Park.

2. Now on that occasion Kosambi bhikkhus had taken to quarrelling, ^{and} ~~disputes,~~ ^{and} ~~they were~~ ^{were} ~~stabbing~~ ^{so that} each other with verbal daggers, ^{so that} they neither notified each other nor heeded each other's notifications, and they neither reminded each other nor heeded each other's reminders.

3. Then ~~as~~ a certain bhikkhu went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, he ~~stood at one~~ sat down at one side, and when he had done so, he said:

"Venerable sir, bhikkhus here at Kosambi have taken to quarrelling, ^{and} ~~disputes,~~ ^{and} ~~they are~~ ^{were} ~~stabbing~~ ^{so that} each other with verbal daggers. ~~so that~~ They neither notify each other nor heed each others' notifications, ^{so that} they neither remind each other nor heed each other's reminders. Venerable sir, it would be good if the Blessed One went to those bhikkhus out of compassion".

4. Then the Blessed One addressed a certain bhikkhu thus & come, bhikkhu, tell those bhikkhus in my name that the Master calls them".

"Even so, venerable sir" he replied, and he went to those bhikkhus and told

Then the Master calls ~~you~~ the venerable ones».

«Even so, friend» they replied, and they went to the Blessed One, and after paying homage to him, they sat down at one side. When they had done so, the Blessed One asked them «Bhikkhus, is it true, as it seems, that you have taken to quarrelling and brawling and disputing, ~~and that you are~~ stabbing each other with verbal daggers, ~~so that~~ that you neither notify each other nor heed each others' notifications and neither remind each other nor heed each others' reminders?»

«Even so, venerable sir».

5. «Bhikkhus, how do you conceive this: On an occasion on which you take to quarrelling and brawling and disputing, ~~and~~ stabbing each other with verbal daggers, do you on that occasion maintain acts of lovingkindness in public and in private towards your companions in the hope divine acts of lovingkindness by body, speech and mind?»

«No, venerable sir».

«So, Bhikkhus, ~~you act~~ in that way. ~~that on an~~ ~~that is how you act~~, it seems, that on an occasion on which you take to quarrelling and brawling, and disputing, ~~and~~ stabbing each other with verbal daggers, on that occasion you do not maintain in public and in private towards your companions in the hope divine

603

acts of lovingkindness by body, speech and mind. Misguided men what can you possibly know, what can you see, that you like to quarrelling & banting, and ^{are always} disputing,³²² and stab each other with verbal daggers & ~~soul~~ that ~~that~~ does you neither notify each other nor heed each others' notifications, and neither require each other nor heed each others' reminders? Misguided men, that will be long for your harm and suffering >>.

6. Then the Blessed One addressed the bhikkhus thus:

& Bhikkhus, there are these six memorable ideas that create love and respect and conduce to helpfulness, to non-dispute, to concord, and to unity. What are the six?

Here a bhikkhu maintains ~~body, acts of~~
both in public and in private towards his fellow
companions in the life Divine ~~and~~ bodily acts of
lovingkindness. This is a memorable idea that
creates love and respect, and conduces to
helpfulness, to non-dispute, to concord and to unity.

Again a bhikkhu maintains ... verbal acts
of lovingkindness. This is a memorable idea ...
to unity.

Again a bhikkhu maintains ... mental acts
of lovingkindness. This is a memorable idea ...
to unity.

Again a bhikkhu is one who does not
use [things] sharing them with reservation among
his virtuous companions in the life Divine, he shares
~~in~~ ^{the} ~~virtuous~~ ^{spiritual} ~~life~~ ^{spiritual} accordance with the ~~True~~ ^{True} Idea ~~other~~
~~in a way~~

610

any gain of a kind in accordance with the true Idea that is obtained in a way in accordance with the true Idea, including even what is in his book, in common with them. This too is a memorable idea that creates love and respect and conduces to ... unity.

Again a blithely shrill's possessed,^g
both in public and in private before his
companions in the life Divine and in pri-
vate, of such virtues as are unbroken, un-
torn, unblotched unsmotted, liberating,
commanded by the wise, not misapprehended,
and conducive to concentration. This too is a
memorable idea that creates love and respect,
and conduces to ... unity.

Again a blithely shrill's possessed
both in public before his companions in the
life Divine and in private, of such vice as
is noble and an outlet, as ~~gives~~ rightly
to the exhaustion of suffering in him who
practices it. This too is a memorable idea
that creates love and respect and conduces
to helpfulness, to non-dispute, to concord,
and to ~~go~~ unity.

There are the six memorable ideas
~~that create~~ that create love and respect, and conduct to
helpfulness, to non-dispute, to concord, and
to unity.

7. Of these six ideas memorable ideas
~~that create~~ that create love and respect, and conduct to
helpfulness, to non-dispute, to concord, and
to unity. The highest, the most inclusive,
comprehensive,

and the most conclusive is this view that it is
noble and an outlet, that gives outlet rightly to
the exhaustion of suffering in him who practices
it. Just as ~~the pinnacles~~^{is} highest, the most
comprehensive and the most conclusive they
~~in a pinnacled building, so too is the pin-~~
~~nacle itself, so too, of these six memorable~~
~~ideas ... practices it.~~
³²³

8. And how does this view that it is noble
and an outlet, ~~that~~ gives outlet rightly to
the exhaustion of suffering in him who prac-
tices it?

Here a bhikkhu, gone to the forest or to
the root of a tree or to a house that is void,
considers thus: 'Is there any obsession unab-
andoned in myself such that with cognizance
obsessed by that obsession I might not know
or see in accordance with what actually is?'

9. If a bhikkhu is obsessed with lust for
sensual desires, then it is simply that his cognizance is obscured.
If he is obsessed by ill will, then his cogniz-
ance is obscured. If he is obsessed by lethargy-
and-drowsiness, then it is simply that his
cognizance is obscured. If he is obsessed by
agitation-and-worry, then it is simply that
his cognizance is obscured. If he is obsessed by
uncertainty, it is simply that his cognizance is
obscured. If a bhikkhu is absorbed ~~to~~ in the
cosmology of the world, then it is simply that his cogniz-
ance is obscured. If a bhikkhu is absorbed
in theology ^{of the other world}, then it is simply that his cognizance

If a thicket is given over to quarrelling and brawling and ~~disputing~~ is deep in disputes, then it is simply that his cognizance is obscured.

He understands thus 'There is no obsession abandoned in myself such that with cognizance obscured ~~with~~ by that obsession I might not know and see in accordance with what actually is. My mind is well disposed for the discovery of the truth awaking to the truths. This is the first kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane and not shared by ordinary people.'

Again as a noble disciple he considers thus 'When I repeat and develop and make much of this view, do I obtain serenity for myself, do I obtain extinguishment for myself ?'

He understands thus 'When I repeat and develop and make much of this view, I obtain serenity for myself, I obtain extinguishment for myself'. This is the second kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane and not shared by ordinary people.

Again, as a noble disciple he considers thus 'Is there [outside this [disposition] (any other mortal or divine) possessed of a view such as I am possessed of ?'

He understands thus 'There is no other mortal or divine outside this [disposi-

[ation] possessed of a view such I am possessed of'. This is the third kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane and not shared by ordinary people.

12. Again, as a noble disciple he considers thus 'Am I possessed of the ideal such as a person perfect in his view possesses?' Of ~~what is the ideal?~~ ~~What is the~~ ~~ideal?~~ ~~except what is the~~ ~~ideal?~~ ~~What is the~~ ~~ideal?~~ ~~whether~~ ~~what form is the ideal?~~ ~~that a person~~ ~~perfect in his view possesses?~~ ~~This is the~~ ~~ideal?~~ ~~or a person perfect in his view possesses?~~ ~~This is the~~ ~~ideal?~~ Although he ~~can~~ commit an offence of the kind for which ~~a~~ ~~way~~ of emergence from the offence ~~has been~~ described, still he at once confesses to the Teacher ~~to~~ ~~wise~~ companions in the ~~the~~ ~~Divine~~ ~~and, having~~ ~~done~~ ~~that~~, ~~he~~ ~~eats~~ ~~upon~~ ~~restraint~~ ~~for~~ ~~the~~ ~~future~~. Just as ~~a~~ ~~young~~ ~~tender~~ ~~prose~~ ~~infant~~ ~~at~~ ~~once~~ ~~draws~~ ~~back~~ ~~when~~ ~~he~~ ~~puts~~ ~~his~~ ~~hand~~ ~~or~~ ~~his~~ ~~foot~~ ~~on~~ ~~a~~ ~~live~~ ~~coal~~, so too, this is the ideal... restraint for the future.

He understands thus 'I am possessed of the ideal such as a person perfect in his view possesses'. This is the fourth kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane, and not shared by ordinary people.

13. Again, as a noble disciple he considers thus 'Am I possessed of the ideal such as a person perfect in his view possesses?' Of what form is the ideal? that a person perfect in his view possesses? ~~This is the ideal that a person perfect in his view possesses.~~ Although he

619

he may be active in any of the affairs
of his ~~his~~ companions in the life Divine,
be they important or unimportant, yet he
in has keen regard for training in the
higher virtue, training in the higher cognizance,
and training in the higher understanding.
Just as a newly-calved cow, ~~while she~~
~~bassoo grass~~ yet watches her calf while
she browses grass, so too, although he may be
active... in the higher understanding.

~~This is~~

He understands thus 'I am possessed
of the ideal such as a person perfect in
his view possesses'. This is the fifth kind of
knowledge that he has reached, and it is a
noble, supremum alone, and not shared
by ordinary people.

4. 325 Again, as a noble disciple he
considers thus 'Am I possessed of strength
such as a person perfect in his view pos-
sesses?' Of what form is the strength that
a person perfect in his view possesses? His
~~This is the strength that a person perfect in~~
~~his view possesses~~ When the True Idea and
the Discipline proclaimed by a Perfect One
is being taught, he needs, he gives
attention, he reacts with ~~all~~ his ~~whole~~ cogniz-
ance, he hears the True Idea with a
as one who gives ear.

He understands thus 'I am poss-
essed of strength such as a person per-

~~feet~~ in his view possesses'. This is the sixth kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane, and not shared by ordinary people.

15. Again, as a noble disciple he considers thus 'Am I possessed of strength such as a person ~~possessing~~ in his view possesses?' Of what form is the strength that a person perfect in his view possesses? It is ~~of~~ this: When the True Idea ~~taught~~ and Discipline proclaimed by a Perfect One is being taught, he finds inspiration in the meaning, he finds inspiration in the idea, and he finds gladness identifiable with the idea.

He understands thus 'I am possessed of strength such as a person perfect in his view possesses'. This is the seventh kind of knowledge that he has reached, and it is noble, supramundane, and not shared by ordinary people.

16. When a noble disciple is thus possessed of seven factors, ~~he~~ ~~ideal~~ has been well sought ~~but~~ ^{the} ideal ~~for the sake of~~ the realization of the fruit of Stream Entry. When a noble disciple is thus possessed of seven factors, he is possessed of the fruit of Stream Entry.

That is what the Blessed One said. The children were delighted, and they delighted in his words.

Wrote a lot. Remained near home in
the house until about 10 o'clock at
p.m. and then went to the beach.
Slept in again. It is a nice
house. Very comfortable. The
bedroom has a balcony off it.
The bathroom is very large and
modern. The house is in the middle
of a large plot of land. There
is a swimming pool and a
large deck area. The exterior
of the house is made of
natural stone and wood.

617
Majjhima Nikaya 49 - Brahma nimantanika Sutta
(1, 5, 9)

i. ~~325~~ Thus I heard.

On one occasion the Blessed One was living at Sāvatthi in Jetavaro, Anāṭapindīka's Park. There he addressed the Bhikkhus thus & Bhikkus — "Venerable sir" they replied. The Blessed One said this.

2. "Bhikkus, on one occasion I was living at Ukkathā in the Subhagagrove at the root of a ^{Royal} Sāla Tree ~~specious~~ ^{pernicious} ~~view~~.

3. Now on that occasion ~~of those~~ ^{had arisen} in the (Brahmā) Divinity Baka ~~the following~~ ^{specious} view thus: "This is permanent, this is everlasting, this is eternal, this is ^{totality} sole, this is not inseparable from the idea of ~~death~~ ^{permanence}; for this is neither born nor ages nor dies nor passes away nor reappears; and ~~there is no escape~~ beyond this there is no escape".

4. ~~I~~ ^{Knowing} with cognizance the saying and thought in the (Brahmā) Divinity Baka, so just as a strong man might extend his flexed arm or flex his extended arm, I vanished at the Sāla tree root in the Subhaga grove at Ukkathā and appeared in ~~that~~ the world of that Divinity. The (Brahmā) Divinity saw me coming. Seeing me, he said 'Come,

good sir, welcome, good sir; it is long,
good sir, since you made an occasion to
come here. Now, good sir, this is permanent,
this is everlasting, this is eternal, this
is ^{totality} ~~whole~~, this is not inseparable from the
idea of passing away; for this neither is born
nor ages nor dies nor passes away nor re-
appears; and there is no escape beyond
this there is no escape.

5. When this was said, I told the (Brahmā)
Divinity Baka & the worthy (Brahmā) Divinity
Baka is ignorant ^{was lapped} fallen into ignorance; he
has fallen into ignorance, in that he says of
the impermanent that it is permanent, of
of the ~~impermanence~~ everlasting that it is everlasting, of
the unmaterial that it is material, of the non-
~~total~~ total that it is ~~total~~, of what is inseparable
that it is separable, of what is impermanent
from the idea of passing away that it is not
inseparable from the idea of passing away, of
what is born, ages, dies, passes away, and
reappears, that it neither is born nor ages nor
dies nor passes away nor reappears, that
and of that beyond ~~this~~ there is an escape
~~that~~ there is no escape beyond it.

6. Then Mara the Evil One entered into
a member of the Divinity's ^{aspirant} ~~service~~, and he told
me 'Whiskers, whiskers, do not disbelieve

him, do not disbelieve him; for this Divinity is the great ^{Divinity}, ~~Divinity~~ Transcendent, the Transcended, ~~the highest Master~~, ^{that High Praise} Lord Maker and Creator, ~~the person~~, Master and Father of ~~those~~ that are ~~now~~ ^{ever} ~~being~~ are and ~~not~~ ^{ever} caught. Before your time, blikkhu, there were worlds and divines in the world who condemned earth, ^{through} ~~with~~ disgust with earth, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with water, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with fire, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with air, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with beings, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with gods, ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with Ra-jāpati (head of the Race) ~~and~~ ^{with} ~~disgust~~ with Ra-jāpati, who condemned the (Brahmā) Divinity ~~with~~ ^{through} his disgust for the Divinity; ~~and~~ ^{and} on the dissolution of the body, ~~after~~ ^{when} their breath was cut off, they became established in an inferior body.

Before your time, blikkhu, there were also worlds and divines in the world who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} earth, ^{through} ~~delight~~ in earth, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} water, ^{through} ~~delight~~ in water, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} fire with delight in fire, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} air with delight in air, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} beings with delight in beings, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} gods with delight in gods, who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} Ra-jāpati with delight in Ra-jāpati; who ~~praised~~ ^{lauded} the (Brahmā) Divinity ^{through} ~~delight~~ in the Divinity; and on the dissolution of the body, when their breath was cut off, they

620

became
were established in a superior body. So,
blabber, I tell you this: ~~good sir~~ Be sure,
good sir, to do only ~~what~~^{as} the Divinity
says; ~~do not go beyond~~^{never overstep} the Divinity's word.
If you ~~go beyond~~^{overstep} the Divinity's word, blabber,
then ~~just~~^{just} like a man ~~try~~^{is} to defeat
~~a~~<sup>a ~~beaut~~^{beaut} of eight ~~light~~^{light}, ~~but~~^{and} smote when
with a stick ~~a~~^a light ray, ~~but~~^{and} smote when
it comes or ~~just~~^{just} like a man ~~try~~^{is}
~~lying~~^{stepping} in ~~the~~^{the} earth with his hands and feet
~~stepping~~^{stepping} into a deep chasm, so it will
as he ~~goes~~^{steps} into a deep chasm, so it will
~~betray~~^{betray} you, blabber. Be sure, good sir,
to do only as the Divinity says; ~~do not go~~^{never}
~~beyond~~^{beyond} the Divinity's word. Do you not
see the Divine ~~Assembly~~^{Assembly} seated [here];
blabber? And Mara the Evil One, thus ~~said~~^{called to witness}
~~the~~^{the} ~~Divine Assembly~~^{Assembly}, ad ~~blabber~~^{blabber}
angry the Divine Assembly.</sup>

7. When this was said, I told Mara the
Evil One "I know you, Evil One; do not con-
ceive ~~it~~ "He does not know me". You are
Mara, ~~the~~ Evil One, and the Divinity, and the
Divine Assembly and the members of the Di-
vine Assembly have all fallen into your
hands, they have all fallen into your power.
You, Evil One, [think] thus "This one too has
fallen into my hands, he too has fallen into
my power"; but I have not fallen into
your hands, Evil One, I have not fallen into
your power".

d. When this was said, Baka the Divinity told me is 'Good Sir, I say of the permanent that it is permanent, ~~332~~ of the everlasting that it is everlasting, of the ~~eternal~~^{total} that it is eternal, & the ~~whole~~^{truth} that it is total; of what is not separable from the idea of passing away that it is not inseparable from the idea of passing away, of what neither is born nor ages nor dies, nor passes away nor reappears that it neither is born nor ages nor dies nor passes away nor reappears, and of that beyond which there is no escape that there is no escape beyond it. Before your time, thinker there were mortals and divines in the world whose asceticism lasted as long as your whole life. They knew, when there was an escape beyond, that there was an escape beyond, and when there was no escape beyond, that there was no escape beyond. So, thinker, I tell you this: you will find no escape beyond, however much and eventually you will reap weariness and disappointment if you accept ^{and believe in} earth, you will ^{one day} lie near to me, to lie ^{in my power} to my people, and shall ^{and believe in} and punish ~~you~~ (it). If you accept water, ... fire, ... air, ... beings, ... gods, ... ^{be with} ~~you~~ ^{and believe in} Pajapati, ... if you accept the Divinity, you will lie near to me, to lie in my ^{and} within my ^{for me} service to people ^{and} will urge ^{will believe in} and shall do with and punish you as I like.

9. "I (too) know this, Divinity: If I accept caste,
I shall be guilty to you. So lie within your province
for you. I may you will honor and punish me as you
~~want~~

622

like. If I accept water, or ~~fire~~^{air}, ...
 beings, ... gods, ... Pajapati, ... the Divinity, I
 shall be near to you and live within your province,
 and you will donate me and punish me as you
 like! ~~Very~~^{Now} I understand your ~~sway~~^{ways} and
 I understand your ~~ways~~^{ways} thus: The Divinity
 Baka has ^{this much} great power to such extent, the Divinity
 Baka has ^{this much} might to such extent, the Divinity
 Baka has ^{this much} great following to such extent".

"Now, good sir, to what ~~extent~~^{reach} do you
 understand my ~~destination~~^{ways} and understanding
 your ~~ways~~^{ways} to extent?"

10 "As far as moon and sun do circulate
 Shining and lighting up the four directions,
 Over a thousand times as ^{wide} ~~great~~ a world,
 Your power holds unquestionable sway.
 can extant its influence".

It is in this way, Divinity, that I understand
your destination and
and then you know the high and low as well,
And then ~~you~~^I understand your reach
and understand your sway ~~too~~^{also}. The Divinity
 Baka has ^{this much} great power, the
 Divinity Baka has ^{this much} great might, the
 Divinity Baka has ^{this much} great following".

"Therefore, ~~do~~^I understand your reach
 That, Divinity, ~~is~~^{not} understand your reach
 and understand your sway ~~too~~^{also}. The Divinity
 Baka has ^{this much} great power, the
 Divinity Baka has ^{this much} great might, the
 Divinity Baka has ^{this much} great following".
 Divinity, there are three other great bodies
 which you neither know nor see, and which I
 know and see. There is the Akshamala

623

Body called Abhassara, from which you passed away and reappeared here [where you are now]. With long dwelling [here] your mind fulness of that has lapsed, and hence you do not remember or see it, but I know and see it. Standing thus as I do, not on the ~~same~~^{that} level of direct know-

~~ledge, Hillewood~~ not less (but more than) you.

12. There is the Body called Subhakina...
13. There is the Body called Vehappala, and you do not know or see that, but I know and see it. Standing thus too, as I do, not on the same level of direct knowledge, I know not less than ~~I know but~~ more than you.
14. Divinity, having from earth direct knowledge of earth, and having had direct knowledge of what is not co-essential with the earthiness of earth, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} that I be earth, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} not ~~be~~^{exist} in earth, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} ~~not~~^{not} ~~be~~^{exist} in earth, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} ~~not~~^{not} ~~be~~^{exist} apart from earth, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} ~~not~~^{not} ~~be~~^{exist} make earth ~~be mine~~, I did not ~~speak~~^{claim} ~~not~~^{not} ~~be~~^{exist} earth. Standing thus too, as we do, not on the same level of direct knowledge, I know not less but more than you.
15. Divinity, having had direct knowledge ~~from water~~ of water, ...
16. ... from fire ...
17. ... from air ...
18. ... from living ...
19. ... from gods ...

20. ... from Pajapati...
21. ... from the Divinity...
22. ... from those of the Abharrava...
23. ... from those of the Subhalavas...
24. ... from those of the Vachapphala...
25. ... from the Transcendent Being (Athitī)...
26. Having had from all direct knowledge of all, and having had direct knowledge of what is not co-essential with the allness of all, I did not ~~claim~~^{claim} that [that] be ~~make~~^{make} [that] be all. I did not ~~make~~^{claim} [that] be apart from in all, I did not ~~make~~^{claim} [that] be apart from all. I did not ~~make~~^{claim} all, be 'Mine', I did not affirm ~~a affirmation of my consciousness~~ ~~transcendent~~ of all.
- point
arrest
see 22
27. Standing thus too, as we do, ~~on~~^{at} the same level of direct knowledge, I know not less, but more ~~than~~^(claim) ~~have~~^{been} ~~seen~~^{to have seen}.
28. "Good sir, if you ~~have~~^{been} ~~seen~~^{to have seen} what is not co-essential with the allness of All, may you not [find your claim] empty! and hollow!"

29. "The Consciousness that makes no showing, nor has to do with finiteness,
~~not~~^{claiming} ~~being~~^{with respect to} apart from all:
- That is not co-essential with the earthiness of earth, nor co-essential with the wateriness of water, ... ~~nor~~³³⁰ nor co-essential with the allness of all".

29. "In that case, good sir, I shall ^{vanish} from you": a In that case, Divinity, vanish from me if you will, then the Divinity, Balott, [saying] "I shall vanish from the monk Gotama, I shall vanish from the monk Gotama", was unable to vanish.

^{(In that case,}

When this was said, I said ~~to all the~~ ^{(In that case,} Divinity,
 I shall vanish from you.' ^{(In that case,}
 'Well then, good sir, vanish from me ^{then,}
 if you can'.

Then I ~~wrote~~ ^{determined} a ~~list~~ ^{of} superhuman
 success ~~so~~ and thus ~~the~~ ^{With} extent of the Divinity
 and the Divinity's Assembly and the members of
 the Divinity's Assembly they shall hear ~~the~~
 the sound of me without seeing me', and after
 I had vanished I uttered this stanza:

30. 'I have seen fear in every mode of being
 including being seeking for non-being;
 there is no mode of being I affirm,
 And no ~~desire~~ ^{desire} ~~at all~~ ^{which} I cling'.
31. At that the Divinity and the Divinity's ~~As-~~
 ssembly and the members of the Divinity's As-
 sembly wondered and marvelled, and they said.
 'It is wonderful, ~~good~~ ^{great} sirs, it is marvellous that
 great success and might the monk Gotama has
 We have never before seen or heard any other
 monk or divine who had such great success and
 such great might as has this monk Gotama
 who went forth from a Sakyan Clan! Sirs, ~~though~~ ⁱⁿ
 a generation that delights in being loves being,
 is glad of being he has ~~been born~~ ^{entered} being together
 with its root!'
32. Then Nara the exile entered into a
 member of the Divinity's Assembly, and he
 said to me 'Good sir, if you know, if that
 is what you have discovered, do not lead us

[say] disciples or those gone forth,
 do not teach the ~~the~~ Idea to your [say]
 disciples or those gone forth, ~~do not~~ create no
~~yearning~~ in your [say] disciples or those gone
 forth. Before your time, bikkhus, there
 were monks and divines in the world, ~~acc-~~
~~omplished and fully~~ claiming to be accom-
 plished and fully enlightened, and they led
 their [say] disciples on and those gone forth,
 they taught the ~~the~~ Idea to their [say] dis-
 ciples and those gone forth, they created
~~yearning~~ in their [say] disciples and those gone
 forth; and on the dissolution of the body,
 when their breath was cut off, they became
 established in an inferior body. Before your
 time, bikkhus, there were also monks and
 divines in the world, claiming to be accom-
 plished and fully enlightened, ^{say} ~~and did~~ and did
 not lead their [say] disciples on and those gone
 forth, they did not teach the idea to their [say]
 disciples and those gone forth, they ~~did not~~ created
~~yearning~~ in their [say] disciples and
 those gone forth; and on the dissolution of the
 body, when their breath was cut off, they be-
 came established in a superior body. So bikk-
 hukku, I tell you this: Be sure, good sir, to
 abide inactive devoted to ~~the~~ a pleasant abiding
 here and now; ^{that is better} ~~together an hundred,~~ ~~is good,~~
 and so ~~do not choose another~~ good in, ~~advice~~
~~no other~~ no one else.

33.

When this was said, I told them the
 Evil One ~~said~~ "I know you, Evil One; do not
 conceive "He does not know me". You are ~~not~~
~~the~~ Evil One; it is not out of compassion
 for welfare that you speak thus, it is ~~also~~
 of without compassion for welfare that you
 speak thus. You [think] thus, Evil One, "How
 to whom the monk Gotama teaches the True
 Idea will ~~be~~ go beyond my field". More
 works and diversities of yours, Evil One, who claim
 to be accomplished and fully enlightened, were
 not accomplished and fully enlightened. But,
 I, ~~claim~~ who claim to be accomplished and
 fully enlightened, am accomplished and fully
 enlightened. When teaching the True Idea to
 disciples, ~~such is~~ a Perfect one, ~~is~~ ^{Evil One} ~~such as~~ when
 not leading the True idea to ~~disciples~~ a Perfect
 one; and when leading his disciples on such is
 a Perfect One; and when not leading his disciples
 on such is a perfect one. Why is that? Be-
 cause ~~such~~ ^{such} cancers ~~are~~ ^{as} ~~deplete,~~ ^{as} ~~reven-~~
~~geant~~ ^{as} ~~and~~ ^{as} ~~prosper,~~ ^{as} ~~an~~ ^{such} ~~suffering~~,
~~as~~ ^{as} ~~being~~ ^{as} ~~future~~ ^{as} ~~suffering~~,
~~and~~ ^{as} ~~to~~ ^{as} ~~future~~ ^{as} ~~death~~,
 are cut off at the root, made like a palm
 stump, done away with, so that they are no
 more inseparable from the idea of future
 arising. Just as a ~~palm~~ tree whose crown
 is cut off is incapable of further growth, so
 too, the cancers that deplete, ... so ~~that they~~
 are no more inseparable from the idea of arising.

34. So on account of Māra's being ~~able~~^{60c} unable to say more, and on account of the Divinity's invitation, ~~as a token for~~
this discourse is 'On the Divinity's invitation of the Divinity' is a title for this discourse".

Notes

~~§ 3~~ 'Kavala - totality' cf. Kavalin at Sutta

91, § 32.

§ 6 Māra in the Brahma Sutta & Sutta 25?

§ 7 note substitution of 'when their breath was cut off' for the usual 'after death' when spoken by the Buddha himself.

§ 8 the only use of the word Kasiṇa, as an adj. in the Pāṭikas, apparently. Cf. with Sutta 22, § 25 describing the ^{to} Contemplations.

§ 10 bhāti (they are shining) from bhāti; the form is not in P.T.S. Dict. ^{90.116} ^{XXXVI}

§ 14 for construction cf. Sutta 1 & Saṅguttā. ^{anantam}

§ 27 'vijñānam and amānañī sabbato patti' ^{anantam}
The consciousness invisible... departure-point for all: this is the first line of a verse at D. Birmere
editions and copy here "...tukha-kām era
shorū ti (empty & hollow)', terminating the Divinity's state went here. What Māra ^{is} then spoke
to the Buddha as far as "...sabbana sabbathena
anantabutam (not coincident with the allness of all)! Here a 'ti' seems to be missing in all ed.
itions. The Birmere must be the right reading.

See quotation of verse intact of copy in T. S. 102.

R (Ch. Vijnānam anandam brahma - quoted by T.V.R. Sruoti in The Central Philosophy of Buddhism, p. 197?)

529

The phrase viññānaś ca idaś aranu anuttari sabbatopeble occurs also in a verse in the Kevaddha Sutta (D. Sutta) and it is quoted at the end of the long. to it. Sutta 102.

The Sumangalavilāsinī says "consciousness" = the cognizable (vijñatabbā ti viññāna), this is a name for nibbāna. That itself is "invisiblē (anidassana) the cause of its absence & invisibility". It has no end (anta) as arising or end as fall or end as alteration (See A. i.,), thus it is ānanda (ananta (infinite)). "Pabbati" (embarking point)" however, is apparently (kira) a name for a quay (tītha); for that is water (pāpa) since they take to the water (pāpanti) there; but in the word pāpanti the syllable tha has been substituted for the syllable ta [giving] pabbati. It has an embarking point ~~in~~ in all ways (sabbato pabbati), thus it ~~is~~ an embarking point from all (sabbato pabbati). Just as in the case of the great ocean there there is a quay (tītha) wherever one wants to embark, so too nibbāna apparently (kira) has an embarking point in each of the 38 meditation subjects, and by whichever means one wants to embark for nibbāna that means itself is the embarking point, there being none that is not an embarking place for nibbāna. Hence "sabbato pabbati" (embarking point from all)" is said.

The Pāpanca sūdāni is not satisfied, and ~~it is to go in like~~ gives three alternatives:

(1) "consciousness" = what can be cognized (viññāna ti vijñatabbā ~~consciousness~~ ~~what can be cognized~~) ~~it is called invisible because of not coming into the field of eye-consciousness. Nibbāna itself is expressed by these two words. "Infinite / ananta". it is called infinite because of being~~
 X for it cannot be said that there is in rise and fall; for this or no nibbāna (that nibbāna does not exist) anywhere in any one of the directions beginning with the eastern direction ^X ~~is an end;~~

~~end is seen,~~

~~marked by ends" ().~~

(1) "Sabbato pabbati", it is perfect in radiance in all respects (sabbato pabbati sampannai); for there is no ~~shining~~ ~~shining~~ more radiant more brilliant, more purified, more translucent, than nibbāna. (2) Or else it is furnished with being in all respects (sabbato va pabbati); there is nowhere where ~~there is no such a thing~~ ~~such a thing~~; thus, it is sabbato pabbati.

(3) Or else pabbati is a name for a quay (tītha), then sabbato pabbati ~~as a~~ = sabbato pabbati (it has a quay for all, the

Directions beginning with the eastern direction

is not satisfied

X Directions beginning with the eastern direction

630

an embarkation point from all, thus it is "an embarkation point from all"). Just as in the case of the great Ocean... from here one repeats sunāgala vīraṇī vṛstātī ... Hence "sabbatopathāni (embarkation point from all)" is said.

Majjhima Nikāla elaborates (1) with a play on the words patherā (radical) and patherāna (translucent) see A. i, 10) on (2), it adds "... ^(existing) permeated with being (patherāna eva)": it is known by its elevated sun and exaltedness (patherāttha bhūma vichakthabharava vijānāna). Because it cannot be pointed out made visible (adicitta) owing to its formlessness (paripūravāna) it altogether --- (2) vijāti is known (exists), thus it is sabbatopathāni (vijāti bhāvāna adicitta-sabbato patherā (?) vijāti, sabbatopathāni); that is why he said "beginning with the eastern direction". They enter here, thus it is an entry (parivasa-ttha ti parivasi); by substituting in the word parivasa (entry) the syllable bhā for the syllable sa and dropping the syllable va we have patherā.

Renditions following the commentary would be as follows:

- (1) Cognizable, invisible, infinite, shining more than all;
- (2) Cognizable, invisible, infinity, that above all is;
- (3) Cognizable, invisible, infinite, embarked upon from all.

In the Dīghanikāya already shows uncertainty with the word karo.¹ No other instance of the use of vijānāna (name ≠ consciousness) for vijānatobba or vijānatobba (gerundive to be cognized, cognizable); metri causa is no reason vijāna vijānayo (the alternative gerundive form) could have been used. Also none of the 3 alternatives, neither very satisfactory sense, particularly with the preceding latter para.

No. 20 connects patherā with the root bhu (to be). Now having regard to the use of nāpahorī (Burmese reading preferable to the Chinese + P.T.S.) in § 14-26 it is quite possible to read sabbatopathāni as sabbato apatherā, taking apatherā as negative present participle of patherā-pa-bharati representing the nāpahorī in relation to the sabbā § 26. The sense then follows:

Vijānāna (the karo) = consciousness, which is anidamana (does not make seen, saññā: noun used as adj. to refer to the and has reference to the did appearance in § 29.), with saññā = it

(1) "Note predication ~~of all~~
apart from All")

631
avanta (infinite: noun and as adj. e.g. avanta akaso),
 and which does not ascribe any state of being to "all"
is sabbat ~~for~~ sabbatapathai (not ascribing any state of
 being is sabbat apathai (not creating and not being of
 "all") - construction of abf. as with bhayat' upathai +
 pres. pt. (apathai [from a + pahoti (= pathavati); abf verbal
 adj.]). The sense of the last can be compared with
 the use of kumprabhavai (what ^{depends it with} is being?) at Sutta
 11, § 16 etc., and ^{it can be} paraphrased there truly by "not predi-
 cating (st. abf.) being ~~of~~ ^{in relation to} 'all'" or "not asserting of 'all' that
 it ~~is~~ ^{or is not} in the absolute sense' (for 'all' see 3. iv).
 This interpretation will be found to fit the Digha context
 quite as well as this. (M. 38, §§ 10 ff. visits on the
 Contingency of pahoti (bhava).)

N.B.-

anidassana as epithet of nibbana 3. XLII, 22
 See 5. XII sabbai allu etc. + 5. XXXV
 sabbavagga (vol. II, 15)

As regards explanation (1): the word pabha (shining)
 applied to what is also called anidassana (unseen
 or invisible) needs reconciling. ~~see also Self consciousness~~

see use of pahoti in Sutta M7 1 § 34

Do pabha (pahai) have any connexion
 with pabbava (e.g. 5. III, 32)?

See Sutta 26, § 25 Sabbabbubhu, Sabbavidicchavam.

✓ Majjhima Nikāya 50 - Māra tañjana ga Sutta (1,5,10)

63

1. 332 Thus I heard.

On one occasion the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna was living in the Bhagga country at Sunisumāra gīva in the Pherakala grove, the deer park.

2. Now on that occasion the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna was walking up and down in the open. And on that occasion Māra the Evil One went into the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna's belly and entered his rectum. Then the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna considered thus & Why is my belly so heavy? One would think it full of salt beans? Then he left the walk and went into his dwelling, where he sat down on a seat prepared.

3. When he had sat down, he gave renewed attention to himself. Then he saw that Māra the Evil One had gone into his belly and entered his rectum. When he saw him, he said & Come out, Evil One; come out, Evil One; do not vex a Perfect One, do not vex a Perfect One's disciple, lest it be long for your harm and suffering.

4. Then Māra the Evil One [thought] & This monk does not know, he does not see, when he says ⁴ That, & even his teacher would not know me so soon, so how can this disciple know me?

5. Then the venerable Mahā-Moggallāna

said & Even thus I know you, evil One; do not conceive 'He does not know me'. You are Mara, evil One. You were [thinking] thus, evil One 'This monk does not know, he does not see, when he says it that I. Even his teacher would not know me so soon, so how can this disciple know me?'

6. Then Mara & the evil One thought] 'The monk knew, he saw, when he said it that I.', whereupon he ³⁵³ came up from the Venerable Maha Moggallana's mouth and stood against the door bar.

7. The venerable Maha Moggallana saw him standing there, and when he saw him, he said 'I see you there too, evil One. Do not conceive thus 'He does not see me'. You are standing against the door bar, evil One.'

8. It happened once, evil One, that I was a Mara called Dusī, and I had a ~~girl~~ sister called Kāti. You were her son, so you were my nephew.

9. Now on that occasion the Blessed One Kakusandha, accomplished and fully enlightened, had appeared in the world. The Blessed One Kakusandha, accomplished and fully enlightened had ^{several} ~~a pair~~ of chief disciples called Vidyūra and Sañjīva. Among all the disciples of the Blessed One Kakusandha, accomplished and fully enlightened, there was none

equal to the venerable Vidyura in ~~knowledge~~
teaching the True Idea. That was how the
venerable Vidyura came to have the designation
'Vidyura, Vidyura (~~the Marvellous~~)'. But the
venerable Sañjiva, gone to the forest, a to
the root of a tree, or to a house that is void, and
entered without ^{my} ~~any~~ ~~effort~~ upon the cessation of
perception and feeling.

10. It happened once, girl Orie, that the
venerable Sañjiva had seated himself at the
root of a certain tree and entered upon the ces-
sation of perception and feeling. Some cowherds,
⁸⁶ shepherds and ploughmen ~~and travellers~~ ^{passing by} saw
the venerable Sañjiva, who was sitting at the
root of the tree having entered upon the cessation
of perception and feeling. When they saw him,
they [thought] 'It is wonderful, sis, it is mar-
vellous! There is this monk sitting here dead.
Let us cremate him'. Then the cowherds, shepherds,
^{and} ploughmen and travellers passing by collected
grass and wood and cow dung, and piled it
up against the venerable Sañjiva's body, they
set fire to it and went on their way.

11. Now, girl Orie, when the night was ended,
the venerable Sañjiva emerged from the attainment
^{He} and shook his robe, and then, it being morning,
he dressed, and taking his bowl and outer robe
he went into the village for alms. The cowherds,
shepherds and ploughmen passing by saw the

reverend Sañjiva wandering for alms, when they saw him they [thought] 'It is wonderful, sir, it is marvellous! This monk who was sitting there dead is still alive!' ³³⁴ ~~That way that~~
~~that way that~~ That was how the venerable Sañjiva came to have the designation 'Sañjiva, Sañjiva (the Survivor)'.

12. Then, Evil One, the Mara Devī [said]

thus 'There are these virtuous bhikkhus inseparable from the idea of good; but I do not know their provenance or their destination. What now if I enter ¹²⁸ into the Divine-caste householders [telling to them] "Come now, abuse and scold and curse and ^{threaten} ~~scold~~ virtuous bhikkhus inseparable from the idea of good; then perhaps when they are abused and scolded and cursed and reviled by you, there will be some change in their ^{the same} minds cognizance where by ^{the Mara} Dūti may find an opportunity".

13. Then, Evil One, the Mara Devī entered

into those Divine-caste householders [telling them] 'Come now, abuse and scold and curse and ^{threaten} ~~scold~~ virtuous bhikkhus inseparable from the idea of good; then perhaps, when they are abused and scolded and cursed and ^{scolded} ~~scolded~~ by you, some change will come about in their cognizance where by ^{the Mara} Dūti may find an opportunity'. Then when the Mara Devī had entered into the Divine-caste householders, they abused and scolded and

657 cased and ~~threatened~~ the virtuous beldam's respects
 from the idea of good thus 'These bald-head monkeys
 95 | ~~shavelings, these dwarfs, these~~ ~~are~~ ~~not~~ offspring of the
~~days, these~~ ~~of man~~ ~~are~~ ~~not~~ offspring of the
 Kinsman's feet, [claim] "We are illuminated
 we are illuminated!" and with ~~the~~ shoulders drooping,
 and heads down, all limp, ~~they~~ get illuminated
 and over-illuminated and illuminated and re-
 illuminated, again. Just ~~like~~ as an owl on a branch

108 | ~~when it is~~ waiting for a mouse gets illuminated and
 over-illuminated and illuminated and re-illuminated,
 or just as a jackal on a river-bank waiting
 for a fish gets illuminated and over-illuminated
 and illuminated and re-illuminated again, or
 just as a cat by a door-post and a dust-bin and
 a drain waiting for a mouse gets illuminated and
 over-illuminated and illuminated and overillumi-
 nated, again or just as a dog
unloaded [standing] by a door-post or a dust-bin

or a drain gets illuminated and over-illuminated
 and illuminated and re-illuminated — so too,
 there ^{English shavelings, ~~these~~ ~~are~~ ~~not~~} ~~bald-head monkeys,~~
~~are~~ ~~not~~ offspring of the Kinsman's feet, [claim]
 "We are illuminated, we are illuminated!" with
 shoulders drooping, and heads down, and all
 limp they get illuminated and over-illuminated
 and illuminated and re-illuminated!" Now,
 evil one, most of those former beings ~~abandoned~~
~~on that occasion~~ reappeared on the dissolution
 of the body, after death in a state of degradation,

in an unhappy destination, in perdition, even in hell.

- 335 Then the Blessed One Kākusandha, accdg.
 14. 558 listed and fully enlightened, addressed the bhikkhus thus "Bhikkhus, the divine-caste householders have been entered into by the Māra Dūrī [telling them] "Come now, abuse and scold and curse and threaten ~~the~~ virtuous bhikkhus inseparable from the idea of good; then perhaps, when ~~they~~ are abused and scolded and cursed and threatened by you some change will come about in their cognizance whereby the Māra Dūrī will find an opportunity". Come, bhikkhus, abide with cognizance endowed with loving-kindness extending over one quarter, likewise the second, likewise the third, likewise the fourth, and so above, below, ~~and~~ around, everywhere, and to all as to yourselves abide with abundant, exalted, measureless, an afflicted cognizance of loving-kindness ^{all-embracing} extending over the ~~cattle~~, world. Abide with cognizance endowed with compassion ... with gladness ... abide with cognizance endowed with overlooking (equanimity) extending ... over the ~~cattle~~ ^{all-embracing} world.

15. ^{So} Thus, 2nd One, when those bhikkhus had been thus advised and instructed by the Blessed One Kākusandha, accomplished and fully enlightened, thick, gone to the forest or to the root of a tree or to a house that is void, they abode with

cognizance endued with loving-kindness extending ...
with cognizance endued with compassion ... with glad-
ness ... they abode with cognizance endued with
outlooking (equanimity) extending ~~over~~ ... over
the all-embracing world.

16 Then, Evil One, the Māra Dūrī [convinced
er'd] thus 'Though I do as I am doing, still I
do not know the provenance and destination of
these virtuous blithes inseparable from
the idea of good. Whether if I enter into the
Divine-caste householders (telling them) "Come
now, honour, respect, rever and venerate ~~the~~
virtuous blithes inseparable from the idea of good;
~~then~~ perhaps when they are honoured, respected,
revered and venerated by you, some change will
come about in their cognizance whereby ~~the~~
the Māra Dūrī may find an opportunity'.

17. Then, Evil one, the Māra Dūrī entered into
those Divine-caste householders (telling them)
'Come now, honour, respect, rever and venerate
the virtuous blithes inseparable from the idea
of good; then perhaps when they are honoured,
respected, revered and venerated by you; some
change will come about in their cognizance
whereby the Māra Dūrī may find an opportunity.
Then when the Māra Dūrī had entered into
the Divine-caste householders, they honoured,
respected, revered and venerated virtuous blithes
inseparable from the idea of good. Now, Evil One,
on the occasion next of those human beings when
they died reappeared, on the desecration of the body.

after death, in a happy destination, even in
the heavenly world.

18. Then, Evil One, the Blessed One Kaka
Sanda, accomplished and fully enlightened,
addressed the bhikkus thus [bhikkus, the
divine-caste householders have been entered
into by the Mara Dūsī] "Come now,
honour, respect, revere and reverate virtues
bhikkus inseparable from the idea of good; then
perhaps, when they are honoured, respected, re-
vered and venerated by you, some change will
come about in their cognizance whereby the
Mara Dūsī may find an opportunity". Come,
bhikkus, abide contemplating ugliness in
the body, perceiving repulsiveness in nutri-
ment, perceiving disenchantment with all
the world, contemplating impermanence in all
determinations?

19. So, Evil One, when these bhikkus had
been thus advised and instructed by the
Blessed One Kaksasanda, accomplished and
fully enlightened, then, gone to the forest or
to the root of a tree or to a house that is void,
they abode contemplating ugliness in the body,
perceiving repulsiveness in nutrient, per-
ceiving disenchantment with all the world,
contemplating impermanence in all determi-
nations.

20. Then, when it was morning, the Blessed
One Kaksasanda, accomplished and fully En-

lightened, dressed, and taking his bowl and [outer] robe, he went into the village for alms with the venerable Vidyārūpa as his attendant monk.

21. Then the Mara Dūsī entered into a certain boy and picking up a stone he struck the venerable Vidyārūpa ^{with} ~~on~~ head with it and broke his head.

~~With~~ With blood running from his broken head, ³³⁷ the venerable Vidyārūpa followed close behind. The Blessed One, ^{Kakusandha} accomplished and fully enlightened. Then the Blessed One Kakusandha, accomplished and fully enlightened ~~looked at him~~ [turned round and] looked at him with the tusker's look & 'This Mara Dūsī ~~does not know no~~ ~~exists~~', and with the ~~does not know no~~ ~~exists~~, and with the cloak, Evil One, the Mara Dūsī fell from that place and reappeared in the Great Hell.

22. Now, Evil One, there are those names for the Great Hell: The [Hell of the] Six Bases for Contact, the [Hell of the] Impalement with Stakes, and the [Hell] ~~to~~ To Be Felt for One self. Then, Evil One, the warden of hell came up to me and they said 'Good sir, when stake meets stake in your heart, then you will know "I have been ^{existing} in hell for a thousand years".'

23. For many ^{a century} ^{"year"}, Evil One, for many hundred years, for many thousand years I stood in that great hell. For ten roasted

M. 50

millennium I steered in the prominence
of the great Hell experiencing the feeling
~~of~~ of emergence from ripening. My body had
the same form as a human, body, 246 Dec,
but my head had the form of a fish's
head.

542

24

*Not
done
as yet.
11*

What can Hell be well compared to
Wherein Dasi steered, assailant
Of both Vidhura disciple
And divine-caste Kaksandha?
Stakes of steel up to one hundred
Each: one suffered separately:
There can Hell be well compared to
Wherein Dasi steered, assailant
Of both Vidhura disciple
And divine-caste Kaksandha.

Dark One, thou hast much to suffer
By assaulting such a bliebhe,
An enlightened One's disciple
~~With exception of~~ ~~with~~ ~~excepting~~ ~~but~~ ~~not~~ ~~but~~ this story.

25

In the middle of the ocean,
There are numerous ever-lasting,
Sapphire-shining, fiery-gleaming
With a clear translucent lustre,
~~where~~ ^{the} sea-nymphs in ~~iridescent~~ ^{iridescent} ~~shaws~~ ^{shaws}
Dance out complicated rhythms. ?

Dark One, . . .

~~The directly follows this story.
But it is originally with the former.~~

26

One there is who, when exhort'd
By the enlightened One in Person,
I shook Migras Mother's Palace
With his toe, the Order watching:

- 60
- dark One, ...
27. One there is who, wielding firmly
Straight of Supernormal Power
Shook all Vejayanta Palace
With his toe, to wake the gods there:
- 351 Dark One, ...
28. One there is who put to Sakka
In that Palace, too, the question
'Knovest thou then, friend, the Freedom
Due to Craving's Full Exhaustion?'
Whereat Sakka ~~then gave~~ fully answer
~~True to~~ ~~correctly~~, to the question asked him:
- Dark One, ...
29. One there is who thought of posing
the Divinity this question
In Indhamma Hall [in Heaven]
'Is there still in thee existing,
'Friend, the view that once existed?
'Is the radiance of Heaven
'Clearly seen by thee as passing?'
The Divinity gave answer
Truly to my questions' order
'There exists in me no longer,
'Sir, the view that once existed;
'All the radiance of Heaven
'I now clearly see as passing;
~~I now~~ ~~begin~~ ~~to~~ have my ~~end~~ with claiming
'to be permanent, eternal':
- Dark One, thou hast much to suffer
By assaulting such a blither,
An enlightened One's disciple.
~~Who~~ directly knows this story.
Well acquainted with

30

No. 50

549

One there is who on Sumer's
Peak in liberation visits
India ^{and} abhavides,
And all men who earth inhabit;
Dark One, thou hast much to suffer
By assaulting such a blitche,
An enlightened One's disciple
Who directly knows this story.

31.

There was never fire existing
Thought 'Tis I the fool am burning',
But a fool a fire assaulting
Burns himself of his own doing.
So it is with thee, O Mara;
By assaulting One perfected
Thou contrivest thine own burning
As a fool with fire desporting.
More: thou workest much demerit
By assaulting One perfected;
Evil One, art thou conceiving
That thy evil will not ripen?
Evil-doers bank up evil;
~~long~~^{it last}, Exterminator.
Mara, shun thee One enlightened;
Play no more thy tricks on blitches!.

So the Blitche chastened Mara
In the Bhesakala Thicket
Where ~~water and~~^{sombre} spirit
Vanished without more ado.

Notes

695

§ 7 dusin = Comupter

§ 10 Pathāvin - passing by: this word is included correctly in P.T.S. Dict. but not their ref. Another spelling Padhāvin in the same phrase is given at Sutta 86, § 3 which P.T.S. Dict. has made wrongly into a different word with a different meaning. Padhāvin should be deleted from the dict. and the ref. 'M. ii, 98 placed under Pathāvin. See also Vinaya, Pacittiya 5 and VinA. 859.

§ 26 Comy refers to S. V. 269

§ 27 " " " Sutta 37

§ 28 " " " " "

§ 29 " " " " " 49, but see S. i, 148

§ 30 " " " " Nandopananda Stay in Vt
ch. XII.

Vana = Jambudipa (India) according to

21

temporal = temporal. &
is now with his parents - intended to be
brought back home in time to attend
to his mother's funeral. He will be
able to do so as he has a number of
days leave given him by his employer.
He has been offered a place in a
new firm which is to be established
in New York City. He has accepted
this offer and will go to New
York at the end of the month.

He is to be engaged in
the same business as before
and will be able to bring his
wife and children with him.

[2]